
 

 

Notice of Meeting 
 
Cabinet 
Councillors Simon Werner (Chair), Lynne Jones (Vice-Chair), Richard Coe, 
Geoff Hill, Joshua Reynolds, Catherine Del Campo, Adam Bermange, 
Karen Davies and Amy Tisi 
 
Wednesday 25 October 2023 7.00 pm 
Grey Room - York House - Windsor & on RBWM YouTube 
 

 
 

Agenda 
 

Part I 
 

Item Description Page   
Apologies for Absence 
 

 

1 To receive any apologies for absence. 
 

- 
  

Declarations of Interest 
 

 

2 To receive any declarations of interest from Cabinet Members. 
 

5 - 6 
  

Minutes 
 

 

3 To consider the minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday 27 September 
2023. 
 

7 - 16 
 

 
Appointments 
 

 

4 
Cabinet are asked to note and agree the following appointments: 
  
The Free Churches (representing Quakers) in Group A on SACRE – Margaret 
Smith 
  
 

 
- 

 
Forward Plan 
 

 

5 To consider the Forward Plan for the period November 2023 to February 
2024. 
 

17 - 28 
 

 
Quarterly Assurance Report 
 

 

6 

Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Community Partnerships, 
Public Protection and Maidenhead 
  
To note the report and: 
  

i)               Review the Quarterly Assurance Report setting out progress 
against the performance indicators and risk register. 

ii)              Identify any areas that Cabinet may wish to recommend for scrutiny 
to the Corporate Overview & Scrutiny Panel. 

 
 

 
 
 

29 - 76 
 

 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/user/WindsorMaidenhead


 
 

 

2023/24 Month 5 Revenue Monitoring Report 
 

 

7 

Deputy Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Finance 
  
To note the report and: 

i)               To note the forecast revenue outturn for the year at M5 is an 
overspend on services of £7.312m which reduces to an overspend 
of £3.589m when including unallocated contingency budgets and 
changes to funding budgets (para 4);  

ii)              To note that the Council’s approach to in-year budget monitoring 
and management is being strengthened – as part of a wider 
approach to improving corporate governance at RBWM - as set 
out in paragraph 5.1; 

iii)             To note the forecast capital outturn is expenditure of £47.769m 
against a budget of £87.199m (para 10); and  

iv)             Agree the virements in Appendix B. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

77 - 92 
 

 
 

Cabinet Member Reports 
 
  

A308/Holyport Road junction improvements 
 

 

8 

Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport, Customer Service Centre and 
Employment 
  

To note the report and approve the installation of a compact roundabout at 
the junction of A308 Windsor Road with Holyport Road and delegates 
authority to the Service Lead for Transport to finalise the detailed design. 

  
 

 
 
 

93 - 114 
 

 
Achieving for Children (AfC) Annual Reports 2022/23 
 

 

9 

Cabinet Member for Children’s Services, Education and Windsor 
  
To note the report and make any recommendations in relation to: 
  

i)               The Achieving for Children Impact Report 
ii)              The Achieving for Children Equalities Report 
iii)             The Achieving for Children Annual Report and Accounts 

 

 
 

115 - 308 
 

 
Achieving for Children (AfC) Contract 
 

 

10 

Cabinet Member for Children’s Services, Education and Windsor 
  
 
To note the report and approve the extension of the contract with Achieving 
for Children (AfC) Community Interest Company (CIC) for five years from 1 
August 2024 to 31 July 2029 
 
 
 
 

 
 

309 - 338 
 



 
 

 

  
Leasing of Sport Pavilion in Braywick Park, Maidenhead 
 

 

11 

Cabinet Member for Planning, Legal and Asset Management 
  
Cabinet Member for Communities and Leisure 
  
To note the report and: 
  

i)               Approve the leasing of the former Sportsable Pavillion, Braywick 
Park to Padel Berkshire 

ii)              Delegate authority to the Executive Director of Place Services in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Planning, Legal and 
Asset Management, to conclude the negotiation of a new 
agreement for lease and lease to Padel Berkshire 

iii)             Approve the Executive Director of Place or their nominee to consult 
with the Braywick Park Users Group for their views on the re-use 
of the building and external areas for a new sporting facility 

iv)             Approve the use of the Public Open Space Application and 
Consultation process and delegates the decision to the nominated 
officer. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

339 - 364 
 

 
York Road Phase I, Maidenhead 
 

 

12 

Cabinet Member for Planning, Legal and Asset Management 
  
To note the report and: 
  

i)               Approve RBWM entering into a formal contract with Countryside 
outside of the Development Agreement to capture the capital value 
from the reversion sale of the notional 4,000 sq. ft commercial 
floorspace. 

ii)              Delegate authority to the Executive Director of Place in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Planning, Legal and 
Asset Management and Managing Director of the Property 
Company to complete the contract with Countryside. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

365 - 388 
 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 

 

13 

Agenda item 12 is supported by annexes containing exempt information as 
defined in Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. If Cabinet wishes 
to discuss the content of these annexes in detail, it may choose to move the 
following resolution: 
  
“That pursuant to Regulation 4 of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Access to Information) Regulations 2012 and having regard 
to the public interest, members of the public and press be excluded from the 
meeting for the consideration of item 12, which involves the likely disclosure 
of exempt information under the following category of Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 1972: 
  
(3) Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person (including the authority holding that information).” 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 

 

Part II 
 
  
 

Cabinet Member Reports 
 
 
  

York Road Phase I, Maidenhead 
 

 

14 To consider Appendix B & D in Part II if required. 
 

389 - 408 
  

 
By attending this meeting, participants are consenting to the audio & visual 
recording being permitted and acknowledge that this shall remain 
accessible in the public domain permanently. 
 
Please contact Oran Norris-Browne, Oran.Norris-Browne@rbwm.gov.uk, 
with any special requests that you may have when attending this meeting. 
 
Published: Tuesday 17 October 2023 

 

 
 



Revised October 2022 

 

MEMBERS’ GUIDE TO DECLARING INTERESTS AT MEETINGS 

Disclosure at Meetings 

If a Member has not disclosed an interest in their Register of Interests, they must make the declaration 
of interest at the beginning of the meeting, or as soon as they are aware that they have a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest (DPI) or Other Registerable Interest. If a Member has already disclosed the interest 
in their Register of Interests they are still required to disclose this in the meeting if it relates to the matter 
being discussed. 

Any Member with concerns about the nature of their interest should consult the Monitoring Officer in 
advance of the meeting.  

Non-participation in case of Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI) 

Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your DPIs (summary below, 
further details set out in Table 1 of the Members’ Code of Conduct) you must disclose the interest, 
not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room 
unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’ (as agreed in advance by 
the Monitoring Officer), you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest, just that you have an 
interest. Dispensation may be granted by the Monitoring Officer in limited circumstances, to enable 
you to participate and vote on a matter in which you have a DPI. 

Where you have a DPI on a matter to be considered or is being considered by you as a Cabinet 
Member in exercise of your executive function, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest 
and must not take any steps or further steps in the matter apart from arranging for someone else to 
deal with it. 

DPIs (relating to the Member or their partner) include: 

• Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain. 

• Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the council) made to the 
councillor during the previous 12-month period for expenses incurred by him/her in carrying out 
his/her duties as a councillor, or towards his/her election expenses 

• Any contract under which goods and services are to be provided/works to be executed which has 
not been fully discharged. 

• Any beneficial interest in land within the area of the council. 

• Any licence to occupy land in the area of the council for a month or longer. 

• Any tenancy where the landlord is the council, and the tenant is a body in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest in the securities of. 

• Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where: 
a) that body has a place of business or land in the area of the council, and 
b) either (i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the 
total issued share capital of that body or (ii) the total nominal value of the shares of any one class 
belonging to the relevant person exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
class. 

Any Member who is unsure if their interest falls within any of the above legal definitions should seek 
advice from the Monitoring Officer in advance of the meeting.  

Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests 

Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Other Registerable 
Interests (summary below and as set out in Table 2 of the Members Code of Conduct), you must 
disclose the interest. You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also 
allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on 
the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it 
is a ‘sensitive interest’ (as agreed in advance by the Monitoring Officer), you do not have to 
disclose the nature of the interest. 

5

Agenda Item 2



Revised October 2022 

 

Other Registerable Interests: 

a) any unpaid directorships  

b) any body of which you are a member or are in a position of general control or management 

and to which you are nominated or appointed by your authority  

c) any body  

(i) exercising functions of a public nature  

(ii) directed to charitable purposes or  

(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy (including 

any political party or trade union)  

 of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management 

Disclosure of Non- Registerable Interests 

Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial interest or well-being (and is 
not a DPI) or a financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate, or a body included under 
Other Registerable Interests in Table 2 you must disclose the interest. You may speak on the matter 
only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not 
take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you 

have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’ (agreed in advance by the Monitoring 
Officer) you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects – 

a. your own financial interest or well-being; 

b. a financial interest or well-being of a friend, relative, close associate; or 

c. a financial interest or well-being of a body included under Other Registerable 
Interests as set out in Table 2 (as set out above and in the Members’ code of 
Conduct) 

you must disclose the interest. In order to determine whether you can remain in the meeting after 

disclosing your interest the following test should be applied. 

Where a matter (referred to in the paragraph above) affects the financial interest or well-being: 

a. to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority of 

inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and; 

b. a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it 

would affect your view of the wider public interest 

You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the 
meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must 
not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive 
interest’ (agreed in advance by the Monitoring Officer, you do not have to disclose the nature of 
the interest. 

Other declarations 

Members may wish to declare at the beginning of the meeting any other information they feel should 

be in the public domain in relation to an item on the agenda; such Member statements will be included 

in the minutes for transparency. 

6



CABINET 
 

WEDNESDAY 27 SEPTEMBER 2023 
 
PRESENT: Councillors Simon Werner (Chair), Lynne Jones (Vice-Chair), Richard Coe, 
Geoff Hill, Joshua Reynolds, Catherine Del Campo, Adam Bermange, Karen Davies 
and Amy Tisi 
 
Also in attendance: Councillors Helen Price and Suzanne Cross 
 
Also in attendance virtually: Councillors Maureen Hunt, Julian Sharpe, 
Sayonara Luxton, Gurch Singh, Devon Davies and Mark Wilson 
 
Officers: Oran Norris-Browne, Stephen Evans, Lin Ferguson, Elizabeth Griffiths, 
Elaine Browne, Kevin McDaniel, Louise Freeth and Ian Motuel 
 
Officers in attendance virtually: Andrew Durrant, Andrew Vallance, Tim Golabek, 
Becky Hatch and Chris Joyce 
 
 
Apologies for Absence  
 
No apologies for absence were received.  
 
Declarations of Interest  
 
Councillor Bermange declared a personal interest as per his register of interests. He was a 
member of Wild Maidenhead and also closely affiliated with the Climate Emergency Group in 
RBWM, both of which were involved in early engagement on Agenda Item 7 ‘Draft 
Sustainability Supplementary Planning Document – Regulation 13 Consultation’. However, he 
attended the meeting with an open mind. 
  
Councillors Werner and Del Campo both also declared a personal interest on Agenda Item 7 
‘Draft Sustainability Supplementary Planning Document – Regulation 13 Consultation’, as they 
too were members of Wild Maidenhead. However, they too attended the meeting with an open 
mind. 
  
 
Minutes  
 
Oran Norris-Browne, Principal Democratic Services Officer, confirmed that there had been two 
alterations to the minutes that had been published. He then read the changes out in full to the 
Cabinet.  
  
The first was a change on paragraph 7 of the ‘Disposal of the Land at Braywick Park’ item, in 
reference to Councillor Taylor’s comments. The second was a change on paragraphs 4 and 5 
of the ‘Finance Update Month 2’ item, in relation to Councillor Price’s comments.  
  
RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: That the minutes of the meeting held on Thursday 27 July 
2023 were approved along with the changes above. 
 
 
 
 
 

7

Agenda Item 3



A308 speed limit reduction: Monkey Island Lane to M4 motorway bridge  
 
AGREED: That the order of business be changed so that agenda item 8 be heard first, 
followed by agenda item 7. The order of business would then resume as per the agenda 
order.  
  
There were two registered speakers on the item, who were invited to speak. 
  
Councillor Cross addressed Cabinet as a registered speaker. As Ward Councillor for the area 
in question, she thanked Councillor Hill for assisting her in bringing this to the Cabinet. She 
then set out various reasons as to why the Cabinet should endorse the reduction of the speed 
limit. She referred to the Place Overview & Scrutiny Panel, which had met on 14 September 
2023 to scrutinise the report, before Cabinet considered it. This was praised by allowing 
Councillors from al political groups, to have their say on the paper.  
  
Andrew Cormie also addressed Cabinet as a registered speaker. He was Chair of the Holyport 
Residents Association. He urged the Cabinet to decrease the speed limit in this area from 
40mph to 30mph. He said that the Council had not conformed with government guidance for 
speed limits, due to there being no legal challenge. He said that the advice that had been 
provided by the highway technicians and the police was also incorrect. 
  
Councillor Hill, Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport, Customer Service Centre and 
Employment, thanked the speakers for their elegant and insightful words.  
  
Councillor Hill said that the traffic on this stretch of the road needed to be slowed down due to 
not only the safety of persons crossing the road, but also the current issues that existed with 
congestion. He asked his fellow Cabinet Members to support the recommendation that he had 
put forward to them, which was to reduce the speed limit on this stretch of the road from 
40mph to 30mph. 
  
Councillor Reynolds, Cabinet Member for Communities and Leisure, stated that he was very 
happy to second Councillor Hill’s motion to reduce the speed limit. Both he and Councillor Del 
Campo, Cabinet Member for Adults, Health and Housing Services, praised the input from the 
Place Overview & Scrutiny Panel and said that this report was a fantastic example of a paper 
to go to a scrutiny panel and be seen by Councillors from all political parties, prior to the 
Cabinet considering it. This allowed them to gather a range of different views, before making 
an informed decision.  
  
Councillor Coe, Cabinet Member for Environmental Services also supported this and said that 
he had seen a number of children attempting to cross this stretch of road on several occasions 
and that a reduction in the speed limit would make this easier and encourage more to walk.  
  
Councillor Bermange, Cabinet Member for Planning, Legal and Asset Management, praised 
Appendix A of the report and said that it was important to recognise that each person had 
different needs and requirements when it came to users crossing the road. This could be that 
they were young or had a disability perhaps, which would limit their ability to do so on a 
40mph stretch of road. He then provided some clarity on the legalities of the proposal if the 
reduction in the speed limit was decided as the course of action.  
  
Councillor Jones, Deputy Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Finance, wished to 
highlight the exact stretch of road that the change in speed limit was being proposed at. She 
said this as one of the public speakers, had referred to a stretch of the road that was not being 
considered by the Cabinet.  
  
AGREED: That Cabinet noted the report and agreed to reduce the speed limit from 
40mph to 30mph on the A308 between Monkey Island Lane and the M4 Motorway 
Bridge. 
  

8



 
Draft Sustainability Supplementary Planning Document – Regulation 13 Consultation  
 
Two public speakers, Rob Acker and Graham Owens had registered to speak on the item. 
They were invited to address Cabinet.  
  
Councillor Bermange thanked the public speakers for their thoughts and stated that he was 
very pleased to propose the report’s recommendations to Cabinet. He outlined the purpose of 
the SPD and offered fellow Cabinet Members a brief context on it. He stated that the last 
administration had not delivered on this as a priority within the borough. The new 
administration would live up to the commitment to climate change and sustainability. Once 
adopted it would become a material planning document for all applications moving forward.  
  
Councillor Bermange then stated that the SPD if adopted would strengthen the existing carbon 
offset fund. He did however note that although the SPD was a huge step forward and that the 
borough would benefit from it, in a way the SPD did not yet go far enough. This was in no way 
stated as a detriment to officers or the groups that had been consulted on it, but just that 
sustainability was an ever-growing thing. He also stressed that the report before Cabinet was 
merely a draft and that further changes could be implemented in the future.  
  
Councillor Coe asked in regard to the adopted Borough Local Plan (BLP), which limited what 
the proposed SPD could actually do. He asked what potential opportunities existed to look 
back and review certain aspects in the BLP. 
  
Councillor Bermange responded by saying that if the Cabinet wished to go further, then 
significant changes would be required to the planning policy, which had been depicted by the 
BLP, in which the current administration had inherited. Any changes to this of significance, 
would be an extremely lengthy process. A partial review could be an option, with 
conversations with officers already occurring, but there were no timeframes currently being 
discussed. He said that if something was made less viable for a developer, then the 
deliverability of building affordable homes for example, could reduce. He hoped that there was 
a way forward and stated that it would remain under review.  
  
Councillor K Davies, Cabinet Member for Climate Change, Biodiversity and Windsor Town 
Council, thanked Councillor Bermange, Ian Motuel, Planning Policy Manager and fellow 
officers for the work that they had put into the report. She commended the pre-consultation 
that had been carried out with both developers and also the community, ahead of the 
consultation going live. She thanked a number of individuals for their advice and thoughts on 
this SPD. She then stated that she wished to second the proposal. 
  
Councillor A Tisi, Cabinet Member for Children’s Services, Education and Windsor, asked 
what would happen if developers wished to go further than the SPD. Councillor Bermange 
responded by saying that the SPD stated what the Council wished for developers to do and 
offered mere base line requirements. However, it certainly encouraged developers to come 
forward with additional ways to be sustainable, in which the Council would welcome. 
  
AGREED: That Cabinet noted the report and: 

i)               Approved the publication of the draft Sustainability SPD for public 
consultation; and  

ii)             Delegated authority to the Assistant Director of Planning in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member for Planning, Legal and Asset Management, to approve 
and publish any minor changes to the draft Sustainability SPD, prior to its 
publication.  

  
 
 
 

9



Appointments  
 
Councillor Reynolds commented on the administration’s commitment to inclusion, which was 
shown by the appointment of Phillip Love, who was a former Conservative Councillor in the 
borough. He believed that this showed the new administration’s commitment to openness and 
transparency.  
  
All of the listed appointments were confirmed by the Cabinet.  
 
Forward Plan  
 
Cabinet noted the Forward Plan for the next four months including the following additional 
changes: 
  

        ‘A308/Mill Lane/Parsonage Lane junction improvement’ had been moved from 
September’s Cabinet to October, to allow for further time for the budget setting process to 
occur. 

       ‘Mill Lane Conservation Area Appraisal’ had been moved from September’s Cabinet 
meeting to December, due to capacity and to better align with the appraisal’s 
implementation. 

       ‘Article 4 Direction– removal of permitted development rights’ had been moved from 
October’s Cabinet meeting to December, due to progress currently being unable to be 
made due to a staff vacancy in the Planning Policy team.  

       ‘Sale of Oakley Green, Windsor’ had been removed from the Forward Plan. 
       ‘Renewal of Lease at Cookham Marina’ was originally scheduled for October’s Cabinet but 

had instead been brough forward and had been incorporated into item 12 of the meeting’s 
agenda. 

       ‘Annual update on demand for school places’ had been moved from October’s Cabinet to 
December, to allow further time to evaluate data and outcomes. 

       ‘Leasing of Sport Pavilion in Braywick Park, Maidenhead’ had also been added as a new 
item for the October Cabinet meeting.  

  
Councillor Del Campo asked for an update on the ‘Empty Homes Strategy’ item and if it could 
be included on the Forward Plan. Andrew Durrant, Executive Director of Place confirmed that 
he would speak to his team on this.  
  
Councillor Price asked if going forward, more information could be provided by officers when 
items are uploaded to the Forward Plan. This would allow both residents to be more informed 
and also for Overview & Scrutiny Panel Members to identify items that could be scrutinised.  
  
ACTION: Officers to provide greater information on forward plan item submissions 
moving forward 
  
 
Update on the Council's Financial Position  
 
Councillor Jones stated that in May 2023, after 16 years of continuous Conservative 
administrations, residents voted overwhelmingly for Liberal Democrats and Independent 
Councillors to take charge and to bring back accountability and transparency. She said that 
the new administration knew they would be inheriting a challenging financial position. To put 
the debt into context, it was now almost twice the total annual revenue spend and the 
forecasted borrowing costs were £8m in the current year and £14m in the 2024/25.  
  
Councillor Jones said that the spending decisions on council tax and borrowing over the last 
10 years combined with weak financial management and low financial resilience, had put the 
borough in a situation where it lacked the resilience to cope with increased borrowing costs 
and increases in demand. She referred to schemes such as Vicus Way Car Par that had failed 

10



to bring in money weekly. She then added that in 2019 the previous administration had 
dismissed the concerns of opposition Councillors on debt and been told that the borough 
would be ‘debt free including the pension deficit by 2024’. She used the phrase of ‘kicking the 
can down the road’ as one to describe the situation that the Council now found itself in.  
  
Councillor Jones admitted also that there was currently a disconnect between central and 
local government. Reduced funding from central government and increased local demand for 
services had contributed to the situation. She admitted that tough decisions would need to be 
made, however the Cabinet were fully committed to sorting out the financial situation, and that 
it would remain their top priority, to avoid issuing a Section 114 notice.  
  
Elizabeth Griffiths, Executive Director of Resources and s151 officer, outlined the forecast in-
year position for 2023/24 (at month 5), which showed an overspend on service budgets of 
£7.3m. The available in-year contingency was £3.3m and that the forecasted underspend on 
non-service budgets, would reduce the net overspend to £3.6m. General fund reserves were 
currently at £10.2m. Reserves would be reduced to £6.6m, following this, which was below the 
minimum requirement set by the s151 officer. She added that the process for setting the 
budget for the year 2024/25 continued, with a draft budget being brought to Cabinet in 
November 2023. However, the scale of the budget gap for 2023/24 and 2024/25, put the 
borough at significant risk of having to issue a Section 114 notice, unless further significant 
action was taken.  
  
Elizabeth Griffiths then outlined some of the main causes of these increased budget 
pressures, which were as followed: 

       Inflation, that has remained higher than expected, for longer. 
       The increased costs of goods, services, transport, premises, and utilities.  
       Higher than budgeted inflation has added a £1m pressure to large contracts within the 

Place directorate. 
       Increased interest rates have increased the cost of Council borrowing. 
       Increased cost of Adult Social Care services has added a total pressure of £5m in 

2023/24. 

The Council’s current borrowing amount stood at £203m. Borrowing costs were forecasted to 
reach £8m in 2023/24 and £14m in 2024/25. Demand was increasing for a range of statutory 
services including temporary accommodation and children’s services referrals.  
  
Kevin McDaniel, Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Health, outlined the growing 
pressures that Adult Services were currently under. This included the increased number of 
cases where persons had multiple complexed needs, which in turn was increasing service 
costs. Older people clients were also 36% more than originally budgeted, causing a £2.7m 
overspend against the Adult Social Care budget in 2023/24. The number of people who were 
receiving mental health support was also 56% over budget, which in turn had created an 
added pressure of £1m in 2023/24.  
  
Lin Ferguson, Executive Director of Children’s Services, echoed the comments that had been 
made by Kevin McDaniel and stated that the cost of agency staff was also a huge contributor 
towards the increased cost of services, particularly in the Childrens Services area. The 
salaries of RBWM staff compared to that of neighbouring authorities were also lower, which 
had led to greater dependency on agency staff.  
  
Stephen Evans, Chief Executive, added to the words of fellow officers by stating that officers 
were working very hard to address the challenges that laid before them. He said that the 
situation had been caused by a range of both national and local issues, which went back 
many years. Fundamentally, the Council’s level of financial resilience, remained weak. In April 
2020, the Council warned of its risk of a Section 114 notice, however, were able to build up 
reserves since that time. However, now at £10.2m, this was now too low.  In the past, the 
Council had relied on one off grants in order to balance the budget, however with the current 
macroeconomic challenges that the Council faced, this was no longer viable. The Council’s 

11



spending power was also significantly lower compared to neighbouring local authorities. Per 
dwelling, the borough’s spending power was £1,500, compared to the borough’s closest 
neighbours’ amount of £1,760. This compared to England’s median amount of £1,885. Historic 
low Council tax was a key factor in this.  
  
Councillor Hill asked Councillor Jones where all of the money had gone over the last 14 years 
as it was around £50m and was now £203m. Councillor Jones stated a number of projects 
that had been completed during this time, including the Braywick Leisure Centre and the Vicus 
Way car park, had contributed to this. Extensive capital expenditure had been spent in recent 
years on the maintenance of Council property that had not been regularly carried out and 
therefore this had led to added costs.  
  
Councillor Reynolds asked if there were issues with the current budget, that had caused the 
Council to be in the position that they were currently in.  
  
Councillor Werner, Leader of Council and Cabinet Member for Community Partnerships, 
Public Protection and Maidenhead said that in February 2023, he and Councillor Jones had 
raised these issues, however they had not been listened too. He labelled it as a ‘fake budget’. 
He then outlined 3 reasons as to why he believed it to be so.  
  
These were: 

       Inflation rates being included to cover contract inflation. Therefore, the correct inflation 
rates were not used, leading to an underestimate in the budget. 

       The large debt burden was made worse by underestimating the potential interest rate 
rises. 

       A large number of the savings that were proposed, were marked as being almost 
impossible to achieve, and yet they were still included.   

Councillor Jones believed that it was not just the effects of the February 2023 budget, but also 
a number of previous budgets. She labelled it as ‘kicking the can down the road’.  
  
Councillor Coe asked in relation to large unmaintained structures, requiring capital investment, 
if revenue expenditure had been turned into capital expenditure. It was his belief that this 
should not be the case. Councillor Jones replied by stating that the policy of the previous 
administration, appeared to be to borrow once large repair works were required, instead of 
conducting regular maintenance.  
  
Councillor G Singh asked a question as a non-cabinet member. He asked if an investigation 
would occur into the previous administration’s spending, as he was concerned as to where all 
of the money had gone and stated that it was borderline criminality. Councillor Werner 
thanked him for his comments and said that he was sure that the Chair of the Audit and 
Governance Committee would look into this, as well as Councillor Jones in her role as the 
relevant Cabinet Member. 
  
Councillor Bermange asked about the following year’s interest rates and if a large amount of 
the Council’s debt needed to be re-financed in 2024/25. Councillor Jones replied with and said 
that officers had taken this into account and that treasury specialists advised the Council on 
this process. Elizabeth Griffiths confirmed that a close eye would be kept on it, with it being 
constantly being kept under review.  
  
Councillor Del Campo said that the forecasted budget numbers were almost spot on and 
praised Council officers and their ability to negotiate, which had saved the Council a lot of 
money over the years. In terms of her Cabinet Member portfolio, she added that she was 
increasingly worried about the large numbers of persons that were in need of housing. She 
discussed some properties that could potentially have been utilised in the past, such as Ceder 
Tree House, however she was unaware of their status.  
  

12



Councillor Price stated as a non-cabinet member, that Ceder House needed to be 
investigated. She believed that when bought, no survey was conducted and then asbestos 
was discovered. Due to the urgency of this, special exemptions were made so that the 
decision was not brought back to Council, and then the highest price was paid for it. She then 
went on to say that there had been a general relaxed approach to spending other person’s 
money in the borough, and that this had to be addressed. Additionally, having engaged in the 
last 2 budget setting processes, she was left extremely unhappy with the one for 2023/24. She 
added that no transformation had been made by the Cabinet at all in the past.  
  
Stephen Evans continued his presentation by stating that everything needed to be done to 
avoid the issuing of a Section 114 notice, as this would be detrimental to the Council. He was 
confident that by month 6, a downwards trajectory would be shown for the current year 
2023/24. He then outlined the actions that were needed to reduce the deficit.  
  
These were as followed: 
 

1. Service challenge sessions to go through forecasts, pressures and opportunities line 
by line. 

2. Removal of budget lines which had historically underspent.  

3. Review all earmarked reserves to help in-year position. 

4. Establish a Spending Control Panel to control all non-essential spend, including 
recruitment.  

5. Reduce agency staff costs.   

6. Maximise income from discretionary fees and charges. 

7. Explore opportunities to maximise external funding.  

8. Review all services to develop proposals for transformation.  

9. Review capital programme to determine which schemes can be deferred, re-phased or 
stopped to reduce borrowing costs and maximise use of CIL/S106.  

10. Review Treasury Management Strategy.  

11. Review all council assets to maximise income and look at options to sell assets to 
reduce borrowing (final decisions to be taken by Cabinet).  

12. Formally write to and meet partners and contractors to identify ways of reducing costs.  

 
Elizabeth Griffiths then outlined the details of the Spending Control Panel that would launch in 
October 2023, meeting weekly and what it would involve. Practically the rationale of making 
the spend would need to be provided by officers, including the risks that existed if the spend 
did not occur, this included that of staff recruitment.  
  
Councillor Werner thanked officers for the update. He said that it was important that real 
transformation occurred, which transformed and improved services, and did not just cut them 
as this would not necessarily solve the problem and address the budget gap. He also added 
about the selling of assets, with there being no fire sale of assets, such as selling off land for 
cheap to developers. Maximum prices and revenues would be obtained.  
  
Councillor Price asked about the communications that would be distributed to residents and 
how this would be reported to them in a way that they would understand. Councillor Werner 
confirmed that a press release would go out to residents, and that it was extremely important 
to keep them informed on the difficult journey.  
  
 

13



Procurement of the Specialist Integrated Sexual and Reproductive Health Service  
 
Councillor Del Campo outlined the key aspects of the report to Cabinet. This was a statutory 
service that the borough provided to its residents and that it was a requirement of the public 
health grant to provide reproductive and sexual health. 27% of the contract was owned by 
RBWM, with it also being shared with Bracknell Forest Council and Slough Borough Council. 
She then made it clear to Cabinet that there was also a Part II appendix to the report, however 
a decision could be made in Part I. Councillor Werner seconded this. 
  
AGREED: That Cabinet noted the report and: 

i)               Approved a two-year direct award to an eligible provider to ensure continuity 
of specialist, integrated SRH service provision beyond 30 June 2024 across 
Berkshire East (RBWM, Bracknell Forest Council (BFC) and Slough Borough 
Council. 

ii)              Delegated authority and accountability for the contract award to BFC as the 
Lead Authority for the procurement. 

iii)             Agreed that BFC would work with the market and NHS commissioning bodies 
to develop a life course response to sexual and reproductive health needs 
that offered better services for local communities. This process would result 
in initiation of a procurement of the specialist integrated SRH service during 
the lifetime of the 2-year contract to ensure longer term provision. 

  
 
Supported bus services tender approval  
 
Councillor Hill began by thanking the officers, including Tim Golabek, Service Lead for 
Transport, for the hard work that had gone into producing the report that was before Cabinet. 
He began by asking for patience as it had not yet been decided on bus routes, and until 
contractors worked out their numbers, this would not be known. The key takeaways from the 
report were that more funding was being put into buses from an amount of £870,000 to 
£1.14m. 22 routes existed within the borough, 9 of which were commercial and 13 were 
subsidised by the borough. On some of the routes, up to 60% of the cost was subsidised by 
the borough. The pre-covid usage of buses was 9.3 trips per resident, per year. This now sat 
at 4.8, showing a dramatic decline in usage.  
  
Councillor Price said that the Eqia of the report showed that the elderly and persons on a 
lower income would be the most impacted by this. In terms of the consultation that would 
occur in October 2023, they would be particularly hard to reach out too via social media for 
example. She pleaded for these people to please be contacted through various means.  
  
Councillor Price said that some of the bus routes within the borough were currently being 
subsidised by central government, to allow residents to travel on buses for as little as £2. This 
would get residents back into the habit of taking buses, so promoting this should be explored 
further. Councillor Hill thanked Councillor Price for her comments and said that he and officers 
would take it on board. He wished to in the future put money into upgrading bus stops, along 
with other infrastructure projects, however understood that this would require revenue 
investment.  
  
Councillor Bermange said that developer contributions could be used for things such as the 
upgrading of bus stops and that through investment, a better uptake would be clearly seen. 
Councillor Hill thanked him for his comments, and said that if any s106 money was allocated, 
he would be happy to use it. 
  
Councillor Sharpe asked as a non-cabinet member about the plans for buses and transport for 
residents in the south of the borough such as Ascot, Sunninghill and Sunningdale. He stated 
that it would take over 2 hours to get a bus from Ascot to Maidenhead currently. Alternatives 

14



would mean that a train connection was needed at Reading station to be able to get to 
Maidenhead. Councillor Werner thanked him for his comments and agreed in large parts with 
what he had said. He referred to the previous administration’s lack of funding towards the 
south of the borough and in particular its bus routes. Councillor Hill concurred with this.  
  
AGREED: That Cabinet noted the report, approved the redesign proposals and 
authorised a tender process. 
  
 
Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Guidance Note  
 
Councillor Bermange outlined the report to Cabinet by saying that it would signpost all of the 
interested parties to other sources of information. There was reasonably strong demand for 
this within the borough, with there being around 248 persons being on the register, comprised 
of 2 groups. It showed that this was becoming ever more popular. The BLP set a policy, where 
5% of houses on a plot, should be set up for this. The guidance note assist in supporting all of 
this. He then reference a recent appeal that had occurred in Holyport.  
  
Councillor Reynolds thanked Councillor Bermange and officers for bringing the report forward. 
As a Councillor who had sat on planning panels since 2019, he believed that this was a very 
good way forward. 
  
Councillor Bermange then made it clear to Cabinet that a few minor changes had been made 
to the originally published report. This had been uploaded earlier that day to the website and 
asked Cabinet to consider these amendments when agreeing to a recommendation.  
  
Councillor Werner stated his pleasure in seeing the Community Land Trust being included 
within the report as they could do amazing things and have done previously around the 
country.  
  
AGREED: That Cabinet noted the report and: 

i)               Adopted the Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Guidance Note to be 
published as guidance and afforded weight as a material consideration in the 
planning process; and 

ii)             Delegated authority to the Assistant Director of Planning in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member for Planning, Legal and Asset Management to approve 
and publish any minor changes to the Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding 
Guidance Note, prior to its publication. 

i)               thority to the Assistant Director of Planning in consultation with the Cabinet Member 
for Planning, Legal and Asset Management to approve and publish any minor 
changes to the Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Guidance Note, prior to its 
publication. 

 
Renewal of lease over land at Cookham Bridge and Toll House, Cookham  
 
Councillor Bermange introduced the report to Cabinet and stated the reasons as to why it had 
to receive Cabinet approval. He outlined the location and some background information on 
this. Construction work was soon to commence on the bridge, which allowed for the Council to 
assess things during this time. The increase in rent payment was also not very significant, as 
this was a low-income lease.  
  
Councillor Hill thanked Councillor Bermange for getting the item before Cabinet as attention 
had been drawn to it at the Maidenhead Development Management Committee in Summer 
2023, where the construction works were agreed.  
  
AGREED: That Cabinet noted the report and: 

15



i)               Delegated authority to the Executive Director of Place Services in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Planning, Legal and Asset 
Management, to conclude the renewal of the lease over land at Cookham 
Bridge and Toll House, Cookham. 

  
 
Retendering of Library Stock Contract  
 
Councillor Reynolds outlined the report that was before Cabinet. This was for the retendering 
of the library stock contract that would run from April 2024 to March 2026, with the option of a 
2-year extension. The renewal of this, would allow for the Council to retain the high discount 
that currently was obtained from suppliers. The proposed spending would bring the borough in 
line with neighbouring boroughs, and he made it clear that the paper only covered the 
spending on physical books, and not the digital offerings.  
  
Councillor Tisi commented on the digital range of materials that the libraries possessed. Items 
such as magazines could be viewed online and fit in with the Council’s sustainability goals. 
Councillor Reynolds said that this functionality was superb and that it was very impressive that 
with a library card you could read almost any newspaper in the world for free. 
  
Councillor Price referenced to the Eqia and the persons who would be disadvantaged by the 
understandable cuts. She asked if donation boxes could be used in areas that did not 
necessarily have deprivation within the borough, to ensure that good quality books could be 
obtained and be provided to those who really needed them.  
  
Councillor Reynolds noted this and referred to recommendation ‘iv’ of the report, in addition to 
thanking Councillor Price for her comments. He would certainly pick this up with officers 
moving forward.  
  
That Cabinet noted the report and: 

i)               Noted the retender for the supply of library stock by the Central Buying 
Consortium under the compliant procurement process. 

ii)             Approved the Council continuing to remain an Associate Member of the 
Central Buying Consortium for the supply of library stock until 31 March 
2028. 

iii)            Delegated authority to the Executive Director of Resources, in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for Communities and Leisure, to award the tender 
and exercise the optional extension until 31 March 2028 if CBC pursued the 
extension. 

iv)            Delegated authority to the Executive Director of Resources, in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for Communities and Leisure, to consider 
increasing the proposed £100k minimum spend, should the budgetary 
opportunity arise during the period of the contract. 

  
 
The meeting, which began at 7.00 pm, finished at 9.20 pm 
 

CHAIR…………….………………………. 
 

DATE……………………………….......... 
 

16



Cabinet Forward Plan - changes made since Cabinet meeting on 27.09.23: 

 

Item Scheduled 
date New date Reason for change 

EV ChargePoint Procurement 25.10.23 29.11.23 External funding bodies allowing more time than initially 
anticipated to prepare for procurement 

Sale of Pickins Piece, Horton 29.11.23 - New Item 

Empty Property Strategy 29.11.23 - New Item 

Draft budget 2024/25 29.11.23 - New Item 

A308/Mill Lane/Parsonage Lane junction 
improvement 25.10.23 - 

Item Removed to allow for alternative solutions to be 
investigated and considered in future, dependent on 
availability of funding. 

Procurement of Stop Smoking Services 13.12.23 - New Item 

School Allocation 2024/25 13.12.23 - New Item 

 

 

 

17

A
genda Item

 5



T
his page is intentionally left blank



N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

FORWARD PLAN OF CABINET DECISIONS 
 

 
 
All enquiries, including representations, about any of the items listed below should be made in the first instance to Democratic Services, Town Hall, St 
Ives Road, Maidenhead. Email: democratic.services@rbwm.gov.uk 
 

 
 

FORWARD PLAN 
 

ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below. 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER 
(to whom 

representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of 
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

Draft 2024/25 
Budget 
 

Open -  
 

Cabinet will be 
asked to consider 
and approve the 
draft budget for 
2024/25.  

Yes Deputy Leader of the 
Council and Cabinet 
Member for Finance 
(Councillor Lynne 
Jones) 

 
Elizabeth Griffiths, 
Andrew Vallance 

 

Internal Cabinet 
29 Nov 
2023 

 

Empty Property 
Strategy 
 

Open -  
 

Cabinet to agree 
RBWM’s Empty 
Property Strategy. 
The Empty 
Property Strategy 
aims to work with 
empty 
homeowners to 
increase the supply 
of housing. The 
strategy will set out 
the approach 
RBWM will take to 
provide a clear 
direction for 
addressing empty 
homes which blight 
communities and 

Yes Cabinet Member for 
Adults, Health & 
Housing Services 
(Councillor Catherine 
del Campo) 

 
Andrew Durrant, Obi 

Oranu 
 

Consultation may 
be required with 
residents, 
landlords. 

Cabinet 
29 Nov 
2023 

 

19



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

adversely affect 
neighbourhoods.  

EV Chargepoint 
Procurement 
 

Open -  
 

Procurement 
approach for 
delivering EV 
chargepoints on 
public highways 
and council car 
parks, to deliver 
the council's EV 
Chargepoint 
Implementation 
Plan 

Yes Cabinet Member for 
Highways and 
Transport, Customer 
Service Centre & 
Employment 
(Councillor Geoff Hill) 

 
Tim Golabek, Chris 

Joyce 
 

Internal process  Cabinet 
29 Nov 
2023 

 

Maidenhead 
Parking Strategy 
 

Open -  
 

To provide an 
update on parking 
provision in 
Maidenhead Town 
Centre  

No Cabinet Member for 
Highways and 
Transport, Customer 
Service Centre & 
Employment 
(Councillor Geoff Hill) 

 
Alysse Strachan, Neil 

Walter 
 

Internal process  Cabinet 
29 Nov 
2023 

 

Highway Services 
Contracts – Award 
 

Part exempt - 
3 
 

A procurement has 
been undertaken 
for the Highways 
Service Contracts. 
Bids have been 
received, which 
have been 
evaluated both for 
quality and finance 
purposes. The 
purpose of the 
report is to gain 
approval to appoint 
the associated 

Yes Cabinet Member for 
Highways and 
Transport, Customer 
Service Centre & 
Employment 
(Councillor Geoff Hill) 

 
Andrew Durrant, 
Alysse Strachan 

 

External market 
engagement, 
Internal process 
with Key 
stakeholders.  

Cabinet 
29 Nov 
2023 

 

20



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

contractor(s) for 
each of the lots.  

Annual update on 
demand for school 
places 
 

Open -  
 

Update on the 
projected demand 
for school places in 
the borough, and 
recommendations 
relating to any next 
steps. 

No Cabinet Member for 
Children's Services, 
Education & Windsor 
(Councillor Amy Tisi) 

 
Lin Ferguson, Lynne 

Penn 
 

Internal process  Cabinet 
29 Nov 
2023 

 

Sale of Pickins 
Piece, Horton 
 

Open -  
 

Disposal of 
agricultural land at 
Pickins Piece, 
Horton. The site is 
unused, attracting 
fly tipping and 
requiring ongoing 
security and 
management. An 
unconditional offer 
has been received 
for the land.  

No Cabinet Member for 
Planning, Legal & 
Asset Management 
(Councillor Adam 
Bermange) 

 
Ian Brazier-Dubber 

 

Internal Cabinet 
29 Nov 
2023 

 

Article 4 Direction–
removal of 
permitted 
development rights 
to change of use 
from Class E 
(commercial class) 
to C3 (residential) 
 

Open -  
 

The report 
recommends that a 
non-immediate 
Article 4 direction 
be introduced to 
remove permitted 
development rights 
for changes of use 
from Class E to 
residential on 
protected 
employment sites 

Yes Cabinet Member for 
Planning, Legal & 
Asset Management 
(Councillor Adam 
Bermange) 

 
Ian Motuel, Adrien 

Waite 
 

External 
consultation will 
take place subject 
to Cabinet approval 

Cabinet 
13 Dec 
2023 

 

21



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

set out in BLP 
Policy ED2. 
Following 
Cabinet's approval, 
this would be 
subject to public 
consultation for at 
least 28 days 
and it is anticipated 
that a report would 
then be taken back 
to Cabinet to 
confirm 
the Article 4 
direction. The 
Article 4 would 
then come into 
force 12 month's 
after 
initial publication of 
the notice. 

Mill Lane 
Conservation Area 
Appraisal 
 

Open -  
 

The Mill Lane 
Conservation Area 
is located in 
Clewer Village to 
the north-west of 
Windsor. The area 
was designated in 
1974 but does not 
have a 
Conservation Area 
Appraisal. A 
Conservation Area 
Appraisal is an 

Yes Cabinet Member for 
Planning, Legal & 
Asset Management 
(Councillor Adam 
Bermange) 

 
Adrien Waite 

 

Internal Cabinet 
13 Dec 
2023 

 

22



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

important 
document for 
development 
management 
purposes that 
explains the 
importance of a 
conservation area 
and describes how 
this can be 
retained and 
enhanced, 
particularly when 
new works are 
proposed. This 
report seeks 
Cabinet approval 
for the draft Mill 
Lane Conservation 
Area Appraisal and 
agreement to 
undertake a period 
of public 
consultation on the 
document. The 
appraisal will then 
be revised to take 
account of the 
views of local 
residents and 
interested parties, 
and submitted to 
Cabinet for final 
approval. 

23



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

Procurement of 
Stop Smoking 
Services 
 

Open -  
 

The contract for 
RBWM’s current 
Stop Smoking 
Service ends on 31 
March 2024.  The 
RBWM Public 
Health went out to 
tender for a new 
Stop Smoking 
Service on Friday 
15 September 
2022 to appoint a 
new provider to 
deliver the Stop 
Smoking Service 
from the 1st April 
2024, the total 
contract price was 
£480k (£120k per 
annum) for an 
initial 2-year 
period, with the 
option of a possible 
extension of 1+1 
years. 

On 4 October 2023 
the government 
announced that it 
is investing an 
additional £70 
million per year to 
support local 
authority-led stop 

Yes Cabinet Member for 
Adults, Health & 
Housing Services 
(Councillor Catherine 
del Campo) 

 
Kevin McDaniel, 

Jonas Thompson-
McCormick 

 

Internal Cabinet 
13 Dec 
2023 

 

24



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

smoking services. 
 For RBWM, this 
will result in 
receiving an 
indicative £128k 
per annum 
between 2024/25 -
2028/29. And so, 
the financial 
envelope of the 
RBWM Stop 
Smoking Service 
may be increased 
up to £248k per 
annum. Due to this 
announcement, it 
was also decided 
to increase 
the duration of the 
contract by a 
further year, 
meaning that the 
contract term will 
now be 2+1+1+1. 
The minimum 
contract value of 
the Stop Smoking 
services will now 
exceed £600k 
(excluding the 
indicative funding 
from the 
government), 
therefore meeting 

25



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

the relevant 
threshold to now 
be considered as a 
Key Decision. 
  
Public Health 
are now seeking 
approval from 
Cabinet to approve 
delegated 
decision-making 
authority to be 
granted to the 
Executive Director 
of Adult Services 
and Health and the 
Cabinet Member 
for Adults Services, 
Health and 
Housing, to 
approve the 
outcome of the 
current Stop 
Smoking 
Procurement.  
  

School Condition 
Allocation 2024/25 
 

Part exempt -  
 

Report to seek 
approval of school 
condition projects 
to be included in 
the 2024/25 capital 
programme, as 
funded by the 

Yes Cabinet Member for 
Children's Services, 
Education & Windsor 
(Councillor Amy Tisi) 

 
Lin Ferguson, Lynne 

Penn 
 

Internal Cabinet 
13 Dec 
2023 

 

26



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

School Condition 
Allocation. 

 
 

27



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

 
 
 
DESCRIPTIONS OF EXEMPT INFORMATION: ENGLAND 
 
1 Information relating to any individual. 
 
2 Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 
 
3 Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information). 
 
4 Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour 
relations matter arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the authority. 
 
5 Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings. 
 
6 Information which reveals that the authority proposes: 
(a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or 
(b) to make an order or direction under any enactment. 
 
7 Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime. 

28



 

 

 
Report Title: Quarterly Assurance Report Q1 2023-24 or 

where latest information is available until 
August 2023 

Contains 
Confidential or 
Exempt Information 

No - Part I  

Cabinet Member: Councillor Werner, Leader of the Council and 
Cabinet Member for Community Partnerships, 
Public Protection and Maidenhead 
 

Meeting and Date: Cabinet – 25 October 2023 
Responsible 
Officer(s): 

Stephen Evans, Chief Executive 
Rebecca Hatch, Assistant Director of Strategy 
& Communications 
Andrew Vallance, Deputy Director of Finance 

Wards affected:   All 
 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
The purpose of this report is to provide the first combined “Quarterly Assurance 
Report” (Appendix A) focused on the latest available position in relation to 
performance indicators and the corporate risk register. Audit and Workforce insights 
are also included. The Quarterly Assurance Report (QAR) reflects performance (Q1 
23/24 or where latest information is available until August 23) and risk for RBWM as a 
whole, and each individual Directorate, and is introduced as a mechanism to support 
good governance.  

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 

RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet notes the report and: 
 

i) Reviews the Quarterly Assurance Report setting out progress 
against the performance indicators and risk register. 

ii) Identifies any areas that Cabinet may wish to recommend for 
scrutiny to the Corporate Overview & Scrutiny Panel. 

2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

2.1 The Quarterly Assurance Report (Appendix A) is a new combined assurance 
report, bringing together the latest available performance insights and risk 
information. Audit and Workforce insights are also included. As a mechanism 
to support good governance, there are no options associated with this report. 

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 The council is developing a new Corporate Plan which will set out a vision for 
the borough over the coming years and describe the most important aims and 
priorities that the council will focus on delivering. The new Corporate Plan will 

29

Agenda Item 6



 

 

therefore provide a framework for decision-making and resource allocation and 
will be presented to full council in February 2024. 

3.2 Ahead of a new Corporate Plan and related performance indicators being 
developed, and in the interests of good governance, an interim performance 
management framework (PMF) has been developed for reporting in 2023/24 as 
part of new Quarterly Assurance reporting arrangements. Performance 
reporting for indicators is based on a traffic-light concept where green is 
on/above target, amber provides an early warning for possible intervention, and 
red suggests intervention may be necessary. The intention is to bring the new 
QAR to Cabinet on a quarterly basis to support good governance. 

4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY 

4.1 This report combines the council’s performance and risk. Robust information on 
performance and risk helps to inform future resource allocation decisions, 
including the current budgeting process.  

4.2 The current predicted overspend, coupled with a potential budget gap in 
2024/25 are significant risks. An update was provided to Cabinet on 27 
September 2023, summarising further, urgent action to address the financial 
risk.   

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

5.1 In considering its financial and non-financial performance, the Cabinet is 
supporting the Council to fulfil its duties under s.151 of the Local Government 
Act 1972 to ensure that there are arrangements in place for the proper 
administration of its financial affairs. Further, under s.3 of the Local Government 
Act 1999 to make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way 
its functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness.  

6. RISK MANAGEMENT  

6.1 Specific risk management activities and consideration of the corporate risk 
register is included within the relevant sections of Appendix A. Failure to 
manage risks appropriately could have financial, reputational or other 
consequences. Risk owners are required to implement controls to mitigate risks 
and update these regularly.  

7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

7.1 Equalities. This report does not have direct implications for equality and 
diversity. 
 

7.2 Climate change/sustainability. This report does not have direct 
environmental impacts.  

 

30



 

 

7.3 Data Protection/GDPR. There are no data protection impacts as a result of this 
report.  

8. CONSULTATION 

8.1 No consultation was required in creating this report.  

9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

9.1 The Quarterly Assurance Report set out at Appendix A provides an update on 
latest position in relation to performance and risk. There are no implementation 
items associated with this report. 

10. APPENDICES  

This report is supported by 1 appendix.  
• Appendix A: Quarterly Assurance Report  

11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

11.1 There are no background documents.  

12. CONSULTATION 

 Name of 
consultee 

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned 

Mandatory:  Statutory Officer (or deputy)   
Elizabeth Griffiths Executive Director of 

Resources / S151 Officer 
18.09.23 20.09.23 

Andrew Vallance Deputy Director of Finance 18.09.23 26.09.23 
Elaine Browne Deputy Director of Law & 

Governance & Monitoring 
Officer 

18.09.23 22.09.23 

Mandatory:  Equalities Officer – to advise on 
EQiA, or agree an EQiA is not 
required 

  

Ellen McManus-
Fry 

Equalities & Engagement 
Officer 

22.09.23 22.09.23 

Other consultees:    
Directors     
Stephen Evans Chief Executive 18.09.23 11.10.23 
Andrew Durrant Executive Director of Place 18.09.23 20.09.23 
Kevin McDaniel Executive Director of Adult 

Social Care & Health 
18.09.23 11.10.23 

Lin Ferguson Executive Director of 
Children’s Services & 
Education 

18.09.23 22.09.23 

 

31



 

 

Confirmation 
relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) 
consulted  

Councillor Werner, Leader of the 
Council and Cabinet Member for 
Community Partnerships, Public 
Protection and Maidenhead 

Yes 

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type: Urgency item? To follow item? 
For information  
 

No No 

 
Report Author: Rachel Kinniburgh, Service Lead – Strategic Policy, 
Performance and Insights 

 
 

32



 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX A 

Quarterly Assurance Report                                                          
Performance Data as at Q1 2023/24 or where latest monthly data is available 
until August-23.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Report Author(s)  
Radhika Thirunarayana-
Govindarajan 

Lead Performance Analyst 

Rachel Kinniburgh Service Lead – Strategy, Policy & Performance 
Steve Mappley Insurance & Risk Manager 

 

 

 

 

  

33



 

Page 1 of 43 

Contents 
1. Executive Summary ..................................................................................................................2 

2. RBWM Council ............................................................................................................................5 

3. Adult Social Care & Health Directorate ..............................................................................19 

4. Chief Executive Directorate ..................................................................................................24 

5. Children’s Services & Education Directorate ...................................................................26 

6. Place Directorate ......................................................................................................................31 

7. Resources Directorate ............................................................................................................38 

ANNEXE A: Oflog .........................................................................................................................42 

 

  

34



 

Page 2 of 43 

1. Executive Summary 
 

Performance  

• Ahead of a new Corporate Plan being developed and presented to Council in 
February 2024, an interim suite of performance metrics (“the Interim PMF”) has 
been developed for reporting in 2023/24 as part of Quarterly Assurance reporting 
arrangements. 
 

• The Interim PMF has a total of 65 metrics, with further metrics being identified 
for inclusion as appropriate over time. It is noted that the metrics reported in 
2023/24 follow different frequencies (e.g. monthly, quarterly), and this report sets 
out the latest data available at the time of this report’s preparation, 
acknowledging that the report’s preparation has preceded availability of Q2 data 
for metrics reported on a quarterly frequency. 

 
• Table 1 sets out a summary of latest performance by Directorate. There are 37 

target-based metrics, and 28 non-targeted metrics are. Of the 37 target-based 
metrics, 81% are either green or amber (30/37) and 19% red. (7/37)  

 

Table 1: Latest available period performance with Directorate breakdown 

Directorate Red Amber Green Monitoring 
only 

Total 

Cross-cutting  1 1 2 9 13 
Adult Social Care & Health 4 0 3 6 13 
Children’s Services & 
Education 1 1 8 5 15 
Place 0 2 8 8 18 
Resources 1 2 3 0 6 
Total 7 6 24 28 65 

 

Key successes:  

• Compliments Vs complaints: Q1 2023/24 saw more than double the number of 
compliments (120) than complaints (53) for RBWM Formal Corporate complaints 
process. This is also a 52% increase from the previous quarter (79 compliments) 
owing to more compliments from residents and improved recording of the same.  
 

• Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCP): The % of EHCP assessments 
completed within 20 weeks, including exceptions, has been above target for the 
last 2 quarters and currently stands at 97.8%, exceeding the target of 90% set for 
Q1 2023/24.  
 

• Leisure centre attendances: The number of attendances to leisure centres are 
the highest over the last 6 years with the year-to-date figures (Aug-23) standing at 
1,285,320, a 55% increase from same time in 2018/19.  

35



 

Page 3 of 43 

 
• Safeguarding concerns progressing to enquiries: Safeguarding concerns 

progressing to inquiries are at 48.5%, surpassing the 34% target for Aug-23, with 
triage times reduced from 20 days to just 3 days. 
 

• Council Tax Collection: Despite the continuing cost of living crisis and the 
challenges of a restructure within the department which has seen on-going 
recruitment taking place since April, the collection rate continues to be above target 
and, more importantly for the authority, the value of the cash collected has 
significantly increased compared to last year.  
 

• Voluntary turnover (YTD) for RBWM Staff: In Aug-23 % voluntary turnover (YTD) 
is 6.47%, tracking well against the target for the month (5.38%). Over the past year, 
the council has successfully recruited and retained officers in key areas and 
turnover has stabilised following post Covid-19 pandemic staff movements (Mar:22 
16.49% vs 12.90% target). Staff recruitment and retention, however, continues to 
be a key risk and challenge for the organisation. 

Key challenges:  

• Residential care placements: Optalis has highlighted challenges in rising 
residential costs especially for individuals who were previously self-funded. This 
has increased 12% pre-pandemic to around 33% of total admissions, impacting 
council budgets.  
 

• Households in temporary accommodation: The current cost of living crisis has 
also impacted the housing service. This, combined with a growing number of 
asylum seekers, a limited housing stock, and increasing prices for rental properties 
has placed considerable strain on the provision of temporary accommodation 
within the borough (43.0% vs 50% target and flagging red). 
 

• Children referred to social care:  In Q1 2023/24 the number of children referred 
to social care per 10,000 population is 134 which projects 535 by end of 2023/24, 
indicative of a high level of need coming through the front door, in line with regional 
trends. Acknowledging the service’s efforts to reduce demand by early intervention, 
nonetheless any additional placement has high financial impact. 
 

• Benefit Processing times: While Benefits processing times are generally being 
met, this has been a key challenge for the team due to long term vacancies which 
were unable to be filled till August. Two new staff are now in training. The team has 
done well to maintain performance over the period with reduced numbers. 

 

 

 

 

36



 

Page 4 of 43 

Risk 

• Risks potentially carrying the most damaging impacts on our measurement scale 
are classified as key risks. The inclusion of risks within any level of risk register 
does not mean there is an immediate problem but signifies officers are aware of 
potential risks and have devised strategies for the implementation of relevant 
mitigation measures towards the accepted appetite position. Table 2 sets out the 
current risk assessment status by Directorate. 
 

• Elected Members are notified of the key risks where they are named as the risk 
owner, typically as part of a Member briefing. Officers are tasked with ensuring 
that any comments by Members are reflected in the assessment.  
 

• If any risks are of such low impact that there is no good reason to continue 
referencing them then they are removed from the risk register or re-categorised 
with a lower risk assessment. 

 

Table 2: Current risk assessment status by Directorate 

 High Medium/
high 

Medium Low 
 

RBWM strategic risks 2 4 8 2 
Adults, Social Care and Health 0 0 3 0 
Chief Executive 0 0 1 0 
Children’s Services and Education 1 0 0 2 
Place 0 4 0 2 
Resources 0 0 2 0 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

37



 

Page 5 of 43 

2. RBWM Council  
 

Performance  

2.1 Scorecard 1 sets out cross-cutting corporate metrics and reflects the latest data 
available at the time of this report’s preparation. Please note that preparation of 
this report has preceded availability of Q2 data for metrics reported on a quarterly 
frequency.  

Information requests processed in time 

• This metric monitors the timeliness of processing Freedom of Information 
(FOIs), including Environmental Information Requests (EIRs) related to various 
environmental aspects. There is a one-month time-lag on reporting due to the 
20 working days processing timeframe.  

• Performance in Jul-23 was 86.2% (81/94), below the 90% target but still within 
acceptable tolerance thresholds, and a slight improvement on Jun-23 (86.0%, 
80/93). Year to date performance is 90.2% (330/366), above the 90% target. 
This metric will be monitored to assess the need for any corrective actions as 
necessary. 

Sickness for RBWM staff: 

• The days lost to sickness (YTD) as at Aug-23 is green (1.36 vs target of 2.42) 
and an improvement on Jul-23 (1.10 vs target of 1.93, also green). It is also 
noted that Aug-23 sickness is lower than 1 year ago (1.92 in Aug-22).  

• Hybrid working has seen a reduction in sickness absence as staff who feel that 
they are well enough to work from home may choose to do so. The council has 
started recording annual leave within iTrent (HR management system) and is 
planning an internal communication campaign to promote more sickness 
absence reporting too via iTrent.  

• Trends will be monitored closely during the winter seasons when Covid 
Boosters and Winter flu vaccinations are rolled out by the NHS.   

• Sickness is reported at a Directorate and service-level under “Workforce” in 
relevant sections of this report.   

Voluntary turnover (YTD) for RBWM staff 

• RBWM voluntary turnover includes those who choose to resign or retire. 
Turnover is calculated by dividing voluntary leavers by the average headcount 
(headcount at start and end of period / 2). It is acknowledged that some staff-
churn is healthy for any organisation and so this measure is configured as a 
fixed target each month with appropriate tolerance-bandings both above and 
below the monthly target. 

• At Aug-23 % voluntary turnover (YTD) is 6.47%, tracking well against the target 
for the month (5.38%) and showing an improvement from Jul-23 (5.96% vs 
4.30%). The in-month % voluntary turnover for Aug-23 was 0.54%.  

• In 2021/22, council turnover exceeded the target (16.42% vs 12.9%) due to 
post-Covid-19 staff movements. Since then, staff recruitment and retention has 

38



 

Page 6 of 43 

stablised. However, it remains a challenge and risk for the organisation. 
Voluntary turnover is reported at Directorate and service-level under 
“Workforce” in relevant sections of this report. It is noted that where services 
have fewer staff even a single staff leaving can heavily skew turnover 
percentages. 

Compliments and Complaints 

• Q1 2023/24 saw more than double the number of compliments (120) than 
complaints (53) for RBWM Formal Corporate complaints process. This is also 
higher than the previous quarter (79), attributable to both general positive 
comments by residents/customers and also renewed diligence in various 
services reporting compliments. Some example compliments received are 
listed below: 

“Best council I've ever dealt with. In all areas: from the benefits section to 
library, refuse service etc. Every SINGLE person I had any communication with 
was friendly, polite (cheerful even!) and gave prompt, efficient service every 
time. Congratulations to whoever heads such a great team and thank you!” 

“To the excellent team at the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 
THANK YOU for your efficient, friendly and always good service in all the 
departments I contacted. Unlike some of the Councils I’ve dealt with, I found 
you all welcoming and helpful and I had none of the anxiety I’ve had with 
others. Best wishes to you all!” 

“I contacted the Council regarding completing an SMI form on behalf of my 
husband.  I also contacted the Council regarding completing a Blue Badge 
application.  Each time the phones are answered really quickly (unheard of 
these days) and the department concerned answers promptly. “ 

• The volume of complaints received for Q1 23/24 (53) is the same as last quarter 
(Q4 22/23: 53) and broadly the same as a year ago (Q1 22/23: 52). It is noted 
that complaints made to the council enter a process and may not necessarily 
be found to be upheld. Overall, the volume of complaints for RBWM Formal 
Corporate complaints process has seen a reduction year on year [20/21 (354); 
21/22 (302); 22/23 (168)]. 
 

• It is acknowledged that “universal services” such as waste & recycling, council 
tax, parking) tend to see higher complaints volumes generally, however there 
can be volatility in volumes of complaints for these areas across quarterly 
reporting periods due to a range of factors including seasonality (e.g: annual 
billing for council tax, bin collection during holidays due to collection date 
changes). In Q1 23/24 the majority of complaints received related to planning 
applications (15.1%), housing options (15.1%), waste & recycling (13.2%) and 
parking (11.3%). Waste & recycling complaints showed a reduction from 11 in 
Q4 22/23 to 7 in Q1 23/24, parking complaints increased slightly from 4 in Q4 
22/23 to 6 in Q1 23/24. The council produces an Annual Compliments and 
Complaints Report, providing detailed focus on volumes of compliments and 
complaints associated with each of the different complaints processes (Adults 

39



 

Page 7 of 43 

Statutory, Children’s Statutory, Children’s Corporate, RBWM Formal 
Corporate), including reasons for complaints, outcomes and lessons learnt.  

40



 

Page 8 of 43 

Scorecard 1: Corporate cross-cutting performance 

 

 

 

41



 

Page 9 of 43 

Risk 

2.2 Senior management undertook a comprehensive re-evaluation and revision of 
the entire strategic risk register during December 2022 and January 2023. Table 
3 illustrates the outcomes of this exercise.  
 

2.3 Several new risks were added to the council’s strategic risk portfolio from that 
exercise: 

• Impact of winter flu and possible future pathogen variants. 
• Uncertainty around the viability and delivery of major schemes and 

commercial projects involved in regeneration across the entire borough. 
• Maintaining workforce stability i.e. Problems in recruitment and retention 

of staff. 
• Cost of living crisis results in increased levels of debt, community 

tension, and anti-social behaviour. 
• Fraud and corruption. 
• Mental Health crisis accelerates with impact on RBWM to support 

consequences. 
• Change of political control affects strategic direction of RBWM (this risk 

has subsequently been removed from the strategic risk register following 
senior officer review). 

 
2.4 Additional strategic risks added since that exercise: 

• Accommodation pressures from increasing demand 
• General election planning.  This has been on the relevant service risk 

register for several years but it was felt it ought to be represented as a 
strategic risk. 

• Financial implications arising from the state of the social care market and 
demand pressures. 

42



 

Page 10 of 43 

Table 3: Strategic Risks 

Risk Directorate Q1 
rating 

Q2 
rating 

Target Direction Last review 
date 

CLIM12 - Climate change – extreme weather conditions, 
carbon emissions. 
 
Key mitigations in place: 

• Climate strategy approved Dec 2020. 
Key mitigations in progress: 

• Develop a Climate Change Adaption plan. 

Executive 
Director Place 

12 12 9 Static 29/03/23 

HOF6 - Financial strategy does not deal sufficiently with 
pressures.The council's financial strategy needs to be 
effective in dealing with pressures. Addressing the impact 
of several years of low CTax bills is still a major concern. 
Although the council has increased its reserves up to 
£10m over the last two years, they are still low compared 
to other unitary councils. 
  
The council currently has an overspend in the current 
financial year of around £7m and a predicted budget gap 
for 2024/25 of £6m. Together these would exhaust the 
council's reserves. It's essential that the council finds 
additional income or savings in the current budget round 
to achieve a sustainable balanced budget. 
 
Key mitigations in place: 

• Corporate savings tracker noted monthly at ELT 
and Cabinet briefing. 

• MTFP and forecast 24/25 budget gap noted at July 
Cabinet.  

• Strategic business plan process presented at 
Cabinet briefing June 23. 

Executive 
Director 
Resources 

12 16 8 Worsening 25/09/23 

43



 

Page 11 of 43 

Risk Directorate Q1 
rating 

Q2 
rating 

Target Direction Last review 
date 

Key mitigations in progress: 
• Bids and savings process to date has widened the 

budget gap thus departmental “star chambers” will 
be taking place in September and October 23 to 
achieve further savings or additional income. 

 
SDCHIL25 - Major safeguarding issue leads to significant 
and preventable harm/death to vulnerable people. 
 
Key mitigations in place: 

• MASH strengthens response to children and young 
people at risk of significant harm incl. CSE. 

• Service’s business plan specifically addresses 
mitigating safeguarding risk. 

• Revised adult and children’s safeguarding 
partnership arrangements implemented with 
external scrutineers engaged throughout. 

Executive 
Director of Adult 
Social Care & 
Health/ 
Executive 
Director 
Children's 
Services and 
Education 

6 6 6 Target 
achieved 

29/03/23 

CMT40 – RBWM cannot operate during an emergency or 
provide support to residents. 
 
Key mitigations in place: 

• Joint Emergency Planning Unit contract. 
Key mitigations in progress: 

• Complete a suite of discrete service business 
continuity plans 

Executive 
Director Place 

8 8 6 Static 29/03/23 

CORP7 - Uncertainty around major schemes and 
commercial projects. 
 
Key mitigations in place: 

Executive 
Director Place 

6 6 6 Target 
achieved 

29/03/23 

44



 

Page 12 of 43 

Risk Directorate Q1 
rating 

Q2 
rating 

Target Direction Last review 
date 

• Prop Co's risk register details regeneration risks 
with joint venture partners with quarterly board 
review. 

• Appraisal of all our projects so there’s complete 
understanding of each individual scheme. 

• Introduction of improved governance for Prop Co 
including creation of new Sharehold Panel to hold 
company to account. 

HOF15 - Fraud and corruption leads to loss of council 
resources. 
 
Key mitigations in place: 

• Strong protocols in place including anti-money 
laundering, prevention of bribery and anti-
corruption policies. 

Key mitigations in progress: 
• SWAP/RBWM risk manager to identify services at 

risk of large-scale fraud. 

Executive 
Director 
Resources 

4 4 4 Target 
achieved 

16/08/23 

HR25 - IT infrastructure failure, cyber-crime, technological 
change. 
 
Key mitigations in place: 

• Secure remote working. 
• Networks protected by multiple security layers 

using firewall and other control technologies. 
• Multiple data centres provide increased resilience. 

Key mitigations in progress: 
• External review of cyber policy. 

Executive 
Director 
Resources 

8 8 3 Static 13/06/23 

sHR26 – Maintaining workforce stability. Problems in 
recruitment and retention of staff. 

Chief Executive 9 9 3 Static 13/06/23 

45



 

Page 13 of 43 

Risk Directorate Q1 
rating 

Q2 
rating 

Target Direction Last review 
date 

 
Key mitigations in place: 

• Provision for salary increases in MTFP. 
• Salary gateways where appropriate. 
• Consider revisions to posts to attract suitably 

qualified candidates. 
Key mitigations in progress 

• Continual review of terms and conditions and 
further national benchmarking. 

POLPER20 - Failure to secure best value for contracted 
services. 
 
Key mitigations in place: 

• Change control mechanisms. 
• Exit clauses/strategies negotiated. 

Key mitigations in progress: 
• Improve governance on decentralised contract 

management. 

Executive 
Director 
Resources 

8 8 4 Static 20/06/23 

POLPER21 - Legislation not responded to effectively 
leads to external intervention. 
 
Key mitigations in place: 

• Assistant directors/managers keep up to date with 
service developments 

• Legal advice on decisions is a mandatory part of 
our report writing mechanism. 

Executive 
Director 
Resources 

4 4 4 Target 
achieved 

16/08/23 

RBWM16 - Impact of winter flu and possible future 
pathogen variants. 
 
Key mitigations in place: 

Executive 
Director of Adult 
Social Care & 
Health 

16 12 8 Improving 29/03/23 

46



 

Page 14 of 43 

Risk Directorate Q1 
rating 

Q2 
rating 

Target Direction Last review 
date 

• RBWM Outbreak Control Plan. 
• Hospitals have critical incident plans e.g., 

postpone non-urgent operations. Priority that beds 
are available for seriously ill patients. 

 

SDCHIL26 - Cost of living crisis - increased levels of debt, 
community tension, anti-social behaviour.  
 
Key mitigations in place: 

• HSF pilot well established. 
• Active communication about ways of getting 

support (Here to Help). 
• Engagement with voluntary sector to support with 

Household Support scheme. 

Executive 
Director of Adult 
Social Care & 
Health 

6 6 6 Target 
achieved 

28/06/23 

SDCHIL27 – a potential increase in residents suffering 
complex mental health disorders could impact on RBWM 
to support the consequences. 
 
Key mitigations in place: 

• Engage with ICB and ICP to ensure that health 
services prioritise mental health services. 

• Develop "Mental Health in School" teams across 
the borough 

Key mitigations in progress: 
• Public health strategy alignment.  
• Progress in Frimley ICB. 

Executive 
Director of Adult 
Social Care & 
Health 

9 9 3 Static 28/06/23 

New for Qtr 2 - Failures in running an election leads to 
loss of confidence by electorate in RBWM. 
 
Key mitigations in place: 

• Mandatory training for staff involved. 

Deputy Director 
of Law and 
Governance 

 3 3 New 
strategic 

risk 

n/a 

47



 

Page 15 of 43 

Risk Directorate Q1 
rating 

Q2 
rating 

Target Direction Last review 
date 

• Guidance provided by the Electoral Commission 
incl. polling station, verification and count centre 
risks. 

• Election project group chaired by the RO, 
comprising senior officers. Group maintains an 
elections project risk register. 

New for Qtr 2 - increasing migration and movement of 
people placed in local hotels could result in an increased 
demand on RBWM’s critical front-line services. 
 
Key mitigations in place: 

• Local Berkshire and national meetings to ensure 
RBWM is notified of when asylum seekers are 
appearing. 

• Work with the Home Office, Clearsprings etc to try 
and find a solution to growing numbers of asylum 
seekers in hotels. 

Key mitigations in progress: 
• Improve early notification process by having 

access to the asylum placement information portal. 
• Recognised budget pressures and reflect in MTFP. 

Executive 
Director of Adult 
Social Care & 
Health/ 
Executive 
Director 
Children's 
Services and 
Education 
Executive 
Director of 
Place 

 9 3 New 
strategic 

risk 

n/a 

New for Qtr 2 – financial implications arising from the 
state of the social care market and demand pressures. 
 
Key mitigations in place: 

• Implementation of robust management controls in 
Optalis to manage funding packages and spend. 

Key mitigations in progress: 
• Transitions strategy. 
• Commissioning plan for supported housing 

Executive 
Director of Adult 
Social Care & 
Health/ 
Executive 
Director 
Children's 
Services and 
Education 

 9 6 New 
strategic 

risk 

n/a 

48



 

Page 16 of 43 

Audit 

2.5 The purpose of inclusion in this report is to monitor the implementation of the highest priority actions agreed (priority 1). The 
audits selected for monitoring are those where high corporate risks have been reported. These are listed in Table 4. Oversight 
of Internal Audit delivery is the responsibility of the Audit and Governance Committee. 
 

Table 4: Audits Priority 1 

Name of 
Audit 

Priority 1 Action Responsible 
Officer 

Agreed date for 
implementation  

Progress Update 

All services to complete a Business 
Impact Analysis (BIA) 

ED Place 
 

31/01/2024 All services that have yet to complete a 
Business Impact Analysis will do so, with 
support from the Joint Emergency  
Planning Unit (JEPU), where necessary.  This 
will include the recovery solutions needed to 
resume any critical business processes 
identified from the analysis. 

All services to complete a Business 
Continuity Plan (BCP) 

ED Place 
 

31/11/2023 In progress with 30% completed, 8 workshop 
sessions booked and aiming to complete by 
end of November.  

A corporate BIA to exercise to be 
completed and incorporated in the 
corporate BCP 

Service 
Manager – 
Joint 
Emergency 
Planning Unit 

31/01/2024 Once all services have completed their service 
BCPs and Business Impact Analysis, JEPU 
will update the corporate BCP and present this 
to CMT for approval. 

Business 
Continuity 
Planning 

A process of review of BCPs to be 
put in place for all high value 
contracts. 

ED Place 
 

31/12/2023 Target critical service providers and liaise with 
our procurement colleagues to review the 
arrangements in place. 

Implement a contract management 
framework and associated guidance 

Procurement 
Manager 

31/12/2023 On course for 31/12/2023 Contract 
Management 

Review the published contract 
register to ensure completeness and 

Procurement 
Manager 

31/03/2023  Review completed in August 2023 and now 
compliant with the Code. 

49



 

Page 17 of 43 

Name of 
Audit 

Priority 1 Action Responsible 
Officer 

Agreed date for 
implementation  

Progress Update 

compliance with the Local 
Transparency Code 2015 
Complete analysis to identify spend 
where a contract is needed and 
agree how compliance can be 
achieved 

Procurement 
Manager 

31/03/2023  Analysis completed. Agresso updated 
following spend reports and client updates. 

Deliver contract management 
training to all contract managers 

Head of HR 31/03/2023 – 
Overdue  

Procurement will arrange corporate training on 
contract management principles for all 
relevant officers by December 2023. 

Analysis undertaken to identify and 
take action in relation to all agency 
off-contract spend 

Head of HR 31/12/2023 Agency usage is monitored by HR and shared 
with DMTs monthly 

Procedure to authorise alternatives 
to the agency corporate contract to 
be agreed. 

Head of HR 31/12/2023 To be completed by the newly requested post 

Agree a process which sets out 
roles and responsibilities and the 
arrangements for recording, 
monitoring and collecting financial 
contributions 

Service Lead 
Infrastructure 

30/09/2023 On track for completion by the end of 
September 

Agree a proactive approach to 
alerting a designated officer for each 
agreement when a contribution 
milestone is reached and payment is 
due. 

Service Lead 
Infrastructure 

30/09/2023 On track for completion by the end of 
September 

S106 
Agreements 

To maintain a full audit trail. To 
consider using Exacom or similar as 
a management system for S106 
agreements and payments. 

Service Lead 
Infrastructure 

30/09/2023 On track for completion by the end of 
September 

 

50



 

Page 18 of 43 

3. Adult Social Care & Health Directorate 
 
Performance 

3.1 Scorecard 2 sets out Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for the Adult Social Care 
& Health Directorate and reflects the latest data available at the time of this 
report’s preparation. Please note that preparation of this report has preceded 
availability of Q2 data for metrics reported on a quarterly frequency.  
 

3.2 Of the 13 metrics reported there are: 4 red, 0 amber, 3 green and 6 non-targeted 
metrics for monitoring. There are 3 annual metrics sourced from the Adult Social 
Care Outcomes Framework (ASCOF) where data is available a year in arrears 
(2/3 ASCOF measures).  

 
3.3 The “% of clients engaged in treatment that are showing ‘substantial progress’” 

is a new metric, and previous national metrics related to successful completions 
and re-presentation rates. Q1 23/24 figures are indicative, up to the month of 
May-23 due to a data lag from National Drug Treatment Monitoring System 
(NDTMS) at the time of this report’s preparation. The Q1 figure is 42%, which is 
below the target of 55.4% (red), however it is broadly in line with national figure 
of 47%. There is an ongoing effort by NDTMS to improve data collection, 
currently standing at 89% data completeness. 

 
3.4 The proportion of older people (aged 65 years and over) who were still at home 

91 days after having a period of reablement discharged from hospital is a 
snapshot in time from October to March, i.e. relates to people who receive 
reablement in October, November and December. Since January 2023, the 
service has taken a “Home First” approach, jointly funded by the NHS, to provide 
patients with support at home or intermediate care, and those numbers are not 
included as part of this metric. The cohort of older people (aged 65+yrs) who are 
tracked within this metric is therefore very small, and are usually those extremely 
vulnerable going into reablement and who may therefore require repeat visits to 
hospitals or may unfortunately pass away within the 91-day time period after 
discharge. At Aug-23, this metric is 75%, below the target (80%) and flagging red 
for the first time since Apr-23. Going forward, we will ensure that both people 
who are supported by Home First and reablement from Short Term Services and 
Reablement are included in the cohort.  
 

3.5 Key successes:  

Smoking Cessation 

• In Q1 2023/24 66.7% (64/96) service-users (tier 3) had successfully quit 
smoking at 4 weeks. Q1 performance follows a steady improvement trend 
from 57% in Q3 2022/23 and exceeds the target of 60%.  

• Public Health at RBWM and Bracknell Forest Council have commissioned 
a vaping insights project to explore young people’s use of, and attitudes 

51



 

Page 19 of 43 

towards, e-cigarettes and vaping.  Public Health is linking with schools to 
share the most up-to-date information and guidance on managing vaping 
amongst children and young people.   

Safeguarding concerns progressing as enquiries 

• The proportion of safeguarding concerns progressing to enquiries has seen 
a steady increase from 10.7% (Jun-23) to 48.5% in Aug-23. Referrals made 
to the safeguarding hubs is the first step to safeguarding adults. Referrals 
are considered and, if necessary, progressed to enquiry.  

• The service acknowledges an improvement in allocation times reducing 
triage times from 20 days to 3 days. 

 
3.6 Key challenges: 

Statutory service establishment posts filled with permanent staff 

• As at Aug-23, % of statutory service establishment posts filled with permanent 
staff is at 72% below target of 90% (red). This metric has broadly been in the 
range of 70% since April and below target (90%). Wider factors contributing to 
unfulfilled vacancies include salary disparities with local authorities, an 
increased demand and a shortage of experienced staff, creating it a job 
seeker’s market.  

• The council is planning to undertake a study, under “invest to save” initiative, to 
explore long term benefits of recruiting permanent staff over agency staff for 
improved role stability in their roles and sustained service delivery.  

Admissions to care for those aged 65yrs + per 100,000 

• Aug-23 reports 38 admissions to care for those aged 65+ per 100,000, below 
the target of 56 and flagging green. August figures are, however, higher than 
previous months’ and this reverses the positive downward trend from May to 
July. 

• Almost a third of permanent admissions to care homes are for those that were 
previously self-funded. In Aug-23, 20% of new permanent admissions were 
those who were previously self-funded, down from previous months (in the 
range of 30%) however still higher than pre-pandemic period (around 10-12%). 
Post-covid impacts and increased costs of care are likely factors especially in 
placements to nursing care.  

• The council is working closely with Property Company to find suitable properties 
for care homes.  
 
 

  

52



 

Page 20 of 43 

Scorecard 2: Adult Social Care & Health Directorate 

 
 

  

53



 

Page 21 of 43 

Risk 

3.7 Table 5 sets out the current key risks for the directorate. 

Table 5: Adult Social Care & Health Directorate key risks 

Risk Q1 
rating 

Q2 
rating 

Target Direction Last 
review 
date 

HSG0006 - Inadequate strategic 
planning between children's services, 
adults and health. 
 
Mitigations in place: 

• Robust management controls 
to manage funding packages 
and spend. 

• Procedures to plan and 
manage transitions between 
children’s and adult services. 

8 8 6 

Static 23/06/23 

HSG0009 - Failure to meet aspiration 
of suitably integrated health and 
social care. 
 
Mitigations in place: 

• Work with the NHS to develop 
the ICS as part of the NHS 
long term plan. 

• Strong governance - 
integrated health & social care 
commissioning board takes 
risk-based decisions on BCF 
progress/performance. 

6 6 6 

Static 28/06/23 

HSG0007 - Increased demand 
resulting from adult social care 
demographics. 
 
Mitigations in place: 

• Market management by 
strategic commissioning. 

• Collaborative commissioning 
with NHS and other East 
Berkshire authorities on a 
range of provision, including 
intermediate care. 

6 6 6 

Static 28/06/23 

 

Workforce 

3.8 Scorecard 3 outlines workforce information for the Adult Social Care & Health 
Directorate. Please note that the workforce data does not include figures for 
Optalis. 

54



 

Page 22 of 43 

Scorecard 3: Workforce: Adult Social Care & Health Directorate 

 

55



 

Page 23 of 43 

4. Chief Executive Directorate 
 
Performance 

4.1 There are no performance indicators reported by this Directorate. 

 

Risk 

4.2 Table 6 sets out the current key risks for the directorate. 
 

Table 6: Chief Executive Directorate key risks 

Risk Q1 
rating 

Q2 
rating 

Target Direction Last 
review 
date 

CMT40 - Insufficient emergency 
response or business continuity 
planning (BCP) failure. 
 
Mitigations in place: 

• Inter authority agreement with 
JEPU in place (RBWM, 
WBDC and BFBC) to provide 
resilience with experts in the 
field. 

Mitigations in progress: 
• Service BCPs continuing 

development. 
• JEPU to run a BCP test in the 

form of a whole-council 
exercise during 2023-2024. 

8 8 8 

Static 23/05/23 

 

Workforce 

4.3 Scorecard 4 outlines workforce information for the Chief Executive’s Directorate. 
There are no concerns in relation to sickness, with number of days lost to 
sickness well below the target for Aug-23. There are no concerns in relation to 
% voluntary turnover (YTD) as reported amber values (12.50% for Chief 
Executive Directorate and 12.90% for Strategy, Performance & Communications 
Service) are due to staff leaving a small team, which significantly inflates reported 
percentages.  

 

  

56



 

Page 24 of 43 

Scorecard 4: Workforce: Chief Executive’s Directorate 

 

 

 

  

57



 

Page 25 of 43 

5. Children’s Services & Education Directorate 
 
Performance 

5.1 Scorecard 5 sets out KPIs for the Children’s Services & Education Directorate 
and reflects the latest data available at the time of this report’s preparation. 
Please note that preparation of this report has preceded availability of Q2 data 
for metrics reported on a quarterly frequency. Of the 15 metrics reported there 
are: 1 red, 1 amber, 8 green and 5 non-targeted indicators for monitoring. The 
service is currently reviewing its targets and tolerance thresholds for all metrics, 
and this will be reflected in Q2 2023/24.   
 

5.2 Key successes:  
• In Q1 23/24 8/10 targeted measures are green and 6/10 target-based 

measures have either maintained Q4 22/23 performance or improved.  
 
Education, Health and Care Plans assessments: 

• The percentage of Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) assessments 
(including exceptions) completed within 20 weeks (97.8%, 44/45), is above 
the 90% target for Q1 23/24 and exceeding the most recently published 
national average. Performance can be attributed to the realignment and 
training initiatives undertaken in the SEN Team, positively impacting staff, 
enabling them to enhance their knowledge and skills, resulting in more timely 
assessments.  

Care Leavers 

• The care leaver service is also acknowledged to have seen a rise in the 
proportion of care leavers in education, employment and training (19-21yr 
olds) to 67.3% (37/55) in Q1 23/24 compared to 58.3% (35/60) in Q4 22/23. 
Performance remains strong in relation to the proportion of care-leavers living 
in suitable accommodation (19-21yr olds) at 96.4% (53/55). 

 
5.3 Key challenges: 

Children referred to social care per 10,000 population (cumulative) 

• While it is acknowledged that referrals to social care is positive in relation to 
safeguarding children, and therefore welcome, the service is collaborating 
with GPs and schools to increase understanding of when a referral is 
appropriate in order to reduce the numbers of referrals which lead to no 
further action. This aims to ensure that staff are focusing on the right 
referrals. 

• In Q1 23/24 the number of children referred to social care per 10,000 
population is 134 which projects 535 by end of 23/24. Although lower than 
Q1 22/23 (173), this is still indicative of a high level of need coming through 
the front door. Quarterly South East Sector Led Partnerships (SESLIP) 
benchmarking data indicates that an increased level of demand continues to 
be seen across the South East region and, as at the end of Q4 22/23 (most 
recently available data) the regional average rate was 162.   

58



 

Page 26 of 43 

• The service acknowledges that a strong early intervention service is in place 
to reduce demands, however where residential placements are required they 
are, like adults services, invariably at high-cost which is causing budget 
pressure. 

In house foster placements 

• The percentage of children placed within in-house foster placements is green 
in Q1 23/24 with figures at 67.9% (53/78), above the target of 50%. It is noted 
that there has been a general decline in the number of children in foster 
placements over the two years (95 in Q1 20/21 to 78 in Q1 23/24). While the 
metric is consistently performing above targets, it is raised as a challenge 
because more elderly foster carers are likely to retire and there is a need to 
plan ahead to look for suitable alternatives.  

• The service is implementing a ‘Connected Carers’ initiative, working with 
extended families of the children to provide them placements in a more 
familiar familial setting. 

• The council views the affluence of the borough with higher percentage of 
detached and semi-detached properties as a positive opportunity to explore 
increases in in-house foster placements.   

59



 

Page 27 of 43 

Scorecard 5: Children’s Services & Education Directorate 

 
  

60



 

Page 28 of 43 

Risk 

5.4 Table 7 sets out the current key risks to the directorate. 

Table 7: Children’s Services & Education Directorate key risks 

Risk Q1 
rating 

Q2 
rating 

Target Direction Last 
review 
date 

SSS017 - Failure to improve 
standards in our schools. 
 
Mitigations in place: 

• Termly meetings with all 
Heads and Chairs of 
Governors, engaging 
regional Ofsted lead as 
appropriate, to drive 
education agenda. 

• Maintain the education and 
early years link approach 
with risk assessed 
identification of challenging 
schools. 

4 4 4 

Static 21/07/23 

SSS018 - Exposure to health and 
safety risks in schools. 
 
Mitigations in place: 

• Ongoing programme of fire 
safety works. 

• Asbestos management 
surveys in place. 

• Electrical testing up to date. 

4 4 4 

Static 21/07/23 

SSS019 - Maintain a satisfactory 
level of health or development for 
children with complex and multiple 
needs. 
 
Mitigations in place: 

• Capital funding secured to 
increase the number of 
special units attached to 
mainstream schools 

• Intensive Support team 
work to avoid children 
coming into the care of the 
council/reunify with their 
family when safe to do so. 

Mitigations in progress: 
• RBWM to have one of 33 

new special free schools 
being created nationally. 

n/a 12 6 

New risk 
from 

21/07/23 

21/07/23 

61



 

Page 29 of 43 

Workforce 

5.5 Scorecard 6 outlines workforce information for the Children’s Services & 
Education Directorate. Please note that the workforce data does not include 
figures for Achieving for Children. Key indicators related to vacancy and agency 
rates within Achieving for Children will be reportable from Q2 onwards.  
 

Scorecard 6: Workforce: Children’s Services & Education Directorate

 

 
  

62



 

Page 30 of 43 

6. Place Directorate 
 

Performance 

6.1 Scorecard 7 sets out KPIs for the Place Directorate and reflects the latest data 
available at the time of this report’s preparation. Please note that preparation of 
this report has preceded availability of Q2 data for indicators reported on a 
quarterly frequency. Of the 18 metrics reported and where latest data (either Q1 
23/24 or latest monthly data) is available, there are: 0 red, 2 amber, 8 green 
(where 1 metric relates to Q4 22/23 data) and 8 non-targeted metrics for 
monitoring.  
 

6.2 Key successes:  
• At the time of preparation of the report, there has been in-period improvement 

of 5/8 green metrics and 2/8 being at 100% in the last 3 months.  

Leisure Centre attendances 

• The number of attendances at leisure centres (LC) has increased since Feb-
23 reaching a record high of 312,154 in Aug-23, the highest since reporting 
began in 2017, and with high attendances at both the Braywick and Windsor 
leisure centres particularly. Contributing factors include the maturing offerings 
at Braywick LC, now in its third year since opening its doors in Summer 2020; 
initiatives like free youth swim sessions, and potentially inclement weather in 
summer driving indoor activities. 

Planning applications processed within timeframe 

• There has been overall improvement in planning applications processed in 
time, with all categories (major/minor/other) either above target for Q1 23/24 
(major/minor) or showing an improvement over the last 2 quarters 
(minor/other). The Assistant Director for Planning acknowledges that 
voluntary turnover has previously impacted processing times and so while 
performance is seeing an improvement, there remains a backlog of 
applications.  

Incidents and complaints in relation to Anti-social behaviour 

• While there is no polarity or targets associated with the number of anti-social 
behaviour (ASB) incidents and complaints (142 in Q1), or the number of group 
dispersals across the borough (91 in Q1), it is noted that there has been an 
increase in both compared to Q4 22/23. Seasonality affects both indicators, 
however the number of ASB incidents & complaints shows a 492% increase 
in Q1 23/24 compared to Q1 22/23. This is due to active promotion of 
reporting lines by the Community Safety team in their Community 
Engagement & Crime prevention stands across the borough and there are 
currently no concerns about these metrics. 

• It is also acknowledged that there is a grey area in what can be perceived as 
an ASB by a complainant and may not be so, however once a complaint is 

63



 

Page 31 of 43 

received, community wardens are sent to assess the situation and take 
appropriate action.   

 
6.3 Key challenges: 

Households in temporary accommodation 

• The number of households in temporary accommodation is 230 in Aug-23, 
broadly in line with monthly trends since Apr-21 but the highest it’s been since 
Dec-22 (235). The % of households in temporary accommodation within the 
borough is 43% in Aug-23, below the target of 50% and following a month-on-
month downward trend since May-23 (46.2%). 

• There are significant challenges including limited housing stock, cost of living 
crisis, and increases in property prices and rents. Additional pressures faced 
by the Housing Service include housing asylum seekers, and Government 
decision to freeze Local Housing allowance rates for 2023/24.  

• Separately, increases in rent for private rental properties, coupled with other 
factors like loss of jobs or cost of living crisis, also sees an increase in rough 
sleepers who are not placed in temporary accommodation. 

• The service is looking at a range of options to secure more housing stock 
within the borough, including looking at its own assets and externally funding 
sources such as Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and central government 
funding. The service is also liaising with partners and charities to secure 
accommodation and work for rough sleepers. 

Recycling rates 

• Latest waste management data has not been provided for this report due to 
the team being acutely short staffed and with a wide range of services in its 
remit in addition to waste and recycling.  

• Anecdotal evidence indicates the recycling rates might decline. There is 
potential to run a promotion campaign to encourage residents to recycle more, 
however with staff shortages this campaign is yet to be confirmed. Latest 
available data for the proportion of household waste sent for reuse, recycling 
(Q4 22/23) is 52.1% above target of 50% and green. Latest available data for 
the average number of missed collections per 100,000 collections relates to 
Jul-23 (19.25 vs target of 60 and flagging green).   

 

64



 

Page 32 of 43 

Scorecard 7: Place Directorate

65



 

Page 33 of 43 

 
 

Risk 

6.4 Table 8 sets out the key risks to the directorate. 

Table 8: Place Directorate key risks 

Risk Q1 
rating 

 

Q2 
rating 

 
Target 

Direction Last 
review 
date 

HOUS02 - Costs of temporary 
accommodation increasing beyond 
capacity to fund. 
 
Mitigations in place: 

• Prioritise and manage 
placements to ensure full 
occupancy. 

• Homelessness and Rough 
Sleeping Strategy 18-23. 

Mitigations in progress: 
• Seek out new providers, 

negotiating lower cost and 
ceasing high-cost placements. 

• Look at alternative options such 
as social housing stock levels 
and private landlords. 

9 
 

9 
 6 

Static 21/06/23 

HPLAND019 – Failure to undertake 
inspections of council trees and 
delivering works. 
 

9 
 

 
9 
 
 

8 

Static 13/12/22 

66



 

Page 34 of 43 

Risk Q1 
rating 

 

Q2 
rating 

 
Target 

Direction Last 
review 
date 

Mitigations in place: 
• Safety works are raised through 

the Arboriculture Services 
Framework. 

• Inspections targeted at trees in 
urban areas, as this is where 
impacts on tree health are the 
most frequent and significant. 

Mitigations in progress: 
• Contracted inspections ceased 

end of 21/22 financial year. 
Budget proposals for 23/24. 

IST02 - Flood risk is not sufficiently 
dealt with by preventative and 
responsive measures. 
 
Mitigations in place 

• RBWM emergency plan and 
flooding risk management 
strategy 

• Multi agency response plan co-
ordinated by flood risk 
manager. 

Mitigations in progress: 
• A workshop has been 

completed with JEPU to identify 
gaps with a flooding exercise 
planned for October 23. 

 
4 
 

 
4 
 

4 

Static 22/05/23 

PPS013 - Failure to assess resources 
and demands resulting from cold 
weather. 
 
Mitigations in place: 

• A comprehensive annual winter 
maintenance plan is in place 
detailing the roles and 
responsibilities of contractors. 

• Risk assessments behind road 
treatment strategy. Contractors 
also have their own risk 
assessments for carrying out 
the works. 

 
2 
 

 
2 
 

2 

Static 23/05/23 

 

 

 

67



 

Page 35 of 43 

Workforce 

6.5 Scorecard 8 outlines workforce information for the Place Directorate. There are 
no concerns in relation to working days lost to sickness which is well below target 
for the Directorate as a whole and all related services in Aug-23.  

 

Scorecard 8: Workforce: Place Directorate 

 

 

 

68



 

Page 36 of 43 

 

  

69



 

Page 37 of 43 

7. Resources Directorate 
 
Performance  

7.1 Scorecard 9 sets out KPIs for the Resources Directorate and reflects the latest 
data available at the time of this report’s preparation. Of the 6 metrics reported 
there are: 1 red, 2 amber, and 3 green.   
 

7.2 Key successes:  

Council Tax collection rates 

• At Aug-23, the % of council tax collected is 49.22%, above the target of 
48.90% and above monthly targets for the last 3 months. In cash terms this 
is £3.5m more collected this year compared to same time last year.  Latest 
benchmarking data puts RBWM’s council tax collection rates for the year 
2022/23 (98.55%) higher than England (96.02%).  

Processing new benefits claims (Housing Benefits)  

• The average number of days to process new claims is 9.59, flagging green 
for the first time in 2023/24 following a steady improvement trend. The year-
to-date figure is 13.94 (amber), just short of target of 12. Council performance 
is better than both the South East and England over the last 12 months with 
the exception of Dec-22 (Mar -22 to Mar-23, latest benchmarking data).  

• It is acknowledged that figures are retrospectively adjusted by the 
Department for Work and Pensions and these figures will be updated as 
confirmed by the DWP.  

 
7.3 Key challenges:  

Non-domestic rates collection 
• Staff shortages have impacted Revenue, Benefits, Library & Resident 

Services across a number of service-delivery areas, including difficulty filling 
an NNDR (National Non-Domestic Rates) vacancy from September 2022. 
This vacancy has now been filled but the officer has not yet started. This, 
coupled with processing other Government schemes, has impacted 
performance. 

• The % of non-domestic rates collected is 49.53%, above the target of 49.00% 
for Aug-23 and has remained above target since May-23. Latest 
benchmarking data puts RBWM’s non-domestic collection rates for 2022/23 
(98.0%) higher than England (96.76%).     

Customer Service Centre Performance 

• In Aug-23, the % of calls answered within 2 minutes is at 79.1% slightly below 
target of 80% (amber), for the first time since Feb-22, however YTD figures 
are above target (85.5% Vs 80%). The % of calls abandoned after 5 seconds 
is at 5.0%, just above the target of 4% (amber). Nonetheless the year-to-date 
performance is green (3.7% Vs 4.0%). The slight dip in performance for both 
metrics is attributed to staff being on leave during the summer holidays 
coupled with some long-term sickness absence starting in July.  

70



 

Page 38 of 43 

Scorecard 9: Resources Directorate 

 
 

Risk 

7.4 Table 9 sets out the current key risks to the directorate. 

Table 9: Resources Directorate key risks 

Risk Q1 
rating 

Q2 
rating 

Target Direction Last 
review 
date 

POLPER19 - Failure to comply 
with council constitution and code 
of conduct. 
 
Mitigations in place: 

• Scheme of delegation and 
report writing sign off. 

• There is no opportunity for 
an individual member to 
make a significant decision 
in isolation. 

Mitigations in progress: 

8 8 4 

Static 31/05/23 

71



 

Page 39 of 43 

Risk Q1 
rating 

Q2 
rating 

Target Direction Last 
review 
date 

• Constitution working group 
undertaking a review of the 
constitution. 

PEN01 - Not bringing the fund 
back to a fully funded position by 
the agreed date of 31 March 2040. 
 
Mitigations in place: 

• Triannual valuation signed 
off on 19 March 2023 
including consideration of 
climate risk. 

Mitigations in progress: 
• Arrange independent test of 

systems and recommend 
any further cyber security 
measures to implement. 

8 8 8 

Static 20/06/23 

 

Workforce 

7.5 Scorecard 10 outlines workforce information for the Resources Directorate.  

Scorecard 10: Workforce: Resources Directorate 

 

72



 

Page 40 of 43 

 

  

73



 

Page 41 of 43 

ANNEXE A: Oflog 
 

Background 

In July 2023 the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) 
established the Office for Local Government (Oflog) as a new performance body focused 
on local government in England. Oflog collates, analyses and publishes existing data 
about the relative performance of councils via a new Local Authority Data Explorer, giving 
councils the opportunity for peer comparison, and central government and its partners the 
opportunity to identify where there may be challenges and a need to step in to provide 
support where appropriate. 

Initial indicators have been developed for reporting, with 18 indicators in total currently 
applicable to Unitary Authorities, Metropolitan and London Boroughs and covering Waste 
Management, Adult Social Care and Finance service-areas. These service areas will be 
expanded to cover the breadth of what local authorities do, and the initial list of indicators 
will be improved and expanded over time. 

Monitoring and reporting 

With Oflog indicators updated at an annual frequency the Strategy, Policy & Performance 
unit will keep Oflog developments under review, including any mid-year expansion of the 
list of indicators reported. 

The council will publish an annual statement in relation to performance against Oflog 
indicators within the council’s routine Quarterly Assurance Report (QAR) at appropriate 
times.  

2021/22 data 

Figure 1 sets out the initial Oflog metrics with comparison of RBWM to the median values 
for CIPFA statistical nearest neighbours and England. Comparison of RBWM to 
neighbouring South East LAs (Bracknell Forest, Reading, Slough, West Berkshire, 
Wokingham) is also provided for interest. Figure 1 provides an indication of RBWM’s 
relative position against its comparators (“Better” or “Worse” for metrics where there is a 
clear polarity, and “Higher” or “Lower” for metrics where there is no polarity). All data 
presented at Figure 1 relates to 2021/22 as published through Oflog’s Local Authority Data 
Explorer. 

74

https://oflog.data.gov.uk/waste-management?show_selected_la=Show+selected+authorities&show_cipfa_nns=Compare+to+CIPFA+Nearest+Neighbours&local_authority=Windsor+and+Maidenhead


 

 

Figure 1: Oflog metrics: comparison of RBWM with CIPFA median, England median, and neighbouring Berkshire authorities 

 
 

OFLOG 2021/22 Metric comparison

Area KPI Date
Windsor and 
Maidenhead 

Latest data

CIPFA 
Nearest 

Neighbours 
Median

England 
Median

Br
ac

kn
el

l 
Fo

re
st

Re
ad

in
g

Sl
ou

gh

W
es

t 
Be

rk
sh

ire

W
ok

in
gh

am CIPFA 
Nearest 

Neighbours 
Median

England 
Median

Br
ac

kn
el

l 
Fo

re
st

Re
ad

in
g

Sl
ou

gh

W
es

t 
Be

rk
sh

ire

W
ok

in
gh

am

Household waste recycling rate (Percentage) 2021/22 50.4% 51.7% 41.9% 56.2% 51.5% 26.7% 49.0% 54.2% Worse Better Worse Worse Better Better Worse

Residual household waste (kg per household) 2021/22               490.2 496.0 502.4           406.9           369.1           699.0           542.9           457.2 Better Better Worse Worse Better Better Worse

Recyling contamination rate (Percentage) 2021/22 5.6% 5.8% 5.6% 6.3% 7.2% 2.9% 4.3% 5.8% Better Same Better Better Worse Worse Better

Requests resulting in a service (per 100,000 population) 2021/22               1,708             1,476             1,709           1,505           1,669           1,479           1,721           2,343 Higher Lower Higher Higher Higher Lower Lower

Workforce turnover rate (Percentage) 2021/22 25.5% 31.9% 28.7% 22.8% 17.4% 31.1% 33.0% 29.6% Lower Lower Higher Higher Lower Lower Lower

People in adult social care: quality of life (Score) 2021/22 0.405 0.406 0.409 0.409 0.379 0.433 0.406 0.369 Worse Worse Worse Better Worse Worse Better

People who use services who found it easy to find 
information

2021/22 73.4% 68.4% 65.3% 68.3% 68.7% 64.2% 74.1% 70.8% Better Better Better Better Better Worse Better

Carers of people in adult social care: quality of life 
(Score)

2021/22 7.6 7.2 7.2 7.5 6.9 6.1 7.9 7.7 Better Better Better Better Better Worse Worse

Carers who found it easy to find information about 
services

2021/22 61.9% 58.0% 57.3% 63.0% 44.4% 41.8% 56.8% 59.1% Better Better Worse Better Better Better Better

Short term service provision (Percentage) 2021/22 96.0% 74.9% 76.3% 76.0% 83.3% Not 
available 64.1% 95.9% Better Better Better Better Not 

available Better Better

Non-ringfenced reserves as percentage of net revenue 
expenditure (Percentage)

2021/22 49.6% 60.5% 54.9% 90.4% 42.0% 5.2% 23.7% 105.9% Lower Lower Lower Higher Higher Higher Lower

Non-ringfenced reserves as percentage of service spend 
(Percentage)

2021/22 42.8% 55.1% 44.6% 71.5% 35.6% 6.3% 24.2% 90.8% Lower Lower Lower Higher Higher Higher Lower

Total core spending power per dwelling 2021/22  £    1,497.57  £   1,763.89  £   1,885.14  £ 1,763.05  £ 1,901.18  £ 1,931.82  £ 1,833.36  £ 1,969.16 Lower Lower Lower Lower Lower Lower Lower

Level of Band D council tax rates 2021/22  £    1,148.75  £   1,593.55  £   1,554.02  £ 1,403.19  £ 1,776.60  £ 1,490.30  £ 1,596.51  £ 1,620.14 Lower Lower Lower Lower Lower Lower Lower

Council tax revenue per dwelling 2021/22  £    1,592.78  £   1,670.43  £   1,293.42  £ 1,672.49  £ 1,631.01  £ 1,350.30  £ 1,884.34  £ 2,092.78 Lower Higher Lower Lower Higher Lower Lower

Social care spend as percentage of core spending power 2021/22 64.9% 66.4% 66.4% 69.8% 66.4% 41.8% 66.3% 55.9% Lower Lower Lower Lower Higher Lower Higher 

Debt servicing as percentage of core spending power 2021/22 6.0% 6.4% 9.0% 6.4% 15.5% 9.9% 18.1% 4.7% Lower Lower Lower Lower Lower Lower Higher 

Total debt as percentage of core spending power 2021/22 197.2% 160.0% 226.7% 214.3% 388.8% 737.1% 175.2% 306.1% Higher Lower Lower Lower Lower Higher Lower

Data RBWM position in relation to:

Finance

Waste 
management

Adult social 
care

75



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
Report Title: 2023/24 Month 5 Revenue Monitoring Report 
Contains 
Confidential or 
Exempt Information 

No - Part I 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Jones, Deputy Leader and Cabinet 
Member for Finance 

Meeting and Date: Cabinet – 25th October 2023 
Responsible 
Officer(s): 

Elizabeth Griffiths, Executive Director of 
Resources 
Andrew Vallance, Deputy Director of Finance 

Wards affected:   All 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
This report details the forecast outturn against budget for the 2023/24 financial year. 
It includes the revenue and capital budgets along with the financial reserve position 
at year end. 

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 

RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet: 
 

i) notes the forecast revenue outturn for the year at M5 is an 
overspend on services of £7.312m which reduces to an overspend 
of £3.589m when including unallocated contingency budgets and 
changes to funding budgets (para 4);  

ii) notes that the Council’s approach to in-year budget monitoring and 
management is being strengthened – as part of a wider approach to 
improving corporate governance at RBWM - as set out in paragraph 
5.1; 

iii) notes the forecast capital outturn is expenditure of £47.769m 
against a budget of £87.199m (para 10); and 

iv) agrees the virements in Appendix B. 

2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Options  
 

Table 1: Options arising from this report 
Option Comments 
To note the Council’s outturn. This is the recommended option. 
To not note the Council’s outturn. This is not the recommended 

option. 

77

Agenda Item 7



3. SUMMARY 

3.0 RBWM faces significant financial challenges.  In the Cabinet meeting of 27th of 
September, the Chief Executive and S151 Officer gave an update to Cabinet 
on the M5 position reported below, stating that the Council’s reserves would 
be so significantly depleted by the current forecast in year overspend and 
projected gap in next year’s budget that the Council would no longer be able to 
finance its budget and is therefore at risk of issuing a S114 notice. 

3.1 This briefing has since been repeated in three separate sessions attended by 
members of all parties with the opportunity to ask questions, and then 
discussed at an extraordinary Council session held on the 10th of October. 

3.2 The key variances in each directorate are outlined below.  The main pressures 
being an increase in both costs and usage in demand led services.  These 
increases are being offset where possible by the use of external grants. The 
remainder is largely higher than expected inflationary increases in contracts.  
All of these increases have been negotiated down as much as possible but, as 
they stand, have been unavoidably incurred, are ongoing, and are therefore 
expected to flow into next year’s budget requirement meaning that large 
offsetting savings must be found to compensate for them. 

3.3 Every service area has been working to generate proposals for additional 
income, cost reduction, service efficiencies and transformation programmes in 
order to reduce the current year overspend and the corresponding gap in next 
year’s budget.  These have been reviewed and challenged in a series of 
meetings initially with Directors, Exec Directors, the Chief Exec, the S151 
Officer and subsequently, Cabinet members. 

3.4 A Spending Control Panel has been established which reviews and challenges 
all internally funded spending requests over £500 for revenue, capital or 
recruitment (temporary and permanent), unless they relate to a previously 
agreed contract, a clearly referenceable statutory obligation or an urgent need 
to safeguard vulnerable people.  This review process is also being 
implemented by both Adult Services and Children’s Services. 

3.5 The cost of servicing debt remains a key concern and the forecast increase in 
interest costs is a large contributor to next year’s budget gap. In order to 
address this, all current and proposed capital expenditure is under review in 
order to reduce any new borrowing requirements and all assets are being 
evaluated to identify any potential disposals which would generate capital 
receipts which could be used to repay some of the existing debt. 

3.6 Monthly reviews of the financial position are given to the Executive Leadership 
Team and Cabinet.  Improvements to the Governance of our Property 
Company and all outsourced partners are underway and new boards have 
either been set up, or are in the process of being set up, to monitor and drive 
performance, transformation and cross departmental projects. 

3.7 The organisation as a whole is responding to the challenge with regular 
communications, staff Q&A sessions and member involvement.  Both Cabinet 
and Council have voiced and agreed their support to resolving the situation. 

 

78



4. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 The Council faces considerable financial risks that could have a significant and 
immediate impact on its finances. However, whilst reserves are currently 
above the minimum level that the S151 Officer has deemed are required to 
protect against financial and service risks, they remain low compared to the 
optimum level that should be held. The Medium-Term Financial Plan agreed in 
February 23 assumed that the Council would deliver sustainable savings over 
the medium term and therefore remain above the minimum level of reserves 
identified by the S151 Officer (£7.900m). 

Table 2: Key Implications 
Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly 

Exceeded 
Date of 
delivery 

General 
Fund 
Reserves 

<£7.9m £7.9m to 
£12m 

£12m to 
£15m 

> £15m Ongoing 

5. 2023/24 MONTH 5 REVENUE FORECAST OUTTURN  

5.1 The month 5 forecast is an overspend on service budgets of £7.312m. 
Assuming the contingency budget is not used and the budgeted contribution to 
general reserves not made, this reduces to an overspend of £3.589m. 

Table 3: 2023/24 Month 5 Revenue Budget Forecast 
 Current 

Budget 
Forecast 
Outturn 

Over / 
(under) 
spend 

 £000 £000 £000 

Adult Social Care and Health 39,999 44,879 4,880 

Children's Services 27,759 27,974 215 

Place  11,672 14,648 2,976 

Resources 12,300 11,508 (792) 

Chief Executive Department 959 992 33 

TOTAL SERVICE EXPENDITURE 92,689 100,001 7,312 

Contingency and Corporate Budgets 3,037 541 (2,496) 

Other funding and non-service expenditure (95,726) (96,953) (1,227) 

DECREASE IN GENERAL FUND RESERVE 0 3,589 3,589 

    

GENERAL FUND    

Opening balance (10,213) (10,213)  

Transfer out 0 3,589  

CLOSING BALANCE (10,213) (6,624)  

 

 

79



5.2 This would lead to the general reserve falling below the minimum required 
level of £7.9 million. 

5.3 Appendix C details budget virements requiring Cabinet approval. The Council 
constitution states that any virements over £0.100m (or £0.025m where 
budget is moved between departments) require Cabinet approval. 

6. Strengthening in-year budget monitoring and management 

6.1 Steps are being taken to strengthen the Council’s approach to in-year budget 
monitoring and management. The following changes are being implemented: 

• All directorates have been asked to draw up action plans as to how they 
can reduce the overspend. 

• A spending review panel has been introduced scrutinising all non-
essential spend above £500 and approving all recruitment. 

• Earmarked reserves are being actively reviewed to determine where 
these can be released. 

7. ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH 

7.1 The Adult Social Care & Health directorate forecast outturn at M5 is an 
overspend of £4.880m.   

Table 4: Adult Social Care and Health 
 Budget Forecast 

Outturn 
Over / 

(under) 
spend 

  £000 £000 £000 

Executive Director and Commissioning 1,576 1,713 137 

Adult Social Care 38,253 42,996 4,743 

Transformation and Community 170 170 0 

Public Health Spend 5,403 5,403 0 

Public Health Grant (5,403) (5,403) 0 

Total 39,999 44,879 4,880 

 
 
7.2 The overspend is primarily due to residential care costs for older people. With 

continuing staffing challenges, previously planned savings in respect of staff 
costs are unlikely to be met.  There are currently £1.27m (31%) of targeted 
revenue budget savings which remain RAG rated red, meaning that there is a 
significant risk that they won’t be achieved. 

80



7.3 Actions in progress to address the overspend include establishing a rigorous 
panel process to review potential new care placements, the Homefirst project 
that seeks to support people as they leave hospital which reduces the need for 
care home placements, and a targeted review of care packages between 
August and November. There are early indications that the panel review and 
Homefirst are having positive impacts, but demand led services such as these 
can fluctuate unpredictably. 

7.4 There is significant inflationary pressure from all providers, especially those 
not bound by long term contracts. This is particularly noticeable in residential 
and nursing home places where we are seeing requests for 8-16% uplifts on 
existing placements, having budgeted 5%. 

8. CHILDREN’S SERVICES 

8.1 The Children’s directorate forecast outturn at M5 is an overspend of £0.215m. 

Table 5: Children’s Services 
 Budget Forecast 

Outturn 
Over / 

(under) 
spend 

  £000 £000 £000 

Management & Business Services 3,158 3,315 157 

Education 1,279 1,261 (18) 

Special Educational Needs & Disabilities 3,676 3,891 215 

Social Care and Early Help 21,043 20,806 (237) 

Public Health (11) 87 98 

RBWM Retained Grant Budgets (1,387) (1,387) 0 

Total 27,758 27,973 215 

 
8.2 There are continuing pressures on SEN (special educational needs)Transport 

costs and Legal support costs. For the current year, this has been mostly 
mitigated by using appropriate government grants to offset costs. 

8.3 Since month 3 there has been a high cost placement costing £14k per week. 
Cost outliers such as this cause disproportionate pressures on the budget and 
can quickly consume additional budget allowance for growth in demand, 
meaning that this expected growth then becomes an overspend. 

8.4 There are currently £0.550m (18%) of targeted revenue budget savings which 
remain RAG rated RED, meaning there is a significant risk they will not be 
achieved. 

8.5 Actions in progress to address the areas of budget pressure include increased 
scrutiny by the service around SEN appeals to ensure only eligible young 
people are offered transport. 

81



9. PLACE 

9.1 The Place directorate forecast outturn at M5 is an overspend of £2.976m. 

Table 6: Place 
 Budget Forecast 

Outturn 
Over / 

(under) 
spend 

 £000 £000 £000 

Executive Director of Place 20 20 0 

Neighbourhood Services 9,277 11,615 2,338 

Planning Service 1,331 1,661 330 

Communities including Leisure (1,250) (882) 368 

Housing 2,018 1,959 (59) 

Property (2,908) (2,908) 0 

Infrastructure, Sustainability & Transport 3,184 3,183 (1) 

Total 11,672 14,648 2,976 

 

9.2 The overspend includes the following significant factors: 

• Contract costs, including £0.600m on the SERCO contract and 
£0.400m on the Volker highways contract, have risen sharply due to 
inflation staying higher than expected for longer than expected. 

• Daily parking income has improved significantly but there remains an 
underachievement of parking income targets partly due to the continued 
lower levels of season ticket sales (1.020m).  The service believe this to 
be due to the change in working habits post pandemic with more and 
more people working from home. 

• There has been an increase in costs for waste recycling (£0.430m) with 
rates that are higher than anticipated, mainly due to the stockpiling of 
material in overseas markets and paper mills in Europe being shut due 
to the energy crisis. 

• The leisure centre contract renewal is still in progress but the service is 
reporting a shortfall against budget of £0.560m. 

9.3 There are currently, £0.220m (9%) of targeted revenue budget savings which 
remain RAG rated red, meaning that there is a significant risk they will not be 
achieved. 

9.4 The Place Directorate Leadership Team have developed a range of in-year 
actions to address the overspend, these include: 

• Increased contract Management – working within existing contract 
frameworks, officers are identifying potential cost saving opportunities, 
which are also informing future procurements. 

82



• Improvement of parking income – Development of a parking strategy 
and communications campaign to increase parking use in key locations 
such as Maidenhead. There is also a review of additional on-street 
parking provision that will support ongoing service costs. 

• Enforcement - consideration of options on moving traffic enforcement in 
relation to the award of a new Parking and Enforcement contract.  

10. RESOURCES 

10.1 The Resources directorate forecast at M5 is an underspend of £0.792m. 

Table 7: Resources 
 Budget Forecast 

Outturn 
Over / 

(under) 
spend 

 £000 £000 £000 

Executive Director of Resources 198 126 (72) 

Revenues, Bens, Library & Res Services 4,380 3,811 (569) 

Housing Benefit  (377) (377) 0 

Human Resources, Corporate Projects & IT 3,346 3,321 (25) 

Corporate Management (196) (146) 50 

Finance  1,580 1,575 (5) 

Governance 2,392 2,363 (29) 

Legal Services 977 835 (142) 

Total Resources 12,300 11,508 (792) 

 

10.2 The underspends in the table above are mainly related to staff vacancies and 
government grant funding, although some of the grant income forecast in this 
latter category this latter has not yet been received as it is typically notified by 
central government on an ad hoc basis throughout the year. There are no 
planned savings in this directorate which are RAG rated red. 

11. SUNDRY DEBT 

11.1 The current level of overdue sundry debt is £7.909m. On subsidiary systems 
there is also debt of £3.917m and £0.217m in relation to Housing 
Overpayments and Housing Rents respectively.  This is an area of high focus 
with additional resource recently agreed. 

11.2 Some of the efficiency savings in this year’s budget relate to reductions in 
debt. As such, work is currently ongoing to establish a more holistic, corporate 
led approach to debt. This includes: 

• clearer and more frequent reporting of debt to encourage directorates to 
engage in the debt recovery process. 

83



• data cleansing, including write off of historic uncollectable debts, to 
allow efforts to be focused on collectable debts.  Debts are only ever 
approved to be written off where they are truly uncollectable.  This step 
is important as debt recovery is inevitably a time consuming process so 
available resource must be focused on debts which are actually 
recoverable. 

• ensuring processes are in place for debt on subsidiary systems that do 
not automatically follow corporate procedures (e.g. Housing Rents) 

• adopting tailored approached where relevant, such as Adult Social Care 
where Optalis has recently recruited a dedicated income collection 
officer. 

• Review of billing processes and collection of current debtors.  While 
increased effort has been put into the reduction of aged debt, it’s 
important to improve early collection so the problem does not reoccur. 

Table 8: Aged Debt and bad debt provision  
 > 1 

month 
> 2 

month 
> 6 

month 
> 1 

year 
 Total Bad 

Debt 
Prov 
cost 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Adults & Health       

Adult Social Care 261 761 719 2,546 4,286 343 

Deferred Payments 68 106 60 488 722 0 

Children’s Services 12 24 9 6 50 7 

Place        

Housing 3 3 21 1332 1,359 100 

Commercial property 1 700 99 118 918 186 

Other Place 97 171 117 45 430 1 

Resources 44 21 3 76 144 (21) 

Total 485 1,786 1,027 4,610 7,909 616 

Debt on other systems:       

HB Overpayments     2,917 0 

Housing Rents     217 64 

Total debt  
  

  10,981 7,232 

 

12. CAPITAL 

12.1 The 2023/24 budget of £87.695m includes the original capital programme 
budget of £34.766m approved by Council in February 2023 and an 
expenditure slippage of budget of £52.929m carried-forward from 2022/23.  

84



12.2 In light of RBWM’s current financial situation and the urgent need to reduce 
borrowing costs, all capital schemes are currently under review with the 
intention of removing the financial burden of additional borrowing costs where 
possible.  Good progress is being made on this. 

12.3 The capital budget for the current financial year is summarised in Table 9 
below.  At current PWLB rates, £20m borrowed and repaid over 20 years 
would incur an additional revenue cost of circa £1.5m per year.   

12.4 Table 9: Capital programme outturn 

 
 Budget Reprofiled 

to 24/25 
Forecast 

23/24 
Outturn 

YTD spend 
at M5 

 £000  £000 £000 

ASC and Health 1,610 (1,005) 605 200 

Children’s Services 15,009 (4,089) 10,920 2,597 

Place 67,095 (34,294) 32,801 4,763 

Resources 3,485 (42) 3,443 384 

Total 87,199 (39,430) 47,769 7,944 
 

12.5 Table 10 below summarises how the capital programme for 2023/24 is 
financed: 

12.6 Table 10: Financing of the capital programme 

 
 Over / (under) spend 

£000 

 £000 

Government Grants 15,921 

Community Infrastructure Levy 9,073 

S106 1,826 

Capital Receipts & contributions 587 

Borrowing 20,362 

Total 47,769 

13.      LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

13.1 In producing and reviewing this report the Council is meeting its legal 
obligations to monitor its financial position.  

85



14.      RISK MANAGEMENT  

14.1 Projected variances require mitigation to reduce them during the financial 
year. 

15. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

15.1 Equalities. There are no direct impacts. 
 
15.2 Climate change/sustainability. There are no direct impacts. 
 
15.3 Data Protection/GDPR. There are no direct impacts. 

16. CONSULTATION 

16.1 None. 

17. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

Implementation date if not called in: ‘Immediately’.  

18. APPENDICES  

18.1 This report is supported by nine appendices: 
 
Appendix A Revenue monitoring statement 
Appendix B Budget Virements 

19. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

19.1 This report is supported by one background document, the budget report to 
Council February 2023. 

20. CONSULTATION 

 Name of 
consultee 

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned 

Mandatory:  Statutory Officers (or deputies)   
Elizabeth Griffiths Executive Director of Resources  11/10/23 13/10/23 
Elaine Browne Monitoring Officer 11/10/23 16/10/23 
Deputies    
Andrew Vallance Deputy Director of Finance Report 

Author 
 

Jane Cryer Principal Lawyer & Deputy 
Monitoring Officer 

11/10/23  

Directors     
Stephen Evans Chief Executive 11/10/23  
Andrew Durrant Executive Director of Place 11/10/23  

86

https://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=8249&Ver=4


Lin Ferguson Executive Director of Children’s 
Services 

11/10/23  

Kevin McDaniel Executive Director of Adult 
Services and Health 

11/10/23  

 
Confirmation 
relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) 
consulted  

Deputy Leader and Cabinet 
Member for Finance 

Yes 

 

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type: Urgency item? To follow item? 
Non-key decision No No 

 
Report Author: Andrew Vallance, Deputy Director of Finance, Elizabeth 
Griffiths, Exec Director of Resources 

 
 

87



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A: Revenue monitoring statement

Service Current budget Forecast 

outturn 

Forecast 

variance 

£000 £000 £000

Chief Executive Department

Chief Executive 258 291 33

Strategy & Performance 701 701 0

TOTAL CHIEF EXECUTIVE 959 992 33

Children's Services
Director of Children's Services (79) (79) 0

Achieving for Children Contract 44,686 44,901 215

Children's Services - Retained 58,871 58,871 0

Dedicated Schools Grant - Income (75,719) (75,719) 0

TOTAL CHILDREN'S SERVICES 27,759 27,974 215

Adult Social Care and Health

Executive Director and Commissioning 1,576 1,713 137

Adult Social Care 38,253 42,996 4,743

Better Care Fund - Spend 14,579 14,579 0

Better Care Fund - Income (14,579) (14,579) 0

Transformation and Community 170 170 0

Public Health Spend 5,317 5,317 0

Public Health Grant (5,317) (5,317) 0

TOTAL ADULT SOCIAL CARE and HEALTH 39,999 44,879 4,880

Resources

Executive Director of Resources 198 126 (72)

Revenues, Benefits, Library & Resident Services 4,380 3,811 (569)

Housing Benefit (377) (377) 0

Human Resources, Corporate Projects & IT 3,346 3,321 (25)

Corporate Management (196) (146) 50

Finance 1,580 1,575 (5)

Governance 2,392 2,363 (29)

Legal services 977 835 (142)
TOTAL RESOURCES 12,300 11,508 (792)

Place

Executive Director of Place 20 20 0

Neighbourhood Services 9,277 11,615 2,338

Planning Service 1,331 1,661 330

Communities including Leisure (1,250) (882) 368

Housing 2,018 1,959 (59)

Property (2,908) (2,908) 0

Infrastructure, Sustainability & Transport 3,184 3,183 (1)

TOTAL PLACE 11,672 14,648 2,976

TOTAL SERVICE EXPENDITURE 92,689 100,001 7,312

Sources of funding and non-service expenditure

Contingency and Corporate Budgets 3,037 541 (2,496)

Precepts and Levies 2,066 2,066 0

Financing and investment (income) and expenditure 5,180 4,820 (360)

Taxation and non-specific grant income (110,629) (110,629) 0

Minimum Revenue Provision 3,139 3,268 129

Transfer to / (from) earmarked reserves 118 (878) (996)

Contribution to Pension Fund deficit 4,400 4,400 0

TOTAL FUNDING AND NON-SERVICE EXPENDITURE (92,689) (96,412) (3,723)

(INCREASE) DECREASE IN GENERAL FUND 0 3,589 3,589

89



This page is intentionally left blank



Annexe B: Budget Virements for Cabinet Approval 

REVENUE BUDGET VIREMENTS 

Where revenue budget virements exceed £0.100m, or £0.025m when funds move between 

departments, the Council Constitution requires Cabinet sign off. The virements up to the end of 

Month 5 that required Cabinet sign off are set out below, along with an explanation as their 

purpose. 

Debit 
/(Credit)

£

Explanation

Adult Social Care 380,750 This represents the draw-down of the Optalis 
Earmarked Reserve. This is required to partially 
mitigate the significant pressures on care package 
costs. 

Technical Accounting (380,750) As above

Adult Social Care 43,020 Budget is being moved from contingency budget as it 
was previously agreed that the pressure from the 
Coroner’s Service, which is a Berkshire-wide joint 
arrangement, would not be met from the Adult Social 
Care budget as it is not within the department’s 
control. 

Corporate and Contingency (43,020) As above

CAPITAL BUDGET VIREMENTS 

Where capital budget virements exceed £0.100m, when funds move between schemes, the Council 

Constitution requires Cabinet sign off. The virements up to the end of Month 5 that required Cabinet 

sign off are set out below, along with an explanation. 

Increase
/(decrease)

£

Explanation

Commercial Investment 

Property Portfolio-Repairs 

 230,100 Budget is being moved here from the project below 
to combine both projects. This is just for 
housekeeping as there is no reason for them to be 
separate. 

Operational Estate 

Improvements 

(230,100) As above

Affordable Housing-St 

Edmunds 

2,734,000 This is the correction of a transposition error where 

the budget was added to the incorrect scheme. Again, 

it is a housekeeping adjustment. 

Affordable Housing - 16 

Ray Mill Ave East, 

Maidenhead 

(2,734,000) As above

91



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Report Title: A308/Holyport Road Junction Improvements 
Contains 
Confidential or 
Exempt Information 

No - Part I 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Hill, Cabinet Member for Highways 
and Transport, Customer Service Centre and 
Employment 

Meeting and Date: Cabinet – 25 October 2023 
Responsible 
Officer(s): 

Andrew Durrant, Executive Director of Place 
Services, and Chris Joyce, Assistant Director 
for Infrastructure, Sustainability and Economic 
Growth 

Wards affected:   Bray 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
The council seeks to create a sustainable borough of opportunity and innovation, and 
is committed to delivering quality infrastructure that connects neighbourhoods and 
businesses, allowing them to prosper. This includes investing along the A308 corridor 
to ease the movement of people and goods. 
 
The junction of A308 Windsor Road with Holyport Road needs to be upgraded to 
address issues of junction safety and long-term capacity, and was one of ten junctions 
around Maidenhead identified as needing improvement, reinforced by the SW 
Maidenhead SPD. 
 
Options assessments for the junction have previously recommended the introduction 
of traffic signals to protect vehicle movements through the junction and regulate 
conflicting flows of traffic, however, feedback received through a public consultation 
earlier this year indicated a strong public preference for a roundabout at this location. 
 
An option for an upgraded, compact roundabout with a larger footprint than the current 
mini roundabout has subsequently been developed and has been found to be both 
technically feasible and to substantially grow capacity and address safety issues. 
 
The roundabout option is estimated to cost £1.3m, including a substantial contingency 
due to the phase of design, to be funded through a combination of Thames Valley 
Berkshire Local Enterprise Partnership’s Housing Sites Enabling Works funding (£1M) 
and Community Infrastructure Levy (£300k), with the grant funding requiring 
investment in the current financial year. It is anticipated that construction would start 
in early 2024. 
 

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 

RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet notes the report and: 
 

i) Approves the installation of a compact roundabout at the junction of 
A308 Windsor Road with Holyport Road and delegates authority to 
the Service Lead for Transport to finalise the detailed design. 

 

93

Agenda Item 8



2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Options  
 

Table 1: Options arising from this report 

Option Comments 
Approves the installation of a compact 
roundabout at the junction of A308 Windsor 
Road with Holyport Road 
 
This is the recommended option 

A design has been developed that 
shows a ‘compact’ roundabout could 
replace the current ‘mini’ 
roundabout, introducing improved 
approach angles for safety as well 
as being able to comfortably handle 
a much higher volume of peak hour 
traffic. 

Approves the installation of a traffic signal 
controls at the junction of A308 Windsor 
Road with Holyport Road 
 

A design has been developed for a 
traffic signal-controlled junction 
which would have safety and 
capacity benefits. The capacity 
benefits are not as great as the 
recommended compact roundabout 
option, but the costs are lower. A 
consultation has shown this option 
lacks public support. 

Do Nothing Safety issues at the junction would 
persist, with a risk that one or more 
serious or fatal accidents occur 
because the current junction has 
poor sight lines and encourages risk 
taking, which could result in death or 
very substantial injuries. 
 
Background traffic growth will 
overwhelm the junction within the 
next 10 years, with significant peak 
hour queuing on two of the three 
arms.  

 
Location 

2.1 The location under consideration is the junction of A308 Windsor Road with 
Holyport Road, located between Maidenhead and Windsor on the A308 at the 
turning off for Holyport village, adjacent to the M4 overbridge. The location is 
highlighted by a red ring on the map that follows. 

94



 
Figure 1: Location diagram of the junction © OpenStreetMap contributors 

 
Safety 

2.2 The borough has a very good safety record regarding the number of injury 
collisions reported on the roads. There are locations where accidents and 
injuries are more prevalent, however, and this is one of those sites. There have 
been 12 injury collisions recorded at, or on the approach to, this junction over 
the last 10 years, resulting in injuries to 14 people. 

2.3 A camera study of the junction has been undertaken, with the principal issues 
regarding safety observed to be: 

• a lack of deflection on travelling eastbound (from Maidenhead towards 
Windsor) on the A308 with vehicles often entering the junction too fast and 
without giving way;  

• queuing traffic on the A308 eastbound (from Maidenhead) waiting to turn 
right into Holyport Road can obscure views of the junction and approaching 
traffic for vehicles continuing straight ahead to Windsor; 

• at certain times of day flows from individual roundabout arms become very 
dominant, leading to a lack of gaps in traffic and drivers taking risks to make 
progress. 

2.4 The proposed compact roundabout will change the angle of approach to the 
junction, calming traffic on approach, improving sight lines and creating more 
natural gaps that keep all arms flowing. 

Capacity 
2.5 The A308 is an important artery for our own borough, and also a key traffic route 

for the wider region linking the M3, M25, M4 and M40 (via A404). As the 
population and economy of neighbouring boroughs and the wider south east 
region continue to grow, points of traffic stress along the A308 will be further 
strained. 

2.6 The Borough Local Plan identified 10 junction around Maidenhead that would 
need to be improved to support local growth, including this junction. The 
junction upgrade is also listed within the infrastructural requirements of the 
South West Maidenhead Supplementary Planning Document. 

95



2.7 Without intervention, background traffic growth will mean that within the next 10 
years queuing on the approach to the roundabout at peak times will become 
commonplace adding substantially to journey times. 

2.8 Traffic models show that by 2033, without a junction redesign, motor traffic 
entering the junction from Windsor on the A308 will be severely held up each 
afternoon peak, and at risk of being held up in the morning peak. Similarly, 
motor traffic entering the junction from Holyport Road will be severely held up 
each morning peak, and at risk of being held up in the afternoon peaks. 

2.9 The same modelling shows that the proposed compact roundabout would 
substantially increase overall capacity and the junction would be able to handle 
the growth in traffic to 2033 and beyond. In contrast, the alternative traffic signal 
option significantly improved overall capacity, but not to the same extent as the 
compact roundabout option. 

2.10 Improvements to overall junction safety has capacity benefits too. Non-injury 
collisions can create delays as damaged vehicles block lanes to assess 
damage, resolve insurance queries and await recovery. 

Modernisation 
2.11 The objectives of this proposed initiative are to improve safety and motor 

vehicle capacity. 

2.12 Remodelling roads comes with costs and disruption. A number of large costs 
are relatively fixed, such as design costs and the costs of establishing a 
construction site. A major improvement project is the optimum time to develop 
a holistic design that meets the needs of people in all the different ways they 
travel through the junction, including people when they are walking, cycling or 
getting the bus.  

2.13 The revised junction will feature improved and accessible footways and cycle 
facilities, and new and improved informal (i.e. not signal controlled) crossing 
points for improved and safer access to residences, the village and bus stops. 
This will represent an upgrade to existing provision, whilst ensuring the junction 
improvement delivers on its core objectives of improving safety and motor 
vehicle capacity.  

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

 
Table 2: Key Implications 
Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly 

Exceeded 
Date of 
delivery 

Reduction 
in the 
annual 
number of 
injury 
collisions at 
the junction. 

<50% 50% - 
59% 

60% - 69% 70%+ 31 
December 
2025 

96



Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly 
Exceeded 

Date of 
delivery 

2033 peak 
hour vehicle 
delay on all 
arms at the 
junction 
minimised 
(measured 
in average 
seconds 
delay 
compared 
to free flow) 

15s+ 15s – 
12s 

12s-10s <10s 31 
December 
2033 

4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY  

4.1 The estimated cost of construction is £1,300,000 (split £1m LEP and £300k 
Integrated Transport Block grant), which includes a 44% allowance for 
contingency and optimism bias over the feasibility stage cost estimate, to 
protect against the costs of encountering unrecorded buried utilities once 
construction commences which would then have to be addressed. Our current 
highways partner, Volker Highways, would be used to ensure a straightforward 
procurement process. 
 

4.2 The project would be funded through a combination of Thames Valley Berkshire 
Local Enterprise Partnership’s Housing Sites Enabling Works funding and 
Community Infrastructure Levy. The LEP funding requires investment in the 
current financial year or will need to be returned to government. 
 

4.3 The project is included within the Council’s agreed budget for this year, as part 
of the borough’s Capital Programme. 

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

5.1 The recommendations of this paper do not have direct legal implications. 

6. RISK MANAGEMENT  

Table 3: Impact of risk and mitigation 
Threat or risk Impact with 

no 
mitigations 
in place or 
if all 
mitigations 
fail  

Likelihood 
of risk 
occurring 
with no 
mitigations 
in place. 
 
 

Mitigations 
currently in 
place  
 
 

Mitigations 
proposed 
 
 

Impact of 
risk 
once all 
mitigations 
in place 
and 
working 

Likelihood 
of risk 
occurring 
with all 
mitigations 
in place. 
 
 

There is a risk 
that if no 
action is taken 
the number of 
collisions will 

Medium Medium Signage and 
road lining 

Installation 
of a 
compact 
roundabout 
with 

Small Small 

97



increase, 
possibly 
resulting in a 
fatal collision 

additional 
deflection 
and 
improved 
sight lines. 

There is a risk 
that if no 
action is 
taken, 
substantial 
peak hour 
queuing and 
delay will be 
persistent at 
the junction 
by 2033 

Medium High Previous 
‘tweaks’ to 
junction 
lanes and 
lining have 
had a slight 
and short-
term 
mitigating 
effect 

Installation 
of a 
compact 
roundabout 

Small Small 

 

7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

7.1 Equalities. An Equality Impact Assessment is available as Appendix A. 
 
7.2 Climate change/sustainability. We are seeking to integrate improved facilities 

for walking, cycling and accessing bus stops, which would help more people to 
travel in ways that are more sustainable more often.  

 
7.3 Data Protection/GDPR. No impact. 

8. CONSULTATION 

8.1 A public consultation was undertaken between 22 February 2023 and 22 March 
2023. The consultation asked for feedback on a design option for a traffic signal 
controlled junction. 
 

8.2 In total, 336 responses were received. 74% of responses opposed the 
proposals, 25% supported, and 1% were ‘don’t know’ or left blank. 
 

8.3 Of the total responses, a very high proportion (295 out of 336) included 
expanded written comments. The most common theme amongst comments 
was that traffic lights are frustrating to wait at, with some comments observing 
that traffic lights may resolve peak time congestion but would not be needed at 
quieter times of the day. 
 

8.4 The second most common theme amongst responses was that a roundabout 
generally works well at this location, with many people noting that a larger or 
relocated roundabout could solve issues of congestion and safety. 
 

8.5 As a result of the consultation, a new option for a compact roundabout was 
investigated for this location. This has been confirmed to be feasible to deliver 

98



and to deliver safety and capacity benefits, and will address the key concerns 
and suggestions raised during the public consultation. 
 

8.6 This report recommends proceeding with the detailed design and construction 
of the new compact roundabout option. 

9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

9.1 Implementation date if not called in: Immediately. The full implementation 
stages are set out in table 4. 
 
Table 4: Implementation timetable 
Date Details 
October 2023 Finalise design and mobilise contractors 
February 2024 Construction begins 
June 2024 TBC Construction concludes 

10. APPENDICES  

10.1 This report is supported by 1 appendix: 
 
• Appendix A – Equality Impact Assessment  

 

11. CONSULTATION 

 Name of 
consultee 

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned 

Mandatory:  Statutory Officer (or deputy)   
Elizabeth Griffiths Executive Director of 

Resources and CFOS151 
Officer 

14/09/23 15/09/23 

Elaine Browne Deputy Director of Law & 
Governance & Monitoring 
Officer 

14/09/23 18/09/23 

Deputies:    
    
    
Mandatory:  Procurement Manager (or deputy) - if 

report requests approval to go to 
tender or award a contract 

  

Lyn Hitchinson Procurement Manager 
 

14/09/23  

Mandatory:  Data Protection Officer (or deputy) - if 
decision will result in processing of 
personal data; to advise on DPIA 

  

Samantha 
Wootton 

Data Protection Officer 14/09/23  

Mandatory:  Equalities Officer – to advise on 
EQiA, or agree an EQiA is not 
required 

  

99



Ellen McManus-
Fry 

Equalities & Engagement 
Officer 

14/09/23  

Other consultees:    
Directors (where 
relevant) 

   

Stephen Evans Chief Executive 14/09/23 ELT 
21/09/23 

Andrew Durrant Executive Director of Place 14/09/23 ELT 
21/09/23 

Assistant Directors 
(where relevant)  

   

Chris Joyce Assistant Director of 
Infrastructure Sustainability 
and Economic Growth 

14/09/23  

External (where 
relevant) 

   

N/A    

 
Confirmation 
relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) 
consulted  

Cabinet member for Highways 
and Transport, Customer 
Service Centre and Employment 

Yes 

 

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type: Urgency item? To follow item? 
Key decision 
 
First entered into 
the Cabinet 
Forward Plan: 
22/06/2023 

No 
 

No 

 
Report Author: Dug Tremellen, Transport Policy Manager, 01628 796220 

 
 

 

 

100



Equality Impact Assessment 

For support in completing this EQIA, please consult the EQIA Guidance 
Document or contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

 

1. Background Information 
 

Title of policy/strategy/plan: 
 

A308 Windsor Road / Holyport Road Junction 
Improvements 

Service area: ISEG 

Directorate: Place 

 

Provide a brief explanation of the proposal: 
• What are its intended outcomes? 
• Who will deliver it? 
• Is it a new proposal or a change to an existing one? 

The junction is currently operating as a mini roundabout, with a shared use (pedestrian 
and cycle) path to the northern side of the A308 through the junction, and bus stops on 
both sides of the road on both the southern and eastern junction arms. Pedestrian 
crossing facilities lack tactile paving, and a refuge island is only provided on the eastern 
arm. 
The proposals are to improve safety and capacity at the junction and would see the 
current mini roundabout upgraded to a ‘compact’ roundabout featuring a central island that 
must be driven around and not over, as well as revised approach angles designed to 
provide improved deflection and visibility and regulate the flow of traffic. The council would 
take the opportunity to modernise foot, cycle and bus provision whilst works are taking 
place to ensure the junction is accessible to all users, however they travel. 

2. Relevance Check 

Is this proposal likely to directly impact people, communities or RBWM employees?  
• If No, please explain why not, including how you’ve considered equality issues.  
• Will this proposal need a EQIA at a later stage? (for example, for a forthcoming 

action plan) 

Yes. 
The scheme will positively impact on safety and journey times for people travelling by 
motor vehicle, including bus. 
The opportunity will be taken to modernise walking and cycling provision, including 
crossings, introducing improved crossings with accessible tactile paving and separating 
pedestrian and cycle movements to the extent possible, reducing the risk of falls and the 
fear of falls for more vulnerable pedestrians. 

If ‘No’, proceed to ‘Sign off’. If unsure, please contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

  

101

mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk
mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk


3. Evidence Gathering and Stakeholder Engagement 

Who will be affected by this proposal?  
For example, users of a particular service, residents of a geographical area, staff 

Anybody traversing the junction, by any means. 

Among those affected by the proposal, are protected characteristics (age, sex, 
disability, race, religion, sexual orientation, gender reassignment, pregnancy/maternity, 
marriage/civil partnership) disproportionately represented?  
For example, compared to the general population do a higher proportion have disabilities?  
 

No. 

What engagement/consultation has been undertaken or planned?  
• How has/will equality considerations be taken into account?   
• Where known, what were the outcomes of this engagement? 

 

The project was consulted on in early 2023. In response to resident feedback, a compact 
roundabout design will be taken forward in place of an alternative traffic signal junction. 
With regards equality considerations, the key feedback from the consultation was that 
improved crossing provision would help those with reduced mobility walk and access the 
bus stops at this location. 

What sources of data and evidence have been used in this assessment?  
Please consult the Equalities Evidence Grid for relevant data. Examples of other possible 
sources of information are in the Guidance document. 
 

Not applicable. 

 
 
 
 
 
  

102



4. Equality Analysis 
Please detail, using supporting evidence: 

• How the protected characteristics below might influence the needs and experiences 
of individuals, in relation to this proposal. 

• How these characteristics might affect the impact of this proposal. 
Tick positive/negative impact as appropriate. If there is no impact, or a neutral impact, state 
‘Not Applicable’ 
More information on each protected characteristic is provided in the Guidance document. 

 Details and supporting evidence Potential 
positive impact 

Potential 
negative 
impact 

Age 

 

Taking the opportunity to introduced 
improved accessible crossing facilities on 
all arms will assist older and younger 
residents and visitors to cross the roads 
more easily. Taking the opportunity to 
separate walking and cycling movements 
to the extent possible will reduce falls and 
social isolation from the fear of falls for 
older residents, for whom the 
consequences of a fall can be severe. 

Yes  

Disability 

 

Taking the opportunity to introduce 
improved accessible crossing facilities, 
inclduding tactile paving, on all arms will 
assist more disabled persons to cross the 
junction safely, independelty and with 
confidence. 

Yes  

Sex 

 

Not applicable   

Race, ethnicity and 
religion 

 

Not applicable   

Sexual orientation and 
gender reassignment 

 

Not applicable   

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

Not applicable   

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

Not applicable   

Armed forces 
community 

Not applicable   

103



Socio-economic 
considerations e.g. low 
income, poverty 

This junction improvement will improve 
road safety. The impact of a road traffic 
collision may be felt more acutely by 
persons on low-income if they are 
required to have time off work to recover. 

The junction improvement will ensure the 
A308 is able to handle future traffic 
volumes, ensuring people can continue to 
travel effectively around the borough to 
secure employment. This ensures there is 
good quality access to persons on lower 
incomces to employment and training. 

Car ownership can be prohibitively 
expensive for persons on lower incomes. 
Improved walking and cycling facilities 
and access to bus stops offers greater, 
low-cost mobility to persons in these 
groups which can support better access to 
work, education and essential shops and 
services. 

Yes  

Children in care/Care 
leavers 

Not applicable   

 
 
5. Impact Assessment and Monitoring  
If you have not identified any disproportionate impacts and the questions below are not 
applicable, leave them blank and proceed to Sign Off. 

What measures have been taken to ensure that groups with protected characteristics 
are able to benefit from this change, or are not disadvantaged by it?  
For example, adjustments needed to accommodate the needs of a particular group 

 

Where a potential negative impact cannot be avoided, what measures have been put in 
place to mitigate or minimise this? 

• For planned future actions, provide the name of the responsible individual and the 
target date for implementation. 

 

How will the equality impacts identified here be monitored and reviewed in the future? 
See guidance document for examples of appropriate stages to review an EQIA. 

104



 

 
6. Sign Off 
 

Completed by: 
Dug Tremellen, Transport Policy Manager 

Date: 
12/09/2023 

Approved by: 
Tim Golabek, Service lead - Transport 

Date: 
13/09/2023 

 
 
If this version of the EQIA has been reviewed and/or updated: 

Reviewed by: 
 

Date: 

 

105



This page is intentionally left blank



Consultation responses: A308-Holyport Road 
Junction Improvement 

Overview 
In total 336 responses were received: 

• 74% of responses opposed the proposals 

• 25% of responses supported the proposals 

• 1% of responses were ‘don’t know’ or left blank 

Written comments 
295 respondents expanded upon their answers with detailed written comments 

You told us Action we will take 

#1 most commented 

Traffic lights are frustrating to wait at. 

Many people questioned whether they 
would in fact enable more traffic to get 
through, and felt they might generate 
longer traffic queues and air pollution if 
they didn’t. 

Some respondents thought that the 
benefits of having traffic lights at peak 
times might be offset by a disbenefit of 
causing traffic to sometimes stop at a red 
light in off-peak times, when a roundabout 
would have been free-flowing. 

Conversely, a smaller number of 
respondents felt that traffic lights at this 
junction would improve overall traffic flow 
and safety. 

As a result of this consultation, the 
council has developed an alternative 
‘compact roundabout’ design. 

Like the traffic light design consulted on, 
the compact roundabout will increase 
overall junction capacity. 

 

107



You told us Action we will take 

#2 most commented 

The roundabout manages current traffic 
volumes well – where there are issues at 
the junction, these relate to safety and 
driver risk-taking, and not the type of 
junction. 

Key safety concerns related to eastbound 
traffic on the A308 failing to yield at the 
roundabout, and traffic turning into and 
out of Holyport Road taking risks when 
gaps between westbound A308 traffic are 
few and far between at peak times. Some 
respondents felt that the junction has 
been getting busier and more dangerous 
in recent years. 

As a result of this consultation, the 
council has developed an alternative 
‘compact roundabout’ design. 

Like the traffic light design consulted on, 
the compact roundabout will address 
current safety issues and concerns. 

 

#3 most commented 

The speed limit should be reduced. 

Some respondents thought a reduced 
speed limit should be enforced with traffic 
calming measures and/or speed cameras. 

This issue was considered at RBWM 
Cabinet on 27 September 2023. 

#4= most commented 

A larger or relocated roundabout would 
better handle traffic volumes, improve 
safety and make the junction easier to 
use. 

As a result of this consultation, the 
council has developed an alternative 
‘compact roundabout’ design. 

A compact roundabout features a central 
island that vehicles must travel around 
instead of over, but is smaller than a full-
size roundabout. 

#4= most commented 

Install additional or alternative pedestrian 
crossings to improve access across 
Windsor Road and to the bus stops – 
especially towards Court Close, Priors Way 
and over Upper Bray Road. 

Pedestrian crossing facilities over Windsor 
Road are being considered as part of the 
‘compact roundabout’ design. 

There were many detailed comments 
about specific operational elements of 
lane design, optimising traffic light 
timings, where queues might form, how to 
balance the competing needs of different 
flows of traffic, and how to integrate cycle 
movements into the junction. 

Thank you for these comments. 

In light of the consultation, we are 
proposing to take forward the alternative 
‘compact roundabout’ design. 

108



You told us Action we will take 

It is currently difficult to turn right out of 
Upper Bray Road, and queues leading into 
the Holyport Road junction could make 
this worse. Any increase in queuing 
towards the junction could also affect 
traffic turning in and out of Bray Court and 
Court Close, and also the junction of 
Holyport Road and Earlsfield. 

‘Keep Clear’ markings are needed at 
junctions like these. 

‘Keep clear’ markings at these locations 
will be considered within the compact 
roundabout design. 

Because turning right out of Upper Bray 
Road can be difficult at busy times, some 
regular drivers instead turn left and use 
the exiting roundabout to make a 180 
degree turn to join the A308 northbound. 

Alternatively, a second exit lane could be 
considered for Upper Bray Road. 

In light of this consultation, the council 
are proposing to take forward a ‘compact 
roundabout’ design which would allow 
people driving to turn left as current. 

Right turns into Upper Bray Road from the 
A308 should be banned. 

Several hundred vehicles currently make 
this manoeuvre each morning and 
evening peak, including a bus service. 

Banning this turning movement would see 
this traffic need to travel an additional 
1.6km to the Braywick Roundabout and 
back to then turn left into Upper Bray 
Road. This would add to traffic volumes 
on the A308 and at that roundabout, in 
addition to adding to journey times for 
people making those journeys. 

There is a need for an improved 
pedestrian and cycling crossing over 
Upper Bray Road, at its junction with 
A308. 

We will consider whether this could be 
introduced at a later date, if not as part of 
this junction improvement. Any new 
crossing would need to be mindful of the 
busy nature of this junction with vehicles 
turning on and off the A308. 

The money could be better spent on road 
resurfacing around the borough. 

The council has an existing rolling 
programme of road resurfacing around 
the borough. 

109



You told us Action we will take 

Can the borough make traffic modelling 
and accident data for this junction public? 

Accident data is available publicly at 
https://www.crashmap.co.uk/. (We are 
not responsible for the content of this 
third party website.) 

Traffic models show that by 2033, without 
a junction redesign, motor traffic entering 
the junction from Windsor on the A308 
will be severely held up each afternoon 
peak, and at risk of being held up in the 
morning peak. Similarly, motor traffic 
entering the junction from Holyport Road 
will be severely held up each morning 
peak, and at risk of being held up in the 
afternoon peaks.  

The same modelling shows that the 
proposed compact roundabout would 
substantially increase overall capacity 
and the junction would be able to handle 
the growth in traffic to 2033 and beyond. 
In contrast, the alternative traffic signal 
option significantly improved overall 
capacity, but not to the same extent as 
the compact roundabout option. 

Some respondents suggested proposals 
for alternatives to fully remodelling the 
junction. Specifically: 

• improve signage and line markings. 

• improve visibility at the roundabout 
– especially for drivers heading 
eastbound on A308. Some 
respondents believed this could be 
achieved by removing the recently 
introduced right-turn lane on the 
western arm 

• run campaigns aimed at improving 
driver behaviour. 

The council has previously implemented 
‘tweaks’ similar to these to the 
roundabout design, but this has not fully 
solved the issues at this location. 

The council works with the police to 
deliver events promoting safe driver 
behaviours. 

Why is this junction considered 
dangerous, when other borough 
roundabouts operate safely? 

As was noted by many road users as part 
of this consultation, the issue is with the 
design of the current roundabout which 
encourages risk-taking and results in a 
considerable number of drivers failing to 
yield. Roundabouts are not inherently 
dangerous. 

110

https://www.crashmap.co.uk/


You told us Action we will take 

The junction should not be signalised just 
so that people walking and cycling have 
places to cross the road. 

The primary objective of the proposed 
improvements is to increase capacity and 
resolve safety issues for motor traffic at 
this junction. Traffic lights were proposed 
as a cost-effective solution that increased 
overall capacity and addressed the 
unsafe driver behaviours observed at the 
junction. 

Improved facilities for walking and cycling 
are considered within all major highway 
investment projects such as this, as it is 
an inexpensive time to make these 
improvements whilst the junction is being 
remodelled anyway. Walking and cycling 
improvements have been designed in a 
way that still means the project will 
deliver against its primary objectives of 
increase capacity and resolving safety 
issues for motor traffic. 

Any junction redesign should include 
improved facilities for walking and cycling. 

Facilities should incorporate national 
design guidance such as Local Transport 
Note 1/20. There should be a buffer verge 
or strip between the A308 and any 
walking or cycling facilities, because of the 
speed of the road. 

Whilst it is not the primary objective of 
this project, we are taking advantage of 
the junction remodelling work to 
modernise and improve facilities for 
walking and cycling. 

We will have regard for national design 
standards. 

We will ensure that any final design 
incorporates a buffer feature. 

For cycling, a shared-use footway would 
be preferable to a substandard cycle track 
and separate walkway. 

Conversely, other respondents felt that 
cycling and walking spaces should be kept 
separate. 

There is the width at this location for 
walking and cycling to be separated whilst 
still aligning with national design 
guidance. 

Separating walking and cycling 
movements creates a protected space for 
more vulnerable pedestrians in which 
they can walk with confidence, ensuring 
that there isn’t an increase in cycling at 
the expense of reducing the amount of 
walking in a location, or causing some 
residents to lose their independence for 
making short trips to local services and 
bus stops because of a fear of falling. 

111



You told us Action we will take 

Does ‘optimising for traffic flow’ mean that 
motor traffic will be prioritised over 
walking and cycling. 

‘Traffic’ refers to all movement on a 
highway – incorporating motor traffic, 
walking and cycling. 

Optimising traffic flow means balancing 
these different types of movement, in the 
context of the location in question. 

Walking and cycling facilities should not 
be obstructed by street light placement. 

We undertake to look at street light and 
signage placement in the final design to 
create suitable walking and cycling 
environments. 

Painted on-road cycle facilities should be 
of the ‘mandatory’ design type. 

We will consider this within the final 
design. 

Requiring people cycling southbound into 
Holyport Road via a toucan crossing is a 
convoluted arrangement – could a simpler 
arrangement be made? 

We will consider this within the final 
design. 

Vegetation along the A308 overgrows the 
shared footway making it difficult to use. 

Providing better cycling facilities at this 
junction will be ineffective unless changes 
are also made to cycling all along the 
A308. 

The council undertakes periodic 
vegetation clearance along the A308, 
within the confines of available budgets, 
but many types of roadside vegetation 
grow back very quickly. 

We are aware that fundamentally, the 
shared footways along the A308 are 
relatively narrow in places, with 
vegetation to one side and fast traffic to 
the other, meaning the effective width is 
very narrow. 

The borough’s Local Cycling and Walking 
Infrastructure Plan identifies that 
connecting Maidenhead and Windsor as a 
walking and cycling corridor should be a 
long-term priority. It will only be possible 
to implement this in stages over time, 
given the distance and complexity of work 
involved. Taking the opportunity to 
modernise walking and cycling facilities at 
the Holyport Road junction will contribute 
to the long-term goal of a modern walking 
and cycling route linking Maidenhead and 
Windsor.  

112



You told us Action we will take 

There were concerns about views from 
neighbouring properties, and that the 
introduction of traffic lights would make 
the area feel more urban. 

Where we can be sensitive within the 
revised design to the ‘feel’ of the junction 
environs we will be. However, as the A308 
is a major road artery for the whole 
borough, our principal concern will need 
to remain the safe and effective 
movement of traffic through the junction. 

Work appears to be planned to take place 
on private property. 

All works will take place within the 
highway. 

The bus stop on the south side of the 
A308 is very close to the junction and 
should be moved to improve safety. 

We will relocate the bus stop to a 
convenient location slightly to the east as 
part of this project. 

What other options were considered, 
before proposing signalisation? 

The council has made changes in the 
recent past to introduce an additional 
right-turn lane into Holyport Road at the 
junction. In operation, this has not fully 
resolved the junction’s congestion issues. 

Further alterations to the existing mini-
roundabout arrangement were looked at 
in the options assessment process, but 
this was found to not offer a significant 
improvement to traffic flows. Options for 
‘tweaking’ the existing junction have now 
been fully explored, without success. 

The option of a simplified priority junction 
(with give way lines at the end of Holyport 
Road) was also briefly assessed, but this 
was found to have too great an impact on 
traffic entering and leaving Holyport Road, 
as might be expected. 

As a result of this consultation, the 
council has developed an alternative 
‘compact roundabout’ design. 

Could traffic signals be installed and/or 
other improvements be made at Braywick 
Roundabout as well as or instead? 

The council is separately reviewing 
whether improvements could be made to 
Braywick Roundabout. 

Could the A308 be widened instead? The A308 has existing properties in close 
proximity to the highway boundary – there 
is not enough room to widen the A308. 

113



You told us Action we will take 

Roadworks would be lengthy and 
disruptive. 

Could roadworks be managed in a way 
that avoids there being disruption? 

All improvement works are disruptive, but 
we carefully plan our construction 
processes to minimise the amount of time 
that works take, and to complete as much 
work as possible without closing roads 

A bus connection is needed between 
Holyport Village and Windsor 

The council is aware of resident interest 
in a bus service linking Holyport village 
and Windsor 

A crossing is needed outside Holyport 
School. 

The council is aware of resident interest 
in a crossing outside Holyport School 

 

 

 

114



 

 
Report Title: Achieving for Children Annual Reports 

2022/23 

Contains 
Confidential or 
Exempt Information 

No – Part I 

Cabinet Member: Cllr Amy Tisi, Cabinet member for Children’s 
Services, Education and Windsor 

Meeting and Date: Cabinet - 25 October 2023 

Responsible 
Officer(s): 

Lin Ferguson, Executive Director of Children’s 
Services 

Wards affected:   All 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
The Achieving for Children (AfC) Board of Directors has now approved the 2022/23 Impact 
Report, Equalities Report and Annual Report and Accounts.  These annual reports provide 
information about AfC’s impact and performance across the boroughs of Richmond, 
Kingston and Windsor and Maidenhead between April 2022 and March 2023.  They are 
being presented to Cabinet to support the Council’s oversight of AfCs performance in its role 
as joint owner of AfC. 
 
Children's Services have continued to perform well in 2022/23 and the reports 
evidence a significant positive impact for the children, young people and families who 
live in the borough. 

The Annual Equalities Report details good progress in embedding a culture of 
equality, diversity and inclusion within AfC both in terms of staff experience and 
development as well as in the way we deliver services. 
 
The Annual Report and Accounts for 2022/23 has now been independently audited 
and the auditors have confirmed that they present a true and fair view of Achieving 
for Children’s financial performance and position.  The auditors are also satisfied with 
the assessment that AfC continues to be a ‘going concern’.   

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 

RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet notes and makes any recommendations in 
relation to: 
 

i. The Achieving for Children Impact Report 
ii. The Achieving for Children Equalities Report 
iii. The Achieving for Children Annual Report and Accounts 

2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

2.1 The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead owns a 20% share in AfC and also 
commissions the company to deliver the Local Authority’s Children’s Services. 

115

Agenda Item 9



 

Cabinet has an important role in the Ownership Governance of AfC.  This role 
includes making a series of key decisions that inform strategic direction as well as 
receiving reports regarding the organisation’s performance. 

 
2.2 AfC’s three owning councils have appointed a dedicated Board of Directors to oversee 

strategy and internal control within AfC.  As part of this role the Board approves the statutory 
Annual Report and Accounts each year and also publishes an Annual Impact Report and 
Equalities Annual Report. 

 
2.3 The AfC Board of Directors has now approved the 2022/23 Impact Report, Equalities Report 

and Annual Report and Accounts.  These annual reports provide information about AfC’s 
impact and performance across the boroughs of Richmond, Kingston and Windsor and 
Maidenhead between April 2022 and March 2023.  They are presented to this Cabinet to 
support oversight of performance, achievements, challenges and priorities. 

 
Options Table 1: Options arising from this report 

 
Option Comments 

Cabinet notes the information 
presented  

n/a 

Cabinet notes the information 
presented and makes 
recommendations / requests more 
information 

n/a 

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 
 

Annual Impact Report 2022/23 
 

3.1  The Impact Report will be published in September 2023 and provides an overview of AfCs 
strategic priorities, organisational values and key achievements for the year.  It is not a 
statutorily required document but is a helpful summary of AfC as an organisation and is the 
main document that is used to update partners and celebrate achievements each year.  
The Impact Report is attached at appendix A. 

 
3.2 Good progress continued to be made against all of AfCs six strategic priorities with staff 

going above and beyond to support children, young people and partners.  AfC’s strategic 
priorities were agreed by the Local Authority in December 2019 and reconfirmed in March 
2023 as part of the Business Plan.  We are still seeing the impact on families and young 
people of the pandemic, particularly in relation to mental health and wellbeing. Supporting 
families through the cost of living crisis has also been a specific focus this year.   

 
3.3 The quality and impact of the AfC offer for Windsor and Maidenhead children and young 

people has once again been confirmed by a series of positive external inspection results.  
 

● Our children’s social care services continue to be judged by Ofsted as ‘Good’ 
in Windsor and Maidenhead. 

● Our independent fostering agency (IFA), which operates across all three 
boroughs, has been judged ‘Good’ by Ofsted 

116



 

● We achieved a positive Joint Targeted Area Inspection (JTAI) of the multi-
agency response to the identification of initial need and risk in Windsor and 
Maidenhead in May 2022, which focused on our ‘front door’, including our 
Single Point of Access. 

● In Windsor and Maidenhead at the end of 2022-23, the Department for 
Education and NHS England reviewed our progress against our written 
statement of action and have made the decision that there is no need for it to 
be formally monitored any more because we have ‘demonstrated clear and 
sustained progress’. 

● We received a ‘Good’ rating across all areas following the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) inspection of our Health Visiting and School Nursing 
Service in Windsor and Maidenhead in November 2022. 

● We achieved ‘Good’ inspection ratings of our Youth Offending Services in 
Windsor and Maidenhead. 

● We achieved a ‘Good’ inspection rating by Ofsted of our Way to Work 
Apprenticeship Programme in May 2023. 

 
3.4  The Cabinet is asked to note the following key points:  

 
● Achieving a strong early help offer - In Windsor and Maidenhead, we 

established our family hubs approach, which brings together children’s centres, 
youth centres and parenting services. Our family hubs are now fully staffed and 
demand for services has been high.  We have provided one-to-one support to 
823 children and 3,400 children and young people have attended group 
sessions on topics such as digital safety, drug and alcohol awareness, and 
esteem.  We provide a full menu of interventions to improve parents’ skills and 
knowledge, such as the positive parenting programme and baby massage 
classes.  

● Achieving fun and engaging holiday activities - To support our families 
during school holidays, we successfully delivered the FUEL (Feed Ur Everyday 
Lives) programme. The programme, which took place over the Easter, summer 
and Christmas holidays offered a range of fun and enjoyable activities and food 
to children and young people aged five to 16 years who are eligible for 
benefits-related free school meals (FSM). 832 children and young people 
attended sessions at Easter, Summer and Winter during 2022.  

● Achieving with our families - The newly formed Families First team (final 
name to be decided) supports families in crisis who are at imminent risk of 
having their child or children taken into care. Families are fast-tracked to 
receive support, and are ultimately supported to keep their children at home or 
find a family network in order to care for their children. The team also supports 
children to return home from care, if this is the best option for them, as well as 
‘step downs’ of children/young people from residential care to family based 
care, when this is appropriate.. So far, we have supported 11 families and in all 
cases the children have remained in the family home. 

● Achieving positive futures through apprenticeships - Our Way to Work 
apprenticeship service was rated ‘Good’ by Ofsted this year which confirms 
that our service continues to help young people on their journey into work.  We 

117



 

specialise in supporting learners who may be more vulnerable through the 
provision of dedicated pastoral care that wouldn't be available with other 
providers.  93% of our learners progress into a higher apprenticeship, 
employment, or further training.  100% of apprentices that complete their 
apprenticeships in Achieving for Children remain in our organisation 

● Achieving Better Mental Health - Since the pandemic, we have found that 
our children and young people are needing more support to help them improve 
their mental health. In Windsor and Maidenhead, the Emotionally Related 
School Avoidance (ERSA) project has been established to support those 
children who find it difficult to attend school. Through the project, 44 schools 
have received training, support and consultation on ERSA, have been given 
access to a newly created toolkit, and have been provided with additional 
strategies to help them to effectively support these children. Feedback from 
pupils, parents and the schools has been extremely good. We now have a 
dedicated specialist therapist for Children in Care.  This post provides 
consultation for staff, 1:1 therapy for individual children and young people and 
is a key link with health colleagues to ensure priority and robust pathways for 
this cohort of children. 

● Achieving for our children and young people with Special Educational 
Needs and Disabilities - We are working hard to improve the inclusive 
services we provide to children and young people with SEND. This includes 
supporting our young people with SEND to transition to independence and 
adulthood through our supported internships.  We have improved and will be 
continuing to improve our Local Offer for parents and carers and our new 
Parent/Carer Forum, SEND Voices has been established and is embedding 
well. 

● Achieving a more diverse and inclusive organisation - Our staff led EDI 
Board has continued to be instrumental in driving forward EDI improvements 
across the organisation.  This year we have launched our AfC EDI Staff 
Networks, learnt together through a series of focus months, piloted ‘safe 
spaces’, enhanced our staff development offer and supported a staff Ramadan 
Challenge.   

 
Annual Equalities Report 2022/23 
 

3.5 AfC’s Annual Equalities Report will be published in September 2023 and outlines AfCs 
approach to supporting equality, diversity and inclusion, key demographics of our 
workforce and service users as well as what was achieved during 2022/23 and planned 
for the next couple of years. The Annual Equalities Report is attached at Appendix B. 
There has been a strong focus on strengthening EDI in relation to our workforce during 
2022-23. Of particular note this year: 

  
● In 2022/23, 177 AfC staff members, of which 45 were managers, 

attended 1,449 hours of EDI training. An additional 282 members of 
staff completed our equality and diversity eLearning.  We also trialled 
safe spaces during November and plan to use the learning from what 
AfC colleagues found helpful to shape our approach in future. 

● To raise awareness, we have successfully celebrated a number of 
cultural events, such as Black History Month (BHM), LBGTQI+ Month, 

118



 

International Women’s Day and Menopause Awareness Day. We put 
on an extensive programme for BHM in 2022. This included special 
guest speakers, spotlights on staff from Black, Asian and Minority 
Ethnic backgrounds, blogs from senior leaders relating to BHM topics, 
and a considerable bank of BHM resources for staff to consider. To 
build on this, the EDI Board has created an EDI calendar of events, 
which includes key celebrations for all protected characteristics. 

● We launched a reverse mentoring programme designed for staff in non-
management posts and from underrepresented groups (such as Black, 
Asian and Minority ethnic backgrounds; staff with disabilities; LGBTQI+ 
staff). Three of our senior leaders nominated themselves to be 
mentored by staff members who had put themselves forward to be part 
of the programme. Mentors received training prior to the programme 
starting and then met monthly with the senior leader that they were 
matched to to provide guidance, insight and challenge. Feedback from 
those taking part has been positive and the EDI Board and the 
Leadership Team will be reviewing the programme to decide whether to 
roll it out more widely.  

● We are in the process of trialling a virtual support hub to improve how 
we support AfC colleagues working with disabilities.  The hub is a group 
of AfC colleagues, with different specialisms, who come together to 
jointly think about what reasonable adjustments and resources can be 
made available to support all AfC colleagues to reach their potential at 
work.  We hope the hub will improve how we support our colleagues, 
improve our inclusive culture and lead to a more timely response to 
needs. 

● We reported for the first time as part of the Workforce Race Equality 
Standard (WRES) last year. The WRES which aims to better 
understand the experience of staff from Black Asian and Minority Ethnic 
backgrounds based on a number of metrics relating to leadership, 
recruitment and retention, learning and career development, culture 
and experience, health and wellbeing, and employee voice. We have 
incorporated the data from the WRES into our annual equalities report 
for this year.  

● We advertised, and recruited to, a funded part-time EDI Lead role who 
will become the vice chair of the EDI Board. There was a significant 
level of interest in this post and interviews were held with eight excellent 
internal candidates. Taz Mudali, Events and CPD Consultant for the 
Social Work Teaching Partnership, was appointed and will start in her 
role in August.  We are excited to have dedicated time to support the 
organisation to continue learning and developing.  We will be working to 
establish our second organisational action plan in the Autumn of 2023 
with a focus on embedding learning into our natural organisational 
culture and approach.  

Annual Report and Accounts 2022/23 
 

3.6 The publication of an Annual Report and Accounts is legally required to comply with the 
Companies Act 2006.  The document has been audited by Crowe LLP who have 
confirmed that they are satisfied that it provides a true and fair view of the company’s 

119



 

financial position and performance for the 2022/23 financial year.  They have also 
confirmed that they are satisfied with the view of the AfC Board that the organisation is a 
‘Going Concern’.  The Annual Report and Accounts will be submitted to Companies 
House for publication in October 2023.  The Annual Report and Accounts is attached at 
appendix C.  The document is made up of two key sections: 

Annual Report  

3.7 The purpose of the annual report is to give an overview of the organisation’s key 
priorities and performance against those priorities as well as to provide factual 
information regarding governance arrangements.  The minimum scope of content and 
topics to be addressed are prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 and the company has 
flexibility to include additional sections where there is further information that it would like 
to share or where it would be beneficial to the reader.  The Annual Report comprises 
three key elements: 

● Introduction by the Chair of the AfC Board 
 
● Strategic Report which outlines progress against the organisation’s 2022/23 

key objectives, key risks and how the organisation intends to manage those 
risks, summary financial information (management accounts basis) and a brief 
look forward to the next five years. 

 
● Directors Report which outlines the organisation's governance arrangements, 

workforce information, Board and senior leadership remuneration and 
responsibilities. 

 
Statement of Accounts  

3.8 The Statement of Accounts is the technical part of the report that summarises the 
financial performance and position of the organisation.  It has been produced in 
accordance with the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards.  
These standards prescribe the minimum level of disclosure / content and the accounting 
basis on which figures must be reported.  This accounting basis is different to the 
methodology used to produce AfC’s management accounts, which are reported to the 
Committee for budget monitoring and outturn purposes.  Note nine of the accounts 
provides a reconciliation between the two reporting presentations.  The core statements 
are comprised as follows: 

 
● Statement of comprehensive income and expenditure shows the company’s 

financial performance during the 2022/23 year.  On a financial accounting basis 
AfC made a surplus of £73 million last year.  The surplus was generated by the 
actuarial valuation of AfC’s Local Government Pension Scheme assets and 
liabilities. There were positive returns on investment and changes in demographic 
/ financial assumptions.  The in year surplus has reduced the overall pension 
deficit being carried forward but does not represent a cashable surplus.   

● Statement of changes in equity shows the movement and value of the 
organisations net worth for the 2022/23 year.  At the end of March 2023 the 
organisation was worth -£5.3 million compared to -£78.5 million the year before.  
This negative position is being driven by the deficit associated with the Local 
Government Pension Scheme relative to AfCs status as a Community Interest 
Company meaning that it cannot hold significant assets.  The net deficit has 
significantly reduced during 2022/23 due to favourable movements in the 

120



 

valuation of the pension fund deficit. 

● Statement of financial position shows the net worth of the Company as at the 
31st March in accordance with IFRS.  It shows what the Company owes and owns 
and the equity within the Company that is attributable to AfC’s parent Councils.  
AfC held assets worth £56 million at the end of the year and these were mainly 
made up of buildings leased from the three owning councils, amounts owed by 
debtors including the three councils and cash.  There was £61 million of liabilities 
including the pension fund deficit and amounts borrowed from the council via an 
established operational cash flow facility.  

● Statement of cashflows shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents during 
the reporting period and how cash movements relate to the profit and loss for the 
period.  At the end of the year AfC held £8.4 million in cash and cash equivalent 
assets.  AfC holds cash flow for operational purposes and does not invest money 
long term to generate interest.   

● Notes to the core financial statements provide additional detail about the figures 
in the statements outlined above.  Note nine provides a comparison of the 
organisation's management accounts position that is reported to this Committee 
during the year to the Financial Accounting surplus detailed earlier in this report. 

4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY  

4.1 AfC has been established as a Community Interest Company limited by guarantee. As 
one of the owners of AfC, Windsor and Maidenhead owns 20% of the company.    

 
4.2 AfC has reported a net surplus for the year of £73 million and a total value of -£5.3 

million.  The overall surplus results from Local Government Pension Scheme valuation 
and does not represent a cashable surplus.  The nature of the AfC set up is that the 
company is not permitted to own significant assets.  This means that the net worth of 
AfC is always likely to be negative as there will always be significant financial obligations 
attached to offering staff the Local Government Pension Scheme.  These obligations are 
managed over time with triennial valuations assessing the level of employer 
contributions needed to ensure that pension obligations can be met at the time scheme 
members retire and they become due.  The 20% stake in AfC attributes a proportion of 
the profits and losses to the Local Authority. 

 
4.3 Benchmarking information continues to indicate that the services delivered by AfC 

represent good value for money.  Impower, an independent consultancy company who 
has a model that maps Local Authority performance, rated the Windsor and Maidenhead 
services as low spend and high outcomes.  National financial benchmarking information 
shows that on a per head of 0 - 25 population basis the spend on children's services are 
in the lowest 10% when compared to 151 comparative Local Authorities.  Children’s 
Services continued to be rated as good by independent inspectors. 

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

5.1 Achieving for Children is required to produce and publish an Annual Report and 
Statement of Accounts that complies with the Companies Act 2006 and 
International Financial Reporting Standards.  There are no specific legal 
implications arising from the recommendations in this report. 

121



 

6. RISK MANAGEMENT  

Table 1: Impact of risk and mitigation 

 
Risk Level of 

uncontroll
ed risk 

Controls Level of 
controlled 
risk 

Risk that the 
quality of 
children's 
services 
deteriorates as 
levels of need 
continue to 
increase and the 
level of financial 
resources 
become tighter. 

High Experienced and qualified professionals 
oversee children's services for the 
borough on a day to day basis.  These 
professionals work together to advise on 
how to manage risk at a strategic and 
operational level.  Officers will provide 
advice and guidance to inform Councillor 
decision making in terms of how funding 
could be prioritised to best meet local 
young people's needs and also on what 
strategies can be adopted to support 
families and children, including on how to 
manage escalating levels of need.  

Medium 

Risk that AfC is 
not a ‘going 
concern’ and this 
leads to financial 
and reputational 
damage to the 
Local Authority 
as well as 
service 
disruption. 

Medium The AfC Board makes an annual 
assessment of whether AfC is a ‘going 
concern’.  This judgement is informed by 
the Chief Operating and Finance Officer 
who is an experienced and qualified 
accountant.  The assessment and annual 
accounts are independently audited each 
year by an external audit firm that is 
appointed by AfCs three owning 
councils.  The Annual Report and 
Accounts are also presented to Cabinet 
each year alongside the audit opinion to 
enable a dedicated space for Cabinet 
scrutiny. 

Low 

122



 

Risk that AfC 
fails to operate 
in a way that 
supports 
equality, 
diversity and 
inclusion (EDI) 
leading to 
reputational 
damage and 
services that 
don't align with 
the Local 
Authority’s own 
values. 

Medium AfC and the Local Authority formally 
review strategic direction at least once a 
year to ensure it remains aligned.  EDI is 
embedded into AfCs priorities and 
values.  AfC also has a dedicated EDI 
Board who meet quarterly to review 
progress, set future plans, resolve 
problems or explore opportunities and  
consider emerging information from an 
EDI perspective.  The EDI Board is 
chaired by the Chief Operating and 
Finance Officer which provides a direct 
link into the AfC Leadership Team and 
AfC Board.  The AfC Board includes 
council appointed directors and also the 
council's Director of Children's Services.  
The Annual EDI Report summarises 
progress and priorities and is presented 
to the Cabinet each year for discussion.   

Low 

 
○ 7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

○ 7.1 AfC undertakes an Equality Impact Assessments for all significant 
programmes of work.  Assessments are published on the AfC website to 
support transparency.  The principles of equality, diversity and inclusion are 
echoed through AfCs priorities, delivery models and policies.  No EQIa is 
needed for this report as there are no decisions being requested. 

7.2 AfC is part of the work being undertaken by all three owning Local Authorities 
that seek to move towards more sustainable ways of working.  AfC also seeks 
to work in an environmentally sustainable way.  Examples of ongoing 
programmes include improving the environmental footprint of our buildings, 
moving to more sustainable fleets for home to school transport, moving to 
paperless working and working with contractors during tenders to set 
environmental targets or expectations.  AfC agreed its first Environment 
Strategy and plan in 2022 and it is available to view on the company website. 

8. CONSULTATION 

8.1 The documents presented in this report provide information on the 2022/23 
performance and position of AfC.  Where relevant, specific consultation and 
engagement activity has been undertaken for each of the priorities or activities 
undertaken during the year.  The AfC Board and relevant officers have been engaged 
in the production of the annual reports. The report and appendices has also been 
considered and debated by the People Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 12 
October 2023. 

123



 

9. TIMETATABLE  

9.1 The documents discussed in this report were formally published on the AfC 
website in September 2023.  The Annual Report and Accounts will also be 
lodged with Companies House for publication in line with statutory company 
reporting requirements. 

10.  APPENDICES  

10.1 This report is supported by three appendices: 
 

● Appendix A - AfC Annual Impact Report 2022/23 
● Appendix B - AfC Annual Equalities Report 2022/23 
● Appendix C - AFC Annual Report and Accounts 2022/23 
● Appendix D – Comments from the 12 October 2023 People 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

11.1 This report is supported by two background documents: 
○  

● AfC Reserved Matter Ownership Decisions February 2023 
https://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s45552/Item%208%20R
eserved%20Ownersip%20Decisions%20Covering%20Report.pdf 
 

● AfC Business Plan approval December 2019
 https://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s28856/fullAfC%20Bus
iness%20Plan%202020-24-%20December%202019-
%20for%20RBWM%20v2.pdf 
 

● AfC Governance Review
 https://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s29683/Governance%
20proposed%20next%20steps%20January%202020_240220.pdf 

○  

12. CONSULTATION 

Name of 
consultee 

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned 

Mandatory:  Statutory Officer (or deputy)   
Andrew 
Vallance 

Head of Finance/ interim 
S151 Officer 

22/8/23 27/9/23 

Elaine 
Browne 

Deputy Director of Law & 
Governance & 
Monitoring Officer 

22/8/23 27/9/23 

Deputies:    
    
    
Mandatory:  Procurement Manager (or 

deputy) - if report requests 
  

124

https://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s45552/Item%208%20Reserved%20Ownersip%20Decisions%20Covering%20Report.pdf
https://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s45552/Item%208%20Reserved%20Ownersip%20Decisions%20Covering%20Report.pdf
https://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s28856/fullAfC%20Business%20Plan%202020-24-%20December%202019-%20for%20RBWM%20v2.pdf
https://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s28856/fullAfC%20Business%20Plan%202020-24-%20December%202019-%20for%20RBWM%20v2.pdf
https://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s28856/fullAfC%20Business%20Plan%202020-24-%20December%202019-%20for%20RBWM%20v2.pdf
https://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s29683/Governance%20proposed%20next%20steps%20January%202020_240220.pdf
https://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s29683/Governance%20proposed%20next%20steps%20January%202020_240220.pdf


 

approval to go to tender or 
award a contract 

Lyn 
Hitchinson 

Procurement Manager 
 

22/8/23 27/9/23 

Mandatory:  Data Protection Officer (or 
deputy) - if decision will result 
in processing of personal 
data; to advise on DPIA 

  

Samantha 
Wootton 

Data Protection Officer 22/8/23 27/9/23 

Mandator
y:  

Equalities Officer – to 
advise on EQiA, or agree 
an EQiA is not required 

  

Ellen 
McManus-Fry 

Equalities & 
Engagement Officer 

22/8/23 24/8/23 

Other 
consultees: 

   

Directors 
(where 
relevant) 

   

Stephen 
Evans 

Chief Executive 27/9/23 27/9/23 

Andrew 
Durrant 

Executive Director of 
Place 

27/9/23 27/9/23 

Kevin 
McDaniel 

Executive Director of 
Adult Social Care & 
Health 

27/9/23 27/9/23 

Lin Ferguson Executive Director of 
Children’s Services & 
Education 

11/8/23 21/8/23 

Assistant 
Directors 
(where 
relevant)  

   

    
    

    
External 
(where 
relevant) 

   

N/A    

 
Confirmation 
relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) 
consulted  

Cabinet Member for Children’s 
Services, Education and 
Windsor 

Yes  

 

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type: Urgency item? To follow item? 

125



 

Non key decision 
 

No  No  

 
Report Author: Lucy Kourpas, Achieving for Children Chief Operating and 
Finance Officer, lucy.kourpas@achievingforchildren.org.uk 

 
 

126



Equality Impact Assessment 

For support in completing this EQIA, please consult the EQIA Guidance 
Document or contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

 

1. Background Information 

 

Title of policy/strategy/plan: 
 

AfC Annual Reports  

Service area: 
 

Achieving for Children 

Directorate: 
 

Children’s Services 

 

Provide a brief explanation of the proposal: 

� What are its intended outcomes? 

� Who will deliver it? 

� Is it a new proposal or a change to an existing one? 

The Achieving for Children (AfC) Board of Directors has now approved the 2022/23 Impact 
Report, Equalities Report and Annual Report and Accounts. These annual reports provide 
information about AfC’s impact and performance across the boroughs of Richmond, 
Kingston and Windsor and Maidenhead between April 2022 and March 2023. They are 
being presented to Cabinet to support the Council’s oversight of AfCs performance in its role 
as joint owner of AfC.   
 
This is an information sharing report and there is no proposal and no impact on protected groups. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

2. Relevance Check 

Is this proposal likely to directly impact people, communities or RBWM employees?  

� If Yes, state ‘Yes’ and proceed to Section 3. 

127

mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk


� If No, please explain why not, including how you’ve considered equality issues.  

� Will this proposal need a EQIA at a later stage? (for example, for a forthcoming action 
plan) 

No 

 

If ‘No’, proceed to ‘Sign off’. If unsure, please contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

3. Evidence Gathering and Stakeholder Engagement 

Who will be affected by this proposal?  
For example, users of a particular service, residents of a geographical area, staff 

 
 
 

Among those affected by the proposal, are protected characteristics (age, sex, disability, race, 
religion, sexual orientation, gender reassignment, pregnancy/maternity, marriage/civil 
partnership) disproportionately represented?  
For example, compared to the general population do a higher proportion have disabilities?  
 
 

What engagement/consultation has been undertaken or planned?  

� How has/will equality considerations be taken into account?   

� Where known, what were the outcomes of this engagement? 

 
 

What sources of data and evidence have been used in this assessment?  
Please consult the EQIA Evidence Matrix for relevant data. Examples of other possible sources of 
information are in the Guidance document (Section 2.3). 
 
 

128

mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk
https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiMWZlNGI4YWYtZjk3Ni00Zjg2LTlkMTEtNmM4N2M2NTczZDU0IiwidCI6ImY1NGM5M2I3LTA4ODMtNDc4Zi1iZjNkLTU2ZTA5YjdjYTBiNyJ9&pageName=ReportSection


 

 

 

 

 

 

4. Equality Analysis 

Please detail, using supporting evidence: 

� How the protected characteristics below might influence the needs and experiences of 
individuals, in relation to this proposal. 

� How these characteristics might affect the impact of this proposal. 

Tick positive/negative impact as appropriate. If there is no impact, or a neutral impact, state ‘Not 
Applicable’. 
More information on each protected characteristic is provided in the EQIA Guidance document 
(available on the intranet). 

 Details and supporting evidence Potential 
positive impact 

Potential 
negative impact 

Age 
 

   

Disability 
 

   

Sex 
 

   

Race, ethnicity and 
religion 
 

   

Sexual orientation and 
gender reassignment 
 

   

Pregnancy and maternity    

129



Marriage and civil 
partnership 

   

Armed forces community    

Socio-economic 
considerations e.g. low 
income, poverty 

   

Children in care/Care 
leavers 

   

5. Impact Assessment and Monitoring  

If you have not identified any disproportionate impacts and the questions below are not applicable, 
leave them blank and proceed to Sign Off. 

What measures have been taken to ensure that groups with protected characteristics are able to 
benefit from this change, or are not disadvantaged by it?  
For example, adjustments needed to accommodate the needs of a particular group 
 

Where a potential negative impact cannot be avoided, what measures have been put in place to 
mitigate or minimise this? 

� For planned future actions, provide the name of the responsible individual and the target 
date for implementation. 

 

How will the equality impacts identified here be monitored and reviewed in the future? 

 

 

 

6. Sign Off 

 

130



Completed by: Lin Ferguson 
 

Date:22.9.23 

Approved by:Lucy Kourpas 
 

Date:22.9.23 

 

 

If this version of the EQIA has been reviewed and/or updated: 

Reviewed by: 
 

Date: 

 

131



This page is intentionally left blank



IMPACT 
REPORT 
2022/23

Achieving 
for Children

133



Contents
Welcome 1

Who we are 1

We are good at what we do 2

Support for families and the children and  3  
young people in our care

Key information 6

Our strategic priorities 7

Examples of our impact 8

Achieving a strong early help offer 8

Achieving fun and engaging holiday activities 10

Achieving with our families 11

Achieving positive futures through apprenticeships 12

Achieving for our children and young people with  13 
special educational needs and disabilities 

Achieving a more diverse and inclusive organisation 14

134



Who we are
We are a not for profit organisation that is focused on supporting 
the children and young people of the Royal Borough of Kingston, 
the London Borough of Richmond and the Royal Borough 
of Windsor and Maidenhead, to live safe, happy, healthy and 
successful lives. We are unique and different because we are 
owned by three local authorities and we are an organisation of 
talented children’s services professionals who are focused on 
working together and with partners to provide the best possible 
support to young people.

We deliver services to more than 120,000 children and young 
people in a range of areas including early help, children’s social 
care, education, health, and special educational need and disability 
(SEND) services. Our vision is to provide children and their families 
with the support and services they need to live safe, happy, healthy 
and successful lives.

Over 1,200 people work for us in a wide variety of roles including 
social work, teaching, nursing, occupational therapy, physiotherapy 
and clinical psychology. 

1

Welcome
We are Achieving for Children, and this is our impact report for 
2022-23. It sets out what we have been doing over the past  
12 months and highlights some of our proudest achievements.

135



2

We are good at what we do, as demonstrated 
by a range of positive inspection outcomes 

In Windsor and 
Maidenhead at the end of 
2022-23, the Department 
for Education and NHS 
England reviewed our 
progress against our 
written statement of 
action and have made 
the decision that there 
is no need for it to be 
formally monitored any 
more because we have 
‘demonstrated clear and 
sustained progress’.  

We received a ‘Good’ 
rating across all areas 
following the Care 
Quality Commission 
(CQC) inspection of 
our Health Visiting 
and School Nursing 
Service in Windsor 
and Maidenhead in 
November 2022. 

In October 2022, Ofsted 
revisited our SEND 
services in Kingston 
and confirmed we 
were making sufficient 
progress against our 
Written Statement 
of Action, and as a 
result, the formal 
quarterly support and 
challenge visits from 
the Department for 
Education and NHS 
England will come to an 
end. 

We achieved ‘Good’ 
inspection ratings of 
our Youth Offending 
Services in Kingston 
and Richmond, 
and Windsor and 
Maidenhead.

Our independent 
fostering agency (IFA), 
which operates across 
all three boroughs, has 
been judged ‘Good’.

Although we are extremely pleased with what we 
have achieved, and the external recognition we 
have received as a result, we are not complacent 
and we remain committed to improving our 
services further. 

We achieved a positive 
Joint Targeted Area 
Inspection (JTAI) of the 
multi-agency response 
to the identification of 
initial need and risk in 
Windsor and Maidenhead 
in May 2022, which 
focused on our ‘front 
door’, including our 
Single Point of Access. 

Our children’s social care 
services are judged by 
Ofsted as ‘Outstanding’ 
in Kingston and as 
‘Good’ in Richmond 
and in Windsor and 
Maidenhead.

136



We are good at what we do, as demonstrated 
by a range of positive inspection outcomes 

Support for families and the children 
and young people in our care

Early intervention and prevention is at the heart of our work with 
families so that we are able to meet the needs of children and young 
people as early as possible and well before statutory services are 
required. Our impact report sets out our excellent early help offer 
and highlights our children’s centres, family hubs and our incredibly 
successful holiday activity and food programme. 

Our support for children and young people in care, and on the edge 
of care, is always developing and improving. We have just started an 
early help and social care transformation programme across all three 
boroughs. This review will take place over the next few years and  
will look at how we deliver all of our social care services so we  
can focus on working in the ways that have the most impact  
and best meet the needs of our communities. 

We are working hard to make sure that when we do need to  
support a child or young person in care they are placed in the  
best possible accommodation and receive the correct support.  
To help us to do this, we operate a number of in-house 
accommodations. This includes our children’s home, Hope House,  
and our purpose-built overnight short break care centre, Rainbow 
House, which are both well established now and provide high  
quality care for our most vulnerable children and young people. 

We are excited that we will be working with Kingston Council to  
develop a new children’s home over the coming 18 to 24 months  
so we can support more of our children and young people locally. 

Participation and engagement with children and young people is 
incredibly important to us. We have done lots of work over the last 
year to make sure we can hear the voices of our children and young 
people, such as establishing regular meetings between the Youth 
Council and the AfC Board of Directors and working with our children 
in care councils to support their peers who are being looked after by 
our social care services. Over the last year, they have contributed to the 
development of the care leavers’ enhanced local offer, assisted in the 
launch of the HaveMySay app, which enables children in care to provide 
feedback whenever they want to, and created baby packs for care 
leavers who become parents for the first time. 

3

137



4

Schools and special educational needs and disabilities

We are really proud of the excellent school standards in Kingston, Richmond, and 
Windsor and Maidenhead, which are amongst the highest in the country. Over the 
past year we have supported 25 schools with their Ofsted inspections through 
our school improvement support, and now 95% of our schools across all three 
boroughs are judged ‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’. Our Virtual School and Virtual College 
support the education of those children and young people who are in our care. 
Last year they continued to do brilliantly in their exams to outperform their national 
peers. 

We know that we need to get even better with our support to children 
and young people with SEND in all three boroughs. We are working 
hard to address the areas that were identified as weaknesses in 
written statements of action (WSOA) in Richmond and Windsor 
and Maidenhead, particularly in relation to strengthening our 
relationships with our parent carer forums so the voices of families 
more clearly influence our work. However we are pleased that it has 
been recognised that we are making good progress in our WSOAs, 
to the extent that there is reduced monitoring due to the increased 
confidence in our ability to deliver what is needed. 

Our workforce

Undoubtedly, our greatest strength is our amazing workforce and we 
aim to create a supportive and encouraging environment for all our 
staff. During the year, we were delighted to re-launch our annual staff 
awards. The new scheme proved incredibly popular, with over 250 
nominations across the whole organisation in 11 different categories, including 
champion for children, inspirational leader, rising star and outstanding contribution. 
We had 30 individuals or team winners, and we came together in person in both 
operational areas to celebrate their achievements. 

We were also extremely proud to have two winners in the national Social Worker 
of the Year Awards announced in November 2022. Annmarie Nero, who works in 
our Adolescent Safeguarding Team won the Children’s Social Worker of the Year 
Gold Award, and Mi-gyung Kim, who works in our Safeguarding Team, won the 
Newly Qualified Children’s Social Worker of the Year Silver Award. This is a fantastic 
achievement, in recognition of their hard work and commitment in their roles. 

We do recognise that we face a number of recruitment and retention challenges, 
driven by national shortages of qualified and experienced social workers. There 
is a lot of ongoing activity to address this, from refreshed staff benefits to provide 
staff with increased annual leave and new parking options, to new recruitment and 
retention incentives, including welcome payments and market supplements for 
social care teams. To support our recruitment and retention activity, we launched 
a digital marketing campaign targeted at social workers. So far, it has allowed us a 
reach of 186,000 people, has resulted in 54,000 clicks through to more information 
on our roles, and has led to 148 expressions of interest being submitted.

138



5

Lin Ferguson 
Director of Children’s 
Services in Windsor  

and Maidenhead

Sian Wicks 
Chair of the Achieving  

for Children Board

Ian Dodds  
Director of Children’s 
Services in Kingston  

and Richmond

Lucy Kourpas 
Chief Operating 

and Finance 
Officer

Smart working

As an organisation, we are always trying to find ways to work smarter.  
For example this year, significant progress has been made in terms of digital 
transformation:

• robotic process automation has been implemented in the Single Point of 
Access, resulting in the successful recording of over 3,500 contacts in the last 
year

• a new automated process has been developed for the verification of addresses 
on school place applications, which will streamline the admissions process for 
more than 11,000 applications received annually

• digital payment points have been deployed to nine children’s centres

• a new digital customer platform has also been introduced, providing an 
online, self-service option for people who want to evaluate services, book 
appointments, send feedback, submit referrals, upload documents, complete 
questionnaires and request callbacks

During 2022-23, we have continued our focus on improving our interfaces with 
our workforce and our external stakeholders. We have experienced a fantastic 
response to and usage of our new intranet Connect - which was named by one 
of our staff. It provides a new digital workspace that enables staff to work more 
collaboratively and to access key information and documents more easily. In 
January 2023, we also launched our brand new company website with a fresh 
new look. The website makes it easier to find information such as fostering and 
apprenticeships or links to services by council area. 

As you will see in this impact report, we have been very busy over the past 12 
months and achieved a lot. However, we still want to do more. Based on the 
progress we have made in 2022-23, we are confident about the future of Achieving 
for Children and our ambition to reach every child and young person who needs us, 
so that they are able to live safe, happy, healthy and successful lives. 

Sian Wicks, Chair of the Achieving for Children Board
Lucy Kourpas, Chief Operating and Finance Officer
Ian Dodds, Director of Children’s Services in Kingston and Richmond
Lin Ferguson, Director of Children’s Services in Windsor and Maidenhead 

139



.

6

Key information about 
Achieving for Children  

children and young 
people aged 0 to 
19 across the three 
boroughs 

More than 13,000 families attend children’s 
centres or family hubs for health appointments, 
to access local childcare, or for activities that 
help their children get ready for school.

We support 165 schools to deliver high 
quality teaching and learning. 91% of 
schools across our three boroughs are ‘Good’ 
or ‘Outstanding’ (Ofsted).

Since 2014, we have delivered 9,074 
additional school places, including expanding 
SEND provision in mainstream schools and 
five new free schools.

More than 10,000 young people each 
year regularly use our youth services to take 
part in positive activities that develop their 
interests and talents.

We support 4,577 children and young people 
with special educational needs and disabilities 
who have an education care and health plan.

We have completed early help assessments 
for 1,074 of our families to identify what 
support they may need from us.

  
800 who are children in need  
431 on child protection plans  
376  who are children looked after

1,074
families

10,000
young people

4,577
children and 
young people

91%  
of schools 'Good’ or  
'Outstanding’

9,074
additional 
school places

13,000
families

124,115

children and young 
people supported by 
social care services 

2,944

140



.

We have six strategic priorities within Achieving for Children. These are the areas 
where we most want to make a difference and they help to decide what work we do. 
All the activity we undertake is rooted to these six strategic priorities. 

Our strategic priorities

Positive  
futures

We are focused on improving our local 
education, health and care offer so that 

our children and young people can attend 
school and get any support they may need, 

close to home. We want to help them to 
develop their independence and prepare 

for adulthood.. 

7

Excellent  
workforce

Our workforce will be experienced, talented, 
empowered and motivated to deliver the 

best possible services and outcomes 
for children and young people. We will 
invest in the recruitment, retention and 

development of our workforce and reward 
their achievements. 

Financial  
stability

Given the difficult financial circumstances, 
both nationally and locally, we will make 

sure we are delivering efficient, cost-
effective and financially sustainable 

services so we are able to support those 
most in need.

Successful 
organisation

We want Achieving for Children to be 
adaptable and flexible so we can meet the 
needs of the children and young people we 

support, even if these needs change.

Smarter  
working

We will review and improve our internal 
processes and use more technology so 

that we can free up our staff to spend more 
time with the children, young people and 

families we support.

We will work hard, alongside our key 
partners, to make sure the children and 
young people we support are safe from 
harm and that the families we work with 
are supported to help themselves so that 

any positive change is lasting.

Stronger  
families

141



8

Examples of our impact

Our children’s centres and family hubs are a central part of our early help offer 
which helps to give children, young people and their families, the best start in life. 

In Kingston and Richmond we have seen the number of people attending our 
children’s centres increase over the past 12 months. We: 

• delivered over 6,000 sessions for families either in person or online 

• saw over 17,000 individuals in person or online

• had over 80,000 interactions with our families

• held an extremely successful event for National Play Day which saw almost 
2,500 people come together for the first time since the pandemic to celebrate 
play

• supported health colleagues to deliver polio and flu vaccination clinics over the 
weekends in the autumn 

• worked with local businesses to provide families with 75 hampers and over 100 
presents at Christmas

• now have over 7,000 members on our Facebook groups

As part of our response to the cost of living crisis, our children’s centres have 
provided warm spaces twice a week as part of an eight week pilot, with activities, 
quiet space for homework and support for families with children aged 0 to 11 
years. We also ran a ‘warm coats and shoes’ project during winter and recycled 
and distributed 184 coats and 54 pairs of shoes to families. 

ACHIEVING a strong early help offer

142



9

In Windsor and Maidenhead, we established our family hubs 
approach, which brings together children’s centres, youth 
centres and parenting services. Our family hubs are now fully 
staffed and demand for services has been high:

• we have provided one-to-one support to 823 children

• 3,400 children and young people have attended group 
sessions on topics such as digital safety, drug and 
alcohol awareness, and self-esteem 

We provide a full menu of interventions to improve parents’ 
skills and knowledge, such as the positive parenting 
programme and baby massage classes. Our family hub 
model includes our health visiting services, which offers all 
families with a new baby a health assessment within two 
weeks of birth. It was inspected this year and we were really 
pleased to receive a ‘Good’ Ofsted rating which demonstrates 
the positive impact we are having. 

We receive lots of positive feedback from the families we 
have worked with. 
 
This includes: 

You have consistently supported my children 
and me. You have always made allocations and 
allowances for us, and you have done this with so 
much patience and understanding and respect. 
I am so, so, so thankful and so grateful for 
everything you do for my family.

Thank you to your amazing team. 100% truth - we would not 
be where we are today, without your support and trust and 
confidence. You have been an integral part of our journey 
here, and given me momentum. It absolutely has been a 
mutually organic relationship and continues to grow. The 
children’s centre is without doubt our happy place. Thank 
you for being my safe space. Thank you for being a safe 
stable strong space for my children. We are incredibly lucky 
that you have been here when we too are here.

143



10

ACHIEVING fun and engaging 
holiday activities
We know that school holidays can be a difficult time for some families, 
with trying to juggle childcare with work. 

To support our families during school holidays, we 
successfully delivered the FUEL (Feed Ur Everyday Lives) 
programme in Kingston, Richmond and Windsor and 
Maidenhead in response to the Department for Education 
funding for the holiday activities and food (HAF) programme. 
This was our third year delivering the programme, which took 
place over the Easter, summer and Christmas holidays and 
offered a range of fun and enjoyable activities and food to 
children and young people aged 5 to 16 years who are eligible 
for benefits-related free school meals (FSM). 

Across all boroughs, the programme grew throughout each 
holiday period with increasing numbers of providers, locations 
and spaces on offer. In total, almost 40 different partners 
worked with us to deliver the programme; with over 3,500 
children and young people attending a range of fun and 
exciting activities. Of these, over 200 of the children and young 
people had additional needs. 

Our families love the programme. Some of the feedback we received 
includes: 

They both loved it, they originally only planned to go for one day 
but enjoyed it so much they went back a second day. They came 
out enthused and it definitely built up their confidence as they 
loved chatting about the other kids they had met and taking part 
in the activities as they felt very supported by staff.

She had an amazing time and was very upset when it finished! 
She is excited to go again. The staff were amazing!

The club has been amazing for my autistic son. He has a lot of 
additional needs, however, the club have been able to manage his 
needs effortlessly. I only booked him for one week but he wanted to 
go back for the second week too. It was absolutely amazing and I 
will be booking this club again if it’s available.

144



11

The relationship with my children has greatly improved, especially 
communication, confidence in parenting and ability to offer a stable 
environment.

I am listening more and also helps me and the whole family cope 
better, which in turn has had a positive impact on our emotional and 
mental health. I also feel more confident in my parenting and ability 
to support my child and that we are doing the right thing for her.

I am more positive and confident and able to meet the 
needs of my children, especially emotionally. We talk more 
and we enjoy doing things together.

ACHIEVING with our families
We want to make sure we are giving good support to those of our families 
who may need some additional help. To do this, we have established a new 
Families First model. 

In Kingston and Richmond, the Families First service commenced in April as a 
two year project. It aims to support social workers and the families they work 
with who present with a trio of vulnerabilities (domestic abuse, mental health, 
substance misuse) through the key principles of co-location, joint working and 
group supervision. Over 140 families have been supported and the project 
has shown that for most families, where the Families First team provides 
support, they are less likely to need as much help going forward and are better 
equipped to help themselves. The feedback received from families has been 
excellent.

Based on the success of this programme, we are now developing a similar 
service in Windsor and Maidenhead. The newly formed Families First team 
supports families in crisis who are at imminent risk of having their child or 
children taken into care. Families are fast-tracked to receive support, and are 
ultimately supported to keep their children at home or find a family network 
in order to care for their children. The team also supports children to return 
home from care, if this is the best option for them. 

So far, we have supported 11 families and in all cases the children have 
remained in the family home. 

145



Way2Work apprenticeships gave me direction after leaving college and 
provided me with great opportunities to develop skills and gain work 
experience. Since completing my apprenticeship which gave me the base to 
build from, I have created good working relationships with internal colleagues 
and external customers and now enjoy my role as manager of Twickenham 
Training Centre and leading on recruitment at Way2Work.

ACHIEVING positive futures 
through apprenticeships
Way2Work is Achieving for Children’s approved apprenticeship training 
provider listed on the Register of Approved Apprenticeship Training Providers 
(RoATP). It offers high quality apprenticeships and traineeships, and works 
with employers to provide relevant and meaningful training 
to anyone aged 16 plus. It offers apprenticeships in a range 
of sectors including early years, business support, customer 
services and teaching. And as well as working with local 
businesses and schools to provide opportunities, it provides 
apprenticeships within Achieving for Children. 

Throughout their apprenticeships, learners receive information, 
advice and guidance, including CV development, interview 
skills and assistance with their job search. Way2Work is a 
specialist in supporting the most vulnerable learners, including 
those with special educational needs and disabilities, children 
who are looked after and care leavers. 

We know that this is having a positive impact. 

• 93% of our learners progress into a higher apprenticeship, 
employment, or further training

• 87% of our Way2Work apprentices rate the quality of 
teaching and learning as good or better

• 87% would refer Way2Work to a friend 

• We are particularly proud that 100% of apprentices that complete their 
apprenticeships in Achieving for Children remain with the organisation

At the end 2022-23, Way2Work was supporting 58 apprentices. Of these, 20 
are directly employed by Achieving for Children, 26 are aged 16 to 24 years 
old, 28% are from a Black, Asian or Minority Ethnic background, and 12% have 
special educational needs or disabilities, are children looked after, or are care 
leavers. 

One of our former apprentices now manages Way2 Work, Matt Burke, 
Business Manager at Achieving for Children, said: 

12

146



I absolutely love my job, I get on really well with my 
manager and my colleagues and actually they have 
offered me more hours, so having the knowledge 
that I am going to get paid at the end of the month is 
such a nice feeling and I’m really pleased I completed 
the internship, because it gave me knowledge that I 
needed. 

ACHIEVING for our children 
and young people with special 
educational needs and disabilities
We are working hard to improve the inclusive services we provide to children 
and young people with SEND. This includes supporting our young 
 people with SEND to transition to independence and adulthood  
through our supported internships. 

Misha’s story
Misha attended a local special school and when she finished  
her studies, we worked with her to secure a place on a year-long  
supported internship run by Mencap. While undertaking the  
internship, Misha was able to complete an extended work  
placement and develop other employability skills, such as  
communication, by participating in group discussions at Mencap,  
practising interviewing skills and researching the type of careers 
that might suit her. 

She also had the opportunity to work towards completing her  
Functional Skills (which is offered to learners who have not  
already achieved a pass grade at school). She was delighted  
to be informed having sat the exam, that she had passed  
her Functional Skills in maths at Level 1. 

When she completed the internship, she had not been offered  
paid employment, however within a very short time after leaving  
the programme, she independently applied to a local food shop  
and attended an interview and was offered a role with 20 contracted hours. 

Misha told us: 

13

147



14

ACHIEVING a more diverse and 
inclusive organisation
Our strong focus on equality, diversity and inclusion (EDI) has continued 
during 2022-23. 

Our staff-led EDI Board has continued to be instrumental in driving forward 
EDI improvements across the organisation. Key activity has 
included:

• Launching our employee networks - we are delighted to 
have three fully established networks, led by staff, that 
focus on menopause, leaders of all colours and LBGTQI+ 
and allies.

• Successfully celebrated a number of cultural events, such 
as Black History Month (BHM) and LBGTQ History Month. 
We put on an extensive programme for BHM in 2022. This 
included special guest speakers, spotlights on staff from 
Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic backgrounds, blogs from 
senior leaders relating to BHM topics, and a considerable 
bank of BHM resources for staff to access.

• Taking part in the Workforce Race Equality Standard 
(WRES) pilot in social care, which was led by the 
Department for Health and Social Care, and reporting for 
the first time about the experiences of our Black, Asian and 
Minority Ethnic staff. The WRES aims to gather data and 
information about staff to identify any areas of best practice, or any areas 
for improvement in relation to race and ethnicity. Our WRES report is now 
included in our annual equalities reporting

Jabed Hussain, our Associate Director for Business Efficiency and Digital 
Transformation, invited colleagues to take part in the Ramadan Challenge at 
the end of March 2023. Twelve staff members took part and fasted for a day 
alongside their Muslim colleagues with the aim of promoting understanding 
and awareness of the difficulties and rewards of observing Ramadan. After 
the event, those that took part shared their experiences with other colleagues 
including the challenges they faced during the day, what they learned about 

Overall, the Ramadan Challenge provided participants with 
a greater understanding of the significance of fasting in 
Ramadan, fostered a sense of community, and encouraged 
dialogue and empathy among colleagues with different 
beliefs and backgrounds. I’m very proud of the organisation 
and my colleagues for supporting and taking part in this with 
me. Hopefully we will get even more participation next year.

148



15

Thank you
Collaboration and partnership working are instrumental to our success as an 
organisation. Thank you to all our staff, service users and partners for helping 
us achieve our ambition to reach every child and young person who needs us, 
so that they are able to live safe, happy, healthy and successful lives. We look 
forward to having further positive impact over the coming year.

To find out more about Achieving for Children and the work we do, please visit 
our website.

149

https://www.achievingforchildren.org.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Equalities 
Report 
2022-23

151



Contents
1. Introduction 1 

2. Our approach to equality, diversity and inclusion 2 

3. What do we know about equality, diversity and inclusion in relation  6 
    to our workforce? 

4. What have we done for our workforce? 8 

5. What do we know about equality, diversity and inclusion in relation  13 
     to the children, young people and families we support? 

6. What have we done for the children, young people and families we support? 17 

7. Intersectionality 29

8. What are our equality objectives and what progress have we made  33 
     to date? 

9. Workforce race equality standard 40

August 2023 

152



1. Introduction
Background
Achieving for Children (AfC) was created as a community interest company in 2014 
and is now owned and commissioned by the Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames, 
the London Borough of Richmond upon Thames and the Royal Borough of Windsor 
and Maidenhead to deliver children’s services.

We produce an equalities report each year to demonstrate our compliance with the 
public sector equality duty (PSED).

This report sets out:

•  our approach to equality, diversity and inclusion

•  what we know about equality, diversity and inclusion in relation to our workforce and 
to the children, young people and families we support

•  what we have done about it in 2022-2023

•  our equality objectives (what we plan to achieve by 2024)

The PSED came into force on 5 April 2011 with the aim of embedding equality 
considerations into the everyday work of public bodies to enable them to tackle 
inequality and discrimination more effectively. The PSED has three general duties that 
require public bodies to be aware of the need to:

• eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other conduct 
prohibited by the Equality Act 2010

•  advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic 
and people who do not share it

•  foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those 
who do not share it

1

153



2. Our approach to equality, diversity 
and inclusion
Our approach to implementing equality, diversity and inclusion (EDI) is set out in 
our equality, diversity and inclusion policy, which has been agreed by the Company 
Leadership Team. The policy sets out the following implementation steps.

• Ensuring the Achieving for Children Board of Directors and Company Leadership 
Team oversee and scrutinise our progress against the equality duty.

• Ensuring our staff are aware of the equality, diversity and inclusion policy and receive 
appropriate training.

•  Supporting the EDI Board, which was established in 2021 to drive our equality and 
diversity change agenda in line with our organisational values. The purpose of the 
board is to lead cultural change across AfC so that as an organisation we embrace 
and celebrate diversity. Its aim is to support staff to understand differences and 
behave respectfully to each other so that people want to work and stay working in 
the company and that AfC can respond to the different needs of service users.

• Ensuring the aims and objectives of the EDI policy align with the AfC EDI Board and 
their associated action plans.

• Monitoring all areas of employment, including recruitment, promotion, training 
opportunities, pay, grievances and disciplinary action, to ensure there is equal 
treatment for all employees and that action is taken where any disparity is found.

• Establishing specific equality and diversity policies wherever necessary and linking to 
the overarching equality, diversity and inclusion policy.

• Supporting any equality and diversity groups established within Achieving for 
Children and linking them in with the annual equalities reporting process to highlight 
impact. This will include, for example, the AfC employee networks which have been 
established to represent different groups of staff.

•  Ensuring that all contractors and organisations providing services on our behalf have 
rigorous and appropriate equality policies covering employment and service delivery 
which meet the requirements of the public sector equality duty.

• Linking with performance improvement plans, external and internal inspections, 
and reviews that cover equality performance in services areas as part of wider 
improvement measures.

• Ensuring that equality objectives are regularly set, monitored and reviewed as part of 
the business planning process, and that our progress is reported against the public 
sector duty in our annual equalities report.

• Ensuring that all service restructures or reorganisations and all new services, policies 
or functions are subject to an equality impact assessment (EIA) to consider any 
potential equalities impact, and all services delivered by Achieving for Children carry 
out EIAs as appropriate on regular basis.

• Working with children, young people and their families to help develop, monitor and 
review our policies, practices, functions and services.

2

154



Responsibility for 
equality, diversity and 
inclusion
While the AfC Board of Directors and Company 
Leadership Team have ultimate responsibility 
for equality, diversity and inclusion on an 
operational basis, the Chief Operating and 
Finance Officer takes the lead in this area. 
Support is provided by the AfC equalities lead, 
who is an officer in the Strategy, Policy and 
Programmes Team. 

The EDI Board is responsible for implementing 
EDI work on an annual basis, in line with an 
action plan. They report into the AfC Board  
of Directors and Company Leadership Team. 
The EDI Board is made up of AfC staff 
members from key AfC services. All other staff 
at AfC can get involved in EDI by taking part 
in AfC Employee Networks (AENs), attending 
monthly EDI Forums or one-to-ones with the 
chair or vice chair of the EDI Board.

3

Company 
Leadership  

Team

EDI Board
Strategy, 
Policy and 
Programmes 
Team

Staff

EDI Forums One-to-onesAfC Employee 
Networks

AfC Board

Equality Diversity and Inclusion Board
The EDI Board was established in 2019. Its purpose is to drive AfC’s EDI change agenda, 
in line with our organisational values. The EDI Board helps implement our action plan 
based on the E&D Action for Change pyramid which has been designed to promote, 
improve and sustain equality, diversity and inclusion across AfC. The action plan was 
created in response to a staff survey, who expressed their views of EDI at AfC. 

The EDI Board is responsible to act on feedback from staff gathered via various 
channels such as the EDI Staff Forum, AENs and one-to-one drop-ins.

It is chaired by the Chief Operating and Finance Officer, with a staff member as vice 
chair. The EDI Board includes officers from our two operational areas and Business 
Services, including senior management representatives.

155



Challenge to our approach to equality, 
diversity and inclusion 
The EDI Board provides challenge to AfC’s equality, diversity and inclusion practice. 
In addition, the equalities lead attends EDI meetings within each council as required. 
Achieving for Children attends the Richmond External Stakeholders Scrutiny Group 
(ESSG) twice a year to receive external challenge. ESSG is an independent equalities 
group made up of a range of people from across the protected characteristic groups 
and from the community and voluntary sector. It also includes four local residents who 
act as critical friends and who have professional backgrounds in the public sector and 
considerable experience of EDI.

Equality impact assessments
AfC requires managers to complete equality impact assessments (EIAs) to 
demonstrate that we are considering the equality implications of the decisions we are 
making. Actions from EIAs are monitored through team plans by service managers. 

An EIA schedule is compiled annually as part of the business planning process.  
It includes key projects from our business plan (the completion of an EIA is mandatory 
for all key projects) and any ad hoc areas of work that require an assessment of the 
equality implications. Key EIAs are published on our website to demonstrate how we 
meet our public sector equality duties. We have also made the EIA process accessible 
in line with government requirements.

Reporting and monitoring
AfC produces this annual equalities report in the summer of each year in keeping 
with the business planning cycle to enable us to demonstrate how we are meeting 
the PSED. Other equality reports are produced as and when requested by the owning 
councils.

From 2022-23, the Annual Equalities Report also includes an update on the workforce 
race equality standard (WRES) report that we opt in to collating with the aim to identify 
and address any areas that will improve the workplace experience and representation 
at all levels for Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic staff. An update to our 2021 WRES 
report and its action plan is now included in Section 9. 

4

156



Language and terminology
In 2021, we carried out an equality and diversity staff survey, for which 30% of 
the workforce responded. Generally, staff members identified with the protected 
characteristic categories set out in the survey. However, there were some categories 
which staff felt did not represent them well enough. In particular:

• some respondents commented that the gender categories were not inclusive and 
representative enough. Non-binary and intersex were missing for instance

• some respondents commented that the sexual orientation categories were not 
inclusive and representative enough. Respondents wanted the ‘plus’ category to be 
broken down into individual and stand alone categories

• there is an ongoing debate about the acronym BAME (Black, Asian and Minority 
Ethnic) and its inclusiveness across AfC. Some staff have raised concerns about 
different ethnicities being grouped together into one acronym

In response to the points around gender categories and sexual orientation categories, 
we did research to find best practice for collecting data on protected characteristics. 
Based on this research and on the feedback the equality and diversity staff survey,  
we changed the categories we included in our annual staff survey, specifically for both 
gender and sexual orientation categories. 

We included more inclusive and representative terms for both categories and added 
the option for staff to prefer not to say or self-describe.

Regarding point 3 above, around race and ethnicity categories and the use of the term 
BAME (Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic), in March 2021, the Commission on Race and 
Ethnic Disparities recommended that the government stop using the term BAME for 
the reasons that it excluded other minority groups and that the term was not widely 
recognised.

In response to this and the feedback from our equality and diversity staff survey, we 
sent out a poll to our workforce in October 2021 to establish an alternative to the 
term BAME. The poll was anonymous and did not capture any personally identifiable 
information. 

The results of the poll proved to be inconclusive, as no respondent expressed the wish 
to keep using the acronym BAME and there was no consensus over which alternative 
to use. We followed up with an EDI Forum to analyse the poll results further and openly 
discuss what this meant to individuals.

At the EDI forum, colleagues discussed at length that they did not want to be 
categorised. However, they also recognised the importance of data collection 
 to reduce discrimination. 

For the purpose of this report, as there was no clear consensus on which term  
to replace BAME with, we will use the term Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic,  
rather than the BAME acronym. 

5

157



3. What do we know about equality, 
diversity and inclusion in relation to 
our workforce?
As of April 2023, Achieving for Children has 1,793 employees (equating to 1,127 full 
time equivalent employees), excluding agency workers. Our employees come from a 
broad range of professional disciplines including social work, teaching, health services 
and public sector management.

Please note that the following information covers a snapshot of workforce data as of 
April 2023. Figures include all permanent and temporary staff, but excludes casual and 
agency workers.

Percentages show the proportion of employees for which equalities data is known 
and recorded and therefore, percentages reflect the known numbers. The unknown 
numbers are excluded when calculating percentages. (Unknown = no information is 
held about an employee’s protected characteristics and no assumptions have been 
made. This includes those who prefer not to say.)

Age: The majority of employees are aged between 30 and 59. The smallest 
percentage of employees are aged 16 to 19.

• 11.5% are aged 60 and over

•  23.2% are aged 50 to 59

• 22.3% are aged 40 to 49

• 22.6% are aged 30 to 39

• 17.9% are aged 20 to 29

•  2.5% are aged 16 to 19

Locally, our workforce is largely representative of the general population. We have a 
number of apprenticeships and traineeships in place across the organisation to attract 
young people to work for Achieving for Children so we can increase the number of 
employees amongst the lower age brackets.

Disability: 7% of our employees reported that they had a disability, the same 
percentage as the previous year.

Although there are no directly comparable statistics available across the local 
government workforce regarding disability, it is thought that 19% of working age adults 
have a disability (Scope: Disability facts and figures). This suggests as an organisation 
we are not sufficiently representative of those with a disability. It should be noted 
however, not all employees have stated their disability status in the 
three boroughs, so the actual figure may be higher.

As an employer, we make reasonable adjustments for staff 
with disabilities and enable them to access flexible working 
arrangements as necessary. To strengthen the support we provide 
to staff members with a disability, we have created guidance for 
managers to provide advice on making reasonable adjustments.

6

158



Ethnicity: 25% of our employees are from ethnically diverse communities.

Our workforce has a slightly higher Black, Asian and Ethnic Minority representation 
than the general population in Richmond (16.2%) and Windsor and Maidenhead 
(13.9%), but is less representative than the general population in Kingston (33.1%).  
As our workforce is not fully representative of the local communities, we need to 
ensure they are trained and equipped to be knowledgeable and informed about the 
different ethnic backgrounds of the children, young people and families that we 
support. We are making efforts to improve this through our work on the workforce race 
equality standard.

Gender: 80.6% of our employees are female.

The percentage of our workforce which is female is not representative of the general 
population, as national and local data indicates a male to female gender split which 
is approximately 50/50. However, this is in line with the workforce across local 
government and children’s social care. A 2017 report by the Local Government 
Information Unit (LGiU), ‘Does local government work for women’, found that 78% of 
local government officers are female. Similarly, a Department for Education report 
in 2018, ‘Children and family social work workforce in England’, found that 85% of 
children and family social workers are female. 

The high number of women in the workforce has an impact: for example, in terms 
of maternity leave and women being more likely to have caring responsibilities. 
AfC implements a flexible working policy and a menopause policy, which are 
reviewed every three years to support our female workforce and those with caring 
responsibilities. 

Gender reassignment: We currently do not report on this and do not ask staff 
whether they are transitioning or have transitioned. 

Religion or belief: The largest faith group within our workforce is Christian (27.5%). 
Employees with no faith or religion or who did not declare their religion account for  
64% of the workforce. The religious status of our workforce is reflected locally.

Marital status: 30.2% of our employees are married or in a civil partnership,  
25.8% are single and 6.6% have a partner. 

The figures relating to relationship status largely reflect local data. More work is 
required to increase the number of respondents so the figure for ‘not known’ reduces.

Pregnancy and maternity: We currently do not report on this, but data is 
collected at a team level when staff take maternity or paternity leave. Our policies  
on maternity and paternity have been reviewed and updated in the last year.

Sexuality: For the data we hold, over 2% of our employees identify as gay,  
lesbian, bi-sexual or other. 

Local statistics on sexual orientation are not available. Nationally however,  
in 2016, a report from the Office of National Statistics suggested that  
2% of the UK population aged over 16 are lesbian, gay or bisexual.  
This would suggest our workforce is largely representative.

7

159



4. What have we done for our workforce?
Our EDI Board, which is described earlier in the report, has created a 12 month action 
plan. This plan is based on the EDI staff survey which we carried out in 2021 and the 
subsequent E&D Action for Change Pyramid which came out of the survey, to drive 
AfC’s EDI agenda forward. 

The 12 month action plan’s focus is to improve EDI for AfC’s workforce. The EDI Board 
will then create a longer term vision of three years, which will have a stronger focus on 
improving EDI for children, young people and families. 

Below, we outline the different areas of activity from the EDI Board’s 12 month action 
plan and what we achieved so far. The different areas are as follows. 

•  Governance and communication

• EDI training

• Raising awareness

• Recruitment, retention and development

• Children, young people and families

• Performance

Governance and communication
We have established the EDI Board’s governance by creating terms of reference created, 
scheduling monthly EDI Board meetings and embedding reporting processes. Two 
members of the AfC Board of Directors have joined the EDI Board to provide greater 
oversight of EDI activity at a strategic level.

The EDI Board has carried on the work started in the E&D Action for Change pyramid 
by creating a 12 month action plan.

EDI training
Continual work is taking place to promote and champion EDI within the workplace, 
encourage discussions and raise staff awareness on issues and topics.

In 2022-2023, 117 staff members, of which 45 were managers, attended 1,449 hours 
of EDI training. An additional 282 members of staff completed our equality and 
diversity e-learning.

There follows the list of EDI training courses we provided for staff in 2022-2023.

• Advanced skills in dyslexia

•  Autism and anxiety (Emotional Health Service)

•  Autism, special interests and family dynamics-presented (Emotional Health Service)

•  Creating autism friendly classrooms

•  Deaf awareness

•  Developing a racial justice strategy for your school

•  Developing EAL pupils’ proficiency in English within mainstream lessons

8

160



9

•  Developing mainstream quality teaching for Pupil Premium Grant (PPG) pupils

•  ERSA and gender diversity (Emotional Health Service)

•  Exploring intersectionality (LGBTQ+, race and ethnicity) (Richmond)

•  Focus on PPG: Cost of living crisis and post COVID recovery (Governors)

•  Focus on racial justice and multilingualism (Governors)

•  Introduction to ADHD - Level 1

•  Introduction to autistic spectrum conditions - Level 1

•  Working with ADHD - Level 2

•  Working with autistic spectrum conditions - Level 2

•  KRSCP: Cultural awareness and cultural competency

•  KRSCP: Safeguarding children with disabilities

•  Managing racism in the workplace

•  Mixed, unclear and unstable (MUU) ideology and extremism

•  New to leading on PPG

•  New to PPG responsibilities (Governors)

•  Prevent duty training

•  Relationships, sex education and puberty for carers of young people with learning 
disabilities

•  SPARK Pupil Premium network meetings

•  SPARK Racial justice and multilingual network meeting

•  Talking with schools about race and racism (AfC Only)

•  Welcoming EAL pupils - Supporting new arrivals to the UK

Analysis of the attendance data and feedback shows that: 

•  the overall attendance at the core learning events by AfC employees increased by 
23% in the last quarter, while attendance from external partners increased by 32%. 
However, this is not reflected in attendance of our EDI courses, where attendance by 
AfC decreased by 5.6% over the same period and external partners by 15.8%

•  attendance from schools in Kingston and Richmond remains high, having run two 
successful racial justice programmes and regular SPARK networks

•  96% of delegates rated our racial justice conference as outstanding 

•  all AfC staff are required to complete the equality and diversity e-learning as part of 
their induction

•  EDI workshops are an integral part of all conferences. For example, the early years 
conference included the following sessions - ‘Let’s talk about race’ and ‘Unconscious 
bias in the early years’

•  quarterly early help and social care whole service events have included themes 
around identity, gender awareness, social graces, young carers, unconscious bias 
and special educational needs and disabilities (SEND). The attendance figures of 
these events have successfully grown over the last year ensuring that the majority of 
staff are receiving training in this area regularly

161



10

•  disability awareness has had to be rescheduled twice in the last year due to low take 
up, with one session being cancelled

•  attendance by managers in Windsor and Maidenhead has increased to 14% from 
10% last year, but still remains a focus area to improve

•  feedback from delegates attending the ‘Managing racism’ course is outstanding

Training needs are under constant review and various courses are commissioned as 
and when required. The EDI Board gives feedback and guidance on all EDI training.

Raising awareness
To better understand our workforce and their needs, the EDI Board runs lunchtime 
EDI forums. EDI forums are held once a month with the day changing to give the 
opportunity for all staff members to attend, covering a wide range of topics focused on 
protected characteristics. 

To raise awareness, we have successfully celebrated a number of cultural events, such 
as Black History Month (BHM), LBGTQI+ and Pride Month, and International Women’s 
Day. We put on an extensive programme for BHM in 2022. This included special guest 
speakers, spotlights on staff from Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic backgrounds, blogs 
from senior leaders relating to BHM topics, and a considerable bank of BHM resources 
for staff to consider. To build on this, the EDI Board has created an EDI calendar of 
events, which includes key celebrations for all protected characteristics. 

The EDI Board has launched AfC employee networks, which are employee-led groups 
aiming to create a more inclusive workplace. AfC employee networks can focus on a 
protected characteristic such as, gender, ethnicity, religion etc, but can also focus on 
shared lifestyle or interests.

AENs help create a sense of community and belonging for AfC staff by connecting 
people in a social and professional way and encouraging interaction between 
individuals and groups of colleagues.

The purpose of AENs is to:

• create open staff groups for employees who share a common identity to meet and 
support one another in building their community and sense of belonging

• empower staff groups by offering them organisational support and access to 
decision-makers

•  facilitate a clear line of communication to leadership to voice concerns and solve 
problems

• provide a resource for leadership regarding employee and 
community issues, needs and policies

• seek to advance a respectful and inclusive company culture and 
reinforce the importance of inclusion

162



Recruitment, retention and development
The EDI Board has researched best practice in recruitment, retention and development 
and added actions in its 12 month action plan. Key highlights from 2022-23 included 
the following.

• Advertising, and recruiting to, a funded part-time EDI lead role who will become 
the vice chair of the EDI Board. There was a significant level of interest in this post 
and interviews were held with eight excellent candidates. Taz Mudali, Events and 
Continued Professional Development (CPD) Consultant for the Social Work Teaching 
Partnership, was appointed and started in her role in August and will lead on 
refreshing the action plan for the Board.

• Launching a reverse mentoring programme designed for staff in non-management 
posts and from underrepresented groups (such as Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic 
backgrounds, staff with disabilities, LGBTQI+ staff). Three of our senior leaders 
nominated themselves to be mentored by staff members who had put themselves 
forward to be part of the programme. 

Mentors received training prior to the programme starting and are meeting monthly 
with the senior leader that they were matched to to provide guidance, insight and 
challenge. Feedback from those taking part so far has been positive and senior 
leaders are reviewing the programme to decide whether to roll it out more widely. 

• Further researching the potential for implementing blind recruitment and for increasing 
the diversity of our recruitment panels. In relation to blind recruitment, this includes 
reviewing our recruitment systems to identify if this is possible and undertaking 
research to better understand how this can be rolled out effectively.  
 
For more diverse recruitment panels we are liaising with other local authorities, 
including our owning councils, to better understand how it can be implemented 
effectively without becoming tokenistic. These actions will be carried over to 2023-24. 

11

163



Equality impact assessments
We recently added a screening tool to our EIA process to ensure we are effectively able 
to identify when we need to complete a full EIA. Key EIAs are published on our website 
to demonstrate how we meet our public sector equality duties and key policies are 
subject to the EIA screening process.

An EIA workshop was organised and facilitated for AfC staff to make sure they know 
how to write an EIA when commencing a new project, developing a new policy or 
strategy, or making changes to an existing service.

Performance
We undertook our annual staff survey, having undertaken research into best practice 
in equalities data monitoring which informed changes to the questions we ask. We 
are currently analysing the findings and these will be reported to the EDI Board, with 
responses broken down by protected characteristic groups where possible. This will 
inform the development of the new EDI Board action plan. 

We have signed up to the workforce race equality standard and developed and 
published our WRES action plan (see Section 9 for more information).

We conducted an unacceptable behaviour poll and ran an EDI Forum on the same 
topic, in order to collect more data for the WRES. As a result, we have reviewed and 
amended our unacceptable behaviour policy, in consultation with staff, and have now 
published the latest version on our intranet. 

We report on our gender pay gap on a yearly basis (see below for more information).

Gender pay gap
Under the Equality Act 2010 (Specific Duties and Public Authorities) Regulations 2017, 
public sector employers with 250 or more employees are required to publish a snapshot 
of their workforce data. 

The following paragraphs summarise the latest findings from the 2021 published report.

• 79% of our workforce are women 

•  80% of the top quartile of earners are women

• The average hourly pay for women is -2.82% lower than for men.  
This means women have a higher average hourly pay

•  The median hourly pay for women is -2.49% lower than for men.  
This means women have a higher median hourly rate of pay

The gender pay gap is not about equal pay for men and women. It is the difference 
between the average and median pay of men and women. It does not measure equal pay, 
which relates to what women and men are paid for the same jobs or work of equal value. 
In Achieving for Children equal pay is addressed through our job evaluation scheme.

The data required by the government is a fairly simplistic indicator of a complex set of 
issues. Our ambition is to ensure equality of opportunity for women. 

12

164



13
General information about our 
children and young people

3.8% of young people not in 
education, employment or training 
(or not known)

9.3%  
of children  
in poverty

children and young 
people with an 
education, health  
and care plan

124,326
children and young people 
aged 0 to 19 years old

The gender breakdown of males 
and females aged 0 to 19 is 
almost 50/50 in all boroughs 
with a slightly higher proportion 
of males across all three

30.2% of children and young people 
are from a Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic 

(including White other) background

4,628
RBWM   36,878

Richmond           47,435

40,013     Kingston 

5. What do we know about equality, 
diversity and inclusion in relation to 
the children, young people and families 
we support?
We collect and collate a range of information about the children and young people that 
we work with and support. This includes equalities information which is reported to 
Kingston, Richmond, and Windsor and Maidenhead councils as part of our contract 
arrangements and to the corporate parenting groups in all three boroughs. 

To provide context to our work and to show an understanding of the children and young 
people we work with, we have included a range of equalities data relating to groups 
such as children subject to a child protection plan, looked-after children and the school 
population. This information is used by services to ensure that we are effectively 
meeting the differing needs of our children and young people. This allows us to highlight 
any key issues or trends as they arise and take action to address them.

The data included below comes from a range of sources including: School Census Spring 
2023, Kingston: Children and young people needs assessments 2017, Richmond: Children 
and young people’s needs assessment 2019, ONS Census 2011, Department for Work and 
Pensions - Children in low income families: local area statistics report 2022, Windsor and 
Maidenhead data from 2021-22, South London CCIS Service, Kingston and Richmond SEND 
dataset - June 2023, UK population estimates 2021-22.

165



14

School population

Children in need (CiN) (including those  
aged 18+ receiving a leaving care service)

13% of pupils are eligible 
for free school meals

50.4% of 
pupils are from a 
Black, Asian and 
Minority Ethnic 
(including White 
other) background

14.4% of pupils have a disability 
(with an EHCP or receiving SEN support)

79,163 pupils

Of all pupils, 
49.3% are 
female and 
50.7% are male

177  
schools (not including  
independent settings)

14.7%   of 
CiN who are 
supported have 
an EHCP

57% of CiN 
are are from a 
Black Asian and 
Minority Ethnic 
(including White 
other) background

The most common 
age group amongst 

the CiN cohort is  
5 to 9 years old

2,859 children and young people supported 
by children’s social care

5 to 9

The most common belief 
in the CiN cohort is

RBWM    22,848

Richmond          28,893

27,332     Kingston 

RBWM     768

Richmond           1,000

1,091     Kingston 

no religion 166



15

Children subject to a  
child protection plan (CPP)

49.7% of children subject 
to a CPP are from a Black Asian 
and Minority Ethnic (including 
White other) background

Children looked after (CLA)  
and children in care (CiC)

53% of CLA are from 
a Black Asian and Minority 
Ethnic (including White other) 
background

20.7% 
of CLA have a 

disability (with an 
EHCP)

The most common 
age group for CLA 

is 16 years 
old plus

385 Total of children 
looked after and 
children in care

149    Kingston           RBWM     109

Richmond        132               

390 children subject to a CPP

5 to 9 is the most 
common age group 
for the CP cohort.

5 to 9
Of the children 
subject to a CPP, 
47.6% are female 
and 50.2% are male 
(2% unborn)

Of the RBWM 
cohort (66), 
38.4% are 
female and 
60.8% are male 
(0.8% unborn)

167



16

Children and young people with special 
educational needs and disabilities (SEND) 

4.4% of 
children and 
young people 
have a disability 
(with an EHCP)

Of those with 
SEND, 36.4% 
are female and 
63.5% are male

Most common age group for children  
and young people with SEND

Kingston

12 to 14
Richmond

9 to 11
RBWM

11 to 14

8,338 Number of children and 
young people with SEND

Children with an EHCP
Kingston 1,673
Richmond 1,752
RBWM 1,203

168



6. What have we done for the children, 
young people and families we support?
This section sets out our key achievements in relation to equality, diversity and 
inclusion (EDI) and demonstrates how we are implementing the PSED and working 
towards our equality objectives (set out in the following section). Furthermore, our 
impact report sets out the impact that we have had on the lives of children, young 
people and families during 2022-23 that does not directly relate to the protected 
characteristics. 

Age
• Our children’s centres and family hubs, which primarily provide support for children 

aged 0 to 5, are a central element of our early help offer. Attendance at our children’s 
centres in Kingston and Richmond has increased over the past 12 months.  
We delivered over 6,000 sessions for families either in person or online, saw over 
17,000 individuals either online or in person, had over 80,000 interactions with 
families, and we now have over 7,000 members of our Facebook groups. One of the 
highlights of the year was our events for National Play Day which saw almost 2,500 
people come together for the first time since COVID to celebrate play. 

•  Our children’s centres have worked closely with our local partners - we supported 
health colleagues to deliver polio and flu vaccination clinics over the weekends in the 
autumn, we worked with local businesses to provide families with 75 hampers and 
over 100 presents at Christmas, and throughout the year we have delivered rhyme 
time sessions for families in our libraries. As part of our response to the cost of living 
crisis, our children’s centres provided warm spaces twice a week as part of an eight 
week pilot, with activities, quiet space for homework and support for families with 
children aged 0 to 11 years. We also ran a ‘Warm coats and shoes’ project during 
winter and recycled and distributed 184 coats and 54 pairs of shoes to families. 

•  In Windsor and Maidenhead, in recent years, we have established our family hubs 
approach, which brings together children’s centres, youth centres and parenting 
services. Our family hubs are now fully staffed and fully functioning and demand for 
services has been high - we have provided one-to-one support to 823 children. 3,400 
children and young people have attended group sessions on topics such as digital 
safety, drug and alcohol awareness, and esteem. 

• We also provide a full menu of interventions to improve parents’ skills and 
knowledge. This includes Incredible Years, which is for parents of children who are 
neurodiverse, the Freedom Programme for mothers who are experiencing domestic 
abuse, Supporting Parents and Carers Emotions (SPACE) for parents who need 
support with their own emotional wellbeing, the Positive Parenting Programme for 
parents to manage the behaviour of their children in a non-punitive and positive way, 
specific parenting groups, for parents within the Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic 
community, and our baby massage group, which supports parents to improve 
communication with their babies through touch and eye contact. 

17

169

https://www.achievingforchildren.org.uk/pages/about-us/reports-and-documents


•  School standards in Kingston, Richmond, and Windsor and Maidenhead are amongst 
the highest in the country and 95% of our schools across all three boroughs are 
judged ‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’. In terms of attainment, Kingston and Richmond 
are both now in the top 20 performing local authorities nationally, from early years 
to key stage 4, while Windsor and Maidenhead are in the top performing 50 local 
authorities. This is an exceptional achievement, particularly in light of the challenges 
posed by COVID. 

• Over the past 12 months, we have provided a range of support to our most vulnerable 
families. In Kingston and Richmond, through the local and household support 
grant, we have given out approximately 8,500 food vouchers, valued at £15 a week 
per eligible child, for each school holiday period for families with children who are 
receiving free school meals, 3 or 4 year olds who are accessing pupil premium grant 
or disadvantaged 2 year olds. 

•  To support our families during school holidays, we successfully delivered the FUEL 
(Feed Ur Everyday Lives) programme in Kingston, Richmond, and Windsor and 
Maidenhead in response to the Department for Education funding for the holiday 
activities and food programme. 

• This was our third year delivering the programme, which took place over the Easter, 
summer and Christmas holidays and offered a range of fun and enjoyable activities 
and food to children and young people aged 5 to 16 years who are eligible for free 
school meals. In Kingston and Richmond, the programme grew throughout each 
holiday period with increasing numbers of providers, locations and spaces on offer. 

• In total, over 25 different partners worked with us to deliver the programme with  
over 2,700 children and young people attending a range of fun and exciting  
activities. Of these, over 200 of the children and young people had additional needs. 
In Windsor and Maidenhead, 832 children attended the programme, with almost 
6,500 attendances at different activities over the course of the holidays, and we 
delivered our own provision through our family hubs with over 130 children attending. 
We were particularly pleased to offer free travel for any attendees at SEND sessions 
and minibus pick-ups for children for offsite activities. 

• Way2Work (W2W) is Achieving for Children’s approved apprenticeship training provider 
listed on the Register of Approved Apprenticeship Training Providers. It offers high 
quality apprenticeships and traineeships, and works with employers to provide relevant 
and meaningful training to anyone aged 16 plus. It offers apprenticeships in a range 
of sectors including early years, business support, customer services, and teaching, 
and as well as working with local businesses and schools to provide opportunities, it 
provides apprenticeships within Achieving for Children. 

• Throughout their apprenticeships, learners receive information, advice and guidance, 
including CV development, interview skills, and assistance with their job search.  
W2W is a specialist in supporting the most vulnerable learners, including those 
with special educational needs and disabilities, children who are looked after, and 
care leavers. At the end 2022-23, W2W supported 58 apprentices. Of these, 20 
were directly employed by Achieving for Children, 26 were aged 16 to 24 years old, 
28% were from a Black, Asian or Minority Ethnic background, and 12% had special 
educational needs or disabilities, were children looked after, or care leavers.  

18

170



We know that this is having a positive impact. 

• 93% of our learners progress into a higher apprenticeship, employment,  
or further training.

• 87% of our W2W apprentices rate the quality of teaching and learning as  
‘Good’ or better.

• 87% would refer W2W to a friend. 

• We are particularly proud that 100% of apprentices that complete their 
apprenticeships in Achieving for Children remain with the organisation.

Disability
• We have delivered a range of high quality SEND provision at our children’s centres in 

Kingston and Richmond during the year, including: 

• Chat and Play sessions for our families who have concerns around their children’s 
development

• Let’s Nurture sessions for children showing early signs of autistic spectrum 
condition or attention deficit hyperactivity disorder

• well-attended parenting wellbeing courses for parents for SEND children 

• 74 families who have also benefited from the development of a new ‘Little Stars’ 
course for children with emerging speech and language needs

• delivering English Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL) courses for families from 
Ukraine as part of our parent offer

• along with colleagues from the Emotional Health Service, we established nurture 
groups for parents and carers who have experienced trauma through bereavement 
or domestic abuse

• We have made good progress towards our written statement of action (WSOA) in 
Richmond, and Windsor and Maidenhead. The WSOAs are plans that have been 
created to address areas for improvement that have been identified by Ofsted in the 
delivery of our services to children and young people with SEND.  
 
In Richmond, in collaboration with our schools, we have amended our annual review 
template to ensure it reflects a more-person centred approach and supports the 
promotion of preparing for adulthood outcomes. We have also mapped out our 
continuing health pathways, making it easier for our young people aged 16 to 25  
who have a disability, to access support with health needs.  
 
In early March 2023, we had our Windsor and Maidenhead WSOA monitoring visit. 
We are awaiting feedback, but we expect the outcome to be positive, given the 
progress we have made. 

• Meanwhile, in Kingston in October 2022, we received a SEND reinspection to 
identify progress against previously identified four areas for improvement.  
The revisit confirmed we had made sufficient progress in addressing all four 
areas and the inspector noted improvements in the relationships with families 
in the local area, the quality of education, health and care plans (EHCPs), and 
our quality assurance processes. 

19

171



• In Kingston and Richmond, we held the SEND Futures conference in October 2022. 
It was attended by over 350 people, including around 55 parents and carers, and 
practitioners from 135 different organisations, who came together to share ideas 
and best practice in SEND. Speakers included two of the highest profile people in 
the SEND system nationally who discussed matters highlighted in the recent SEND 
green paper. There were also a range of workshops delivered by local parents and 
practitioners. Feedback was overwhelmingly positive and attendees have already 
been in contact to tell us about changes they have made to their practice as a result  
of the conference. 

• In Windsor and Maidenhead, we held our Inclusion Summit, with over 140 attendees, 
including a mixture of parents and carers, schools and market place representatives. 
Attendees were introduced to the new SEND strategy and were part of the official 
launch of the new parent carer forum. Feedback from the event was great as 
stakeholders valued the opportunity to network and share learning, with 90% of  
the attendees stating they would recommend the event to colleagues.  
 
In February 2023, our ‘Ambitious about inclusion’ conference brought together 
almost 90 senior leaders with SEND and inclusion coordinators to listen to a number 
of nationally recognised keynote speakers who came together to share information 
and celebrate developments in SEND across the borough. We are particularly proud 
that the event was co-produced between Achieving for Children, the Independent 
Advice and Support Service, Children and Young People’s Integrated Therapy Service 
and schools, and was supported by RBWM SEND voices.

•  During the year, 27 learners with EHCPs in Kingston and Richmond completed 
supported internships, delivered in partnership with Mencap and Project Search, 
with a variety of host employers including Hounslow Council, GSK, West Middlesex 
Hospital and the FairShot Cafe. We have supported other young people to access 
specialised internship schemes - one young person is completing an internship in the 
hospitality sector and one is completing a theatre based programme.  
 
One of these learners has already been offered employment at West Middlesex 
Hospital once he completes his internship, and the other is expecting to be offered an 
apprenticeship within the NHS. We have also supported 12 learners with EHCPs to 
undertake apprenticeships within a variety of sectors including hospitality, education, 
administration and horticulture. 

• We have been responsible for delivering the Mayor of London’s European Social Fund 
employability programmes focusing on young people aged 16 to 25 who are not in 
education, employment or training in Kingston and Richmond. This past year, we 
supported over 50 young people through the programme. Thirty five of these young 
people had EHCPs, and of these, 14 have now progressed into employment  
or education. 

•  In Windsor and Maidenhead, the social emotional and mental health (SEMH) 
intervention project, which was established in 2019 to reduce the risk of 
permanent exclusion in schools, has continued to thrive. Since it began, the 
project has worked in 42 schools and supported 91 individual children. Of 
those children, just three have been permanently excluded and they have 
been supported in their transition to alternative provision.  
 

20

172



As part of the project, we trained 873 school staff to help them support children 
with challenging behaviours linked to SEMH difficulties, as well as delivering 
updated training to 140 staff and bespoke training to 115 staff. At the same time, 
we established 140 SEMH leads in schools and held three SEMH network meetings 
a year where leads can be signposted to early help services and share learning and 
feedback.  
 
We have also purchased a subscription to the Online Boxall Profile which enables 
schools to assess the needs of their children quickly, set targets, and monitor 
progress. Sixty one of our schools are actively using this assessment and tracking 
tool which will enable us to analyse data to support transitions and target areas of 
need. 

• The expansion of additional school places for children and young people with SEND 
to meet rising demand continues to be a priority. 

• In Kingston, the following 28 specialist resource provision (SRP) places were created 
in September 2022: Malden Oaks, a further eight, Robin Hood Primary, 14, and 
Surbiton Hill Nursery, six. Good progress continues to be made towards establishing 
Spring School, the new 90-place autism-specific special free school, in September 
2023. Work continues regarding the feasibility of creating a post-16 SEND campus 
in the borough, which would include 50 new special school sixth form and college 
places. 

• In Richmond, 16 specialist places were created in September 2022: a small 
Strathmore centre at Darell Primary, six, and a new social and emotional and mental 
health (SEMH) SRP at Teddington, 10. Progress towards establishing London River 
Academy, the 90-place SEMH special school for children and young people with 
SEMH needs continues. Proposals to create additional centres for Clarendon and 
Strathmore special schools, to provide 80 places in Petersham and 24 places in 
Hampton respectively, are advanced and planning applications are due to be made 
for both. 

• In Windsor and Maidenhead, we successfully submitted a bid for a 100 place new 
special free school for children and young people aged seven to 16, with EHCPs 
for SEMH needs. The new school will be located in a new development planned on 
the western edge of Windsor and we will now move forward to the next stage of 
planning. In addition, in September 2023, a new SEND provision is opening at South 
Ascot Village School, for 10 pupils with autistic spectrum condition.  
 
We are also planning to open an early years readiness hub in September 2024, which 
will provide interventions to support children who are unable to self-regulate and so 
are not yet ready to learn in a mainstream school setting. 

21

173



•  The emotionally related school avoidance (ERSA) project has been established to 
support those children who experience difficulties attending school, due to a range of 
factors. Through the project, which operates in Windsor and Maidenhead, 28 schools 
have received training, support and consultation on ERSA, have been given access 
to a newly created toolkit, and have been provided with additional strategies to help 
them to effectively support these children. A further 16 schools have been trained 
during Spring 2023. A multi-agency steering group oversees the project, including 
the development, dissemination, training and implementation of the ERSA toolkit and 
further refining the ERSA multi-agency graduated pathway. Feedback from pupils, 
parents and the schools has been extremely good. 

•  In Kingston and Richmond, our Emotional Health Service (EHS) received over 1,400 
referrals during the year, with 352 referrals received on the neurodevelopmental 
assessment pathway in relation to attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and autistic 
spectrum disorder. This is an increase of 7% from the previous year.  
 
The EHS delivered a range of online groups including low mood groups for young 
people aged 15 to 18 years, attended by 22 young people, anxiety groups for young 
people aged 12 to 18 years, attended by 29 young people, and groups for parents of 
anxious primary aged children, with 43 parents in attendance. We also collaborated 
with Art and Soul to run two art therapy groups which were accessed successfully by 
12 children. We launched our sixth Mental Health Support Team (MHST) in schools, 
which has meant that every school in both Kingston and Richmond now has access 
to an MHST. Over 1,400 children accessed the MHSTs in 2022-23 for individual or 
group therapy, which is a 55% increase from the previous year.

• We have successfully recommissioned our Short Breaks Service and our Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities Information, Advice and Advocacy Service 
(SENDIASS) in Kingston and Richmond.  
 
For short breaks, a successful tender exercise was completed in the summer of 
2022 and the new offer came into effect 1 September 2022. We have contracted five 
providers to deliver our provision, both from partners we have previously worked with, 
but also some new organisations.  
 
For SENDIASS, we completed a successful procurement exercise and the new 
contact has now been awarded and implemented during April 2023.  
This was a real team effort from colleagues across AfC and our partners, especially 
Kingston and Richmond parent carer forums. 

•  In January 2023, we launched our brand new company website. The website has 
a fresh new look and makes it easier to find information such as fostering and 
apprenticeships or links to access services by council area.  
 
We continually work hard to ensure our websites are accessible and aim to ensure 
all visitors to the site are able to access our information easily and have the ability 
to use a range of digital accessibility tools such as language translators, text 
mode, audio readers, and changeable colour themes and fonts. 

22

174



Gender (sex)
•  We run a youth club ‘Good4Girls’ for young women aged 10+ at Ham Youth 

Centre on a weekly basis. The aim is to offer a space for young women only, to 
try new activities, make friends and have fun. They engage in art, sports, cooking, 
discussions, fashion, media, trips and lots more. The project also offers emotional 
wellbeing support.

• Following the success of the sexual harassment survey for girls, which had over 
800 respondents, a working group of our Youth Council in Kingston and Richmond 
has continued working in partnership with professionals from the Safer Kingston 
Partnership and Community Safety Service for Richmond, to develop a boys and 
young men sexual harassment survey.  
 
The objective of the survey was to give boys and young men the opportunity to share 
their views and feelings around sexual harassment. The survey has also been used 
as a way of exploring boys’ and men’s understanding of sexual harassment in their 
schools and local communities. The survey had over 300 participants, aged from 11 
to 19 years. Respondents were from 22 local schools across Kingston and Richmond 
with diverse participation in terms of gender identity and ethnicity. The working 
group presented their findings to headteachers and at the cross-borough South West 
London Safer Streets Conference. 

Sexual orientation
•  We welcomed almost 100 young people to our No Straight Answer (NSA) youth club 

for young people aged 11 to 25 who are, or feel they may be, a part of the LGBTQ+ 
community, held at Heatham House in Twickenham. Over the last 12 months the 
session has provided its members with full access to all of Heatham’s activities, 
including sport, music, cooking, and art and crafts. Each term, members are given the 
opportunity to devise their own termly plan meaning the sessions are tailor-made to 
meet the needs and wishes of their members.  
 
Young people have engaged in a variety of fun and interesting activities ranging from 
garden parties and tote-bag making to upcycling fashion shows. Young people are 
given the opportunity to explore their understanding of LGBTQ+ identity (including 
trans and non-binary), relationships and mental health through activities, discussions 
and informative workshops led by staff and guest speakers. In addition, we provide 
access to a qualified counsellor who can speak to the young people. 
 
In July, the group hosted Richmond’s first-ever cross-school LGBTQ+ Pride 
Celebration event for young people in key stages 3, 4 and 5, aged 11 to 19 and  
in August, we held a three day residential trip. A young person aged 14 who  
attended said, “It’s a safe space for me. I feel like I can be myself. I can talk  
about my sexuality freely as much as I want. There are many activities so  
it doesn’t feel boring. I don’t feel out of place. Everyone is accepting and caring”. 

•  During the past 12 months, the Windsor and Maidenhead Educational Psychology 
and Wellbeing service provided ongoing assistance to secondary schools in terms  
of evidence-based good practice about how best to support and include pupils who 
are LGBTQIA+. 

23

175



Gender reassignment
•  We have developed guidance for managers supporting staff who identify as trans 

that includes practical advice and resources. Although this guidance is to support 
AfC staff, it reinforces a culture of inclusion at AfC for people choosing gender 
reassignment, which will also benefit the children, young people and families we 
work with. Work is currently underway to finalise guidance on supporting service 
users who identify as trans.

Marriage and civil partnership
• We provide training to raise awareness on forced marriage through the Safeguarding 

Children Partnership in Kingston and Richmond, and through the Forced Marriage 
Unit (FMU), run by the Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office (FCDO) and 
Home Office, for our Windsor and Maidenhead staff.  
 
The course is designed to enable participants to recognise and know how to respond 
to children and adults who are at risk of, or experiencing harmful practices. Staff have 
access to the Forced Marriage Unit’s public helpline that provides advice and support 
to victims and potential victims of forced marriage, and to professionals dealing with 
cases. 

Pregnancy and maternity
• In Windsor and Maidenhead, our Health Visiting Service, which offers all families 

with a new baby a health assessment within two weeks of birth, received a ‘good’ 
Ofsted rating when inspected this year. Our universal offer to all families with a new 
baby includes an invitation to a nurture group which are held weekly in three venues 
across the borough. The sessions are an opportunity for parents to access health 
and parenting advice. Average monthly attendance at these sessions is 136 and 
feedback from parents is overwhelmingly positive.

• We continued to work closely with the Growbaby project in Kingston and run a long 
established life-skills session for young parents up to the age of 25 in the Kingston 
area, in collaboration with midwives and health visitors. The group helps young 
parents to access support and establish long lasting friendships with other parents, 
where they have felt isolated from traditional parent groups.

• In partnership with the Children in Care Council, we have continued with our highly 
successful Baby Packs project for care leavers who are new mums and dads.  
They include quilts from the Linus Project, self-care items, baby grows, and a book on 
parenthood. Feedback from new parents has been extremely positive.

24

176



Race and ethnicity
• We worked with Kingston and Richmond councils to establish two satellite centres 

of the St Mary’s Ukraine Supplementary School. The schools run on Sundays in term 
time and provide Ukrainian education and extracurricular activities for 50 pupils in 
each school, as well as signposting to external support. This is a key step forward in 
our work to support Ukrainian families to adjust to life in the UK and to support their 
children’s education.

• We continue to support schools in their work on racial justice. Professor Paul Miller 
gave our keynote speech for the decolonising the curriculum course to leads from 
24 schools and key members of our school improvement team. We then developed 
this work, enabling schools to implement their learning, share their progress and 
ideas. This will lead on to a new course for a further group of schools next year 
and the advisory team are working closely together to ensure that racial justice and 
multilingualism are key themes in all networks held with schools. We had a particular 
focus on this in networks for leaders focusing on disadvantage this year, advising 
staff on how to meet the needs of pupils who are multilingual, refugees, and from 
racially minoritised communities effectively through their Pupil Premium Grant 
strategies.

• Our second racial justice conference was attended by 55 delegates from across our 
boroughs. 96% of those who attended, rated the conference as outstanding. Keynote 
speeches were given by Viv Grant and Dr Neville Lawrence. The workshops engaged 
delegates in both reflective and practical ideas, including a significant focus on the 
importance of multilingual approaches to learning. 

• The second run of our racial justice course which was delivered over the year was 
attended by 20 schools. We trained 35 schools through this course, and continue 
to support all schools through our school improvement team’s work, including the 
launch of our anti racist pledge in September 2023 and our self reflection tool for 
schools, both of which have been written in collaboration with our schools.

• We secured funding from the Greater London Authority to develop our work on 
Welcoming Hong Kongers in liaison with Kingston and Richmond councils. The first 
bid enabled us to provide a comprehensive online course for school leaders on how 
to welcome Hong Kong pupils and their families effectively. The course was delivered 
in partnership with Kingston BEATS, a new community led initiative which supports 
Hong Kongers in Kingston and surrounding areas. This work was designed using 
antiracist, multilingual approaches which dovetailed with the wider ongoing work 
with schools.  
 
We also were able to give funding to a number of schools for Cantonese and 
bilingual books, translation and interpreting services. Feedback was overwhelmingly 
positive and led to bespoke support for parents and pupils, parent and whole school 
initiatives and ongoing partnerships with schools. In this year’s round of funding, we 
are focusing on supporting parents to understand the school system, with online 
workshops on transition and SEND attended by 80 parents, a guide on Cantonese 
GCSE and A level, guidance on PSHE and RSE and online video advice ‘shorts’ on 
five main aspects of the education system. We are also developing cultural specific 
advice for schools on PSHE as emotional wellbeing is a key aspect that has been 
identified for this group.

25

177



•  The Educational Psychology Service in Windsor and Maidenhead hosted three 
workshops for Hong Kongers and met with Hong Kong community leaders for a 
community building project. The workshops explored how the local authority could 
support Hong Kong families better in their transitions to life, work, local community, 
leisure, English language and education in Windsor and Maidenhead. Through funding 
by the South East Strategic Partnership for Migration, we also developed a web page 
specifically to welcome Hong Kongers, alongside a welcome for Ukrainian refugees. 

•  In Kingston, the arrival of new communities has increased our need to focus on 
guiding schools in how to effectively provide for those who arrive as refugees, 
including those who arrive post 14. We have developed guidance in collaboration 
with schools and local organisations such as Refugee Action Kingston (RAK) which 
will be disseminated next year. Supporting RAK with their successful bid for funding 
for the Bright Futures project, has been significant in terms of ensuring that schools 
can access wrap-around services for all refugee pupils who experience significant 
inequalities. Our Admissions Team has also worked closely with RAK to ensure that 
refugee pupils and their families gain support as soon as they arrive.

•  We are part of the newly established Richmond Sanctuary Partnership which 
brings together council teams, local services and voluntary sector organisations to 
work together collaboratively to strengthen services for refugees who come to the 
borough. In December, 2022 Richmond Council declared its intentions to become 
a Borough of Sanctuary, which is a formal accreditation gained from the charitable 
organisation, City of Sanctuary.  
 
The Borough of Sanctuary status will show that Richmond is providing a 
comprehensive package of support to refugees and that they feel welcome, safe 
and respected. We will be working closely with the council and partners to develop 
a strategy that clearly sets out what we intend on doing to further improve the 
experience of refugees in the borough. 

•  The Kingston and Richmond Youth Council has undertaken accredited racial literacy 
training with the aim of using their new found knowledge and awareness to develop, 
in partnership with Safer Kingston Partnership, an online questionnaire which 
explores young people’s experiences of racism. 1,000 young people completed the 
online survey. The information we gather will be used to update how we record racist 
incidents at schools and youth clubs.

•  In Windsor and Maidenhead, we produced and disseminated guidance for schools 
and colleagues on supporting young people who experience war, conflict and crisis. 
The guidance sets out how to notice signs of trauma and signposts to available 
support as well as providing hints for strengthening the cohesion within schools. 

•  The SEND Service and Educational Psychology and Wellbeing Service in Windsor and 
Maidenhead have established English as an Additional Language cluster peer group 
meetings twice every term to bring SEN coordinators and school staff together to 
share learning and discuss inclusive practice. 

26

178



Religion and belief (including no religion and 
belief)
•  Our staff have attended the Kingston and Richmond Safeguarding Children 

Partnership training around the impact of culture, faith and belief systems 
on safeguarding children. The course enables participants to increase their 
understanding of the influences of their own and their families race, culture, faith or 
beliefs on the parenting of children, gain confidence in talking about attitudes and 
beliefs and how these might affect judgement, and improve knowledge of practice 
skills in relation to culture, faith and beliefs systems when completing assessments 
or offering services.

•  To celebrate cultural diversity at AfC, we created an annual EDI calendar of events 
that includes key religious festivals and celebrations. Communications go out on our 
intranet from our directors, associate directors and staff who want to speak about 
their religion.

•  Jabed Hussain, our Associate Director for Business Efficiency and SEND Transport, 
invited colleagues to take part in the Ramadan Challenge at the end of March 
2023. Twelve staff members took part and fasted for a day alongside their Muslim 
colleagues with the aim of promoting understanding and awareness of the 
difficulties and rewards of observing Ramadan. After the event, those that took part 
shared their experiences with other colleagues including the challenges they faced 
during the day, what they learned about Ramadan, and any personal insights gained 
from the experience.  
 
Jabed said: “Overall, the Ramadan Challenge provided participants with a greater 
understanding of the significance of fasting in Ramadan, fostered a sense of 
community, and encouraged dialogue and empathy among colleagues with different 
beliefs and backgrounds. I’m very proud of the organisation and my colleagues 
for supporting and taking part in this with me. Hopefully we will get even more 
participation next year.”

Other vulnerabilities: families affected by 
domestic abuse, mental health, or substance 
misuse, care leavers
Families affected by domestic abuse, mental health, or 
substance misuse
• The Families First Service commenced on 1 April 2022. A two year project in 

Kingston and Richmond it aims to support social workers and the families they 
work with who present with a trio of vulnerabilities (domestic abuse, mental 
health, substance misuse) through the key principles of co-location, joint 
working and group supervision. Over 140 families have been supported, and 
the feedback received from families has been excellent. The project has shown 
that proportionally, for child protection and child in need cases, where there is a 
Families First intervention, they are more likely to step down at the nine month 
review. We will continue to monitor the impact of the project during 2023-24 
and are confident it will continue to benefit our families going forward. 

27

179



•  Based on the success of this programme, we have begun to develop a similar 
service in Windsor and Maidenhead. The newly formed Families First Team supports 
families in crisis who are at imminent risk of having their child(ren) taken into care. 
Families are fast-tracked to receive support, and are ultimately supported to keep 
their children at home or find a family network in order to care for their children.  
The team also supports children to return home (if appropriate) from care. Additional 
funding has recently been approved by the council to expand the team further so it 
can be responsive to a range of needs pre care, during care and after care, and so 
evening and weekend support can be given where needed. So far, 11 families have 
been supported and in all cases the children have remained in the family home. 

Care leavers
• During 2022-23, we established the Kingston and Richmond Targeted Support 

Service as a pilot to provide high quality and affordable in-house outreach services 
to children, young people and families who require additional one-to-one staffing 
support for a time-limited period. The aim of the pilot was to see how successful the 
service could be in terms of reducing the number of care leavers at risk of losing their 
placements, reducing the number of young people on the edge of care by helping 
them to stay at home for longer, supporting carers with respite and providing AfC 
with the ability to achieve cost savings and work more flexibly to meet changing 
demands.  
 
During the year, we recruited two full time specialist targeted support workers which 
enabled us to accept more complex referrals and support children and young people 
with higher needs in the home. The two workers received 73 new referrals and 
provided 4,540 hours of outreach hours. Feedback from practitioners and parents 
and carers has been exceptional, and one of the workers received the AfC Rising Star 
award in recognition of impact. Findings are now being collated but as a result of the 
successful pilot, a business case is now in the process of being developed to request 
additional funding for the service to make it permanent. 

28

180



7. Intersectionality
We understand that our workforce and the children, young people and families that 
we support, may be impacted by their experiences across a number of the protected 
characteristic groups. For example, a member of staff may be from a Black, Asian and 
Minority Ethnic background and may also have a disability. Both these characteristics 
may impact on their life experience.  

Our work over the last 12 months, has highlighted some areas of intersectionality, 
particularly where children and young people from more than one protected 
characteristic group are impacted or may be affected by disproportionality. 

Children and young people in care
Research and data shows that nationally and locally, children and young people in care 
are more likely to:

• be male

• be of secondary school age

• have a disability

• be from ethnically diverse communities

Progress in this area
•  In Kingston and Richmond, we carried out a review of our Leaving Care Service with 

the aim of ensuring it is better able to meet increasing demand and so that it is more 
sustainable moving forward. Care leavers were consulted as part of the review and 
their feedback helped shape the recommendations. 

•  We have worked with our children in care councils to support their peers who 
are being looked after by our social care services. Over the last year, they have 
been incredibly busy and have contributed to the development of the care leavers’ 
enhanced local offer, assisted in the launch of the HaveMySay app, which enables 
children in care to provide feedback whenever they want to and created baby packs 
for care leavers who become parents for the first time. They also established their 
own initiatives, such as GetConnected, which includes a summer fun day and 
football camp, and organised the celebration of achievement awards and the annual 
residential. 

•  AfC’s Virtual School and Virtual College, which operates across all three boroughs, 
has provided invaluable support to the educational attainment of our looked after 
children. In the most recent 2022 examinations, results for key stage 4 improved 
again. They are now significantly above national averages for looked after children, 
and our looked after young people with SEND outperformed their national peers at 
the same level.  
 

29

181



At the request of our looked after children, we have been focusing on educational 
stability, and held a well-received multi-agency ‘Stability Symposium’ to bring 
together a range of stakeholders, including keynote speakers from the Department 
for Education and Oxford University.  
 
As a result of the event, our children and young people have launched their education 
stability charter which sets out clearly what they expect from the organisations that 
support them. Similarly, during the year, we were delighted that a number of local 
businesses signed up to our Care Leavers’ Covenant and our Attachment Aware 
Community Charter at our Better Futures Business Event, which was organised in 
collaboration with John Lewis. 

•  With the expansion of virtual schools nationally to support all children with a social 
worker, we have grown our Attachment Aware Schools Award. This involves a year-
long programme of training and support for schools so they are better able to meet 
the specific needs of these children and young people. We are now working with 69 
schools as part of the award and as a result of this work, we have seen a reduction in 
the number of exclusions.  
 
To further strengthen our support for children with a social worker, we have extended 
the work of the AfC Virtual School Transition Hub which provides direct support for 
the children, their families and their school.  
 
In addition, we have developed a new data collection system for capturing absence 
and exclusion data for 847 of our children in need daily. The data is shared with 
social workers, who have been attending our Virtual School clinics to receive advice 
and guidance, to help them provide the best possible support to the children and 
young people they work with. We have also been able to use the data to identify and 
then visit a number of targeted schools who have benefited from strategic support. 

•  In September 2022, we bid to the Department for Education’s Capital Fund for match 
funding for a new children’s home in Kingston. We were delighted to find out in early 
2023 that we had been successful and the project has now been approved by the 
council.  
 
The intention is to build a children’s home to accommodate between three and five 
children and young people at any time who may be difficult to place elsewhere due to 
their complex needs. The home will be a safe and welcoming space for them where 
they can be supported to grow and develop into adulthood. The home will give us 
more affordable and higher quality placements for young people in Richmond and 
Kingston. We expect the project to take between 18 and 24 months to complete. 

30

182



Children and young people with special 
educational needs and disabilities 
National data shows that young people with SEND are more likely to be male.

There is a complex relationship between ethnicity and SEND with many other variables 
such as socio-economic status, language and cultural barriers influencing children’s 
outcomes. At an aggregate level, the national school census shows that Black pupils 
are slightly more likely to have education health and care plans and Asian pupils are 
slightly less likely, on average. However, there is more variation within some of these 
ethnic groups than between them, so meaningful conclusions cannot be drawn at this 
aggregate level.

There is an established link between disability and poverty, with national research in 
2016 indicating that half of people in poverty are disabled or live with a disabled person.

Progress in this area
• For progress in this area, please see the achievements section in relation to disability 

earlier in this document.

Young offenders
Research and data nationally show there are a number of specific characteristics of 
the young people who may be involved with the Youth Offending Service (YOS). 
They show they are more likely to: 

•  be aged 16 to 17 years

•  have SEND than the general population

•  be male

•  be from a Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic background than the general population

•  have been a child in need, looked after child or on a child protection plan than the 
general population

• have substance misuse issues than the general population

• be NEET than the general 0 to 19 population

Available local data shows that the youth offending cohort is more diverse than the 
0 to 19 population and the overall population. This is in line with national data which 
shows that young people from a Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic background are 
disproportionately represented throughout the youth justice system. For example, 
minority ethnic children make up a growing proportion of those offending for the first 
time, reoffending, and serving custodial sentences. Today 41% of under-18s in custody 
are from minority backgrounds, compared with 25% a decade ago. Young Black people 
are now nine times more likely to be in youth custody than young white people.

31

183



The Lammy Review, chaired by David Lammy MP, was an independent review of 
the treatment of, and outcomes for Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic individuals in 
the Criminal Justice System (CJS). It was published in September 2017. The review 
identified no single explanation for the disproportionate representation of Black, Asian 
and Minority Ethnic groups and summarised that so many of the causes of, and 
answers to, the problem lie outside the criminal justice system: poverty, lone-parent 
families, school exclusions, and growing up in the care system. The report stated 
that a third of young people in custody have spent time in the care system, and a 
similar proportion have mental health issues. Nearly half arrive with substance misuse 
problems, but these problems are not being picked up as often for minority ethnic 
children as White children.

Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic children in custody are less likely to be recorded 
as having substance misuse concerns, to be at risk of self-harm, to have learning 
difficulties, to have mental health concerns, to be disengaged from education, and to 
have problematic family relationships. Lammy concluded, ‘the pattern is too consistent 
to ignore. It is hard not to conclude that minority youngsters face bias in our criminal 
justice system.’

Progress in this area
•  In Kingston and Richmond, we continued to deliver our highly successful Project X 

which is funded through the Violence Reduction Unit and has a focus on reducing 
serious youth violence and knife crime. This includes working with young people 
at risk of criminal exploitation as well as victims of serious youth violence and 
robberies. In July 2022, Project X’s mixed martial arts fitness project received a 
commended award in the best charity and social enterprise category. The project 
is used as an exploitation and youth violence prevention, early intervention and 
diversion tool. It is a group-work term-time provision, which offers three separate age 
group sessions: Years 5 to 6, Years 7 to 12, ages 18 to 25.

•  As part of Project X, the Emotional Health Service has been training staff to deliver 
cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) within current best practice in violence-reduction 
and related partnership approaches to effectively supporting children affected by 
extra-familial violence and related harms. This programme is called Your Choice 
and is for 11 to 17 year olds who are assessed as medium or high risk of harm 
or vulnerability as a result of extra-familial harm and have been considered by a 
multi-agency panel. The aim of Your Choice is to help children to better understand 
themselves and to take better care of themselves by equipping them with tried and 
tested coping strategies. 

•  In partnership with Thames Valley Police, the Windsor and Maidenhead Family Hub 
Service have developed a project aimed at engaging with 11 to 18 year olds who are 
believed to be in some way connected to knife crime or carrying a knife. The project, 
which launched in January 2023, predominantly works with the young people and 
their families and carers on a one-to-one basis. or as part of a group, to safeguard 
them and prevent criminal activity in the future.  
 
The programme is intelligence led to provide the earliest intervention possible with 
a public health approach as opposed to waiting for a young person to be arrested 
for using a knife. The main criteria is where there is insufficient evidence to pursue a 
knife related criminal investigation. Nine young people have been supported to date, 
with three closed to service having completed the intervention. In addition, five youth 
violence workshops have been delivered to 141 young people in local schools.

32

184



8. What are our equality objectives and  
what progress have we made to date?
In line with national guidance, and to enable us to demonstrate how we meet the PSED, 
in 2021-22, we identified five key equality objectives that we want to focus on over the 
next four years. Details of these objectives, and progress so far, is set out below.

Equality objective 1:
Providing support to the increasing numbers of unaccompanied 
asylum seeking children (UASC)

National data shows that the number of UASC entering the UK has seen a 15% 
increase on the number prior to the COVID pandemic. In the last year, there were  
5,242 applications from UASC, compared to 3,553 in the year ending March 2020.  
The increasing number of UASC has been attributed to the ongoing refugee crisis.  
In Kingston and Richmond, there are at least four new UASC coming into our looked 
after children and leaving care services each month. 

In Windsor and Maidenhead, we were not accommodating UASC as part of the 
voluntary transfer scheme unless we were sure that we could support them in the 
borough. The government’s shift from a voluntary to a mandatory scheme last year 
has seen our UASC scheme increase dramatically in the last six months. 

Progress in this area
•  We provide dedicated support to our UASC to help them to grow and develop. Our 

Leaving Care and UASC Team hold regular healthy relationship workshops, delivered 
by the teenage sexual health nurse, child sexual exploitation worker and AfC gangs 
worker that are tailored to meet the needs of our UASC. Topics include: trafficking, 
grooming, sexual exploitation, criminal exploitation, positive relationships, sexual 
health, British culture, female genital mutilation (FGM) and honour-based violence.

•  In Kingston and Richmond, our Leaving Care and UASC team is a multicultural team. 
Where possible, we match the UASC to a social worker and personal adviser who 
are from the same country or who speak the same language. UASC are supported 
to integrate into British society, by attending ESOL lessons. Our team provides 
interpreters to all appointments as necessary.  
 
We also support UASC in understanding the complex immigration process, including 
ensuring they understand all their options such as voluntary return home if they 
are considered ‘appeal rights exhausted’, meaning that their asylum support is 
stopped. The team has a rolling contract with Refugee Action Kingston to offer 
up to 10 sessions of counselling, focusing on loss and bereavement as well as 
supporting them with the uncertainty of their future in the UK.

33

185



•  In Windsor and Maidenhead, historically our number of UASC has been lower 
compared to other local authorities. However, we have always provided a high 
standard when considering educational and employment opportunities.

• In October 2022, the Children in Care Council organised a celebration of achievement 
awards ceremony where every UASC received a gold certificate highlighting one of 
their main achievements. One of our UASC was also supported to attend the Home 
Office Young People’s Board to discuss and give their view on how issues related to 
them could be improved. 

•  We have successfully been running Culture4Keeps, an arts and leisure programme 
for children looked after and unaccompanied asylum seeking children. Young 
people get free access to art and leisure centres (swimming and sports classes) 
in Richmond. They can bring a supportive buddy as part of the scheme. Activities 
include free ice skating, theatre tickets at Christmas and regular arts opportunities at 
local historical venues like Hampton Court Palace and Kew Gardens. Culture4Keeps 
provides opportunities for young people to meet and socially engage with their local 
community, including artists and experts. 

•  UASC have access to AfC Virtual School’s Transition Hub which provides intensive 
support for new into care. Impact data demonstrates raised percentages of young 
people achieving age related expectations and improved attendance on leaving the 
programme. AfC Virtual College has established a ‘welcome programme’ to support 
UASC which is being trialled in Windsor and Maidenhead. The programme offers two 
hours a day, four days a week of English tuition from a qualified ESOL teacher who 
works in AfC Virtual College. This is supported by a programme of cultural capital 
educational visits such as to Windsor Castle.

 

 

34

186



Equality objective 2: 
Integrating care and support for children and young people 
with special educational needs and disabilities within their local 
communities, ensuring SEND provision is high quality,  
and supporting young people to transition to adulthood

Why did we choose this objective?
• The number of children and young people with an education, health and care plan 

is growing nationally and locally. This has been accompanied by an increase in the 
number of children with severe and complex needs.

• In addition, there is a recognition that the support we provide to children and young 
people with special educational needs and disabilities is an area for improvement.

• We know that we must make improvements to SEND provision, not just in AfC, but 
also in our schools, colleges, health services and social care. This is a partnership 
issue and we are working collectively (including with parents, carers and young 
people) to improve our local offer and the quality of services. To do this, we have 
put in place transformation plans, committed considerable resources, and we are 
working with parents to better learn from their experiences. Continuing to develop 
and improve provision in this area will continue to be a priority in the coming year. 

Progress to date
• A strategic plan is in place to ensure the quality of provision is improving across 

Kingston and Richmond - the SEND Futures Plan 2020-2026. 

• In Windsor and Maidenhead, we have developed our new SEND strategy, which 
was drafted based on feedback from key stakeholders including young people and 
parents and carers. The strategy sets the direction for our SEND activity over the next 
five years.

• Progress with the implementation of these plans is set out previously in this 
document under achievements in relation to disability.

35

187



Equality objective 3: 
Improving our mental health support for children and young 
people so it more effectively meets their needs

Why did we choose this objective? 
A large and growing body of research shows that good mental health is essential 
for individual wellbeing, for a happy, healthy society, and for a prosperous economy. 
Unfortunately, child mental health problems are on the increase nationally and locally, 
with a rising demand on services and increasing complexity of need. Research shows 
that:

•  at least one in 10 children has a diagnosable mental health condition. This figure is 
likely to be higher and growing

•  over half of all mental ill health starts before the age of 14, and 75% has developed by 
the age of 24

•  demand is going up – over three years, there has been a 14% rise in children 
admitted to hospital after harming themselves; specialist child and adolescent 
mental health services (CAMHS) are on average turning away 23% of the young 
people referred to them for treatment

•  children from low income families are four times more likely to experience mental 
health problems than children from well off families

•  amongst LGBTQI+ young people, seven out of ten girls and six out of 10 boys 
described experiencing suicidal thoughts

Concerns have also been raised about the quality of mental health services and the 
availability of access to this support, with unclear pathways and thresholds that are 
not understood by families.

Please note that the title of this objective has changed so that it better reflects the 
ongoing work to improve mental health services across AfC.

Progress to date
•  The emotionally related school avoidance (ERSA) project has been established to 

support those children who experience difficulties attending school, due to a range of 
factors. Through the project, which operates in Windsor and Maidenhead, 28 schools 
have received training, support and consultation on ERSA, have been given access 
to a newly created toolkit, and have been provided with additional strategies to help 
them to effectively support these children.  
 
A further 16 schools have been trained during Spring 2023. A multi-agency steering 
group oversees the project, including the development, dissemination, training and 
implementation of the ERSA toolkit and further refining the ERSA multi-agency 
graduated pathway. Feedback from pupils, parents and the schools has been 
extremely good. 

36

188



•  In Kingston and Richmond, our Emotional Health Service (EHS) received over  
1,400 referrals during the year, with 352 referrals received on the neurodevelopmental 
assessment pathway in relation to attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and autistic 
spectrum disorder. This is an increase of 7% from the previous year.  
 
The EHS delivered a range of online groups including low mood groups for young 
people aged 15 to 18 years, attended by 22 young people, anxiety groups for young 
people aged 12 to 18 years, attended by 29 young people, and groups for parents of 
anxious primary aged children, with 43 parents in attendance.  
 
We also collaborated with Art and Soul to run two art therapy groups which were 
accessed successfully by 12 children. We launched our sixth Mental Health Support 
Team (MHST) in schools, which has meant that every school in Kingston and 
Richmond now has access to an MHST. Over 1,400 children accessed the MHSTs in 
2022-23 for individual or group therapy, which is a 55% increase from the previous year.

Equality objective 4: 
Ensuring Achieving for Children is an inclusive and diverse 
organisation that celebrates differences and that represents the 
local communities it serves

Why did we choose this objective?
Research shows that promoting and supporting diversity in the workplace is an 
important aspect of good people management - it is about valuing everyone in the 
organisation as an individual. However, to reap the benefits of a diverse workforce it 
is vital to have an inclusive environment where everyone feels able to participate and 
achieve their potential. 

Diversity is about recognising differences. It is acknowledging the benefit of having a 
range of perspectives in decision-making and the workforce being representative of 
who the organisation serves. 

Inclusion is where people’s differences are valued and used to enable everyone to 
thrive at work. An inclusive working environment is one in which everyone feels that 
they belong without having to conform, that their contribution matters and they 
are able to perform to their full potential, no matter their background, identity or 
circumstances. An inclusive workplace has fair policies and practices in place and 
enables a diverse range of people to work together effectively.

Greater inclusivity and diversity brings a number of benefits, including:

• recruiting from a diverse pool of candidates means a more qualified workforce

• a diverse and inclusive workforce helps avoid employee turnover costs

• diversity fostering a more creative and innovative workforce

• diversity and inclusion brings us all opportunities to learn from others and grow

37

189



Progress to date
• We are proud to have established our staff-led EDI Board which is driving forward our 

EDI work. We want to become an even more diverse and inclusive organisation and 
we are committed to listening to our staff and children and families that we support 
to better understand their experiences and shape our activity based on this feedback. 

• See Key EDI achievements for our workforce for more information on what our EDI 
Board has achieved to date.

Equality objective 5: 
Tackling racial inequality

Why did we choose this objective? 
In October 2020, the London Innovation and Improvement Alliance commissioned a 
data analysis of disproportionality across children’s outcomes in London for education, 
social care, health and justice. This data included that of Kingston and Richmond.

A summary of analysis concludes that across all key datasets, pupils of Black heritage 
are disproportionately represented. In Kingston and Richmond this is particularly 
notable and above London and England averages in:

• children looked after data

• fixed term exclusion in Kingston - mixed heritage is also above average more than 
one fixed term exclusion

•  permanent exclusion in Richmond (no data for Kingston)

•  reading, writing and maths at key stage 2. There are concerns overall for Black and 
mixed heritage (White and Black) pupils.

•  percentage difference in Attainment 8 scores

• Attainment 8 scores in Richmond - this is also lower for Asian and mixed heritage pupils

•  strong pass in English and maths GCSE in Richmond - this also lower for Asian and 
mixed heritage pupils

•  SEND without an education, health and care plan and in Richmond it is also high for 
mixed heritage pupils

•  SEND with an EHCP, but in line with London, there is an over representation of Black 
and Asian pupils in Richmond and Black and mixed heritage pupils in Kingston

•  there being no data for youth offending but Black, mixed and other ethnicity groups 
are overrepresented in London and England

As a result of the findings in 2020, we identified a new objective in relation to racial 
equality. 

38

190



Progress to date
• We are focusing on universally improving the approach to being inclusive through 

our Inclusion Charter and Toolkit. We also have education representatives on the 
disproportionality sub group for the Youth Offending Service and we have also 
established a racial justice working group.

•  In March to April 2022, the Kingston and Richmond Youth Council elections took 
place in secondary schools and youth clubs. 5,500 voted in the elections. As part 
of the voting system all young people took part in an online poll to identify the key 
issues for young people and racism was identified as an issue for young people in 
both boroughs. Our current Youth Council has made tackling racism as one of their 
top priorities for their two year term of office. 

•  Our data shows us that we have a greater than national average proportion of 
Black African, Black Caribbean and mixed White and Black Caribbean pupils who 
are disadvantaged in the school system. Using an anti-racist lens in our school 
improvement work around disadvantage has helped to identify for schools where 
racial justice approaches are key for these pupils, looking at how they are positioned 
as learners and how they are included in the curriculum. 

•  Further achievements are set out in relation to race and ethnicity earlier in this 
document. 

39

191



9. Workforce race equality standard
The social care workforce race equality standard (WRES) launched in 2021, with a pilot 
scheme involving 18 local authorities across England. In line with our business plan 
and equality and diversity strategy, AfC committed to participate in the WRES pilot 
and publish our WRES findings with the aim to identify and address any areas that will 
improve the workplace experience and representation at all levels for Black, Asian and 
Minority Ethnic staff.

This report provides a summary of the key findings and outlines progress with the 
action plan for the 2022-23 AfC WRES. The findings reported last year as part of the 
pilot were mostly based on just permanent Richmond staff. The findings this year for 
all metrics include all staff across AfC, including those in casual roles. We have made 
comparisons between the data where possible, although this is just for illustrative 
purposes as the differences between the data used means that it cannot be directly 
compared. It should also be noted that 60% of our total workforce (including casual 
staff) have not disclosed their ethnicity, so the figures included in this report are 
only based on those who have declared. Work is ongoing to improve the disclosure 
rate amongst staff but it does mean the actual figures may be different from what it 
reported below. 

Background to the WRES
National context
The social care WRES pilot was commissioned by the Department of Health and 
Social Care (DHSC) to ensure that employees from Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic 
backgrounds gain equal access to career opportunities and receive fair treatment in 
the workplace. 

A similar WRES was introduced into the NHS in July 2015 and reporting now takes 
place annually providing an opportunity to continually review data and reflect on 
workplace practices. The purpose of the social care WRES is to agree and establish 
standards to support and strengthen the efforts of local authorities to create 
processes around fairness and equality at work, with a focus on improving data 
collection and analysis. The WRES consists of calculating data across nine metrics 
of Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic representation in the workforce at all levels of 
seniority, and other workforce matters, such as promotions pathways, movement into 
leadership roles and access to non-mandatory training, experiences of bullying and 
harassment, and experiences of racism at work. 

Local context
AfC was part of the initial WRES pilot alongside colleagues from Richmond and 
Wandsworth to provide a picture of workforce practices across both adults’ and 
children’s social care. Participation in the WRES pilot has provided an opportunity 
for us to reflect on what data we collect from our staff and how, as a result, we have 
implemented some new ways of gathering information. We will build on these tools in 
order to provide a meaningful WRES return across the whole of AfC in future years.

40

192



Overall summary
Overall, the WRES findings show that: 

•  a significant proportion of our total workforce (including casual staff) do not declare 
their ethnicity. This makes it more difficult for us to determine with certainty the 
findings from the data

•  staff from Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic backgrounds are not well represented in 
the higher pay bands 

•  our senior leadership team is not as diverse as our workforce as a whole 

•  there are some differences between the experiences of Black, Asian and Minority 
Ethnic staff particularly in terms of disciplinary action and those leaving the 
organisation, which need to be further explored 

•  there do not appear to be differences in the experiences of Black, Asian and Minority 
Ethnic staff and White staff in relation to fitness to practice, those experiencing 
harassment or bullying from the public or from managers and colleagues, and those 
accessing non-mandatory CPD

41

193



The information below sets out the key findings 
in relation to each of the WRES metrics

Metric 1: Percentage of Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic 
staff in each of the council pay bands compared with the 
percentage of staff in the rest of the workforce

• Generally the percentage of staff from a Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic background 
reduces from pay band 10 onwards (those earning £42,000+), indicating less Black, 
Asian and Minority Ethnic employees in leadership or management positions, with 
less Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic staff represented within the top few pay bands.

•  It should be noted that the number of staff in the top pay bands decreases, therefore 
it is more difficult to draw any firm conclusions. 

Pay 
band

% White % BAME 
incl. 

White 
Other

1 66.67% 33.33%

2 69.57% 30.43%

3 71.21% 28.79%

4 67.06% 32.94%

5 78.13% 21.88%

6 68.33% 31.67%

7 68.25% 31.75%

8 77.78% 22.22%

9 77.42% 22.58%

10 86.49% 13.51%

11 82.86% 17.14%

12 87.50% 12.50%

13 84.00% 16.00%

14 87.50% 12.50%

42

194



Metric 2: Comparative rate of Black, Asian and Minority 
Ethnic staff being appointed from shortlisting

•  In 2022-23, of those who applied for roles within AfC, 43.0% of applicants were from 
a Black, Asian or Minority Ethnic background, 50.0% were White, and the ethnicity of 
7.0% is not known. 

•  For those applicants who were shortlisted, 30.0% were from a Black, Asian or 
Minority Ethnic background, 63.0% were White, and the ethnicity of 7.0% is not 
known. The proportion of Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic applicants who were then 
offered a role was 36.0%, with 54.0% being White and the ethnicity of 10.0% not being 
known.  
 
This indicates there is a positive correlation between those being shortlisted and then 
offered a role in terms of Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic applicants. It also indicates 
that the overall workforce should, in time, become more diverse as the percentage of 
new staff being appointed who are Black Asian and Minority Ethnic, is higher than the 
current workforce total. 

Metric 3: Comparative rate of Black, Asian and Minority 
Ethnic staff entering the formal disciplinary process  

•  During 2022-23, of those who entered the disciplinary process (20), 35% (7) were 
Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic staff and 65% were White (13). 

•  Given that the total proportion of the workforce who are Black, Asian and Minority 
Ethnic is 25% this suggests that this area needs further review to better understand 
why there is a difference. 

•  In 2021-22, only five staff entered the formal disciplinary process. Due to the low 
numbers and the risk of staff becoming identifiable, we were not able to break this 
information down further by race and ethnicity. 

Metric 4: Comparative rate of Black, Asian and Minority 
Ethnic staff entering the fitness to practice process

•  During 2022-23, no Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic staff and just one White member 
of staff entered the fitness to practice process. This indicates equitable practice and 
is similar to last year. 

43

195



Metric 5: Comparative rate of Black, Asian and Minority 
Ethnic employees leaving the organisation during the  
last year

•  The percentage of staff leaving who are Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic is slightly 
higher than we would expect to see based on the workforce as a whole. Black Asian 
and Minority Ethnic staff make up 26% of the total workforce, but 29% of leavers 
(as a percentage of those who have chosen to disclose ethnicity). This is relatively 
similar to the figure that was reported last year. 

•  This data does not provide us with the reason for leaving AfC and therefore we have 
limited knowledge of the factors that may contribute to staff leaving. 

•  Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic staff could be leaving for opportunities for 
professional development which would be a positive for the individual. However this 
could be a missed opportunity for AfC to retain and develop staff who are leaving 
if they feel they have a lack of developmental opportunities within AfC. Similarly if 
Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic staff are leaving due to unfair working practices, 
there is a missed opportunity here for AfC to drill down to understand these issues. 

Ethnic grouping %
Asian/Asian British 12.90%

Asian/Asian British - Any other 3.23%

Asian/Asian British - Indian 4.84%

Asian/Asian British - Pakistani 4.84%

Black/Black British 11.29%

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British - African 9.68%

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British - Caribbean 1.61%

Mixed 3.23%

Mixed/Multiple Ethnic Groups - White and Black African 3.23%

Other Ethnic Groups 1.61%

Other Ethnic Group - Arab 1.61%

White 70.97%

White - Any Other 8.06%

White - English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern Irish/British 61.29%

White - Irish 1.61%

44

196



Metric 6: Percentage of Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic 
staff experiencing harassment, bullying or abuse from 
patients, relatives (service users) or the public in last  
12 months 

•  66.3% of staff agree or strongly agree that they have not experienced any 
unacceptable behaviour from service users or members of the public in the last  
12 months.

•  This is a slight reduction when compared to last year’s survey where 69.0% 
registered one of these responses. 

•  Of these 17.4% are Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic staff and 76.7% are White staff. 
Like last year, this is proportional to the number and breakdown of staff responding 
to the staff survey, indicating that the majority of staff have not experienced any 
unacceptable behaviour from service users or members of the public and there is no 
discrepancy between Black Asian and Minority Ethnic and White staff. 

•  9.9% neither agreed or disagreed, which is similar to last year. 

•  22.8% of staff disagree or strongly disagree that they have not experienced any 
unacceptable behaviour from service users or members of the public in the last 12 
months. Of these 17.1% are Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic staff, compared with 
79.3% for White staff. Again this is proportional to the number and breakdown of 
staff responding to the staff survey indicating that there is no discrepancy between 
Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic and White staff. It also reflects the findings from last 
year. 

•  In addition, we asked staff if they felt confident that any unacceptable behaviour 
from service users or a member of the public would be dealt with effectively by 
AfC. 70.9% agreed or strongly agreed - of these 16.5% of staff are Black, Asian and 
Minority Ethnic and 77.9% are White. This aligns with findings from last year and is 
proportional to the number and breakdown of staff responding to the staff survey.

45

197



Metric 7: Percentage of Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic 
staff experiencing harassment, bullying or abuse in the last 
12 months from: 

a) a colleague 
•  77% of staff agree or strongly agree that they have not experienced any unacceptable 

behaviour from a colleague in the last 12 months. This is 6% lower than last year (83%) 
indicating more staff have experienced unacceptable behaviour from colleagues in the 
last 12 months. 

• Of these 17% are Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic staff and 79% are White staff.  
Again, like last year, this is proportional to the number and breakdown of staff 
responding to the staff survey, indicating that the majority of staff have not 
experienced any unacceptable behaviour from a colleague and there is no discrepancy 
between BAME and White staff.

• 9% neither agreed or disagreed, this is a 3% increase from last year.

•  Similar to last year, 13% of staff disagree or strongly disagree that they have not 
experienced any unacceptable behaviour from a colleague in the last 12 months.  
This is a slight increase from 11% last year. Of these, 17% are BAME staff, compared 
with 79% for White staff. This aligns with findings from last year. 

b) a manager
•  87% of staff agree or strongly agree that they have not experienced any unacceptable 

behaviour from a manager in the last 12 months, this has decreased 5% when 
compared to last year’s data. Of these 17% are Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic 
staff and 78% are White staff. Like last year, this is proportional to the number and 
breakdown of staff responding to the staff survey, indicating that the majority of staff 
have not experienced any unacceptable behaviour from a manager and there is no 
discrepancy between different staff groups. 

• 7% neither agreed or disagreed which is similar to last year.

•  5% of staff disagree or strongly disagree that they have not experienced any 
unacceptable behaviour from a manager in the last 12 months, which is similar  
to the data from last year. 

46

198



Metric 8: Comparative rate of Black, Asian and Minority 
Ethnic staff accessing funded non-mandatory continuing 
professional development (CPD) as compared to White 
staff

• At present we are unable to report on the number of staff accessing non-mandatory 
CPD, therefore staff were asked to respond to the following statement in our 
staff survey: ‘I am supported to access non-mandatory continuing professional 
development opportunities’. 

•  68% of staff agree or strongly agree that they are supported to access non-
mandatory CPD opportunities and this is similar to last year’s data. Of these,19%  
are Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic staff and 76% are White staff. Like last year,  
this is proportional to the number and breakdown of staff responding to the staff 
survey, indicating that the majority of staff feel able to and supported to access  
non-mandatory CPD and there is no discrepancy between different staff groups. 

• 22% neither agree or disagree, which is similar to last year.

•  9% of staff disagree or strongly disagree that they are supported to access  
non-mandatory CPD opportunities, which again, is similar to last year.

• Of these, 15% are Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic staff compared with 74% who are 
White staff. This is proportional to the number and breakdown of staff responding 
to the survey, indicating that amongst staff who disagree or strongly disagree they 
are supported to access non-mandatory CPD opportunities, there is no discrepancy 
between different staff groups. 

• The data from last year showed a higher proportion of Black, Asian and Minority 
Ethnic staff felt unsupported to access non-mandatory CPD in comparison with 
White staff. Last year, mechanisms to promote CPD opportunities for Black, Asian 
and Minority Ethnic staff were included in the WRES action plan and the data 
suggests that this may have had a positive impact.

Metric 9: Percentage difference between organisation’s 
senior management membership and its overall workforce
• SLT is not as representative as the workforce as a whole, with a much higher 

proportion of staff from White backgrounds. 

• 76.9% of SLT are White and 23.1% are from a Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic 
background. This compares to the workforce which is 75% White and 26% who  
are from a Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic background.

•  The number of Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic staff at Senior Leadership Team 
level would need to rise by approximately 3.9% to fall in line to represent the total 
workforce.

47

199



WRES action plan
Our action plan has been developed in collaboration with the AfC EDI Board, and peer 
review with colleagues from the Richmond and Wandsworth WRES project group.  
It has been informed by the data from the WRES submission, workforce data already 
collected by AfC, and data from a recent staff survey completed within AfC. The plan  
is monitored and reviewed by the AfC EDI Board. 

The information below sets out the progress we have made with the implementation 
of our action plan during 2022-23. There is significant crossover between the WRES 
action plan and our equality objectives and equalities achievements - this has been 
flagged in the table. 

Leadership (Metric 1 and 9)

Objective 1: To embed the WRES in AfC and Objective 2: To establish 
leadership and ownership of the equality, diversity and inclusion 
programme of work via the EDI Board

Progress to date 

•  As set out in section 2 above in relation to our approach to EDI in AfC, our reporting 
mechanisms and governance structures ensure that EDI and the WRES is fully 
embedded and progress is regularly reported. For example, WRES metrics are now 
included in the annual staff survey as a matter of course.

•  Furthermore, as part of the approval of the annual equalities report for 2022-23,  
the EDI Board will review this document including the data and information relation  
to the WRES. 

•  The annual equalities report for 2022-23 will be published and shared with staff so 
they can better understand our progress with EDI and with the WRES in particular. 

•  Our EDI Board is now well-established and operating successfully, with agreed terms 
of reference, a clear plan of action and a clear means of measuring progress and 
impact. Our Chief Finance and Operating Officer now chairs our EDI Board, ensuring 
a direct line of communication to our Senior Leadership Team, and we have recently 
appointed a paid, part-time EDI lead as vice chair. The board includes representatives 
from the AfC Board of Directors, senior leaders, and representatives from across 
both operational areas and Business Services. Our EDI Board action plan guides the 
activity of the board and will shortly be reviewed and refreshed. 

48

200



Culture and staff experience (Metric 3, 4, 6 and 7), and 
learning and career development (Metric 5 and 8)

Objective 3: To develop equality, diversity and inclusion training and 
resources for staff

Progress to date 

• As set out in the training section in section two of this document, we have a 
comprehensive EDI training offer. This includes courses relating to cultural 
awareness, mental health, SEND, and racial justice. Our EDI e-learning is now a 
mandatory course for all new members of staff and the Managing Racism in the 
Workplace training that we have commissioned has received outstanding feedback 
from attendees.  
 
The various conferences we have held, for example, early years and for schools, and 
our whole service events have had focused sessions relating to EDI and these have 
been well-attended with positive feedback received. 

• Recent attendance data does show that we need to ensure staff from across the 
organisation, and external partners, are taking part in EDI training as there has been a 
drop in those attending over the past 12 months. 

Culture and staff experience (Metric 3, 4, 6 and 7)

Objective 4: To raise awareness of equality diversity and inclusion 
issues in AfC, particularly in relation to staff from a Black, Asian and 
Minority Ethnic background

Progress to date

•  The profile of EDI has grown over the past 12 months. As set out previously, our 
Chief Operating and Finance Officer is now the chair of our EDI Board which includes 
representatives from the AfC Board of Directors and senior leaders from across the 
organisation, and we have representation from across both operational areas and 
Business Services. 

• We have strengthened our EDI presence on Connect (our staff intranet), and through 
our regular EDI forums and campaigns such as Black History Month, provided a 
stronger spotlight on EDI activity. Our AENs are now well-established and regularly 
meeting and regularly communicating to colleagues about their activities. 

• Our new professional development scheme and supervision framework places 
a greater emphasis on health and wellbeing, including prompts for contextual 
conversations around issues such as race and diversity. 

• With the new part-time EDI lead post in place, we will be undertaking a review of the 
EDI Board action plan and will be using staff feedback captured throughout the year 
as well as data about our workforce and findings from the WRES to inform our plans 
for the next 12 months. 

49

201



Recruitment and retention (Metric 2, 5 and 8)

Objective 5: To improve the recruitment, retention and development 
of staff from more diverse backgrounds including roles within senior 
management

Progress to date:

• Section 2 in this document sets out the range of activity that has taken place in 
relation to recruitment and retention. This includes establishing a paid, part-time 
EDI lead post to be the vice chair of our EDI Board, trialling a reverse mentoring pilot, 
and reviewing the potential for other initiatives such as blind recruitment and more 
diverse interview panels. 

• We have reviewed and updated our job adverts to ensure they are welcoming 
to underrepresented sections of the community, and our recent recruitment 
campaign featured staff from diverse backgrounds. Job adverts have been updated 
to include new wording around equalities and they welcome applications from 
underrepresented sections of the community.

• We held EDI Forum sessions to discuss the experiences of staff from Black, Asian 
and Minority Ethnic backgrounds, including in relation to unacceptable behaviour. 
Based on feedback from this session, and the findings from the WRES last year, we 
reviewed our unacceptable behaviour policy, in consultation with staff, to ensure 
it is sufficiently robust. We are currently developing an animation, which will be 
published on our website, to explain to parents, carers and families what we consider 
unacceptable behaviour and the actions that will be taken should they behave in this 
way when in contact with AfC staff. 

• Our WRES findings for this year will inform the refresh of the EDI Board action plan 
moving forward.

50

202



Moving forward
Participation in the WRES, in the pilot year and in 2022-23, has highlighted some 
interesting information on the experiences of Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic staff 
in comparison to White staff across AfC. It has also highlighted gaps in our data 
collection methods and a reluctance in some areas for staff to come forward and 
share their experiences of working at AfC with us.

Over the next year, we will continue to refine our data collection tools and the way we 
engage with staff in order to ensure we capture meaningful information for our next 
WRES return and encourage staff to provide full details around their experiences of 
working at AfC.

In 2023-24, we will report again on all operational areas of AfC, so we have a fuller 
and more transparent reflection of the experience of Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic 
staff in relation to the WRES metrics. We will also be in a position to properly compare 
findings between 2022-23 and 2023-24 so we can better understand our progression. 

We will use the lessons learnt from the WRES this year and the year before, and the 
accompanying action plan to improve our working practices and implement race 
equality standards as per the aims of the WRES.

51

203



204



Registration Number 08878185

Achieving for Children
Community Interest Company

Annual Report and Statement
of Accounts

2022-23

1st April 2022 – 31st March 2023

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 1

205



TABLE OF CONTENTS

STATEMENT BY CHAIR OF THE BOARD 4

STRATEGIC REPORT

1. Introduction by the Chief Operating and Finance Officer 6

2. Progress against our 2022/23 objectives 8

3. Risks and risk management 18

4. Our Finances 21

5. Looking Forward 24

DIRECTORS REPORT

6. Our governance arrangements 26

6.1 Achieving for Children as a Company 26

6.2 Governance 31

6.3 Directors Responsibilities 37

INTRODUCTION TO STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 39

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT 40

THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44

NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 52

GLOSSARY OF TERMS 97

This Annual Report summarises the performance of Achieving for Children for the period between

1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023 and was authorised by the Board of Directors in July 2023.

Lucy Kourpas

Chief Operating and Finance Officer

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 2

206



COMPANY INFORMATION

REGISTRATION:

Achieving for Children Community Interest Company

Registered in England and Wales as a Private Limited Company

Registration Number 08878185

OWNERSHIP DETAILS:

The company is jointly owned by the Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames, the London

Borough of Richmond upon Thames, and the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead. The

company is limited by guarantee.

REGISTERED OFFICE:

44 York Street

Twickenham

TW1 3BZ

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS:

Crowe UK LLP

55 Ludgate Hill,

London,

EC4M 7JW

SOLICITORS:

South London Legal Partnership

Gifford House, 67c St Helier Avenue

Morden

SM4 6HY

BANK DETAILS:

National Westminster Bank

25 King Street

Twickenham

TW1 3SU

COMPANY DIRECTORS and OFFICERS:

See page 33 of the Annual Report

WEBSITE: achievingforchildren.org.uk

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 3

207



Joint Statement by the Chief Operating and Finance Officer and Chair of the Board of Directors

We are pleased to present Achieving for Children’s (AfC) annual report and accounts for 2022-23 which

demonstrate the significant achievements we have made over the year. Our work over the past 12 months

has seen us move into the ‘new normal’ following the global pandemic. Our workforce have proven their

resilience and adaptability by going above and beyond to ensure our children, young people and families

have received high quality services. We have, in partnership with our owning councils, schools and

voluntary partners, worked hard to support our most vulnerable families to ensure they remain safe and

supported. We have built on the innovation and creativity harnessed in the early stages of the pandemic in

response to the challenges we faced, and have continued to deliver our services, albeit in different and

innovative ways.

Our service offer in Kingston, Richmond and Windsor and Maidenhead (RBWM) remains strong and we are

committed to continual improvement. Recent inspections have demonstrated this, we have had a positive

Focused Visit in Kingston; a Joint Targeted Area Inspection in Windsor and Maidenhead that resulted in

good feedback; and a Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspection of our health visiting and school nursing

service in Windsor and Maidenhead in November 2022 that saw us graded as good across all areas. These

ratings are a significant achievement and testament to the hard work and commitment of our staff.

Early intervention and prevention remains at the heart of our work with families so that we are able to

meet the needs of children and young people at the first opportunity and well before statutory services are

required. Our children’s centres and family hubs have supported many families during the past 12 months,

at first as they emerged from the pandemic, and then as the cost of living crisis took hold. For those families

that need additional support, we are delighted at the success of our F.U.E.L: Holiday Activity and Food

programme that has provided the opportunity for over 3,500 children who are eligible for Free School

Meals to take part in fun activities and receive a healthy meal. In addition we have worked with schools to

provide around 8,500 food vouchers to help those families most in need.

Our support for children and young people in care, and on the edge of care, is constantly developing and

improving. We have just embarked on an early help and social care transformation programme across all

three boroughs, that will take place over the coming years. The intention is to review current service

delivery, in the context of the recently published Independent Review Of Social Care (national by Josh

Mcallister) and to identify opportunities for greater efficiency in the light of increasing demand and limited

resources, while retaining the strengths of our existing approach. The review will look at the whole

spectrum of services from early help right the way through to leaving care. It will align resources to our

most impactful interventions and best practice models. We will be looking to continue the implementation

of the Families First model in Windsor and Maidenhead that began at the end of 2022-23, which will

replicate the well established team in Kingston and Richmond that has already demonstrated a positive

impact. We will also be moving towards a family / community hub model in Kingston and Richmond which

echoes what is already embedded in Windsor and Maidenhead.

Over the coming year we will be updating our Placement Sufficiency Strategy to ensure it provides a clear

strategy that balances inhouse provision and working with the market to secure quality accommodation

and support for our children and young people. Our children’s home, Hope House and our purpose-built

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 4

208



overnight short break care centre, Rainbow House, are both well-established now and providing high

quality care for our most vulnerable children and young people. We continue to look for opportunities to

expand our in-house provision further if it is of benefit to our children and young people, and the

organisation as a whole. To this end, we are excited that we will be working with Kingston Council to

develop a new children’s home over the coming 18-24 months.

We recognise our support to children and young people with special educational needs and disabilities

(SEND) is still an area for improvement and we continue our transformation work across all three

boroughs. We are also working to address areas of weakness that are identified in Written Statements of

Action in Richmond and Windsor and Maidenhead, particularly in relation to strengthening our

relationships with our Parent Carer Forums so the voices of families more clearly influence our work. We

were pleased that in Kingston our SEND revisit showed progress against all areas, demonstrating that the

plans we have put in place are having an impact. In Kingston and Richmond we have exceeded the

requirements of the safety valve agreement from the Department for Education, and so continue to

receive the funding to improve services further. There has also been significant progress in terms of SEND

provision, with new specialist places created across all areas. We are particularly pleased that we are

progressing towards new special schools in each of the boroughs. In Windsor and Maidenhead we have

been successfully admitted to the Delivering Better Value Programme and we are making good progress on

our improvement journey.

During the year we have focused on further improving our employee experience. This has included

establishing a Recruitment and Retention Working Group to ensure that we have a specific focus on

reviewing and improving how we attract and retain talent; re-energising our Professional Development and

Staff Recognition schemes; rolling out new ICT devices to enable our staff to work smartly and flexibly;

introducing a new and more accessible intranet; and celebrating our staff through Staff awards and cultural

events such as Black History Month and Pride Month.

Looking further ahead, the picture regarding funding for the public sector remains challenging. There is also

a critical shortage of qualified and experienced children's services practitioners both nationally and locally.

Achieving financial sustainability, while continuing to deliver high quality services to our children and young

people is central to our current business plan, and will no doubt be central to our new business plan, which

will be developed over the coming year. Based on the progress we have made in 2022-23, we are confident

about the future of Achieving for Children and our ambition to reach every child and young person who

needs us, so that they are able to live safe, happy, healthier and successful lives.

Lucy Kourpas

Chief Operating and Finance Officer

Si n Wicksȃ
Chair of the AfC Board of Directors

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 5

209



STRATEGIC REPORT

1. Progress against our 2022-23 objectives

In 2022-23 we supported over 30,000 children and young people. Our business plan sets out our priorities

and commitment to providing this support based on six strategic priorities: stronger families; positive

futures; excellent workforce; financial stability; organisational success; and smarter working. We now

report on the progress we have made in 2022-23 in achieving our objectives. Further detail about our

achievements can be found in our Impact Report which can be found on our website:

https://www.achievingforchildren.org.uk/pages/about-us/reports-and-documents

Stronger families

Our early help services provide crucial support to vulnerable families to prevent issues escalating to the

point at which statutory intervention is necessary. Across all our early help services we have been focused

on ensuring our provision remains effective but also sustainable given the financial climate.

Over the past 12 months we have provided a range of support to our most vulnerable families. In Kingston

and Richmond, through the local and household support grant, we have given out approximately 8,500 food

vouchers, valued at £15 per week per eligible child, for each school holiday period for families with children

who are receiving free school meals, three or four year olds who are accessing pupil premium grant or

disadvantaged two year olds.

To support our families during school holidays, we successfully delivered the F.U.E.L (Feed Ur Everyday Lives)

programme in Kingston, Richmond and Windsor and Maidenhead in response to the Department for

Education funding for the Holiday Activities and Food Programme. This was our third year delivering the

programme, which took place over the Easter, summer and Christmas holidays and offered a range of fun

and enjoyable activities and food to children and young people aged 5 to 16 years who are eligible for Free

School Meals (FSM). In Kingston and Richmond, the programme grew throughout each holiday period with

increasing numbers of providers, locations and spaces on offer. In total, over 25 different partners worked

with us to deliver the programme; with over 2,700 children and young people attending a range of fun and

exciting activities. Of these, over 200 of the children and young people had additional needs. In Windsor

and Maidenhead, 832 children attended the programme with almost 6,500 attendances at different

activities over the course of the holidays, and we delivered our own provision through our family hubs with

over 130 children attending. We were particularly pleased to offer free travel for any attendees at SEND

sessions and minibus pick ups for children for offsite activities.

Our children’s centres and family hubs are a central element of our early help offer. Attendance at our

children’s centres in Kingston and Richmond has increased over the past 12 months. We delivered over

6,000 sessions for families either in person or online; saw over 17,000 individuals either online or in person;

had over 80,000 interactions with families; and we now have over 3,000 members on our Facebook page.

One of the highlights of the year was our events for National Play Day which saw almost 2,500 people come

together for the first time since COVID to celebrate play.

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 6

210

https://www.achievingforchildren.org.uk/pages/about-us/reports-and-documents
https://www.achievingforchildren.org.uk/pages/about-us/reports-and-documents


Our children’s centres have worked closely with our local partners - we supported health colleagues to

deliver polio and flu vaccination clinics over the weekends in the autumn; we worked with local businesses

to provide families with 75 hampers and over 100 presents at Christmas; and throughout the year we have

delivered rhyme time sessions for families in our libraries. As part of our response to the cost of living crisis,

our children’s centres have provided warm spaces twice a week as part of an eight week pilot, with

activities, quiet space for homework and support for families with children aged 0 - 11 years. We also ran a

Warm Coats and Shoes project during Winter and recycled and distributed 184 coats and 54 pairs of shoes

to families.

We have delivered a range of high quality SEND provision at our children’s centres during the year including:

chat and play sessions for our families who have concerns around their children’s development; Let’s

Nurture sessions for children showing early signs of ASD or ADHD; well-attended parenting wellbeing

courses for parents for SEND children and 74 families have also benefited from the development of a new

‘Little Stars’ course for children with emerging speech and language needs. As part of our parent offer we

have delivered English Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL) courses for families from Ukraine. In addition,

along with colleagues from the Emotional Health Service, we have established nurture groups for parents

and carers who have experienced trauma through bereavement or domestic abuse.

In Windsor and Maidenhead, in recent years we have established our family hubs approach, which brings

together children’s centres, youth centres and parenting services. Our family hubs are now fully staffed and

fully functioning and demand for services has been high - we have provided one to one support to 823

children; and 3,400 children and young people have attended group sessions on topics such as digital safety,

drug and alcohol awareness, and esteem. We also provide a full menu of interventions to improve parents’

skills and knowledge. This includes Incredible Years, which is for parents of children who are neurodiverse;

the Freedom Programme, for mothers who are experiencing domestic abuse; Supporting Parents and Carers

Emotions (SPACE), for parents who need support with their own emotional wellbeing; the Positive Parenting

Programme, for parents to manage the behaviour of their children in a non-punitive and positive way;

specific parenting groups, for parents within the Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic community; and our baby

massage group, which supports parents to improve communication with their babies through touch and eye

contact.

Our health visiting service, which offers all families with a new baby a health assessment within two weeks

of birth, received a ‘good’ Ofsted rating when inspected this year. Our universal offer to all families with a

new baby includes an invitation to a nurture group which are held weekly in three venues across the

borough. The sessions are an opportunity for parents to access health and parenting advice. Average

monthly attendance at these sessions is 136 and feedback from parents is overwhelmingly positive.

In partnership with Thames Valley Police, the Family Hub Service have developed a project aimed at

engaging with 11- 18 year olds who are believed to be in some way connected to knife crime or carrying a

knife. The project,which launched in January 2023, predominantly works with the young people and their

families/carers on either a 1-1 basis or as part of a group in order to safeguard them and prevent criminal

activity in the future. The programme is intelligence led in order to provide the earliest intervention

possible with a public health approach as opposed to waiting for a young person to be arrested for using a

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 7

211



knife. The main criteria is where there is insufficient evidence to pursue a knife related criminal

investigation. Nine young people have been supported to date, with three closed to service having

completed the intervention. In addition, five youth violence workshops have been delivered to 141 young

people in local schools.

The Families First service commenced on 1 April 2022 as a two year project in Kingston and Richmond

aiming to support social workers and the families they work with who present with a trio of vulnerabilities

(domestic abuse, mental health, substance misuse) through the key principles

of colocation, joint working and group supervision. Over 140 families have been supported and the

feedback received from families has been excellent. The project has shown that proportionally, for child

protection and child in need cases, where there is a Families First intervention, they are more likely to step

down at the nine month review. We will continue to monitor the impact of the project during 2023-24 and

are confident it will continue to benefit our families going forward.

Based on the success of this programme, we have begun to develop a similar service in Windsor and

Maidenhead. The newly formed Families First team supports families in crisis who are at imminent risk of

having the child(ren) taken into care. Families are fast-tracked to receive support, and are ultimately

supported to keep their children at home or find a family network in order to care for their children. The

team also supports children to return home (if appropriate) from care. Additional funding has recently been

approved by the council to expand the team further so it can be responsive to a range of needs pre care,

during care and after care, and so evening and weekend support can be given where needed. To date, 11

families have been supported and in all cases the children have remained in the family home.

During 2022-23 we established the Kingston and Richmond Targeted Support Service as a pilot to provide

high quality and affordable in-house outreach services to children, young people and families who require

additional one to one staffing support for a time-limited period. The aim of the pilot was to see how

successful the service could be in terms of reducing the number of care leavers at risk of losing their

placements; reducing the number of young people on the edge of care by helping them to stay at home for

longer; supporting carers with respite; and providing AfC with the ability to achieve cost savings and work

more flexibly to meet changing demands. During the year, we recruited two full time Specialist Targeted

Support Workers which enabled us to accept more complex referrals and support children and young

people with higher needs in the home. The two workers received 73 new referrals and provided 4,540 hours

of outreach hours. Feedback from practitioners and parents and carers has been exceptional, and one of

the workers received the AfC Rising Star award in recognition of impact. Findings are now being collated but

as a result of the successful pilot, a business case is now in the process of being developed to request

additional funding for the service to make it permanent.

Positive futures

School standards in Kingston, Richmond and Windsor and Maidenhead are amongst the highest in the

country and 95% of our schools across all three boroughs are judged good or outstanding. In terms of

attainment, Kingston and Richmond are now both in the top 20 performing local authorities nationally, from

early years to key stage 4, while Windsor and Maidenhead are in the top performing 50 local authorities.

This is an exceptional achievement, particularly in light of the challenges posed by Covid-19.

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 8

212



Across all three boroughs, we have supported 25 schools through their recent Ofsted inspections, with a

number of these schools improving their Ofsted grade. In Kingston and Richmond, our School Performance

Alliance for Richmond and Kingston, otherwise known as SPA[RK] has provided school improvement support

to 92% of schools, with 100% of these schools expressing their satisfaction with the support received.

Similarly, our school improvement support in Windsor and Maidenhead has received excellent feedback

from those schools we have supported over the past 12 months. In addition, in Windsor and Maidenhead,

our Initial Teaching Training Programme was inspected and maintained its good Ofsted judgement, and

subsequently we successfully applied to be an accredited provider by the Department for Education.

We are working hard to improve the inclusive services we provide to children and young people with SEND

as well as supporting the young people in our care and those that access our youth services.

We have made good progress towards our Written Statement of Action (WSOA) in both Richmond and

Windsor and Maidenhead. In Richmond, in collaboration with our schools, we have amended our annual

review template to ensure it reflects a more-person centred approach and supports the promotion of

preparing for adulthood outcomes. We have also mapped out our continuing health pathways, making it

easier for our young people aged 16-25 who have a disability, to access support with health needs. In early

March 2023, we had our Windsor and Maidenhead WSOA monitoring visit, we are awaiting feedback but

we expect the outcome to be positive, given the progress we have made.

Meanwhile, in Kingston in October 2022, we received a SEND reinspection to identify progress against

previously identified four areas for improvement. The revisit confirmed we had made sufficient progress in

addressing all four areas and the inspector noted improvements in the relationships with families in the

local area, the quality of Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCPs), and our quality assurance processes.

In Kingston and Richmond, we held the SEND Futures conference in October 2022. It was attended by over

350 people, including around 55 parents and carers, and practitioners from 135 different organisations,

who came together to share ideas and best practice in SEND. Speakers included two of the highest profile

people in the SEND system nationally who discussed matters highlighted in the recent SEND green paper,

and there were also a range of workshops delivered by both local parents and practitioners. Feedback was

overwhelmingly positive and attendees have already been in contact to tell us about changes they have

made to their practice as a result of feedback at the conference.

In Windsor and Maidenhead, we held our Inclusion Summit, with over 140 attendees including a mixture of

parents and carers, schools and market place representatives. Attendees were introduced to the new SEND

Strategy and were part of the official launch of the new Parent Carer Forum. Feedback from the event was

great as stakeholders valued the opportunity to network and share learning, with 90% of the attendees

stating they would recommend the event to colleagues. In February 2023, our Ambitious about Inclusion

conference brought together almost 90 senior leaders and SEND and Inclusion Coordinators to listen to a

number of nationally recognised keynote speakers and to come together to share information and celebrate

developments in SEND across the borough. We are particularly proud that the event was co-produced

between Achieving for Children, the Independent Advice and Support Service, Children and Young People’s

Integrated Therapy Service and schools, and supported by RBWM SEND voices.

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 9

213



During the year, 27 learners with EHCPs in Kingston and Richmond have completed supported internships,

delivered in partnership with Mencap and Project Search, with a variety of host employers including

Hounslow Council, GSK, West Middlesex Hospital and the FairShot Cafe. We have supported other young

people to access specialised internship schemes - one young person is completing an internship in the

hospitality sector and one is completing a theatre based programme. One of these learners has already

been offered employment at West Middlesex Hospital once he completes his internship, and the other is

expecting to be offered an apprenticeship within the NHS. We have also supported 12 learners with EHCPs

to undertake apprenticeships within a variety of sectors including hospitality, education, administration

and horticulture.

We have been responsible for delivering The Mayor of London’s European Social Fund employability

programmes focussing on young people aged 16-25 who are not in education, employment or training in

Kingston and Richmond. This past year we supported over 50 young people through the programme. 35 of

these young people had EHCPs, and of these, 14 have now progressed into employment or education.

In Windsor and Maidenhead, the Social Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) intervention project, which

was established in 2019 to reduce the risk of permanent exclusion in schools, has continued to thrive. Since

it began, the project has worked in 42 schools and supported 91 individual children. Of those children, just

three have been permanently excluded and they have been supported in their transition to alternative

provision. As part of the project we have trained 873 school staff to help them to support children with

challenging behaviours linked to SEMH difficulties, as well as delivering updated training to 140 staff and

bespoke training to 115 staff. At the same time, we have established 140 SEMH leads in schools and hold

three SEMH network meetings a year where leads can be signposted to early help services and share

learning and feedback. We have also purchased a subscription to the Online Boxall Profile which enables

schools to assess the needs of their children quickly, set targets, and monitor progress. 61 of our schools are

actively using this assessment and tracking tool which will enable us to analyse data to support transitions

and target areas of need.

The expansion of additional school places for children and young people with SEND to meet rising

demand continues to be a priority. In Kingston, the following 28 specialist resource provision (SRP) places

were created in September 2022: Malden Oaks, a further eight; Robin Hood Primary, 14; and Surbiton Hill

Nursery, six. Good progress continues to be made towards establishing Spring School, the new 90-place

autism-specific special free school, in September 2023. Work continues regarding the feasibility of

creating a post-16 SEND campus in the borough, which would include 50 new special school sixth form

and college places. In Richmond, 16 specialist places were created in September 2022: a small Strathmore

centre at Darell Primary, six; and a new Social and Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) SRP at

Teddington, 10. Progress towards establishing London River Academy, the 90-place SEMH special school

for children and young people with SEMH needs continues. Proposals to create additional centres for

Clarendon and Strathmore special schools, to provide 80 places in Petersham and 24 places in Hampton

respectively, are advanced and planning applications are due to be made for both.

In Windsor and Maidenhead, we successfully submitted a bid for a 100 place new special free school for

children and young people aged seven to 16, with EHCPs for SEMH needs. The new school will be located

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 10

214



in a new development planned on the western edge of Windsor and we will now move forward to the

next stage of planning. In addition, in September 2023, a new SEND provision is opening at South Ascot

Village School, for ten pupils with Autistic Spectrum Condition. We are also planning to open an early

years readiness hub in September 2024, which will provide interventions to support children who are

unable to self-regulate and so are not yet ready to learn in a mainstream school setting.

The Emotionally Related School Avoidance (ERSA) project has been established to support those children

who experience difficulties attending school, due to a range of factors. Through the project, which operates

in Windsor and Maidenhead, 28 schools have received training, support and consultation on ERSA, have

been given access to a newly created toolkit, and have been provided with additional strategies to help

them to effectively support these children. A further 16 schools will be trained during Spring 2023. A

multi-agency steering group oversees the project, including the development, dissemination, training and

implementation of the ERSA toolkit and further refining the ERSA multi-agency graduated pathway.

Feedback from pupils, parents and the schools has been extremely good.

In Kingston and Richmond our Emotional Health Service (EHS) received over 1,400 referrals during the year,

with 352 referrals received on the neurodevelopmental assessment pathway in relation to Attention Deficit

Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) and Autistic Spectrum Disorder (ASD). This is an increase of 7% from the

previous year. The EHS delivered a range of online groups including low mood groups for young people aged

15-18 years, attended by 22 young people; anxiety groups for young people aged 12-18 years, attended by

29 young people; and groups for parents of anxious primary aged children, with 43 parents in attendance.

We also collaborated with Art and Soul to run two art therapy groups which were accessed successfully by

12 children. We launched our sixth Mental Health Support Team (MHST) in schools, which has meant that

every school in both Kingston and Richmond now has access to an MHST. Over 1,400 children accessed the

MHSTs in 2022-23 for individual or group therapy, which is a 55% increase from the previous year.

AfC’s Virtual School and Virtual College, which operates across all three boroughs, has provided invaluable

support to the educational attainment of our looked after children. In the most recent 2022 examinations,

results for Key Stage 4 improved again and are now significantly above national averages for looked after

children, and our looked after young people with SEND outperformed their national peers at the same level.

At the request of our looked after children, we have been focusing on educational stability, and held a

well-received multi-agency ‘Stability Symposium’ to bring together a range of stakeholders, including

keynote speakers from the Department for Education and Oxford University. As a result of the event, our

children and young people have launched their Education Stability Charter which sets out clearly what they

expect from the organisations that support them. Similarly, during the year we were delighted that a

number of local businesses signed up to our Care Leavers’ Covenant and our Attachment Aware Community

Charter at our Better Futures Business Event, which was organised in collaboration with John Lewis.

With the expansion of Virtual Schools nationally to support all children with a social worker, we have grown

our Attachment Aware Schools Award, which involves a year-long programme of training and support for

schools so they are better able to meet the specific needs of these children and young people. We are now

working with 69 schools as part of the award and as a result of this work, we have seen a reduction in the

number of exclusions. To further strengthen our support for children with a social worker, we have

extended the work of the AfC Virtual School Transition Hub which provides direct support for the children,

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 11

215



their families and their school. In addition, we have developed a new data collection system for capturing

absence and exclusion data for 847 of our children in need daily. The data is shared with social workers, who

have been attending our Virtual School Clinics to receive advice and guidance, to help them provide the

best possible support to the children and young people they work with. We have also been able to use the

data to identify and then visit a number of targeted schools who have benefited from strategic support.

Participation and engagement with children and young people is incredibly important to us. Over the past

12 months we have established regular meetings between the Youth Council and the AfC Board of Directors

to ensure the Board directly hears the voices of children and young people. Board members are also

attending other groups such as the Windsor Girls Forum and Esteem. With funding from Public Health, we

have supported the creation of the Covid Vaccine Youth Champions who led an engagement exercise with

600 young people to better understand young people’s view on the vaccine which then informed future

health service communications and following the success of the sexual harassment survey for girls, we

helped our Youth Council to develop a survey for boys, which was completed by over 300 respondents and

is being used as a way of exploring boys and males understanding of sexual harassment in their schools and

local communities. The findings will be fed back to schools and will help inform their approach to tackling

the issue.

We are also pleased that by being part of our Youth Councils we have supported many young people to

develop their knowledge and skills. For example, members have undertaken accredited training in a number

of areas including: racial literacy, to enable them to explore young people’s experiences of racism which will

be used to update how racist incidents are recorded at schools and youth clubs; and mental health so they

can become youth ambassadors and which has seen them take responsibility for organising the annual

mental health event for young people which takes place as part of Mental Health Awareness Week. 30

members of the Youth Council have also received an accreditation award for their work through the AQA

accreditation examination board, and individual members have been recognised through the Kingston

Mayoral Community Award, the Richmond Community Heroes Award, and the Jack Petchey Environmental

Award.

We have also worked with our Children in Care Councils to support their peers who are being looked after

by our social care services. Over the last year, they have been incredibly busy and have contributed to the

development of the care leavers’ enhanced local offer; assisted in the launch of the HaveMySay app, which

enables children in care to provide feedback whenever they want to; and created baby packs for care

leavers who become parents for the first time. They have also established their own initiatives such as

GetConnected which includes a summer fun day and football camp, and organised the celebration of

achievement awards and the annual residential.

Excellent workforce

Our workforce are now successfully working in line with AfC's Future Space Strategy, maximising the

benefits of remote working at home as well as within community settings and in an office environment with

colleagues. A major new office refurbishment has taken place in the Civic Centre in Twickenham which AfC

will be moving into in April 2023. As well as traditional working space, the new office offers more meeting

space, collaboration zones, social areas and a dedicated client area. Plans for a new office base are being

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 12

216



developed in Kingston with a view to maximising the building assets of the council. As part of the future

workplace programme, we are feeding into the owning Council’s asset strategy ensuring that our business

needs are captured and that we can oversee any accommodation moves which affect our staff. All AfC staff

will be part of a roll out of new devices to help our staff to work smartly and flexibly. AfC is part of the new

softphone roll out, removing the need for landlines and reducing the demand for smartphones.

Our new in-house People and Payroll (HR) service is now well established and driving improvements in HR

processes. This includes supporting the workforce to embrace digital solutions such as recruitment

applicant tracking system, a temporary agency management systems, and a new HR and payroll system,

which is enabling us to improve processing, monitoring, decision making and auditing of HR and payroll

activities. To improve our efficiency, we have reviewed, updated and, where necessary, clarified our

recruitment processes, employee engagement, retention, and ongoing people support. During the year, we

have advertised 421 jobs, with 299 starters, and with a headcount of just over 1,800 we only have a 3.96%

absence rate. Across the year we have also undertaken 1,122 DBS checks across our workforce, enabling us

to meet our ongoing safeguarding responsibilities.

There has been considerable work undertaken to improve the Professional Development Scheme which will

launch in Spring 2023, and we have completed a thorough review of employee recognition within AfC, with

a revised offer also due to launch in Spring 2023. We delivered 12 induction welcome events to a total of

299 new starters and supported 42 newly qualified social workers through the Assessed and Supported Year

in Employment programme. The average satisfaction rate for the induction welcome events across the year

was 4.69 on a scale of 1-5, with 5 being extremely satisfied. The wellbeing offer has continued to grow, with

in person Wellbeing Fairs delivered for the first time since pre-Covid, and an evaluation of the wellbeing

offer for 2023-24 currently underway.

We were delighted to re-launch our annual Staff Awards during 2022-23. The new scheme proved incredibly

popular, with over 250 nominations across the whole organisation, in 11 different categories, including

champion for children, inspirational leader, rising star and outstanding contribution. We had 30 individuals

or team winners, and we came together in person in both operational areas to celebrate their

achievements.

This year has been extremely busy for our Learning and Development service which has delivered 942 live

events with 15,696 attendees from both AfC and our partners. Within AfC we have enabled our staff to

attend 19,565 hours of face to face events, which averages out as 16.5 hours per person against the AfC

head count. We are currently considering different approaches to the delivery of learning and development

provision, with a move away from the more traditional methods of face to face training and a shift towards

desk-top learning opportunities, led by the employee. Our e-learning provision continues to develop and

our offer has increased 56% since last year. Pleasingly, overall evaluation of the learning and development

opportunities that we provide remains high, with 92% of our courses rated good or excellent and 96.7% of

delegates stating they would recommend their course to colleagues.

For a second time in three years, AfC has been approved to be on the Register of Apprenticeship Training

Providers as a main training provider. This enables AfC to continue to develop the apprenticeship scheme

and align it as part of our strategic work on equality and inclusion, maximising its potential to diversify the

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 13

217



workforce in these areas over the coming years. AfC currently has 78 apprentices and 91% of apprentices

progress into an additional apprenticeship, employment or further education or higher education.

We were delighted to have two winners in the national Social Worker of the Year Awards announced in

November 2022. Annmarie Nero, who works in our adolescent safeguarding team won the Children’s Social

Worker of the Year Gold Award, and Mi-gyung Kim, who works in our safeguarding team, won the Newly

Qualified Children’s Social Worker of the Year Silver Award. This is a fantastic achievement, in recognition of

their hard work and commitment in their roles.

As an organisation, we continue to be impacted by recruitment and retention challenges driven by national

shortages of qualified and experienced social workers. To address this, in September 2022, we established a

project group to lead an organisational wide programme with a priority to target the recruitment of

permanent social workers in order to stabilise the social care workforce and reduce the high costs

associated with the use of agency staff. So far we have: held focus groups with staff to identify

improvements in our current recruitment and retention offer; established a recruitment lead partner post

to work specifically with social work teams to fill posts; refreshed our staff benefits to provide staff with

increased annual leave and new parking options; introduced recruitment and retention incentives including

welcome payments and market supplements for social care teams; received approval for a licence for

overseas recruitment; and piloted new recruitment platforms with sponsored job listings and headhunting

functionality to widen our talent pool. Over the coming year, we will continue to focus in this area and will

be evaluating the impact of the actions we have taken to better understand what to continue with going

forward.

To support our recruitment and retention activity, we launched Alive, a digital marketing campaign targeted

at social workers, utilising refreshed adverts, graphics and videos. So far, it has allowed us a reach of

186,000 people, has resulted in 54,000 clicks through to more information on our roles, and has led to 148

expressions of interest being submitted. End of year evaluations are currently underway to review the

success of the campaign and pilots of new recruitment platforms. Recommendations from this work will

inform next steps and project delivery over the coming year.

Our focus on equality, diversity and inclusion (EDI) has remained during 2022-23. Our staff led EDI Board has

continued to be instrumental in driving forward EDI improvements across the organisation. Key activity has

included launching our employee networks- we are delighted to have three fully established networks, led

by staff, that focus on menopause, leaders of all colours and LBGTQI+ and allies. We have successfully

celebrated a number of cultural events, such as Black History Month (BHM) and LBGTQI+ Month. We put on

an extensive programme for BHM in 2022. This included special guest speakers, spotlights on staff from

Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic backgrounds, blogs from senior leaders relating to BHM topics, and a

considerable bank of BHM resources for staff to consider. As one of only 18 local authorities taking part in

the Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) pilot in social care, which was led by the Department for

Health and Social Care, we reported for the first time about the experiences of our Black, Asian and

Minority Ethnic staff based on a number of specific metrics. The WRES aims to gather data and information

about staff to identify any areas of best practice, or any areas for improvement in relation to race and

ethnicity. We will incorporate reporting on the WRES into our annual equalities reporting going forward.

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 14

218



Financial stability

As an organisation we aim to deliver services that provide excellent value for money and we are trusted by

our commissioning councils to deliver the best possible services within an agreed funding envelope. This

year has been an exceptional year and AfC has worked closely with the councils to discuss and explain

financial pressures and agree the correct balance between affordability and impact on services. During the

last 12 months we have delivered £2.571m in savings / cost mitigations and as part of the owning councils’

budget setting processes we have planned £6.481m of future efficiencies / cost mitigations in 2023-24. In

addition we have made good progress in improved value for money and cost mitigation on all of the DSG

funds. Our services continue to benchmark as average or low cost when compared to comparative

boroughs and we continue to explore new ways of improving value for money.

We have begun work to strengthen our business partnering model across the organisation. This includes a

restructure of the finance team in Windsor and Maidenhead, the beginning of a journey towards more

standardised finance processes to improve consistency, and the introduction of divisional review meetings

in Windsor and Maidenhead to improve financial ownership. We have also introduced finance training for

non finance managers and published a series of online resources.

Over the medium term we aim to improve our value for money and control costs by developing our

procurement approach as well as by moving to a more mixed model of commissioned and directly delivered

provision. The opening of Hope House Children's Home and Rainbow House overnight short break care

centre in recent years and Greenleas five years ago, is beginning to assist us in managing costs in the

medium term and reducing our reliance on the placement market where demand is far outstripping supply.

Given the success of this approach, we are delighted that we have recently had approval to develop a new

children’s home with Kingston Council which will be match funded by the Department for Education,

following a successful bid. The home will sit alongside Hope House and give us more options for our difficult

to place young people with complex needs.

Funding of SEND services has been a significant challenge in recent years across all three of our boroughs

and in particular, in Kingston and Richmond. During 2022-23 we have continued to meet and exceed the

requirements of our safety valve funding which was first received in 2021, and which was agreed by the

Department for Education as a result of a concerted effort over recent years to get a fairer funding

settlement from the Government. As a result of the safety value funding, we have established a number of

workstreams to focus on improving the quality of the services provided to children and young people with

SEND whilst ensuring that the service is more financially sustainable.

During the year, the Social Work Teaching Partnership, of which AfC is lead partner, successfully bid for

sustainability funding from the Department for Education (DfE) and also won funding for three additional

continuous improvement projects in 2022-23, totalling over £100,000. The Social Work Teaching Partnership

is also responsible for management of the Step Up to Social Work programme that covers south west

London and Surrey and recently won a new contract from the DfE to deliver this for the second time in

2024, with the majority of preparatory work taking place during 2023.

Achieving for Children's Medium Term Financial Strategy is available on the following link

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 15

219

https://www.achievingforchildren.org.uk/pages/about-us/reports-and-documents


Organisational success

Following on from our success as a Partner in Practice for the Department for Education, we are now a

Sector Led Improvement Partner (SLIP). In this role, we provide support to other local authorities through

collaborative working, by sharing good practice and by providing constructive challenge. Since September

2022, we have been providing support to Reading Borough Council to identify and understand whether

their social care thresholds are efficient and how the function of their Single Point of Access can help them

in timely decision making and overall effectiveness of proceedings. This work has involved seven of our

Heads of Service and Associate Directors and feedback from Reading has been extremely positive. This is

the first time in three years that we have done a deep dive into other Local Authorities processes and we

have learnt a lot on the way that we can bring back into our own services.

As part of our digital offer, during 2022-23, we have provided audio recording support to Lewisham

Council’s children’s services to enable them to audio record their Child Protection Conferences, which will

enable them to deliver conferences more efficiently and effectively.

Our partnership with Richmond Parish Lands Charity has gone from strength to strength during the year.

They now fund a youth engagement project which runs on a Friday and Saturday night from Powerstation

youth club and a perpetrator domestic abuse programme which sits within the strengthening families

programme and our hub model. We have administered over 30 crisis grants and seven education grants as

well as over 50 academic awards to give young people and families the support they need to get through

the cost of living crisis.

We have successfully recommissioned both our short breaks service and our Special Educational Needs and

Disabilities Information, Advice and Advocacy Service (SENDIASS). For short breaks, a successful tender

exercise was completed in the summer of 2022 and the new offer came into effect 1 September 2022. We

have contracted five providers to deliver our provision, both from partners we have previously worked with

but also some new organisations. For SENDIASS, we recently completed a successful procurement exercise

and the new contact has now been awarded and will be implemented from April 2023. This was a real team

effort from colleagues across AfC and our partners, especially Richmond and Kingston Parent Carer Forums.

In September 2022, we bid to the Department for Education's Capital Fund for match funding for a new

children’s home in Kingston. We were delighted to find out in early 2023 that we had been successful and

the project has now been approved by the council. The intention is to build a children’s home to

accommodate between three and five children and young people at any time who may be difficult to place

elsewhere due to their complex needs. The home will be a safe and welcoming space for them where they

can be supported to grow and develop into adulthood. The home will give us more affordable and higher

quality placements for young people in Richmond and Kingston. We expect the project to take between 18 -

24 months to complete.

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 16

220



Smarter working

This year, significant progress has been made in the digital transformation of several key areas within the

organisation. Robotic process automation has been implemented in the Single Point of Access, resulting in

the successful recording of over 3,500 contacts in the last year. In addition, a new automated process has

been developed for the verification of addresses on school place applications, which will streamline the

admissions process for the over 11,000 applications received annually. Digital payment points have been

deployed to nine children's centres in Kingston and Richmond, and digital disbursements have been

introduced to enhance the accessibility of targeted support for service users. A new digital customer

platform has also been introduced, providing an online, self-service option for people who want to evaluate

services, book appointments, send feedback, submit referrals, upload documents, complete questionnaires

and request callbacks. Seventeen processes have been set up so far, with many more in the pipeline for the

coming year including secure online payments and personalised digital experiences. The platform is already

reducing the use of paper forms and saving time by removing the need to download, print, scan and email

forms, enabling a much more convenient way to interact with services. These digital initiatives are expected

to increase efficiency, reduce errors, and improve the overall experience for both staff and service users.

During 2022-23 we have continued our focus on improving our interfaces with our workforce and our

external stakeholders. We have experienced a fantastic response and usage of our new intranet - Connect -

which was named by one of our staff. It provides a new digital workspace that enables staff to work more

collaboratively and to access key information and documents more easily. The most used function is the

People Directory, enabling our teams to find colleagues' contact details across the entire organisation.

In January 2023 we launched our brand new company website which has already had over 7,000 views. The

website has a fresh new look and makes it easier to find information such as fostering and apprenticeships

or links to access services by Council area. We continually work hard to ensure our websites are accessible

and aim to ensure all visitors to the site are able to access our information easily and have the ability to use

a range of digital accessibility tools such as language translators, text mode, audio readers, and changeable

colour themes and fonts.

In the last year we have implemented a new business systems improvement framework which has helped

us to work more closely with operational teams and prioritise the system improvement work which has the

most impact. Funding has been agreed in Kingston and Richmond to improve and support our SEND case

management system and in Windsor and Maidenhead, significant funding has been made available to

implement a new social care and early help system. In order to support our colleagues more effectively and

to minimise the impact of system issues, we are increasing the use of our service desk portal. The portal

enables staff to fix common systems issues themselves and enables complex problems to be resolved more

quickly as all key information is made collected in the initial stages, therefore removing the need to

constantly refer back to the staff member who logged the problem.

We have undertaken a significant amount of work to review and improve our data and intelligence across

the organisation, which has enabled us to undertake more in depth analysis and make more evidence based

decisions. This includes developing new reports for the Early Help Strategic Board, the Families First service,

Family Hubs, Mental Health Schools Team and School Nursing teams.

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 17

221



As well as implementing smart data and digital solutions, we are committed to work smarter by reducing

our environmental impact. During 2022-23 we have been implementing our environment strategy which

was created in 2021-22 based on feedback from children and young people. It sets out our commitment to

reducing our carbon footprint and to identify more ways that we can be environmentally aware. We use our

environment pages on our intranet to communicate to staff about our activity and to share environmental

resources. Recently, we marked 'no disposable cup day’ by linking to the 'Refill' campaign which aims to

connect people to places they can eat, drink and shop with less plastic. We have now launched our cycle to

work scheme across all operational areas for our staff, promoting the benefits of cycling to work, both in

terms of health and wellbeing and the environment, for which takeup has been strong so far. We have

donated over 250 smartphones with our equipment recycling partner. Devices are reused locally or

repurposed into new equipment, meaning less waste goes to landfill and repurposed devices can be shared

with charities or schools, therefore ensuring wider social impact. Our mobile phone provider has committed

to planting trees for each handset we purchase. During the year we have purchased 485 phones meaning

almost 5,000 trees will be planted. Our Youth Councils have led on a climate change campaign and have

been responsible for distributing the £20,000 climate change fund to 18 young people in Kingston and

Richmond to develop their own climate change projects.

2. Risks and risk management

Our risk management framework helps to ensure we identify and manage those risks that could affect our

ability to deliver the company’s objectives. The management of risk is embedded in our day-to-day business

activities, and well-established processes and policies are in place. All of our employees have a role in

reducing risk through our internal control framework. Our principal risks are recorded in our Board

Assurance Framework which is regularly reviewed by the Leadership Team and reported to the Board of

Directors. The Audit and Risk Committee looks in detail at the risks, mitigations that are in place and the

level of assurance available from the Executive. Strategic risks are the direct responsibility of the Leadership

Team and concern the overall direction of the company and its sustainability. Operational risks concern

day-to-day activities which need to be managed in order for services to be delivered. They are managed and

monitored by individual service managers.

Details of the Company’s financial instrument risks are set out in Note 23 of our accounts. These are not

regarded as material to an understanding of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the

Company. The following table details the high level strategic risks that are not related to financial

instruments:

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 18

222



POTENTIAL RISK DESCRIPTION IMPACT OF RISK IF IT MATERIALISED RISK MITIGATION

Potential risk that we do not keep children,

young people and families safe and

supported

A child is not safeguarded and experiences harm,

failure to deliver statutory duty, reputational

damage, needs of children and families escalate

Employment of experienced and qualified staff,
appointment of Directors of Children's Services with
statutory oversight and responsibility, internal audit of
processes and policies, external inspections of services,
quality assurance processes, clear reporting
mechanisms and lessons learned

Potential risk that we do not deliver services
that align with our councils' priorities

Children, young people and families do not receive a
consistent offer from all borough services, councils
lose confidence in the AFC delivery model and do
not renew contracts

Senior leaders part of council leadership teams, DCSs
are seconded from the councils, joint work on key
strategies and approval via council committees and Joint
Ownership Board, regular contract monitoring
meetings, annual review of priorities and budgets

Potential risk that we do not have a skilled
workforce that is safe, happy and healthy.

Quality of services falls below required standards,

children and young people do not have consistency

of key professionals which impacts outcomes,

insufficient knowledge and experience to meet

statutory duties, services are more expensive as AfC

becomes reliant on more expensive agency staff

Workforce strategies to support coordinated approach

to recruitment and retention, ongoing recruitment

activity, periodic review of AfC staff offer, experienced

HR professionals, targeted recruitment campaigns, well

established workforce development offer, recruitment

checks

Potential risk that services become
unaffordable and do not represent value for
money

Services are no longer affordable for our
commissioning councils and contracts are not
renewed, preventative services are reduced to
support statutory services, reputational damage

Budget agreed annually with each council including
growth, savings and inflation, monthly monitoring and
reporting of budgets internally and externally, periodic
benchmarking of services, ongoing review of how
money is prioritised

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 19

223



Potential risk that we do not comply with
corporate statutory responsibilities

AfC is not statutorily compliant leading to fines and
reputational damage

Statutory compliance register held by Chief Operating

Officer and reviewed quarterly by the Audit and Risk

Committee, Employment of suitable qualified staff,

Board Assurance Framework

Potential risk that we are not known to or
trusted to deliver quality services and advice

Children, young people and other key stakeholders
lose confidence in our ability to support them /
deliver good quality children's services, councils do
not renew contracts, we are unable to bid for grant
funding, reputational damage, increased complaints

Established Quality Assurance Framework with quarterly
reporting on quality of services and associated
improvement plans, surveys to assess service user
satisfaction, improvement plans where issues identified,
oversight of services by experienced leadership teams
and professionals, established Communications Team.

Potential risk that external threats
compromise the deliverability of our
objectives

Failure to provide safe, effective, responsible and
affordable services. The commissioning councils
revise their commissioning services due to
inconsistent statistical priorities or financial
difficulties.

An established hybrid working regime with the ability
for staff to work from home. Increased focus on
cybersecurity with a prioritised programme plan for ICT,
business system development and digital improvement.
Clear protocol for delivery of children’s services detailing
critical tasks that need to be delivered against the key
elements of the Children's Act.
Monthly budget monitoring to regularly look at spend
compared to budget. The Commissioning Board meets
monthly to discuss high risk procurement and plan
re-procurement.

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 20

224



3. Our Finances

The Company was incorporated on 5 February 2014 and commenced trading on 1 April 2014. The majority

of its revenue comes from its contract with the three owning Councils for the provision of children’s

services. This income totalled £196 million in 2022/23 (£181m in 2021/22) which represents 90% (91% in

2021/22) of total income (on a management accounts rather than financial accounts basis).

Management Accounts Position

The Company has spent £218 million (£200 million in 2021/22) in the delivery of services. Needs led and

Social Care staffing budgets remain the biggest financial pressure for the Company and have been the

subject of significant contract price adjustment during the year. The Commissioning Councils agreed to all

requests for contract price change controls during the year. The increased contract funding relates to

Social Care staff and placements, SEN Transport, SEN legal costs and high needs education services (funded

by the ringfenced Dedicated Schools Grant) as follows:

General Fund
Dedicated Schools

Grant Fund Total
£000 £000 £000

Richmond Contract 2,501 1,730 4,231

Kingston Contract 2,173 4,844 7,017

Windsor and Maidenhead Contract 769 459 1,228

Total 5,443 7,033 12,476

The final outturn after change controls was as follows:

Expenditure Income

Overspend/(un

derspend)

after EOY

change

controls

£000 £000 £000

Operational Strategic Management 2,020 1,818 (202)

Social Care and Early Help 87,592 87,245 (347)

Special Educational Needs and Children with Disabilities 94,257 94,957 700

Education 12,606 12,474 (133)

Public Health 1,580 1,598 18

Business Services 20,141 20,104 (37)

Total 218,196 218,196 0

Financial Statements

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 21

225



For the reporting period the Company made a trading loss of £11.741m (2021/22 loss £12.445m) and

reported a total comprehensive income of £73.142m (2021/22 income £14.6m) which is attributable to its

parent Councils in accordance with their share of ownership (Richmond 40%, Kingston 40%, Windsor &

Maidenhead 20%). The loss comprises:

2022/23
£000

2021/22
£000

Trading Profit / (loss) (11,741) (12,445)

Other comprehensive income/expense
(re-measure of net defined benefit liability) 84,883 27,045

Total comprehensive (expense)/income 73,142 14,600

For the reporting period, the main differences between the Company’s outturn in its management

accounts report and its trading loss reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income are related to

pension adjustments under IAS 19. The difference between the loss from continuing operations and the

position for total comprehensive income of £73.142 million is due to re-measurement of the pension

liability under IAS 19. A full reconciliation between the management accounts position and the financial

accounts position is detailed in Note 9 to the Accounts.

The Statement of Financial Position, or Balance Sheet, includes a net pension liability of £1.577 million

(£76.082 million at 31 March 2022). The significant decrease is predominantly due to the combination of a

higher discount rate, higher CPI/pension increases and an increase in longevity for current and future

pensioners. The majority of the Company’s employees are members of the Local Government Pension

Scheme (LGPS) which is a defined benefit scheme. When the Company started trading on 1 April 2014, the

majority of its staff transferred their employment from the Councils into the Company under TUPE, which

included transferring their membership of the LGPS to the Company. The Company is an employer in the

LGPS scheme, within the two pension funds administered by Wandsworth (Richmond) and Kingston

Councils.

The net pension liability at 31 March 2022 is calculated under the provisions of IAS 19 whereas the

employer’s pension contributions that the Company actually makes to the pension funds are based on an

actuarial valuation undertaken under the rules of the LGPS. The Company’s contributions are re-assessed

at each triennial valuation for pension funds in the LGPS. The most recent valuation was carried out as at

March 2022 and has resulted in an increase in employer contribution rates from 19% to 19.9% (effective

1st April 2023). The next triennial valuation will be undertaken in 2025/26 with new employer

contribution rates effective from 1st April 2026.

The Company holds assets (trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, non-current assets)

totalling £56.154 million at 31 March 2023 (£58.193 million at 31 March 2022). The assets relate to Trade

and Other Receivables, Cash and Cash Equivalents and Non current assets. A significant value of ‘Right of

Use’ assets were written on to the Balance Sheet in 2019/20 to reflect the accounting requirements of IFRS

16. The majority of assets are leased from the company’s three owning councils and relate to buildings

and vehicles used in the delivery of contractual services.

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 22

226



Financial Support from the Company’s Owners

The Councils are contracted with the Company for a minimum period of seven years from 1st April 2014

(Richmond and Kingston) and 1st August 2017 (Windsor and Maidenhead). Richmond and Kingston agreed

to utilise the option to extend the contract period by another five years to the end of March 2026. The

contract prices are agreed annually to take into account changes in service requirements, inflationary and

other cost pressures on the Company, and the need for cost reductions to be identified so that the

Company can deliver value for money and contribute to the Councils’ overall financial targets.

In addition to the annual review of the contract prices, the Company can request additional funding under

a ‘change control’ provision in the contract when the Company is faced with additional costs, for example

from increases in the number of children requiring services.

In terms of its liquidity, the Company can borrow from the Councils under the Revolving Credit Facility of

£45 million. This provides funding to the Company to cover cash flow, losses and any investment

requirements.

Future Financial Plans

The Company has prepared a Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) which forecasts its income and

expenditure and financial risks over the next three years. The emphasis of the MTFS is on maintaining

financial sustainability given the challenging funding context for children’s and education services

nationally. The Plan includes details of how the Company intends to meet the Councils’ cost reduction

targets in the medium term, continue to provide value for money and links directly to the Company’s

Business Plan.

Going Concern

Achieving for Children CIC has been assessed by the Directors as a Going Concern. Despite the negative

equity position reported in these Accounts, the Board and Leadership Team have made significant progress

in identifying how these financial challenges will be met and continue to develop these plans. The Board’s

Medium Term Financial Strategy outlines these financial plans in more detail and addresses what actions

are being taken to reduce the Company’s cost base to accommodate proposed reductions in the owners’

contract prices over the next three years. As with the parent Councils, the Company will revise pension

contributions in line with the most up to date actuarial assessment and guidance. The increased cost is

fully funded under the contracts with the Councils as they represent an unavoidable cost of delivering

children's services. The Company is wholly owned by three Councils who are determined to be Going

Concerns. The Company is able to borrow from the councils under a Revolving Credit Facility to support

short term cash flow and the councils are contractually committed to procuring children’s services from

AfC until 31 March 2026 in Richmond and Kingston, and until August 2024 in Windsor and Maidenhead.

The contracts with the three owning councils represent 90% of revenue, whilst the remaining income is

generated through work with schools and other Local Authorities. Due to the funding nature of local

authorities and schools, the risk of permanent default of payment for current and future commitments is

low.

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 23

227



4. Looking Forward

During 2022-23 we refreshed our business plan for 2020-24 - Achieving more for Children - which sets out

how we will deliver excellent services, meet growing and changing local needs, operate our business more

efficiently and commercially, and secure our long-term financial sustainability. It can be found via this link.

The priorities in our business plan are based on a sound understanding of the local needs in each of the

three local authority areas. A strong evidence base for the plan was developed using demographic trends,

performance data and the needs analyses alongside more qualitative feedback about the effectiveness and

impact of our services.

To make sense of all of this information we held a Big Conversation which involved a series of listening

events with children, young people, parents, carers, partner organisations in the statutory and voluntary

sectors, the councils and our own employees. These enabled us to ensure that our plan is aligned with the

strategic priorities of our owning councils in their corporate plans and with our strategic partners.

Our focus over the coming years will be on continuing the delivery of safe and high quality services for

children, young people and families. We will ensure our early help and health services remain strong, our

children’s social care services effectively safeguard and care for children and young people, and we meet

the needs of those with special educational needs and disabilities. We will maintain our reputation as an

excellent provider of educational support services, including working with our commissioning Councils to

provide sufficient school places.

Based on our vision and ambitions, we have identified six strategic priorities for our business plan for the

next four years.

Strategic
priority

What we will achieve for children and young
people?

Why is this important?

Stronger

families

We will have a relentless focus on safeguarding

children and young people across all our services.

The services we deliver will be high quality and will

protect and promote the wellbeing of children and

young people by promoting family resilience. We

will work collaboratively with our key partners to

ensure we are able to realise the benefits of joint

working to support our children, young people and

families.

Ensuring children and young people are safe from

harm is our core business. We want to build

resilience in our families and communities so that

they are better able to help, support and protect

children without the need for statutory

intervention. As part of this, we want to ensure our

relationships with key partners are strong and that

our families really benefit from collaboration and

joined-up working.

Positive

futures

We will invest and work collaboratively to improve

our local education, health and care offer to

children and young people so that they have

It is crucial that we provide the right support at the

right time. This will enable us to help children and

young people to develop their independence and

prepare for adulthood. Putting in place local

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 24

228

https://www.achievingforchildren.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/doc-Business-plan-2021-24-refresh.pdf


access to high quality services, are able to stay

close to their families and friends, achieve well,

and develop their skills for independence.

provision means children and young people can

stay close to their families and essential support

networks and they can benefit from our integrated

services giving them the best chance for a positive

future.

Excellent

workforce

Our workforce will be experienced, talented,

empowered and motivated to deliver the best

possible services and outcomes for children and

young people. We will invest in the recruitment,

retention and development of our workforce and

reward their achievements.

Feedback from children, young people and families

always emphasises the importance of a consistent,

skilled and motivated workforce. We want to make

AfC a place where people want to come and work

and a company that they are proud to tell their

family and friends that they work for.

Financial

stability

The services we deliver will provide excellent value

for money and we are trusted by our

commissioning councils to deliver the best possible

services within the agreed contract price, including

the efficient delivery of our financial savings plans.

Given the financial context, nationally and locally,
it is essential that we are focused on delivering
efficient, cost-effective and financially sustainable
services so we are able to support those most in
need.

Successful

organisation

We will secure the sustainabilIty of the community

interest company through contract renewal,

business development, fundraising and good

growth, so that we are able to reinvest in the

services we deliver directly to children and their

families.

As the needs of young people and our owning

councils change we will develop and adapt our

business and delivery models to ensure we

continue to meet their needs and offer value for

money.

Smarter

working

Our business processes will be efficient,

cost-effective and supportive to frontline

practitioners so that they are able to spend as

much time as possible working directly with

children, young people and their families to

improve outcomes for them.

Better business processes and effective use of new

digital technologies will allow our workforce to

reduce the amount of time they spend on

unnecessary paperwork and bureaucracy, freeing

them up to spend more time with the children,

young people and families we support.

Signed on behalf of the Board:

Si n Wicksȃ
Chair of the AfC Board of Directors

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 25

229



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
6. Our governance arrangements

6.1 Achieving for Children as a Company

We deliver education and children’s services to children and families in Kingston and Richmond upon

Thames and the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead. Our services fall into six areas shown in the

diagram below. Taken together, these services describe how we will deliver our ambition to ensure that all

children and young people live safe, happy and successful lives.

Early Help

● Childcare

● Early years education

● Children’s centres

● Family support

● Targeted youth support

● School attendance

● Education welfare

● Youth services

● Substance misuse services

● Health visiting

● School nursing

Social Care

● Statutory assessments and care planning

● Services for looked-after children

● Services for care leavers

● Fostering

● Adoption

● Placement brokerage and commissioning

Education

● School place planning

● School admissions

● Student services

● School improvement

● School leadership development

● Alternative education provision

● Governor support

● Apprenticeships and access to employment

● School nurses (in Windsor and Maidenhead)

Special Educational Needs, Disabilities and Health

Services

● Educational psychology

● Special educational needs

● Integrated services for children with disabilities

● Emotional health and wellbeing

● Home to school transport

Business Services

● Risk management and business continuity planning

● Safety and premises management

● ICT and business systems

● Information Governance

● Business intelligence and improvement

● Business systems support

● Strategy, policy and transformation

● Workforce development and Human Resources

● Marketing, communications and business development

● Financial planning and monitoring

● Accountancy services

● Schools’ finance

● Procurement and strategic commissioning

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 26

230



Our workforce

As at 31 March 2023, Achieving for Children has 1,842 employees (equating to 1,190 actual full time

equivalent employees and 1,119 budgeted full time equivalent employees), excluding agency workers. Our

employees come from a broad range of professional disciplines including social work, teaching, health

services and public sector management. We work hard to ensure that our workforce represents the

diversity of the children and young people we work with. We are committed to the recruitment, training,

development and promotion of people with disabilities.

Please note that the following information covers a snapshot of workforce data as at 31st March 2023.

Figures include all permanent, casual and temporary staff but excludes agency workers. Percentages in the

sections below show the proportion of employees for which equalities data is known and recorded and

therefore, percentages reflect the known numbers. The unknown numbers are excluded when calculating

percentages (unknown = no information is held about an employee’s protected characteristics and no

assumptions have been made. This includes those who prefer not to say).

● 80.6% of our employees are female, an increase of 1.6% from March 2021.

● 25% of our employees who declare their ethnicity are from a Black, Asian or Minority Ethnic

(BAME) background

● 7% of our employees reported that they had a disability, an increase on the previous year.

● The largest faith group within our workforce is Christian at 27.8%. Employees with no faith or

religion or who did not declare their religion account for 64.6% of the workforce.

● The majority of employees are aged between 30 and 50, which equates to 34% of the

organisation.

● 30.2% of our employees are married or in a civil partnership; 25.8% are single; and of the data we

hold, 6.6% have a partner.

● Of the data we hold, over 2.0% of our employees are gay, lesbian, bi-sexual or other.

To ensure our employees are kept informed, consulted and involved in the development of the company,

Achieving for Children uses a wide range of communication channels. This includes a weekly e-news

bulletin to all employees, regular video blogs by the Directors of Children’s Services and directorate based

all staff briefings. Informal drop-in sessions are held by Senior Leaders across AfC, which allow an

opportunity for employees to raise issues and concerns. There is an annual leadership summit and regular

management meetings. Managers are responsible for feeding back information to employees through

regular team meetings and supervision sessions. The work of the Board of Directors is shared with

employees through meeting summaries which are produced after each Board meeting. The Non-Executive

Independent Directors visit services to meet and speak with employees so that they have a rounded

understanding of the services provided to children and their families.

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 27

231



Gender Pay Gap

Under the Equality Act 2010 (Specific Duties and Public Authorities) Regulations 2017, public sector

employers with 250 or more employees are required to publish a snapshot of their workforce data.

The following paragraphs summarise the latest findings from the 2021 published report:

 
● 79.0% of our workforce are women;

● 80.0% of the top quartile of earners are women;

● The average hourly pay for women is -2.82% lower than for men. This means women have a higher

average hourly pay; and

● The median hourly pay for women is -2.49% lower than for men. This means women have a higher

median hourly rate of pay.

The gender pay gap is not about equal pay for men and women. It is the difference between the average

and median pay of men and women. It does not measure equal pay, which relates to what women and men

are paid for the same jobs or work of equal value. In Achieving for Children equal pay is addressed through

our job evaluation scheme.

 
The data required by the Government is a fairly simplistic indicator of a complex set of issues. Our ambition

is to ensure equality of opportunity for women.

Our partners

We know that excellent children’s services cannot be delivered in isolation. We have worked with health

services, the police, schools and organisations in the voluntary sector to make sure our services are relevant

and responsive to the needs of local children and families. Senior leaders from the company represent the

interests of children’s services on a number of statutory partnership bodies, including the Health and

Wellbeing Boards, Community Safety Partnerships and the Children’s Safeguarding Partnerships.

We work closely with our owning councils to ensure our plans align with their strategic planning. This is

demonstrated by our involvement in the development of corporate plans in both Kingston and Richmond,

and the drafting of the new children and young people’s plan (CYPP) in Richmond.

Our commitment to partnership working is evident in the way in which we engage with children and young

people and their families. We know that children and young people and their parents and carers are best

supported if they are able to shape and determine the services they receive. For example, during the past

12 months we were pleased to establish regular meetings between the Achieving for Children Board and

our Youth Council to ensure our Board Directors can directly hear from children and young people.

Looking ahead, we will be undertaking significant consultation with our key stakeholders as we develop our

new AfC business plan, and look to review and refresh our SEND Futures plans in Kingston and Richmond.

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 28

232



Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR)

Under changes introduced by the 2018 Regulations, large unquoted companies and large LLPs are obliged to

report their UK energy use and associated greenhouse gas emissions as a minimum relating to gas,

electricity and transport fuel, as well as an intensity ratio and information relating to energy efficiency

action, through their annual reports.

The data included is based in the GHG Protocol Corporate Standards, described below:

● Scope 1 (Direct emissions): Emissions from activities owned or controlled by your organisation that

release emissions into the atmosphere. They are direct emissions. Examples of scope 1 emissions

include emissions from combustion in owned or controlled boilers, furnaces, vehicles; emissions

from chemical production in owned or controlled process equipment.

● Scope 2 (Energy indirect): Emissions released into the atmosphere associated with your

consumption of purchased electricity, heat, steam and cooling. These are indirect emissions that are

a consequence of your organisation’s activities but which occur at sources you do not own or

control.

● Scope 3 (Other indirect): Emissions that are a consequence of your actions, which occur at sources

which you do not own or control and which are not classed as scope 2 emissions. Examples of scope

3 emissions are business travel by means not owned or controlled by your organisation, waste

disposal which is not owned or controlled, or purchased materials or fuels.

UK Greenhouse gas emissions and energy use data for the period 1 April

2022 to 31 March 2023

CO2e

2022 - 2023

Scope 1 emissions in metric tonnes CO2e

There is no data to report under scope 1 0

Scope 2 emissions in metric tonnes CO2e

Business travel in passenger vehicles - SEND Transport Taxis 910

Business travel in employee owned vehicles 299

Scope 3 emissions in metric tonnes CO2e

Electricity consumed within the buildings which AfC occupy that is

purchased and controlled by our owning Councils. AfC are recharged based

on usage. (see note 1)

1,001

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 29

233



UK Greenhouse gas emissions and energy use data for the period 1 April

2022 to 31 March 2023

CO2e

2022 - 2023

SEND Transport Fleet 356

Zipcar contract 30

Total gross emissions in metric tonnes CO2e 2,596

Intensity ratio Tonnes CO2e per employee 1:2.3

Note 1: AfC provides services from 70 buildings across three local authorities. All buildings are Council

owned and the utilities are managed by the owning Councils (our landlord). AfC has different lease

agreements per building and we have been unable to extract the exact data for some of its buildings due to

how we are recharged. We have made the assumption of electricity used for the whole company based on

buildings where we know the electricity used for the year (KWh), and total AfC occupancy within the

building. We have taken an average of Kwh per employee and scaled up to provide an estimate for the

company as a whole.

Quantification and reporting methodology

We have followed the 2019 HM Government Environmental Reporting Guidelines. We have also used the

GHG Reporting Protocol – Corporate Standard and have used the 2020 UK Government's Conversion Factors

for Company Reporting. Government conversion factors for company reporting of greenhouse gas emissions

- GOV.UK

Measures taken to improve energy efficiency

Achieving for Children has developed and published its own Environment Strategy. The aim of the strategy

is to highlight areas where Achieving for Children can reduce its carbon footprint and improve reporting

mechanisms to demonstrate impact.

The Covid-19 pandemic has provided an opportunity to look at how we can deliver services more flexibly,

enabling staff to work from home more frequently. Achieving for Children, in collaboration with its owning

Councils are reducing office space by up to 50% which will reduce the requirement for high consumptions of

electricity, gas and water.

By enabling a more virtual workforce, we hope to reduce travel to and from the workplace as well as

between sites. As a relationship based organisation, delivering statutory services, face to face to support is

unavoidable and we recognise that travel will remain an essential part of our business. Travel through

means such as cycling or by public transport are encouraged where possible. As part of AfC’s and the

Council’s climate change action plans, we will endeavour to look at alternatives which are more favourable,

for example electric fleet cars and continue to promote initiatives such as the cycle to work scheme.

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 30

234

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/government-conversion-factors-for-company-reporting
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/government-conversion-factors-for-company-reporting
https://kr.afcinfo.org.uk/pages/about-us/reports-and-documents/environment-strategy


AfC’s Digital Board are an integral part of AfC’s Environment Strategy, providing digital solutions which in

turn will reduce our carbon footprint. For example, through the use of online meetings and providing staff

with appropriate devices, AfC has managed to drastically reduce the amount of paper we print.

AfC is responsible for delivering a transport service for children with special educational needs and

disabilities, to and from their education provider. Over the coming years AfC will be renewing its current

fleet contract to ensure that the vehicles provided as part of the contract are Euro 6 compliant. The

ambition is to transition to electric vehicles as soon as a suitable replacement which matches the current

specification is available.

6.2 Governance

Ownership

The Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames (40%), London Borough of Richmond upon Thames (40%) and

Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead (20%) are the joint owners of Achieving for Children, which is a

community interest company limited by guarantee. The responsibilities and decisions they retain as owners

are set out in an inter-authority agreement. The Councils fulfil their ownership role through a Joint

Ownership Board and also through their established Committee/Cabinet structures. There is also a Joint

Committee which meets as a dispute resolution mechanism if required. The Committees are responsible

for ensuring that ownership decisions are made in the best interests of Achieving for Children and that

there is strategic alignment with the three owning councils. To ensure the role of company owners in the

governance of the company is explicit there is a clear scheme of delegated authority. The Reserved Matters

are structured according to bands as set out below along with the associated decision making

arrangements:

Band 1- reserved to the founding members and require both Kingston and Richmond to

unanimously agree to pass. These are matters that relate to the company size and form.

These decisions are taken by the Full Council of each relevant owning council.

Band 2- matters that require 75% of the votes of all members (special resolution) to be cast in

favour to pass. These are matters that are required in law to be a special resolution and are

taken by the Chief Executive in consultation with the Leader of each Council.

Band 3 – matters require the majority of votes by the members to be cast in favour to pass. These

decisions are taken by each council's established Committee / Cabinet.

More information about Achieving for Childrens governance arrangements is available on the following

links:

2020 Governance Review

Governance Summary

Operational commissioning decisions and performance review is delegated to a number of specialised

officer boards that meet regularly throughout the year with membership including strategic finance leads

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 31

235

https://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s29683/Governance%20proposed%20next%20steps%20January%202020_240220.pdf
https://moderngov.kingston.gov.uk/documents/s72629/AfC%20Joint%20Cttee%20200317%20public%20pack.pdf


from each commissioning council and AfC, the Director of Children’s Services for each borough, Lead

Commissioners from each borough and other relevant officers.

Financial Governance Arrangements

The Council owners exert a degree of financial control over the Company. In particular the owners have to

approve:

● The Company’s Business Plan, including its budget

● The Company’s Treasury Plan

● Any contract for revenue expenditure that has a total value of more than £10 million or any capital

investment of more than £10,000

The Councils provide funding to the Company through a Revolving Credit Facility. This is a short-term loan

facility that provides working capital, investment finance and funds any losses for the Company. The

Councils closely monitor the Company’s financial performance through the Operational Commissioning

Group.

In addition to the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, as a community interest company Achieving for

Children is governed by the Companies (Audit, Investigations and Community Enterprise) Act 2004 and the

Community Interest Company Regulations 2005. The Company is established as a not-for-profit

organisation and seeks to provide value for money services to the Councils – any surplus that is made is

earmarked for investment in children’s services. The Company trades primarily with its parent Councils and

other entities involved in providing children’s services within the UK. The company is domiciled in the UK for

tax purposes. The Company does not make any donations or provide any support to political parties.

Board of Directors

The AfC Board of Directors is the body appointed by the councils to oversee the activity of the Company.

The councils, as owners of the company, reserve the power to appoint all directors.

The composition of the Board when there are no director vacancies is as follows:

Board Composition

1 x Executive Directors

6 x Council Appointed Directors (max 2 x per member)

3 x Non-Executive Independent Directors

11 TOTAL

The governance arrangements for the company are set out in its Articles of Association. Board Directors are

appointed for the skills and experience that they bring, and have responsibility for overseeing the

management of the company and for providing advice to the owners on its future direction and strategy.

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 32

236



Each of the Non-Executive Independent Directors leads on a particular service area or priority and regularly

visits services to meet with employees and service-users in order to maintain an overview of performance.

Directors of the Company in 2022/23 were:

DIRECTOR MEMBERSHIP OF BOARD

From To

Executive Directors

Lucy Kourpas 01/01/2020 -

Council Appointed Directors

Kevin McDaniel 20/08/2018 -

Nikki Craig 20/08/2018 -

Charlotte Rohan 01/04/2019 -

Jeremy Desouza 04/01/2022 -

Anna Sadler 14/06/2021 -

Samantha Morrison 24/11/2021 -

Non Executive Independent Directors

Sian Wicks 11/09/2017 -

Martin Spencer 14/06/2021 -

Nathan Nagaiah 01/06/2021 -

Board Committee Meetings and Attendance

The Board has established an Audit and Risk Committee to liaise with the company’s internal and external

auditors and advise the Board on audit and risk matters. The Committee has reviewed risk management

and assurance and the company’s risk register and has received regular updates on progress of the internal

audit plan that provides assurance against any significant control weaknesses.

Meetings of the Board and Committees were held during 2022/23 as follows:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

23rd May 2022 27th June 2022

25th July 2022 10th October 2022

24th October 2022 16th January 2023

19th December 2022 13th March 2023

30th January 2023

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 33

237



The following table shows the attendance at meetings in 2022/23:

DIRECTOR

ATTENDANCE AT BOARD

OF DIRECTORS

ATTENDANCE AT AUDIT

AND RISK COMMITTEE

MEMBERSHIP OF BOARD

(IN YEAR)

POTENTIAL ACTUAL POTENTIAL ACTUAL From To

Sian Wicks (Chair) 5 4 4 0 01/04/2022 31/03/2023

Martin Spencer 5 4 4 4 01/04/2022 31/03/2023

Nathan Nagaiah 5 5 4 3 01/04/2022 31/03/2023

Lucy Kourpas 5 5 4 4 01/04/2022 31/03/2023

Jeremy Desouza 5 3 4 2 01/04/2022 31/03/2023

Anna Sadler 5 4 4 4 01/04/2022 31/03/2023

Kevin McDaniel 5 2 4 3 01/04/2022 31/03/2023

Nikki Craig 5 4 4 2 01/04/2022 31/03/2023

Charlotte Rohan 5 5 4 4 01/04/2022 31/03/2023

Sam Morrison 5 4 4 3 01/04/2022 31/03/2023

Remuneration of Directors

There are different arrangements for setting the remuneration of Board Directors:

a) Executive Directors employed by AfC have their terms and conditions determined by the Company.

b) Council Appointed Directors are employed by the three Councils and have substantive roles within

their employing council. Their terms of employment are determined by the employing Council and

relate to their service to the Council. Their service on the Board of Achieving for Children is not

remunerated and no costs are charged to the company for their services.

c) Non-Executive Independent Directors are part time directors of Achieving for Children and their

remuneration is based on a daily rate that includes attendance at Board and Committee meetings

and associated work. Their appointment and terms are determined by the Councils.

Non-Executive Independent Directors (NEID) are appointed by the Councils acting as the owners of the

Company in a general meeting. Their remuneration is based on a daily rate of £495 and covers all meetings

and preparation work. An enhanced rate of £550 per day was introduced for the Chair of the Board from

February 2021.

Executive Directors receive remuneration as part of their executive role in the Company and do not receive

an additional allowance for being a Board Director.

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 34

238



The remuneration for Directors of the Company (where they are paid directly by AfC) is set out below:

SALARY

NATIONAL

INSURANCE

PENSION

BENEFITS

OTHER

EXPENSES TOTAL

£ £ £ £ £

Sian Wicks NEID 2022/23 8,529 523 505 0 9,557

2021/22 17,848 1,041 2,085 0 20,973

Martin Spencer NEID 2022/23 5,156 322 0 0 5478

2021/22 7,207 491 0 0 7,698

Nathan Nagaiah NEID 2022/23 4,534 216 0 0 4750

2021/22 6,113 442 0 0 6,555

Catherine Jervis NEID 2022/23 0 0 0 0 0

part year 2021/22 2,085 271 0 0 2,356

Lucy Kourpas

Exec

Director 2022/23 138,305 19,631 27,418 0 185,354

2021/22 133,222 17,164 25,312 0 175,699

TOTAL 2022/23 156,524 20,692 27,923 0 205,139

2021/22 166,475 19,409 27,397 0 213,281

Remuneration of Council appointed directors

Council appointed directors serve as part of their duties to their Councils, and they receive no additional

remuneration in respect of these appointments. They are not remunerated by Achieving for Children nor

does the Company bear any charge for their services as directors. Their remuneration is published in the

accounts of their respective Councils and is available on their websites:

Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames

London Borough of Richmond upon Thames

Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead

Remuneration of Senior Management of the Company

The Board of Directors has delegated the responsibility for the day to day running of Achieving for Children

to the Company Leadership Team. These delegations are detailed in a Scheme of Delegation. The

organisation’s directors are responsible for ensuring the company achieves the ambitions and strategy set

by the Board of Directors, and delivers the best possible services for children and their families in line with

our contract with the commissioning Councils.

The following table provides details of the 2022/23 Extended Company Leadership Team membership.

Officers are only members of the Board of Directors if they appear in the table summarising Board

membership above.

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 35

239

https://www.kingston.gov.uk/finance-budgets/accounts?documentId=532&categoryId=20151
https://www.richmond.gov.uk/budgets_and_spending
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/council-and-democracy/budgets-and-spending


Company Senior Leadership Team (extended) Start date End Date

Lucy Kourpas Chief Operating Officer and Finance Officer (all

contracts)

January

2020

current

Ian Dodds Director of Children’s Services (Richmond and Kingston

contract)

January

2020

current

Kevin McDaniel Director of Children’s Services (Windsor and

Maidenhead contract)

August

2017

June 2022

Alison Twynam Director of Social Care (Richmond and Kingston

contract)

April 2014 current

Lin Ferguson Director of Social Care (Windsor and Maidenhead

contract)

August

2017

June 2022

Lin Ferguson Director of Children’s Services (Windsor and

Maidenhead contract)

June 2022 current

Charis Penfold Director of Education Services (Richmond and Kingston

contract)

April 2014 current

Clive Haines Deputy Director of Education (Windsor and Maidenhead

contract)

January

2020

July 2022

Sarah Moran Deputy Director of Social Care (Windsor and

Maidenhead contract)

July 2022 current

The remuneration of each member of the Extended Company Senior Leadership Team in 2022/23 was:

SALARY

NATIONAL

INSURANCE

PENSION

BENEFITS

OTHER

EXPENSES TOTAL

£ £ £ £ £

Kevin

McDaniel Part Year 2022/23 21,080 2,944 3,183 0 27,207

2021/22 124,000 15,892 18,724 0 158,616

Ian Dodds 2022/23 159,100 21,780 38,507 0 219,387

2021/22 147,175 19,090 35,911 0 202,176

Alison

Twynam 2022/23 127,510 18,659 42,560 95 188,824

2021/22 114,650 14,601 27,975 103 157,329

Lin

Ferguson 2022/23 116,828 15,641 17,641 0 150,110

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 36

240



2021/22 104,873 13,252 15,836 0 133,961

Charis

Penfold 2022/23 115,026 15,374 21,855 402 152,657

2021/22 111,273 14,135 21,142 295 146,845

Clive Haines 2022/23 75,475 9,640 14,340 0 99,455

2021/22 67,441 8,086 12,814 199 88,540

Sarah

Moran Part Year 2022/23 32,667 4,090 6,207 0 42,964

2021/22 0 0 0 0 0

Jessica

Thom 2022/23 0 0 0 0 0

Part Year 2021/22 22,443 2,792 0 0 25,235

Lucy

Kourpas 2022/23 138,305 19,631 27,418 0 185,354

2021/22 133,222 17,164 25,312 0 175,698

Review of Governance and Internal Control

The Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for advising the Board on the adequacy and effectiveness of

the Company’s governance, risk management, internal control, treasury management and value for money

systems and frameworks.

The governance review arrangements require that the Chief Operating and Finance Officer and each

Director of Children Services carry out a review of the effectiveness of internal control for their respective

areas of responsibility. The arrangements are reviewed by the Chief Operating Officer into an overarching

Statement of Internal Control and reported to the Audit and Risk Committee. The Audit and Risk

Committee agreed the Statement of Internal Control at its meeting in March 2023 and advised the Board

that the Company had adequate and effective arrangements in place in relation to Company’s governance,

risk management, internal control, treasury management and value for money systems and frameworks.

6.3 Directors’ Responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report that includes the Strategic Report and

Directors’ Report, and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Accordingly, the

directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with International Financial

Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the United Kingdom. Under company law, the directors must not

approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of

affairs and profit or loss of the Company for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the

directors are required to:

● select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 37

241



● make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

● state whether IFRSs as adopted by the UK have been followed, subject to any material departures

disclosed and explained in the Group and Parent Company Financial Statements respectively; and

● prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume

that the Company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and

explain the Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position

of the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act

2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking

reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Furthermore, the Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial

information included on the Company’s website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and

dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report in accordance with applicable law and

regulations. The directors consider that the annual report and financial statements, when taken as a whole,

is fair, balanced and understandable.

Each of the Directors, who are identified in this report, is responsible for preparing the annual report and

financial statements. In particular, each of the Directors confirms that to the best of their knowledge:

● The statement of accounts, which have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs, give a true and fair

view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and loss of the Company;

● The Strategic Report, contained in pages 6 to 25 and the Directors’ Report, contained in pages 26 to

39, together set out a fair review of the development and performance of the business and position

of the Company and describe the principal risks that it faces;

● So far as each Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which Crowe UK LLP, as

the Company’s auditors, are unaware; and

● They have taken all steps they ought to have taken as a Director in order to make themselves aware

of any relevant audit information and to establish that Crowe UK LLP are aware of that information.

Signed on behalf of the Board:

Si n Wicksȃ
Chair of the AfC Board of Directors

27th July 2023

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 38

242



These accounts have been compiled in line with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and

cover the period from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023. The accounts have been audited by Crowe UK LLP.

For transparency purposes the following table details the fees payable to Crowe UK LLP for the 2022/23

audit and those paid for the 2021/22 audit.

Description 2022/23 2021/22

£000 £000

Annual audit fee 69 69

Total estimated fees payable to the auditor for the audit of the

Company’s annual accounts

69 69

Certification of Teachers Pension Returns 1 2

Total fees payable to the auditor for other services 1 2

Crowe UK LLP is constituted as a limited liability partnership in accordance with the Limited Liability

Partnership Act 2000.

The financial accounts and disclosures are set out in the Company’s Statement of Accounts that follows the

Auditor’s Report.

Auditor’s Report

The report by Achieving for Children’s independent auditor on the financial statements for the period

ending 31 March 2023 is set out on the following page.

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 39

243



Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Achieving for Children Community Interest Company

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Achieving for Children Community Interest Company for the year ended

31 March 2023 which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Changes in Equity, the

Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Cashflows, and notes to the financial statements, including a

summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their

preparation is applicable law and international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the

Companies Act 2006.

In our opinion, the financial statements:

● give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 March 2023 and of its profit for the year

then ended;

● have been properly prepared in accordance with international accounting standards in conformity with the

requirements of the Companies Act 2006;

● have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law.

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the

financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the company in accordance with the ethical

requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard,

and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the

audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of

accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or

conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company's ability to continue as a going

concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant

sections of this report.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the annual report. The other information

comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report

thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent

otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is

materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to

be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are

required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If,

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 40

244



based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,

we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion based on the work undertaken in the course of our audit

● the information given in the strategic report and the directors' report for the financial year for which the

financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

● the strategic report and the directors' report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal

requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the

audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us

to report to you if, in our opinion:

● adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have not

been received from branches not visited by us; or

● the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

● certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or

● we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page X, the directors are responsible for

the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such

internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a

going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of

accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic

alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 41

245



Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with

ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could

reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line

with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud.

The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below:

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks within which the company operates, focusing

on those laws and regulations that have a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in

the financial statements. The laws and regulations we considered in this context were the Companies Act 2006 and

Taxation legislation.

We identified the greatest risk of material impact on the financial statements from irregularities, including fraud, to be

the override of controls by management, revenue recognition in relation to other income and judgements relating to

the pension liability. Our audit procedures to respond to these risks included enquiries of management about their

own identification and assessment of the risks of irregularities, sample testing on the posting of journals, reviewing

accounting estimates for biases, testing on a sample basis other income and testing the assumptions and information

used to generate the pension liability figure.

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have detected some

material misstatements in the financial statements, even though we have properly planned and performed our audit in

accordance with auditing standards. We are not responsible for preventing non-compliance and cannot be expected

to detect non-compliance with all laws and regulations.

These inherent limitations are particularly significant in the case of misstatement resulting from fraud as this may

involve sophisticated schemes designed to avoid detection, including deliberate failure to record transactions,

collusion or the provision of intentional misrepresentations.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is available on the Financial

Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s

report.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the

Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company's members those

matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 42

246

https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities


permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company's

members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Alastair Lyon

Senior Statutory Auditor

For and on behalf of

Crowe U.K. LLP

Statutory Auditor

Reading

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 43

247



COMMUNITY INTEREST
COMPANY

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS

1st April 2022 – 31st MARCH
2023

Audited May 2023

http://www.achievingforchildren.org.uk/

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 44

248

http://www.achievingforchildren.org.uk/


TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS

THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Page

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 46

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 48

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2022 50

STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS FOR THE PERIOD ENDING 31 MARCH 2022 51

NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 General Information and Statement of Compliance with IFRS 52

Note 2 Significant Accounting Policies, Estimates and Judgements 52

Note 3 Material and Exceptional Items of Income and Expense 55

Note 4 New or Revised Standards 55

Note 5 Employee Benefits 56

Note 6 Agency Transactions 63

Note 7 Revenue and Other Income 65

Note 8 Other Expenses 66

Note 9 Reconciliation to Management Accounts 67

Note 10 Non Current Assets 71

Note 11 Leases 73

Note 12 Financial Assets and Liabilities 74

Note 13 Trade and Other Receivables 75

Note 14 Cash and Cash Equivalents 75

Note 15 Trade and Other Payables 76

Note 16 Provisions 76

Note 17 Other Liabilities 76

Note 18 Finance Costs and Finance Income 77

Note 19 Corporation Tax 77

Note 20 Non Cash Flow Adjustments and Changes in Working Capital 78

Note 21 Related Party Transactions 79

Note 22 Contingent Assets and Liabilities 82

Note 23 Financial Instruments Risk 83

Note 24 Fair Value Measurement 84

Note 25 Capital Management Policies and Procedures 85

Note 26 Post Reporting Events 86

Note 27 Authorisation of Financial Statements 87

Note 28 Accounting Policies 88

GLOSSARY OF TERMS 97

249



THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

This statement measures the Company’s performance for the period and shows the accounting profit or loss in accordance with UK adopted International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Not

e ref

Trading

2022/23

£000

Trading

2021/22

Before

Exceptional

Item

£000

Exceptional

Item

Covid-19

£000

Trading

2021/22

After

Exceptional

Item

£000

Revenue 7 206,995 188,533 1,472 190,005

Other income 7 10,124 9,129 (15) 9,115

Employee benefits 5 (70,364) (65,116) (386) (65,502)

Depreciation 10 (3,074) (3,441) 0 (3,441)

Other expenses 8 (151,882) (139,282) (1,071) (140,353)

Operating Profit / (Loss) (8,201) (10,177) 0 (10,177)

Finance income 18 8 1 0 1

Finance costs 18 (3,549) (2,269) 0 (2,269)

Profit / (Loss) before tax (11,741) (12,445) 0 (12,445)

Tax expense 19 0 0 0

Profit / (Loss) from continuing operations (11,741) (12,445) 0 (12,445)

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 46

250



Other comprehensive income:

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or

loss 0 0 0 0

- Re-measurement of net defined benefit liability 5 84,883 27,045 0 27,045

Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit of loss 0 0 0 0

Other comprehensive income for the period net of tax 84,883 27,045 0 27,045

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(EXPENSE) FOR THE YEAR 73,142 14,600 0 14,600

Total Comprehensive Income/(Expense) for the year

attributable to parent companies:

LB Richmond upon Thames (40%) 29,257 5,840 0 5,840

RB Kingston upon Thames (40%) 29,257 5,840 0 5,840

RB Windsor and Maidenhead (20%) 14,628 2,920 0 2,920

Total 73,142 14,600 0 14,600

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 47

251



STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE PERIOD ENDED
31 MARCH 2023

This statement shows the movement or change in value of net equity from the beginning of the reporting period to
the 31st March. The Company’s equity is currently showing as a negative balance.

The Board and owning Councils have committed to offering the Local Government Pension Scheme to ensure
compliance with the offer of equivalent terms and conditions for TUPE staff and it is a key part of the Company’s
recruitment and retention strategy. The LGPS is a funded defined benefit scheme and as a result AfC often reports a
pension deficit on the Statement of Financial Position. This deficit represents the shortfall in assets set aside to pay
for pension rights earned to date. This pension will not be paid out until the current members retire and does not
represent an immediate cashflow issue. The fund is subject to a triennial valuation and employer contribution rates
will be adjusted to ensure that the fund is adequately resourced to pay out retirement benefits due, when they are
due. The combination of these two factors means that AfC’s Equity is likely to remain in a negative position for the
foreseeable future but does not mean that the Company is not a Going Concern. The reasons for a positive Going
Concern assessment are detailed in Note 2 to these Accounts.

Note

ref

Pensions

Reserve

Retained

Earnings

Total

Attributable

to Owners

£000 £000 £000

Balance at 31 March 2021 (35,306) (57,745) (93,051)

Profit/(Loss) for the year SCI (12,445) (12,445)

Other Comprehensive Income

- Re-measurement of net defined benefit liability 5 27,045 27,045

Total comprehensive income for the year 27,045 (12,445) 14,600

Balance at 31 March 2022 (8,261) (70,190) (78,451)

Profit/(Loss) for the year SCI (11,741) (11,741)

Other Comprehensive Income

- Re-measurement of net defined benefit liability 5 84,883 84,883

Total comprehensive income for the year 84,883 (11,741) 73,142

Balance at 31 March 2023 76,622 (81,932) (5,310)

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 48

252



The annual balance will be carried forward within the Company’s Statement of Financial Position

There were no non-controlling entities for the 2021/22 and 2022/23 periods.

Pensions Reserve – This reserve represents the cumulative amount that has been recognised via Other
Comprehensive Income in relation to re-measurement of the net defined benefit liability due to changes in actuarial
assumptions. Examples include changes in demographic assumptions, changes in financial assumptions, changes in
the asset ceiling and return on assets that are not included in net interest.

Retained Earnings – This represents the net cumulative carrying amount of the Profit / (Loss) from continuing
operations.

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 49

253



THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2023

The Statement of Financial Position or Balance Sheet shows the net worth of the Company as at the 31st March in
accordance with IFRS. It shows what the Company owes and owns and the equity within the Company that is
attributable to Achieving for Children’s (AfC) parent Councils.

Company Registration Number 08878185 Note

ref

31 March

2023

£000

31 March

2022

£000

ASSETS

Property, Plant and Equipment 10 8,431 12,059

Payment in Advance 0 26

Non Current Assets 8,431 12,085

Trade and Other Receivables 13 39,276 38,592

Cash and Cash Equivalents 14 8,447 7,516

Current Assets 47,723 46,108

TOTAL ASSETS 56,154 58,193

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity (5,310) (78,451)

Long Term Lease Liabilities 11 5,672 8,761

Pension and other employee obligations 5 1,576 76,081

Non-current liabilities 7,248 84,842

Short Term Lease Liabilities 11 3,269 3,485

Borrowings 17 33,400 31,100

Trade and other payables 15 17,448 17,196

Provisions 16 100 21

Current liabilities 54,216 51,802

Total Liabilities 61,464 136,644

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 56,154 58,193

Si n Wicks, Chair of the AfC Boardȃ

27th July 2023

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 50254



THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS FOR THE PERIOD ENDING 31
MARCH 2023

The Statement of Cashflows shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the Company during the
reporting period and how cash movements relate to the profit and loss for the period.

Note

ref

2022/23

£000

2021/22

£000

Operating Activities

Loss before tax CIS (11,741) (12,445)

Non cash flow adjustments 20 21,826 22,831

Contributions to defined benefit plans 5 (8,295) (7,060)

Net changes in working capital 20 (407) 1,442

Net cash from operating activities 1,382 4,769

Investing Activities

Purchase of tangible ICT equipment 10 (230) (117)

Financing Activities

Lease principal (2,521) (3,267)

Proceeds from borrowings 26,656 13,700

Repayment of borrowings (24,356) (17,000)

Net cash from / used in financing activities (221) (6,567)

Net movement in cash and cash equivalents 931 (1,915)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 14 7,516 9,431

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 8,447 7,516

AfC borrows money from its parent Councils via a revolving credit facility for ongoing operations. The amount
owed to the Councils under this arrangement is detailed in Note 17 to the accounts.

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 51255



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 GENERAL INFORMATION AND STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH IFRS

Achieving for Children (AfC) was registered as a Community Interest Company on 5th February 2014. The
Company is jointly owned by the LB Richmond upon Thames (40%), RB Kingston upon Thames (40%) and RB
Windsor and Maidenhead (20%). The Company began trading on 1st April 2014. This statement of accounts
reports on the eighth year of trading and covers the period from 1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023.

AfC was established to provide children’s social care and education services to children, families and young
people across the boroughs of Richmond and Kingston as well as other areas. In August 2017 Windsor and
Maidenhead joined the Company and services now extend to this third borough. The main contracts during
the accounting period to which this statement relates are with the London Borough of Richmond upon
Thames, Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames and Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead. The
Company also supports other local authorities and public sector partners through the provision of services
and advice. This has included continuing work as a Department for Education ‘Partner in Practice’ during
2022/23.

This Statement of Accounts has been prepared in accordance with UK adopted International Financial
Reporting Standards as required by the Companies Act 2006. The Accounts summarise the Company’s
financial performance (Statement of Comprehensive Income), equity (Statement of Equity), financial
position (Statement of Financial Position) and cash flow (Statement of Cashflows) for the period. The
financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. Pension assets and liabilities
are measured in line with the requirements of IAS19, further details are included in Note 5.

NOTE 2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The Company has followed a detailed set of IFRS compliant accounting policies in the production of these
accounts. The full policies are contained in Note 28 to these Accounts. The Accounting policies are
reviewed annually to ensure they remain appropriate and relevant. The most significant policies to note
are:

● Recognition of Income and Expenditure
Activity is accounted for in the period that it takes place, not simply when cash payments are made
or received. In particular:

Income – Revenue from the sale of goods and services is recognised when (or as) the Company
transfers control of goods or services to a customer at the amount to which the Company expects to
be entitled, and all obligations have been fulfilled in relation to the revenue and/or contract.
Depending on whether certain criteria are met, revenue is recognised either over time, in a manner
that best reflects the company’s performance, or at a point in time, when control of the goods or
services is transferred to the customer.

Expenditure - Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed. Expenses in relation
to services received (including services provided by employees) are recorded as expenditure when
the services are received rather than when payments are made.

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 52256



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The de-minimis limit for adjusting the accounts for income and expenditure not physically received
or paid (accruals) but relating to the reporting year is £5,000.

● Post-Employment Benefits
The following pension schemes are available to employees of AfC:

- Teachers’ Pension Scheme is available to teachers
- National Health Service Pension Scheme is available to staff carrying out health functions
- Local Government Pensions Scheme (LB Wandsworth (formerly Richmond) and RB Kingston

schemes) are available to all staff

These are all Defined Benefit Schemes, but the first two are accounted for as Defined Contribution
Schemes due to their nature. For Defined Contributions Schemes, the payments are accounted for
on an accruals basis with no adjustment under IAS 19. Further details are provided on page 98.

The LGPS is accounted for as required by IAS 19 to show the cost of benefits earned in the period of
account against the relevant service. This uses figures provided by the Actuary in assessing the
current value of benefits earned during the period, the impact of decisions or changes made during
the period, interest and re-measurement costs. Further details are provided in Note 5.

The value (on an IAS19 basis) of the net liability associated with staff transferring in from the RB
Windsor and Maidenhead has been estimated at a mid-point between the two actuarial estimates
that are available at the time of producing these accounts. The amount has been recognised
through the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account. The Council's pension teams are
currently in negotiation about the exact value of the transfer and therefore the mid-point is the
most materially correct value to recognise given the information known at the time of producing
these accounts.

● Recognition of Lease Assets
For any new contracts entered into on or after 1 April 2019, the company considers whether a
contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys
the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for consideration’. If
there is a right to direct ‘how and for what purpose’ the asset is used throughout the period of use
then a ‘right of use’ asset and lease liability is recognised on the Statement of financial position.
Leases are not recognised where they are for less than 12 months and where they have a total
market value at inception of less than £5,000 (de-minimis).

The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease
liability, any initial direct costs incurred by the Company, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and
remove the asset at the end of the lease, and any lease payments made in advance of the lease
commencement date (net of any incentives received).

The Company depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from the lease
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end
of the lease term.

At the commencement date, the Company measures the lease liability at the present value of the
lease payments unpaid at that date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that
rate is readily available or the Company’s incremental borrowing rate. The liability is reduced for
payments made each year.

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 53257



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following Critical Judgements and assumptions have been made in applying Accounting Policies:

● Agency relationship – It has been assessed that the passporting of some transactions in the
Dedicated Schools Grant on behalf of the parent Councils to various education establishments is an
agency relationship and has therefore been excluded from AfC’s Accounts. Further details are
available in Note 6.

● Going Concern – Achieving for Children CIC has been assessed by the Directors as a Going Concern.
Despite the negative equity position reported in these Accounts the Board and Leadership Team
have made significant progress in identifying how these financial challenges will be met and
continue to develop these plans. The Board’s Medium Term Financial Strategy outlines these
financial plans in more detail and addresses what actions are being taken to reduce the Company’s
cost base to accommodate proposed reductions in the three main contract prices over the next
three years. As with the parent Councils, the Company will revise pension contributions in line with
the most up to date actuarial assessment and guidance. An assessment was carried out as at 31st

March 2022 and an increased employer contribution rate (19% to 19.9%) was applied from 1st April
2023. The fund is reviewed every three years to determine an appropriate employer contribution
rate to ensure that funding is available to meet pension obligations as they become due. The
Company is wholly owned by three Councils who are determined to be Going Concerns. The
Company is able to borrow from the Councils under a contractual Revolving Credit Facility to ensure
short term cash flow and the Councils are contractually committed to procuring children’s services
from AfC until March 2026 (Richmond and Kingston) and August 2024 (Windsor and Maidenhead).

● Deferred Tax Asset – The Company has assessed that the deferred tax asset should be recognised as
a contingent asset rather than as an asset within the Statement of Financial Position. It is not
probable that the Company will make significant taxable profits in the short to medium term. If the
Company does make taxable profits in the coming years it will be able to reduce its initial tax liability
by offsetting taxable losses incurred.

● Leases – In assessing the substance of lease arrangements the organisation has determined that the
leases with the councils for the rental of buildings amount to a ‘right of use’ because the company is
able to substantially direct ‘how and for what use’ the buildings are used. This has resulted in the
significant recognition of these properties as ‘right of use’ assets and liabilities in the company
Statement of financial position and has led to a reduction in lease payments recognised through the
Comprehensive Income Statement.

The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions made by the
Company about the future or that are otherwise uncertain. Estimates are made taking into account
historic experience, current trends and other relevant factors. The items in the accounts that have a more
significant associated estimation risk are:

● Actuarial valuation of pension liabilities and assets – Pension assets and liabilities and associated
costs have been presented based upon an actuarial estimate that has been calculated in line with
methodologies prescribed in IAS19. The actuary makes assumptions based on indicators of future
trends. Full details and a sensitivity analysis is provided in note 5 to the accounts.

● Valuation of ‘right of use assets’ and lease liabilities – The value of these assets has been estimated
based on the present value of the lease payments unpaid at the Balance Sheet date, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate is readily available or the Company’s
incremental borrowing rate.

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 54258



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 3 MATERIAL AND EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS OF INCOME AND EXPENSE

Exceptional Items:
There were no exceptional items to note within 2022/23.

Material Items:
A material item is an item of expenditure or income that is unusual in scale and non-recurring. The following
material items are reported as part of the accounts:

Change Controls – The contract prices for the Councils changed throughout the reporting year. Under the
contracts, AfC can bid for more contract income if it is needed to ensure that service standards are
maintained or if there are significant fluctuations in demand for services (e.g. more children requiring care).
The Company was granted additional income as follows:

General Fund
Dedicated Schools

Grant Fund Total
£000 £000 £000

Richmond Contract 2,501 1,730 4,231

Kingston Contract 2,173 4,844 7,017

Windsor and Maidenhead Contract 769 459 1,228

Total 5,443 7,033 12,476

This additional income is included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income under Revenue.

NOTE 4 NEW OR REVISED STANDARDS

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, several new, but not yet effective, Standards and
amendments to existing Standards, and Interpretations have been published by the International
Accounting Standards Board. None of these Standards or amendments to existing Standards have been
adopted early by the Company.

● IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (Amendments)
● Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1)
● Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8)
● IFRS 16 Leases (Amendments)

Management anticipates that all relevant pronouncements will be adopted for the first period beginning on
or after the effective date of the pronouncement. Impact of implementing these standards has not been
assessed.

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 55259



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 5 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Expenses recognised within Statement of Comprehensive Income as employee benefits are analysed below:

Trading

2022/23

£000

Trading

2021/22

Before

Exceptional

Item

£000

Exceptional

Item

Covid-19

£000

Trading

2021/22

After

Exceptional

Item

£000

Salaries (47,280) (42,463) (386) (42,849)

Employee absence liability (934) 3 0 3

National Insurance (5,083) (4,355) 0 (4,355)

Pension Fund Contributions - LGPS (16,246) (17,508) 0 (17,508)

Pension Fund Contributions - Other schemes (667) (631) 0 (631)

Other (redundancy, compensation etc.) (155) (162) 0 (162)

(70,364) (65,116) (386) (65,502)

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 56

260



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Salaries
The table below shows the average number of full time equivalent employees and the average count of
employees paid during 2022/23. The figures exclude casual and agency workers. The level of salary spend
has increased due to the staff pay award, contractual increments and other factors.

Service Area Average FTE

Average
Employee

Count
Business Services 195.91 229.69

Education 82.33 102.63

Strategic Management 4.79 5.86

Public Health 30.67 42.03

Social Care and Early Help 560.11 861.11

Special Educational Needs and Children with Disabilities 267.64 559.09

Total 1141.46 1800.42

Defined Benefit Pension Plans (LGPS)

As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers, the Company makes contributions
towards the cost of post-employment benefits. Although these benefits will not actually be payable until
employees retire, AfC has a commitment to make the payments (for those benefits) and to recognise the
expense at the time that employees earn their future entitlement.

Staff can be members of either the LB Wandsworth (Richmond) or RB Kingston upon Thames funds. Staff
that transferred into the Company in the first period remain on their original plan and new employees,
including RB Windsor and Maidenhead staff, are admitted to the plans on an alternate basis to ensure that
membership numbers between the two funds remain relatively equal.

The Company participates in the following post-employment arrangements:

● The Local Government Pension Scheme, administered by the LB Wandsworth and the Local
Government Pension Scheme, administered by the RB Kingston – this is a funded defined benefit
salary scheme, meaning that the Company and employees pay contributions into a fund, calculated
at a level intended to balance the pensions liabilities with investment assets. The Company is
responsible for any deficit on its share of the Fund.

● Arrangements for the award of discretionary post-retirement benefits upon early retirement – this
is an unfunded defined benefit arrangement, under which liabilities are recognised when awards
are made. However, there are no investment assets built up to meet these pension liabilities, and
cash has to be generated to meet actual pension payments as they eventually fall due.

The principal risks to the Company are the longevity assumptions, statutory changes to the scheme,
structural changes to the scheme (i.e. large-scale withdrawals from the scheme), changes to inflation, bond
yields and the performance of the equity investments held by the scheme. These risks are managed by the
Fund over the long term, via the independent actuarial valuation process setting appropriate contribution
rates.

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 57261



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Transactions Relating to Post-employment Benefits

The Company recognises the cost of retirement benefits in the Statement of Comprehensive Income when
they are earned by employees, rather than when the benefits are eventually paid as pensions.

The following table shows the impact of LGPS post-employment benefits on Statement of Comprehensive
Income:

2022/23

£000

2021/22

£000

Current service costs (16,448) (17,388)

Past service costs 0 (36)

Total recognised in operating profit / (loss) (16,448) (17,424)

Finance costs (5,943) (4,403)

Finance income 3,718 2,437

Total post-employment benefit charged to the profit / (loss)

from continuing operations
(18,673) (19,390)

Re-measurement of the Net defined Benefit Liability:

Change in demographic assumptions (5,510) 1,497

Change in financial assumptions 101,760 20,147

Other experience (2,567) (513)

Return on plan assets (excluding amounts already included in the

net interest expense)
(8,800) 5,914

Total recognised in Other Comprehensive Income 84,883 27,045

Total recognised in Total Comprehensive Income for the period 66,210 7,655

Pensions Assets and Liabilities Recognised in the Statement of Financial Position

The amount included in the Statement of Financial Position arising from the Company’s obligation in respect
of its defined benefit plans is as follows:

2022/23

£000

2021/22

£000

Present Value of the Defined Benefit Obligation (140,186) (207,319)

Fair Value of Plan Assets 138,609 131,237

Net Liability arising from Defined Benefit Obligations (1,577) (76,082)

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 58262



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Reconciliation of Present Value of the Scheme Assets and Liabilities

2022/23 2021/22

Assets Liabilities Total Assets Liabilities Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Adjustment to opening balance (McLoud

judgement)
0 0 0 0 0 0

Opening Present Value of Scheme

Liabilities
131,237 (207,319) (76,082) 115,074 (205,871) (90,797)

Current Service Cost 0 (16,448) (16,448) 0 (17,388) (17,388)

Past Service Cost 0 0 0 0 (36) (36)

Interest (Cost) / Income 3,718 (5,943) (2,225) 2,437 (4,403) (1,966)

Contributions from the employer 8,295 0 8,295 7,060 0 7,060

Contributions from employees 2,958 (2,958) 0 2,565 (2,565) 0

Gains / (Losses) on Curtailment 0 0 0 0 0 0

Benefits paid (1,773) 1,773 0 (1,813) 1,813 0

Remeasurement Gains / (Losses) :

- Actuarial Gains / (Losses) arising from

change in demographic assumptions
0 (5,510) (5,510) 0 1,497 1,497

- Actuarial Gains / (Losses) arising from

changes in financial assumptions
0 101,760 101,760 0 20,147 20,147

- Other experience 2,974 (5,541) (2,567) 0 (513) (513)

- Return on assets (excluding the amount

included in the net interest expense)
(8,800) 0 (8,800) 5,914 0 5,914

Closing Fair Value of Scheme Assets at 31

March
138,609 (140,186) (1,577) 131,237 (207,319) (76,082)

The employer contribution rate increased from 16% to 19% for 2020/21 to 2022/23. In line with the most
recent triennial valuation, a new rate of 19.9% will be effective from 2023/24.

The fund accounts include estimated asset valuations at 31 March 2023. The annual actuarial assessment of
the value of assets and liabilities involves a number of complex assumptions and estimation uncertainty. All
disclosures and certificates have been reviewed by the fund managers to ensure valuations included in the
accounts have, in the opinion of the fund managers, been prepared and issued on a reasonable basis. No
adjustment has been made to figures provided by fund managers. The sensitivity analysis below shows a
potential impact of £0.68m if property and infrastructure assets were to reduce by 5%, or £1.37m in the
event of a 10% reduction in value.

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 59263



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Asset Sensitivity Analysis as at 31 March 2023

Value as at 31

March 2023

£000

5%

reduction in

value

£000

10% reduction

in value

£000

LBW Property Assets 4,068 (203) (407)

LBW Private Debt and Infrastructure 5,278 (264) (528)

RBK Property Assets 4,313 (216) (431)

Local Government Pension Scheme assets comprised:

31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22

£000 % £000 % £000 % £000 %

LB

WANDSWORTH

(RICHMOND)

RB KINGSTON

LB

WANDSWORTH

(RICHMOND)

RB KINGSTON

Equity Securities

- Consumer 0 0% 1,567 2% 0 0% 1,689 2%

- Manufacturing 0 0% 889 1% 0 0% 1,115 2%

- Energy and Utilities 0 0% 931 1% 0 0% 574 1%

- Financial Institutions 0 0% 1,469 2% 0 0% 1,377 2%

- Health Care 0 0% 1,473 2% 0 0% 1,280 2%

- Information Technology 0 0% 2,223 3% 0 0% 2,606 4%

- Other 40,161 61% 1,508 2% 35,309 60% 1,582 2%

Bonds

- Corporate Bonds (investment grade) 6,467 10% 0 0% 5,460 9% 0 0%

- Corporate Bonds (non-investment grade) 7,824 12% 0 0% 9,487 16% 0 0%

- UK Government 0 0% 0 0% 825 1% 0 0%

Property (UK) 4,068 6% 4,313 6% 3,664 6% 4,372 6%

Investment Funds and Trusts

- Equities 0 0% 26,799 39% 0 0% 30,252 43%

- Bonds 0 0% 12,536 18% 0 0% 13,775 20%

- Infrastructure 5,278 8% 0 0% 3,258 5% 0 0%

- Other 0 0% 13,230 19% 0 0% 10,595 15%

Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,767 3% 1,208 2% 1,290 2% 1049.7 1%

65,566 100% 68,146 100% 59,292 100% 70,266 100%

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 60264



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Basis for Estimating Assets and Liabilities

Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method, an estimate of
the pensions that will be payable in future years dependent on assumptions about mortality rates, salary
levels, etc.

Both the Local Government Pension Scheme and discretionary benefits liabilities have been estimated by
Hymans Robertson LLP and Barnett Waddingham LLP, independent firms of actuaries. Estimates for
Statements of the Fund are based on the latest full valuation of the schemes available at the time of
producing the calculations.

The significant assumptions used by the actuary have been:

2022/23 2021/22

LB

WANDSWOR

TH

(RICHMOND)

RB

KINGSTON

LB

WANDSWOR

TH

(RICHMOND)

RB

KINGSTON

Long term expected rate of return on assets in

the scheme
1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50%

Mortality assumptions

Longevity at 65 for current pensioners:

Men 21.3 years 22.6 years 21.4 years 21.7 years

Women 23.8 years 25.0 years 24.1 years 24.1 years

Longevity at 65 for future pensioners:

Men 22.9 years 22.9 years 22.9 years 22.8 years

Women 25.5 years 26.2 years 25.8 years 26 years

Take up option to convert annual position into

retirement lump sum

2022/23 2022/23 2021/22 2021/22

LB

WANDSWOR

TH

(RICHMOND)

RB

KINGSTON

LB

WANDSWOR

TH

(RICHMOND)

RB

KINGSTON

- Pre April 2008 Service 50% 45% 50% 50%

- Post April 2008 Service 50% 45% 50% 75%

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 61265



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22

% pa % pa

Financial Assumptions

Medium Term RPI 3.20% 3.65%

Medium Term CPI 2.95% 3.20%

Rate of increase in pensions - Wandsworth (Richmond) 2.95% 3.15%

Rate of increase in pensions - Kingston 2.95% 3.15%

Rate of increase in salaries - Wandsworth (Richmond) 3.95% 3.55%

Rate of increase in salaries - Kingston 3.45% 3.55%

Discount Rate - Wandsworth 4.75% 2.75%

Discount Rate - Kingston 4.75% 2.75%

The estimation of the defined benefit obligations is sensitive to the actuarial assumptions set out in the
table above. The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on reasonably possible changes of
the assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period and assumes for each change that only the
assumption analysed changes, while all the other assumptions remain constant. The assumptions in
longevity, for example, assume that life expectancy increases or decreases for men and women. In practice,
this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be interrelated. The estimations in
the sensitivity analysis have followed the accounting policies for the scheme, i.e. on an actuarial basis using
the projected unit credit method.

31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22

Change in Assumptions at 31 March

Approximate

monetary

amount

Approximate

% increase to

employer

Approximate

monetary

amount

Approximate

% increase to

employer

£000 £000

0.5% decrease in Real Discount Rate 17,350 10% 27,330 15%

1 year increase in member life expectancy 5,608 4% 8,293 4%

0.5% increase in the salary increase rate 1,515 0% 2,420 1%

0.5% increase in the pension increase rate 16,090 10% 24,740 10%

Defined benefit pension schemes accounted for as defined contribution schemes
The Company participates in two defined benefit pension schemes which are accounted for as defined
contribution schemes:

Teacher’s Pension Scheme (TPS)

Staff employed by the Company on teacher’s terms and conditions are members of the Teachers’ Pension
Scheme, administered by Capita Teachers’ Pensions on behalf of the Department for Education (DfE). The
Scheme provides teachers with specified benefits upon their retirement, and the Company contributes
towards the costs by making contributions based on a percentage of members’ pensionable salaries. The
scheme is a multi-employer defined benefit scheme. The scheme is unfunded and the Department for
Education uses a notional fund as the basis for calculating the employers’ contribution rate paid by local

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 62266



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

authorities. Valuations of the notional fund are undertaken every four years. The Company is not able to
identify its share of the underlying financial position and performance of the scheme with sufficient
reliability for accounting purposes and it is therefore accounted for on the same basis as a defined
contribution scheme. AfC is responsible for the costs of any additional benefits awarded upon early
retirement outside of the terms of the teachers’ scheme. There were no such costs in 2022/23. The
Company is not liable to the scheme for any other entity's obligations under the plan.

National Health Service (NHS) Pension Scheme

The Company employs some staff who undertake medical procedures and therefore qualify for membership
to the NHS Pension Scheme. The NHS pension scheme is an unfunded, multi-employer, defined benefit
scheme that covers NHS employers. In the NHS, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined
contribution scheme: “NHS bodies shall account for the NHS Superannuation Scheme as a defined
contribution plan” (NHS Manual full reference). The Company is not able to identify its share of the
underlying financial position and performance of the scheme with sufficient reliability for accounting
purposes. For the purposes of these Accounts, it is therefore accounted for on the same basis as a defined
contribution scheme. The Company is not liable to the scheme for any other entity's obligations under the
plan.

Teachers’

Pension

Scheme

NHS

Pension

Scheme

Teachers’

Pension

Scheme

NHS

Pension

Scheme

2022/23 2022/23 2021/22 2021/22

£000 £000 £000 £000

Total Contributions (560) (107) (508) (123)

Employer's Contribution Rate 23.7% 20.7% 23.7% 20.7%

Anticipated Employer's Contributions next year 23.7% 20.7% 23.7% 20.7%

*rates applicable from 1st September each year and

include admin

NOTE 6 AGENCY TRANSACTIONS

During the period, AfC acted as agent for the LB Richmond upon Thames and RB of Kingston upon Thames
with regard to a number of payments of Dedicated School Grant to schools and other educational
organisations. AfC calculates the grant allocations in line with prescribed methodologies and arranges
payment of the money to the relevant organisations. The agency calculations disclosed are formulaic and
therefore the Company does not directly control the value of the transactions. The Company is fully
reimbursed by the Councils for all payments made. These agency transactions have been excluded from the
Accounts and will instead be reported within the Council’s Accounts. The net impact of the difference in
cash received and amounts paid out on behalf of the Councils is recognised as a net debtor on the
Statement of Financial Position. There were no agency transactions in RB Windsor and Maidenhead for
2022/23. The key figures and impact on the primary statements are summarised on the next page:

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 63267



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Income Expenditure Total Income Expenditure Total

2022/23 2022/23 2022/23 2021/22 2021/22 2021/22

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Net impact on Statement of

Comprehensive Income:

Contract Income:

- LB Richmond upon Thames (613) 0 (613) (680) 0 (680)

- RB Kingston upon Thames (233) 0 (233) 5 0 5

(846) 0 (846) (675) 0 (675)

Transactions with schools / nurseries:

- LB Richmond upon Thames (222) 835 613 (193) 873 680

- RB Kingston upon Thames 0 233 233 (111) 106 (5)

(222) 1,068 846 (304) 979 675

Impact on Profit and Loss Account (1,068) 1,068 0 (979) 979 0

Net impact on Statement of Financial

Position:

Debtors Creditors Total Debtors Creditors Total

Contract Income:

- LB Richmond upon Thames (60) 0 (60) (181) 0 (181)

- RB Kingston upon Thames 0 0 0 0 0 0

(60) 0 (60) (181) 0 (181)

Transactions with schools / nurseries:

- LB Richmond upon Thames 0 0 0 0 0 0

- RB Kingston upon Thames 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0

Total (60) 0 (60) (181) 0 (181)

Net Debtor 60 0 60 181 0 181

Impact on Statement of Financial

Position 0 0 0 0 0 0

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 64268



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 7 REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME

Since 2018/19, a new requirement, IFRS 15 Recognition of Revenue from Contracts with Customers, has been adopted. An entity must recognise revenue to depict
the transfer of promised goods or services to the customer in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services. Revenue will only be recognised when all obligations have been fulfilled.
The following tables show the Company’s revenue streams by type and service area. All material contract performance obligations have been fulfilled in year.

Trading

2022/23

£000

Trading

2021/22

Before

Exceptional Item

£000

Exceptio

nal Item

Covid-19

£000

Trading

2021/22 After

Exceptional

Item

£000

Contract income LB Richmond Upon Thames 75,841 67,726 569 68,294

Contract income RB of Kingston Upon Thames 75,253 68,065 556 68,621

Contract income RB of Windsor and Maidenhead 44,250 42,265 720 42,985

Fees & charges for services 5,619 6,477 (300) 6,177

Lettings 144 189 (16) 174

Client contributions 664 358 0 358

Income from local authorities 5,226 3,453 (57) 3,396

Turnover reported within operating loss 206,995 188,533 1,472 190,005

Government Grants 952 636 0 636

Grants and contributions 8,544 7,845 (14) 7,831

Donations 628 648 0 648

Other 0 0 0 0

Other income reported within operating loss 10,124 9,129 (14) 9,115

Total income reported in operating loss 217,119 197,662 1,458 199,120

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 65

269



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The revenue by service area is shown in note 9 – Departmental Analysis.

The Company derives 90% of its revenue from two contracts with the owning Councils. There is one
contract with both Kingston and Richmond Councils and one with Windsor and Maidenhead Council and
there are separate contract prices for all three Councils. The contractual terms are the same for each
contract and Council with minor differences in the specification of services provided. Under these contracts
the Company provides a comprehensive range of children’s services to each Council including both statutory
and discretionary services.

The principal commercial risks are the same for each contract and are mainly associated with changes in
demand for services both in terms of volume and complexity of services required that lead to increased
costs. These risks are mitigated through contractual provisions for changes in the contract price through a
change control process, which are subject to agreement by the relevant Council. The Councils are invoiced
monthly for services provided as one-twelfth of that year's contract price and invoices settled within 30
days. Given the nature of the services provided the Company has determined that the performance
obligations in the contracts should be combined to a single performance obligation for each contract and
these obligations are satisfied over time. Progress towards satisfaction of the obligations is measured
quarterly, which matches the period that the Councils measure. Whilst the contracts with the Councils
provide for reductions in the contract price in respect of poor performance (both quality and quantity)
through a default notification process, no such default notices have been served during the life of the
contracts including the year to which these accounts relate.

NOTE 8 OTHER EXPENSES

The following table provides a breakdown of other expenses reported in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income:

2022/23

£000

2021/22

£000

Exceptional

Item

Covid-19

2021/22

£'000

2021/22

£000

Indirect employee costs (9,188) (7,605) 0 (7,605)

Premises (1,816) (1,722) (70) (1,792)

Transport (8,097) (6,555) 3 (6,552)

Supplies and services (13,600) (12,048) (85) (12,133)

Third party (contract) payments and transfer

payments
(114,463) (106,691) (799) (107,489)

Support services (4,718) (4,661) (121) (4,782)

Other expenses (151,882) (139,282) (1,072) (140,353)

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 66270



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 9 RECONCILIATION TO MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTS

Management reports on seven key segments or divisions throughout the period. Each division is managed by a member of the Senior Leadership Team and there are regular
finance updates to the Board and parent Councils during the period. The following tables show the outturn position that was reported to management.

Management Outturn 2022/23

Operational

Strategic

Management

Social Care and

Early Help

Special

Educational

Needs and

Children with

Disabilities Education Public Health

Business

Services Grand Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Income

LB Richmond Contract 0 0 0 0 0 76,454 76,454

RB Kingston Contract 0 0 0 0 0 75,485 75,485

RB Windsor & Maidenhead 0 0 0 0 0 44,250 44,250

Customer and Client Receipts 0 2,115 1,261 2,985 1 915 7,277

Other Grants and Contributions 16 4,456 6,755 799 1,634 111 13,770

Government Grants 0 231 0 0 0 721 952

Interest Receivable 0 0 0 0 0 8 8

16 6,802 8,016 3,784 1,634 197,943 218,196

Expenditure

Employees 528 37,555 14,919 6,561 1,522 9,416 70,500

Premises 0 462 5 12 0 3,609 4,088

Transport 0 829 4,582 3,144 12 24 8,591

Supplies and Services 83 4,399 5,295 2,180 36 2,030 14,022

Third Party Payments 29 40,501 44,284 80 0 1,016 85,909

Transfer Payments 1,345 1,808 24,928 614 0 920 29,615

Support Services 34 2,039 245 16 11 2,373 4,718

Interest Paid 0 0 0 0 0 753 753

Tax 0

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 67

271



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2,020 87,592 94,257 12,606 1,580 20,141 218,196

Outturn (2,004) (80,791) (86,240) (8,822) 54 177,803 0

Re-Allocate contract price 1,802 80,444 86,940 8,690 (36) (177,839) 0

Underspend/ (overspend) (202) (347) 700 (133) 18 (37) 0

Management Outturn 2021/22

Operational

Strategic

Management

£000

Social Care

and Early Help

£000

Special

Educational

Needs and

Children with

Disabilities

£000

Education

£000

Public Health

£000

Business

Services

£000

Partners in

Practice

£000

Grand Total

£000

Income

LB Richmond Contract 0 0 0 0 0 68,974 0 68,974

RB Kingston Contract 0 0 0 0 0 68,616 0 68,616

RB Windsor & Maidenhead 0 0 0 0 0 42,985 0 42,985

Customer and Client Receipts 576 2,635 1,174 2,147 0 825 0 7,357

Other Grants and Contributions 0 2,764 7,677 735 0 355 0 11,531

Government Grants 0 98 0 0 0 466 72 636

Interest Receivable 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1

576 5,497 8,851 2,882 0 182,222 72 200,100

Expenditure

Employees 562 32,485 13,453 4,494 1,498 10,165 79 62,736

Premises 9 403 3 10 0 3,966 0 4,391

Transport 0 615 5,591 654 15 16 0 6,891

Supplies and Services 172 4,218 4,489 1,790 47 1,947 0 12,663

Third Party Payments* 7 34,761 42,058 199 0 623 0 77,648

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 68

272



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Transfer Payments 1,614 4,513 23,719 142 0 831 0 30,819

Support Services 9 1,810 156 14 0 2,793 0 4,782

Interest Paid 0 0 0 0 0 170 0 170

2,373 78,805 89,469 7,303 1,560 20,511 79 200,100

Outturn (1,797) (73,308) (80,618) (4,421) (1,560) 161,711 (7) 0

Re-Allocate contract price 2,367 72,059 81,119 4,636 1,584 (161,772) 7 0

Underspend/ (overspend) 570 (1,249) 501 215 24 (61) 0 0

*Contract payments to third parties e.g. payments for independent child placements, payments for SEN placements, general contract payments etc.
Management Accounts Reporting is prescaled before agency transactions

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 69

273



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The basis on which the Company reports during the period is different to the IFRS compliant reporting required
for this Statement of Accounts. The following table provides a reconciliation between the outturn reported to
management and the Statement of Comprehensive Income:

2022/23 2021/22

Reallocate

d in SOCI

Amounts

not

reported

to

managem

ent for

decision

making

(IFRS

adjustmen

ts)

Cumulativ

e total

including

managem

ent

accounts

Reallocat

ed in

SOCI

Amounts

not

reported

to

managem

ent for

decision

making

(IFRS

adjustmen

ts)

Cumulative

total

including

manageme

nt accounts

Management Outturn 0 0

Interest Receivable (8) (1)

Interest Payable 753 170

Tax expense 0 0

Recognition of annual leave owing to

employees (934) 3

Pension Adjustments:

Employer contributions (8,153) (10,363)

Recognition of non current assets 230 117

Recognition of leases except interest 3,092 3,410

Recognition of provisions (107) (72)

Depreciation (3,074) (8,201) (3,441) (10,177)

Operating profit (8,201) (10,177)

Tax expense 0 0

Interest Receivable 8 1

Interest Payable (753) (571) (170) (132)

Net Interest Payable (2,225) (3,541) (1,966) (2,267)

Profit / (Loss) from continuing operations (11,741) (12,445)

Pension Adjustments:

Remeasurements 84,883 84,883 27,045 27,045

Total comprehensive income /

(expenditure) for the year 73,142 14,600

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 70274



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 10 NON CURRENT ASSETS

Details of movement in non-current assets are included in the table below:

2022/23

Buildings Vehicles
Tangible ICT

Equipment

Other ICT

(Systems

and

Software)

Total

2021/22

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Gross carrying amount:

Opening balance 24,794 1,636 1,065 3,510 31,005

Revaluation 0

Additions 623 476 230 0 1,330

Disposals (3,515) (147) 0 (1,186) (4,848)

Balance 31 March 21,903 1,966 1,295 2,323 27,487

Depreciation, Amortisation and

impairment:

Opening balance (15,724) (490) (899) (1,833) (18,946)

Disposals 2,344 44 576 2,964

Depreciation / Amortisation in year (2,155) (484) (118) (317) (3,074)

Balance 31 March (15,535) (930) (1,017) (1,575) (19,056)

Carrying amount 31 March 6,369 1,036 278 749 8,431

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 71275



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2021/22

Buildings Vehicles
Tangible ICT

Equipment

Other ICT

(Systems

and

Software)

Total

2021/22

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Gross carrying amount:

Opening balance 25,055 1,871 948 3,230 31,104

Remeasurement 23 (6) 0 (77) (60)

Additions 933 479 117 553 2,082

Disposals (1,217) (708) 0 (196) (2,121)

Balance 31 March 24,794 1,636 1,065 3,510 31,005

Depreciation, Amortisation and

impairment:

Opening balance (13,916) (827) (674) (1,524) (16,941)

Disposals 655 671 0 110 1,436

Depreciation / Amortisation in year (2,463) (334) (225) (419) (3,441)

Balance 31 March (15,724) (490) (899) (1,833) (18,946)

Carrying amount 31 March 9,070 1,146 166 1,677 12,059

Payment in advance - software

licences
26

On the transition to IFRS 16 the Company applied an incremental borrowing rate of 0.5% plus bank rate at the
time of entering into the lease arrangement. The 0.5% borrowing rate is in line with its Revolving Credit Facility
arrangement with the owning councils, and represents the interest the Company is likely to have paid to
purchase the leased asset outright. Further details of lease arrangements, including in-year remeasurements are
given in Note 11.

The Company owns ICT equipment comprising Chromebooks, iPads and mobile phones which are depreciated
over five, four and three years respectively. Additional purchases of Chromebooks (£179,050) and mobile phones
(£51,050) were made in year.

The following table summarises the Right-of-Use Assets included in the Property, Plant and Equipment figures:

Gross Amount

£000

Depreciation

£000

Carrying Amount

£000

Buildings 21,903 (15,535) 6,369

Vehicles 1,966 (930) 1,036

Other ICT (Systems and Software) 2,235 (1,487) 750

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 72276



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 11 LEASES

Lease liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position as follows:

31/03/2023

£'000

31/03/2022

£'000

Current Lease Liabilities 3,269 3,485

Non-Current Lease Liabilities 5,672 8,761

Total lease liabilities recognised under IFRS 16 8,940 12,246

The Company has leases for the property (office and operations buildings), vehicles and ICT systems. The
Company leases offices and operational buildings from RB Kingston, LB Richmond and RB Windsor and
Maidenhead which, with one exception, can be terminated on 12 months’ notice. However, in line with IFRS 16
guidance, the property leases have been assumed until the end of the owners' respective contract arrangements
due to the likelihood that these lease arrangements will be continued. With the exception of short-term leases
and leases of low-value, each lease is reflected on the balance sheet as a right-of-use asset and a relational lease
liability. The lease arrangements were fully assessed under the new IFRS 16 Standard, with likely extensions and
potential terminations or retendering taken into consideration. The right-of-use assets can only be used by the
Company and are not sub-let.

The table below describes the nature of the Company’s leasing activities by type of right-of-use asset recognised
on the balance sheet:

Right-of-use-asset

No of

right-of-use

assets leased

Range of

remaining

terms

Average

remaining

terms

Number of leases

with extension

options

Number of leases

with option to

purchase

Property 50 1.34-3 years 2.50 years 50 0

Vehicles 46 5 - 36 months 2.04 years 46 0

ICT (Systems and Software) 5 1.33-3 years 2.33 years 5 0

The lease liabilities are secured by the related underlying assets. Future minimum lease payments as 31 March
2023 are as follows:

Right-of-use-asset

Within 1 year

£000

1-2 years

£000

2-3 years

£000

3-4 years

£000

4-5 years

£000

After 5 years

£000

Total

£000

31 March 2023

Lease Payments 3,269 2,886 2,431 0 0 0 8,586

Finance Charges -97 -61 -29 0 0 0 -187

Net Present Value 3,172 2,825 2,402 0 0 0 8,399

Remeasurement
The company did not remeasure any of our leases this year.

Lease payments not recognised as a liability
The Company has elected not to recognise a lease liability for short term leases (leases with an expected term of
12 months or less) or for leases of low value (less than £5,000 total cost). Payments under such leases are

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 73277



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

expensed on a straight-line basis. The expense relating to payments not included in the measurement of the
lease liability is as follows:

Operating Leases

2022/23

£000

2021/22

£000

Leases of low value 25 28

Leases with remaining lease term of less than 12 months 0 3

Payments not included in lease liability 25 31

Finance and operating leases as lessor

The Company has no leases as lessor.

NOTE 12 FINANCE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities are as follows:

31 Mar

2023

31 Mar

2022

£000 £000

Financial assets / Loans and Receivables

Trade and other receivables categorised as Financial Instruments 37,303 35,921

Trade and other receivables not categorised as Financial Instruments 1,973 2,697

Cash and cash equivalents categorised as a Financial Instrument 8,447 7,516

47,723 46,134

31 Mar

2023

31 Mar

2022

£000 £000

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Current borrowings 33,400 31,100

Short term finance lease liabilities (IFRS 16) 3,269 3485

Trade and other payables categorised as Financial Instruments 9,477 10,346

Trade and other payables not categorised as Financial Instruments 7,971 6,850

Provisions not categorised as a Financial Instrument 100 21

Total Current Financial Liabilities 54,216 51,802

Non-current financial lease liabilities (IFRS 16) 5,672 8,761

TOTAL Financial Liabilities 59,888 60,563

A description of the Company’s financial instrument risk, including risk management objectives and policies is
given in Note 23.

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 74278



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 13 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade and other receivables are made up as follows:

31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22

£000 £000

Trade receivables, gross 37,420 36,042

Allowance for credit losses (117) (121)

Trade receivables 37,303 35,921

Employee leave 126 240

Prepayments 1,847 2,431

Total current trade and other receivables 39,276 38,592

Non current prepayments 0 26

Total trade and other receivables 39,276 38,618

The net carrying value of trade receivables is considered a reasonable approximation of fair value. All of the
Company's trade and other receivables have been reviewed for indicators of impairment.

The Company has made allowances against specific balances for impairment of receivables. The movement in
allowance for credit losses and write offs are presented below:

31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22

£000 £000

Balance 1 April (122) (67)

Amounts written off (uncollectable) 32 7

Impairment loss/gain (27) (62)

Balance 31 March (117) (122)

NOTE 14 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents consist of the following:

31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22

£000 £000

Current Account (includes impact of transactions in transit) 1,417 2,494

Instant Access Deposit Account 7,013 5,005

Imprest Accounts (cash in hand and in bank) 17 17

8,447 7,516

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 75279



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 15 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade and other payables consist of the following:

31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22

£000 £000

Trade payables 9,477 10,346

Employee leave 1,546 726

Receipts in advance 978 1,448

Taxes (e.g. VAT, National Insurance) 5,446 4,676

17,448 17,196

NOTE 16 PROVISIONS

Short term provisions consist of the following:

Redundancy Legal Total

£000 £000 £000

Balance at 31 March 2022 21 0 21

Additional provisions made in 2022/23 0 100 100

Amounts used in 2022/23 (21) 0 (21)

Unused amounts reversed in 2022/23 0 0 0

Balance at 31 March 2023 0 100 100

NOTE 17 OTHER LIABILITIES

The following table contains a breakdown of other current and non-current liabilities (excluding trade
receivables and payables):

31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22

£000 £000

Lease Liabilities 3,269 3,485

Short term loans from parent councils 33,400 31,100

Provisions 100 21

Other liabilities - current 36,769 34,606

Lease liabilities 5,672 8,761

Pension fund defined benefit liability (see note 5) 1,576 76,081

Other liabilities - non-current 7,248 84,842

Details of the terms of the short term loans are set out in Note 24.

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 76280



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 18 FINANCE COSTS AND FINANCE INCOME

Finance costs for the reporting period consist of the following:

2022/23 2021/22

£000 £000

Interest receivable on short term cash deposits 8 1

Total interest receivable 8 1

Interest on short term borrowings from parent councils (753) (171)

Lease interest (571) (131)

Net interest expense on defined benefit liability (2,225) (1,966)

Total interest payable (3,549) (2,269)

NOTE 19 CORPORATION TAX

The following table shows the tax reconciliation based on IAS12.

2022/23 2021/22

Accounts Accounts

£000 % £000 %

Profit/(Loss) on ordinary activities before tax (11,742) (12,445)

Tax on loss on ordinary activities at standard CT rate (2,231) 19.00% (2,365) 19.00%

Effects of:

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 0 0.00% 0 0.00%

Income not taxable (14) 0.00% 0 0.00%

Adjustments to brought forward values 0 0.00% 0 0.00%

Amounts charged directly to equity or otherwise

transferred 16,128 (137.35%) 5,139 (41.29%)

Capital Allowances in excess of depreciation 0 0.00% 0 0.00%

Other short term differences 0 0.00% 0 0.00%

Defined benefit scheme timing differences 0 0.00% 0 0.00%

Adjust closing deferred tax to average rate 0 0.00% 0 0.00%

Utilisation of tax losses and other deductions 0 0.00% 0 0.00%

Deferred tax not recognised (13,883) 118.23% (2,774) 22.29%

Unexplained difference 0 0.00% 0 0.00%

Current tax charge/credit for the period 0 0.00% 0 0.00%

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 77281



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Deferred Tax Asset
As a Community Interest Company AfC must pay Corporation Tax on all taxable profits at the domestic effective
tax rate. The Company has reported a loss before tax for the 2022/23 and 2021/22 financial period of £12m and
£12m respectively. There was no corporation tax amount that is payable for the 2022/23 (£nil in 2021/22)
financial year. It is not probable that the Company will make significant taxable profits in the short to medium
term and therefore it has not recognised a deferred tax asset in the Accounts. If the Company does make
taxable profits in the coming years it will be able to reduce its initial tax liability by offsetting taxable losses
incurred. The amount recognised as a contingent asset at 31 March 2023 is £1.488m (£19.746m at 31 March
2022).

NOTE 20 NON CASH FLOW ADJUSTMENTS AND CHANGES IN WORKING CAPITAL

The following tables provide a breakdown of the non-cash transactions recognised in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income and Statement of Financial Position.

2022/23

£000

2021/22

£000

Net changes in working capital:

Change in trade and other receivables (increase) (658) (1,869)

Change in trade and other payables (decrease) 251 3,311

Total changes in working capital (407) 1,442

2022/23

£000

2021/22

£000

Non Cash Flow Adjustments:

Current and past service costs 16,448 17,424

Net interest on defined benefit liability 2,225 1,966

Provision 79

Depreciation 3,074 3,441

21,826 22,831

AfC borrows money from the parent Councils via a revolving credit facility for ongoing operations. The amount
still owed to the Councils under this arrangement is detailed in note 17 to the accounts.

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 78282



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 21 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company’s related parties include its owners (LB Richmond, RB Kingston and RB Windsor), company
directors, senior managers with strategic decision making powers, post-employment benefit plans and others as
stated below.

Transactions with the Company’s owners

Achieving for Children is jointly owned by the London Borough of Richmond upon Thames, the Royal Borough of
Kingston upon Thames and the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead (RBWM). The boroughs have
influence over major policy decisions and funding. The Company is contracted jointly by the three Councils to
provide their children’s services. The Councils also provide support services and accommodation to the Company
and a loan facility of up to £45m. The table below summarises the key transactions:

LB

Richmond

2022/23

£000

RB Kingston

2022/23

£000

RB Windsor

2022/23

£000

LB Richmond

2021/22

£000

RB Kingston

2021/22

£000

RB Windsor

2021/22

£000

Receipts 91,292 90,858 56,792 85,015 80,950 55,979

Accrued income 10,717 12,866 4,721 9,754 13,010 5,535

Payments 1,350 4,403 2,338 1,494 5,015 1,507

Accrued Expenditure 539 60 82 662 356 552

Total Value 103,898 108,186 63,933 96,926 99,332 63,572

Other Balances

Borrowing 12,799 12,114 8,487 12,073 11,131 7,896

Transactions with schools maintained by the Councils have been excluded as the contract price captures the
value of these transactions. Individual schools are not deemed to have control over the Company.

Transactions with Key Management Personnel

Directors (including non-executive) and senior management have direct control over the Company’s finance and
operating policies and make up Key Management Personnel. The table below summarises the remuneration
received by these individuals. As a result of legislative requirements relating to the employment of statutory
officers, some members of the Company Leadership Team are employed by the parent Councils and seconded to
Achieving for Children. The total remuneration paid has been captured in the table below and includes total
remuneration paid by AfC and the parent Councils. Further details on the remuneration of individual Directors
are included in the Director’s Report.

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 79283



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2022/23 2021/22

£ £

Short Term Benefits:

Salary 804,210 858,330

National Insurance 108,820 107,256

Expenses 497 597

Post-Employment Benefits:

Defined benefit pension plans 172,216 159,798

Total Remuneration 1,085,743 1,125,981

During the period directors, senior management or members of their immediate families had relationships /
influence over the organisations detailed in the table overleaf. Organisations have been detailed regardless of
whether transactions occurred with AfC. Where transactions have occurred, the relevant officer or director was
not involved in decision making.

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 80284



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Transactions in the

period

Amounts owed at

period-end

Total

value of

transacti

ons

Transactions in the

period

Amounts owed at

period-end

Total

value of

transacti

ons

Payments Receipts Owed to Owed by Payments Receipts Owed to Owed by

2022/23 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23 2012/22 2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2021/22

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Ofsted 20 - - - 20 9 0 0 0 9

National Autistic Society 14 - - - 14 406 0 11 0 417

South Thames College Group 403 - (11) - 392 10 0 0 0 10

Dedworth Green First School - (1) - - (1) - - - - -

Dedworth Green Middle School 1 (1) - - - - - - - -

SWL ICB's Richmond Place based

Partnership Committee
- - - -

-
- - - - -

Haven House Children's Hospice - - - - - - - - - -

Integrated Governance Solutions

(IGS) LTD
- - - -

- - - - - -

SWL Integrated Care Board (ICB) - (3,459) - (501) (3,960) - - - - -

All transactions include VAT

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 81

285



The Chair of the Board (Sian Wicks) is the Chief Executive at Haven House Children’s Hospice
and the Managing Director of Integrated Governance Solutions Ltd . There were no transactions
between AfC and these organisations during 2022/23 or 2021/22.

One of the Company’s Non Executive Independent Directors (Nicki Craig) is a School Governor
at Dedworth Green First School, and Dedworth Middle School in Windsor in 2022/23. The
transactions related to income from the schools are for attendance at training and assessment
sessions throughout the financial year.

One of the Company’s Non Executive Independent Directors (Martin Spencer) was an Non
Executive Director at Ofsted in 21/22. Ofsted is an inspector of schools and regulator of social
care. Transactions in 2021/22 relate to annual fees paid for Social Care. He is a Non-Executive
Director for the South West London Integrated Care Board. In 2022/23 we received income
from SWL ICB for joint funded placements, therapies and other funding.

One of the Company’s Non Executive Directors (Jeremy DeSouza) is a member of the South
West London Integrated Care Board’s Richmond Place-based Partnership Committee. Income
from the SWL ICB is outlined in the paragraph above.

One of the Company’s Non Executive Independent Directors (Nathan Nagaiah) was the Principal
at South Thames Colleges Group in 2021/22, where expenditure relates to Special Educational
Needs. He was also Chair of Finance with the National Autistic Society, where expenditure
relates to Early Bird licences purchased.

Transactions with post-employment benefit plans

Employees of AfC are members of a number of pension plans. The defined benefit plans (the
LGPS) are separately administered by the LB Wandsworth (Richmond) and RB Kingston who are
also owners of the Company. The pension funds are treated as separate financial entities and
the terms of the benefit plans are prescribed by regulation. Note 5 to these accounts contains
further details of the specific plans and associated figures.

NOTE 22 CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Contingent Liabilities
Contingent liabilities relate to possible expenditure arising from a past event that has not been
recognised in the Statement of Accounts due to the probability that a transfer of economic
benefits will not arise, or cannot be reliably estimated. The possible liability is dependent on
the outcome of something happening in the future. A review is undertaken annually to identify
any potential liabilities.

● Legal Cases / Tribunals / Insurance Claims
As at the 31st March there were a number of tribunals and claims outstanding against the
Company. None of these claims are expected to materially impact the accounts but some
could lead to non-trivial damages / costs in future years should the tribunal rule against AfC. If
claims do arise then these will be met by the Company’s insurance policy (£50k excess) or via in
year budgets.

● Termination Benefits
The Company must make significant reductions in its cost base over the next three years to
achieve contract price reduction targets set by the contracting Councils. Plans continue to be
developed to address these cost pressures and it is probable that some termination benefits
will be paid out to staff as part of these plans. The Company is not able to estimate these at

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 82
286



present but any future liabilities will be met through in year budgets, contract change control
mechanisms and the phasing of reductions in the Company’s cost base.

Deferred Tax Asset
As a Community Interest Company AfC must pay Corporation Tax on all taxable profits at the
domestic effective tax rate. The Company has reported a loss before tax for the 2022/23 and
2021/22 financial period of £12m and £12m respectively. There was no corporation tax amount
that is payable for the 2022/23 (£nil in 2021/22) financial year. It is not probable that the
Company will make significant taxable profits in the short to medium term and therefore it has
not recognised a deferred tax asset in the Accounts. If the Company does make taxable profits
in the coming years it will be able to reduce its initial tax liability by offsetting taxable losses
incurred. The amount recognised as a contingent asset at 31 March 2023 is £1.488m
(£19.746m at 31 March 2022).

NOTE 23 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS RISK

Risk management objectives and policies

The Company is exposed to various risks in relation to financial instruments. The Company’s
financial assets and liabilities are summarised in Note 12. The main types of risks are market
risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Company’s risk management procedures are focused on the unpredictability of financial
markets and are structured to implement suitable controls to minimise these risks.

Market risk analysis

The principal risk that the Company is exposed to is fluctuations in interest rates that can
impact on its operating costs. The Company has seen the interest rate on our revolving credit
facility increase by 3.5% through the year. The Company only has exposure to short term
borrowing and deposits that are on variable interest rate terms with no currency exposure.

As an indication of the sensitivity to interest rates, a change in interest rates of 1% would
change finance costs by +/- £334k (£239k for 2021/22).

Outstanding loans at 31 March 2023 were £33.4 million.

Credit risk analysis

Credit risk arises if a counterparty fails to discharge an obligation to the Company. The Company
is exposed to credit risk in respect of short term deposits, cash and cash equivalents and trade
and other receivables. The maximum exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amounts
of financial assets recognised at 31 March 2023, as shown in the following table:

31 March

2023

31 March

2022

£000 £000

Financial assets / Loans and Receivables

Trade and other receivables categorised as Financial Instruments 37,303 35,921

Trade and other receivables not categorised as Financial

Instruments
1,973 2,697

Cash and cash equivalents 8,447 7,516

47,723 46,134

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 83
287



A significant proportion of trade and other receivables are in respect of public sector entities,
which mitigates the overall risk. Allowance for credit losses in 2022/23 was £117k (£122k for
2021/22).

The Company only deals with financial institutions that have high credit ratings and monitors
these to avoid risk.

Liquidity risk analysis

Liquidity risk arises if the Company is unable to meet its obligations. The Company is able to
borrow from its owners (the London Borough of Richmond upon Thames, Royal Borough of
Kingston upon Thames and Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead) under a revolving
credit facility agreement. This agreement provides a loan facility of £45 million which the
Company can draw down on to meet its liquidity requirements and also has up to £14m on
same-day withdrawal deposit/current accounts to manage day-to-day cash requirements.

The Company manages its liquidity needs through monitoring forecast cash inflows and
outflows arising from its business on a daily and weekly basis and also monitors longer term
impacts on its cash flow arising from changes to its business plan.

The Company is required to submit a Treasury Plan at least annually to its owners for their
approval that sets out the Company’s treasury management plans and procedures.

The revolving credit arrangement in place with its owners is regarded as sufficient mitigation
against liquidity risk for the company.

NOTE 24 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value in the statement of financial
position are grouped into Levels of fair value hierarchy. The three Levels are defined based on
the observability of significant inputs to the measurement, as follows:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly
Level 3: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability

The Company holds only the following financial assets and liabilities:
● Cash and cash equivalents
● Current borrowings
● Trade and other receivables and payables

There are no quoted prices that can be used to measure fair value of these assets and liabilities.

Cash, cash equivalents, trade and other payables are all very short term assets and are assessed
as being at fair value.

Current borrowings are in respect of one loan facility, provided by the owners of the Company
(RB Kingston, LB Richmond and RB Windsor and Maidenhead) – the amount borrowed at 31
March is shown in the following table in Note 25. This is a revolving short term loan agreement
which is repayable on 31 September and 31 March each year, or earlier if the company gives
the Councils notice. Interest is 0.5% (one half percent) above Bank of England Base Rate. The
terms of the loan are judged to reflect current market rates and the actual value of the loan is
taken as fair value.

Trade payables are discharged within 30 days and are deemed to be at fair value.

Trade receivables are due within 30 days and are deemed to be at fair value. Receivables not
settled within 30 days are amortised in respect of assumed credit losses based on the age of
debt

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 84
288



NOTE 25 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

The Company is jointly owned by LB Richmond, RB Kingston and RB Windsor and Maidenhead
as a company limited by guarantee and is a ‘not for profit’ organisation registered as a
Community Interest Company. It provides benefit to its owners by providing services to them
under contract at economic cost. The Company is not required to provide a financial return to
its owners and has no target for its capital-to-overall financing ratio. The owners of the
Company provide funding for the Company through a short-term loan facility and the Company
does not have any other borrowings or equity.

The amounts managed as capital by the Company for the reporting period under review are
summarised as follows:

31 March

2023

31 March

2022

£000 £000

Cash and cash equivalents 8,447 7,516

Capital 8,447 7,516

Borrowings 33,400 31,100

Overall financing 33,400 31,100

Capital-to-overall financing ratio 0.25 0.24

NOTE 26 POST REPORTING DATE EVENTS

No significant events have occurred between the 31st March reporting date and the date these
accounts were authorised.

NOTE 27 AUTHORISATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These Financial Statements were approved for submission to audit by the Chief Operating and
Finance Officer on 27th July 2023:

Lucy Kourpas (CPFA)
Chief Operating and Finance Officer

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 85
289



NOTE 28 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

General principles

Basis of preparation - accounting practices

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with UK adopted
International Financial Reporting Standards as required by the Companies Act 2006. The
Accounts summarise the Company’s financial performance (Statement of Comprehensive
Income), equity (Statement of Changes in Equity), financial position (Statement of Financial
Position) and cash flow (Statement of Cashflows) for the period. The Accounts have been
prepared on the historical cost basis.

Changes in accounting policies and prior period adjustments

Except for the changes detailed below, the Company has consistently applied the
accountancy policy to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements.

Prior period adjustments arise either as a result of a change in accounting policies or to
correct a material error. Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for in the current
financial period and future periods affected by the change, and do not result in a prior
period adjustment.

Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting practices
or where the change provides more reliable or relevant information about the effect of
transactions, other events and economic conditions on the Company’s financial position or
financial performance. Where a change is made, it is applied retrospectively (unless stated
otherwise) by adjusting opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior period as
if the new policy had always been applied. This was not required when adopting IFRS 16
due to the selection of the adoption of the modified retrospective approach.

Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by amending
opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior period. No material errors were
discovered in year.

Exceptional Items

Exceptional items are those which are separately identified by virtue of their size or
incidence to enable a full understanding of the Company’s financial performance. The
nature and amount of these items is disclosed separately, either on the face of the
Statement of Comprehensive Income or in the notes to the accounts, depending on how
significant the items are. The company has shown the financial impact of Covid-19 as an
exceptional item on the face of the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Items Re-classifiable to the Operating Profit or Loss
Where there are items in the Statement of Comprehensive Income that are re-classifiable to
the Operating Profit / Loss from Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure, when
certain conditions are met, these will be disclosed separately on the face of the Statement
of Comprehensive Income (within Other Comprehensive Income). At present the Company
has no such transactions.

Accruals of Income and Expenditure

Activity is accounted for in the period that it takes place, not simply when cash payments are

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 86
290



made or received. In particular:

Income (Revenue Recognition IFRS 15)

• Revenue from the sale of goods and services is recognised when (or as) the Company
transfers control of goods or services to a customer at the amount to which the
Company expects to be entitled, and all obligations have been fulfilled in relation to
the revenue and/or contract.

• Depending on whether certain criteria are met, revenue is recognised either over
time, in a manner that best reflects the company’s performance, or at a point in time,
when control of the goods or services is transferred to the customer.

• Contract income, fees and charges, lettings, grants, donations and other income arise
from the provision of services or the sale of goods or services.

Expenditure

• Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed. Where there is a gap
between the date supplies are received and their consumption (and the values are
material) they are carried as inventories on the Statement of Financial Position.

• Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by employees)
are recorded as expenditure when the services are received rather than when
payments are made.

• Revenue income and expenditure for the year is reported in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.

Interest

• Interest receivable on investments and payable on borrowings is accounted for
respectively as income and expenditure on the basis of the effective interest rate for
the relevant financial instrument rather than the cash flows fixed or determined by
the contract.

Debtor and creditor balances (accruals policy)
Where income and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not been received or
paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the Statement of Financial
Position. Where debts may not be settled (i.e. collection is doubtful), the balance of
receivables is written down and a charge made to revenue for the income that might not be
collected.

Exceptions to this accruals policy are made where it would be impractical in terms of time
and cost required and where the effect of not accruing has no material effect on the
Company’s accounts. The Company has set a general de-minimis level for accruals of
creditors that are calculated manually at period-end. This level is reviewed annually and is
currently set at £5,000. Two exceptions to this de-minimis rule apply:

• Qualifying expenditure upon which income from third parties is dependent and
associated income.
• Invoices for substantially the same supply or service that are chargeable to the
same service area are aggregated where their total is over £5,000.

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 87
291



Third Party and Government Grants / Contributions

Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, Government Grants, third party
contributions and donations are recognised as due when there is reasonable assurance that:
● the Company will comply with the conditions attached to the payments, and
● the grants or contributions will be received.

Amounts recognised as due are not credited to the Statement of Comprehensive Income until
conditions attached to the grant or contribution have been satisfied. Conditions are stipulations
that specify that the future economic benefits or service potential embodied in the asset
acquired using the grant or contribution are required to be consumed by the recipient as
specified, or future economic benefits or service potential must be returned to the transferor.

Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been satisfied are
carried in the Statement of Financial Position as creditors / receipts in advance. When
conditions are satisfied, the grant or contribution is credited to the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.

Agency Relationship
Where the Company acts as an agent of the Parent Councils, in paying grant monies to
schools, these transactions are excluded from the Accounts on the basis that the Company
is not making decisions about how the money is spent. The Company is just passporting
money based on pre-set criteria, on behalf of a third party. These transactions are reported
in the Accounts of the party who ultimately controls the money (i.e. the Councils).

Inventories
The Company recognises all inventories (stock) that have a value over £10,000 as at 31
March. The Company initially recognises inventory when it has control of it and when it
expects to have a right to the future economic benefits / service potential. All inventories
are measured at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Where there are large numbers
of items of inventory that are ordinarily interchangeable, the Company uses the weighted
average cost method of stock measurement. The Company held no material inventories at
31st March 2023.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable
without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value
(this will exclude fixed term deposits as they are not highly liquid and not readily convertible
to cash). In the Statement of Cashflows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand.

Employee Benefits

Benefits payable during employment
Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled within 12 months of the
period-end.

They include such benefits as wages and salaries, paid annual leave and paid sick leave,
bonuses and non-monetary benefits for current employees and are recognised as an
expense for services in the period in which employees render service to the Company. An

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 88
292



accrual is made for the cost of holiday entitlements (or any form of leave, e.g. time off in
lieu) earned by employees but not taken before the period-end which employees can carry
forward into the next financial period. The accrual is made at the salary rates applicable in
the following accounting year, being the period in which the employee takes the benefit.
The accrual is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income so that holiday benefits
are charged to revenue in the financial period to which they relate.

Termination Benefits
Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Company to
terminate an officer’s employment before the normal retirement date or an officer’s
decision to accept voluntary redundancy. These are charged on an accruals basis to the
Statement of Comprehensive Income when the Company is demonstrably committed to the
termination of the employment of an officer or group of officers or making an offer to
encourage voluntary redundancy.
Where termination benefits involve the enhancement of pensions, the amount is
recognised on an IAS19 basis in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Post Employment Benefits (IAS19)
Employees of the Company can be members of four separate pension funds:

• The Teachers’ Pension Scheme, administered by Capita Teachers’ Pensions on behalf
of the Department for Education (DfE).
• The National Health Service Pension Scheme, administered by the Department of
Health and Social Care (DoHSC)
• The Local Government Pensions Scheme, administered by the London Borough of
Wandsworth
• The Local Government Pensions Scheme, administered by the Royal Borough of
Kingston upon Thames

All schemes provide defined benefits to members, earned as employees who have worked
for the Company.
However, the arrangements for the teachers’ and NHS scheme mean that liabilities for these
benefits cannot ordinarily be identified specifically to the Company. The scheme is therefore
accounted for as if it was a defined contribution scheme and no liability for future payments
of benefits is recognised in the Statement of Financial Position. The employer’s
contributions are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the period.

The Local Government Pension Scheme

The Local Government Scheme is accounted for as a defined benefits scheme:

• The liabilities of the LB Wandsworth (Richmond) and RB Kingston Pension Fund
attributable to the Company are included in the Statement of Financial Position on an
actuarial IAS19 basis using the projected unit method – i.e. an assessment of the future
payments that will be made in relation to retirement benefits earned to date by employees,
based on assumptions about mortality rates, employee turnover rates, etc., and projections
of projected earnings for current employees.
• Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount rate
(based on the indicative rate of return on 20 year gilts adjusted for credit spread).
• The assets of each Pension Fund attributable to the Company are included in the
Statement of Financial Position at their fair value:
- quoted securities – current bid price
- unquoted securities – professional estimate

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 89
293



- unitised securities – current bid price
- property – market value

• The change in the net pensions liability is analysed into the following components:
Service cost comprising:
- current service cost – the increase in the present value of a defined benefit

obligation (liabilities) resulting from employee service in the current period.
– allocated to the Statement of Comprehensive Income

- past service cost – the change in the present value of the defined benefit
obligation for employee service in prior periods, resulting from a plan
amendment (the introduction or withdrawal of, or changes to, a defined
benefit plan) or a curtailment (a significant reduction by the authority in the
number of employees covered by a plan). – debited to the Statement of
Comprehensive Income

- Any gain or loss on settlement – arising when the Company enters into a
transaction that eliminates all further legal or constructive obligations for
part or all of the benefits provided under a defined benefit plan – debited to
the Statement of Comprehensive Income
Net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset) - the change during
the period in the net defined benefit liability (asset) that arises from the
passage of time - charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income
Re-measurements of the net defined benefit liability (asset) comprising:

- actuarial gains and losses – changes in the present value of the defined
benefit obligation resulting from: a) experience adjustments (the effects of
differences between the previous actuarial assumptions and what has
actually occurred) and b) the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions
charged to Other Comprehensive Income for the period

- the return on plan assets – excluding amounts included in net interest on
the net defined benefit liability (asset) – charged to Other Comprehensive
Income for the period

Discretionary Benefits
The Company has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement benefits in
the event of early retirements. Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result of an award to
any member of staff, including teachers, are accrued in the period of the decision to make
the award and accounted for using the same policies as are applied to the Local
Government Pension Scheme.

Financial Instruments

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the Statement of Financial Position when the
Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are
initially measured at fair value and are carried at their amortised cost. Annual charges to the
Statement of Comprehensive Income for interest payable are based on the carrying amount
of the liability, multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments over the life
of the instrument to the amount at which it was originally recognised.

Financial Assets
Financial assets are classified into two types:

• loans and receivables – assets that have fixed or determinable payments but are
not quoted in an active market

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 90
294



• available-for-sale assets – assets that have a quoted market price and/or do not
have fixed or determinable payments. AfC had no available for sale financial instruments in
2021/22.

Loans and Receivables
Loans and receivables are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured at fair value. They
are subsequently measured at their amortised cost. Annual credits to the Statement of
Comprehensive Income for interest receivable are based on the carrying amount of the
asset multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. For most of the loans
that the Company has made, this means that the amount presented in the Statement of
Financial Position is the outstanding principal receivable (plus accrued interest) and interest
credited to the Statement of Comprehensive Income is the amount receivable for the
period in the loan agreement.
Where assets are identified as impaired because of a likelihood arising from a past event
that payments due under the contract will not be made, the asset is written down and a
charge made to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. The impairment loss is measured
as the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of the revised future
cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate.
Any gains and losses that arise on the de-recognition of an asset are credited or debited to
the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Foreign Currency Translation
Where the Company enters into a transaction denominated in a foreign currency, the
transaction is converted into sterling at the exchange rate applicable on the date the
transaction was effective. Where amounts in foreign currency are outstanding at the
period-end, they are reconverted at the spot exchange rate at 31 March. Resulting gains or
losses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Relationships and Interests in Companies and Other Entities
Achieving for Children is jointly owned by the LB Richmond upon Thames, RB Kingston upon
Thames and RB Windsor and Maidenhead. The Company will disclose the proportion of
profit / loss and net assets that is attributable to each Council. The parent Councils will in
turn consolidate their interest in the Company as part of their group accounts.

Where the Company assesses that its relationship with another entity is classified as a
subsidiary, associate, or joint venture it will present its accounts to reflect these interests as
follows:

Subsidiary Associates Joint Ventures

● Company controls the

financial and operating

activities of that entity

and benefits from this

control.

● Company has significant

influence over the

operations of another

entity.

● Company has joint

control over another

entity

● Line by Line

consolidation - Where

material, the Company

will consolidate 100% of

● Equity Method –

The interest is presented as an investment and

adjusted each period for the current share of the net

assets and the relevant share of profit or loss will be

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 91
295



all transactions and

balances into the

Company’s Accounts and

the Company will

present both single

entity and group entity

accounts.

recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive

Income

Non Current Assets
The Company recognises two categories of non-current asset:

• Tangible - Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production
or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes and that are expected to be
used during more than one financial period
• Intangible - Expenditure on non-monetary assets that do not have physical
substance but are controlled by the Company as a result of past events (e.g. software
licences) are capitalised when it is expected that future economic benefits or service
potential will flow to the Company
The Company has set the following de-minimis limits for the recognition of non-current
assets:

• Land and buildings - £50,000
• Vehicles, plant and equipment - £10,000
• Intangible assets - £10,000

Tangible Intangible

Recognition Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement is capitalised on

an accruals basis, provided that it is probable that the future economic

benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the

Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. Expenditure

that maintains but does not add to an asset’s potential to deliver future

economic benefits or service potential (i.e. repairs and maintenance) is

charged as an expense when it is incurred.

Where an asset consists of various components with different useful lives

these are recognised separately.

Measurement Assets are initially measured at cost,

comprising the purchase price and

any costs attributable to bringing

the asset to the location and

condition necessary for it to be

capable of operating in the manner

intended by management. Assets

are then carried in the Statement of

Financial Position at fair value,

determined as the amount that

Intangible assets are measured

initially at cost. Amounts are only

revalued where the fair value of

the assets held can be determined

by reference to an active market.

Increases in valuations are

matched by credits to the

Revaluation Reserve to recognise

unrealised gains. Reductions in

value are written off against

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 92
296



would be paid for the asset in its

existing condition. For non-property

assets that have short useful lives or

low values (or both), depreciated

historical cost basis is used as a

proxy for fair value.

relevant balances in the

revaluation reserve and then to the

Statement of Comprehensive

Income.

Depreciation ● Depreciation is provided for on

all tangible assets by the

systematic allocation of their

depreciable amounts over their

useful lives. The Company

applies the straight line method

of depreciation and the useful

life is determined by a relevant

expert. Depreciation is charged

to the Statement of

Comprehensive Income each

period and writes down the

value of the asset on the

Statement of Financial Position.

A full years depreciation is

charged in the period of

acquisition.

● The depreciable amount of an

intangible asset is amortised

over its useful life to the

Statement of Comprehensive

Income. A full years

depreciation is charged in the

period of acquisition

Leases IFRS 16

Company as a lessee
For any new contracts entered into the Company considers whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the
right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for
consideration’. To apply this definition the Company assesses whether the contract meets
three key evaluations which are whether:

• The contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the
contract or implicitly specified by being identified at the time the asset is made available to
the Company
• The Company has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from
use of the identified asset throughout the period of use, considering its rights within the
defined scope of the contract
• The Company has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the
period of use.
The Company assesses whether it has the right to direct ‘how and for what purpose’ the
asset is used throughout the period of use. Previous de-minimis levels for recognising
Finance Leases are now redundant under the new standard. There are only two exemptions
for recognising a lease right-of-use asset. These are:

• If the lease is short-term (12 months or less); and

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 93
297



• Leases of low-value assets (those less than £5,000 in total cost over the lease term).
This exemption also applies to individual leases within a similar group.
When using these exemptions, instead of recognising a right-of-use asset and lease liability,
the payments in relation to these leases are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee
At lease commencement date, the Company recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability on the balance sheet. Any arrangements prior to 1 April 2019 have been assessed
and represented using the modified retrospective approach under IFRS 16. The right-of-use
asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability,
any initial direct costs incurred by the Company, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and
remove the asset at the end of the lease, and any lease payments made in advance of the
lease commencement date (net of any incentives received).

The Company depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from the lease
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or
the end of the lease term. The Company, through the owning Council’s, also assesses the
right-of-use asset for impairment when such indicators exist.

At the commencement date, the Company measures the lease liability at the present value
of the lease payments unpaid at that date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the
lease if that rate is readily available or the Company’s incremental borrowing rate. The
liability will be reduced for payments made each year.

On the statement of financial position, right-of-use assets have been included in property,
plant and equipment and lease liabilities have been included in trade and other payables.

The Company as a lessor
The Company’s accounting policy under IFRS 16 has not changed from the comparative
period. Achieving for Children does not have legal title to any non-current assets and as
such would not partake in the leasing out of non-current assets.

Operating Leases
Rentals paid under operating leases, and therefore outside of IFRS 16, are charged to the
Statement of Comprehensive Income as an expense in the period.

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

Provisions
Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Company a legal or
constructive obligation that probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic benefits
or service potential, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
For instance, the Company may be involved in a court case that could eventually result in
the making of a settlement or the payment of compensation. Provisions are charged as an
expense to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period that the Company
becomes aware of the obligation, and are measured at the best estimate at the Statement
of Financial Position date of the expenditure required to settle the obligation, taking into
account relevant risks and uncertainties. When payments are eventually made, they are
charged to the provision carried in the Statement of Financial Position. Estimated
settlements are reviewed at the end of each financial period – where it becomes less than
probable that a transfer of economic benefits will now be required (or a lower settlement
than anticipated is made), the provision is reversed and credited back to the relevant
service.

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 94
298



Redundancy Costs
The Company provides for redundancy costs at the point that it is demonstrably committed
(cannot retract the offer). If a notification of redundancy has been issued before 31 March
but the amount has not yet been paid, a liability is recognised in the accounts.

Contingent Liabilities
A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the Company a
possible obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise
of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Company. Contingent
liabilities also arise in circumstances where a provision would otherwise be made but either
it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required or the amount of the
obligation cannot be measured reliably. Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the
Statement of Financial Position but disclosed in a note to the Accounts.

Contingent Assets
A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the Company a possible
asset whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Company. Contingent assets are not
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position but disclosed in a note to the accounts
where it is probable that there will be an inflow of economic benefits or service potential.

Taxation

Corporation Taxation
The Company is liable to pay Corporation Tax on all taxable profits. Where this applies, the
tax will be separately identified on the face of the Statement of Comprehensive Income and
profits / losses will be shown gross and net of taxation. Any amounts owed to the HMRC at
the period-end will be recognised as a creditor / debtor on the Statement of Financial
Position.

Where the Company makes taxable losses / has temporary differences, it will recognise a
deferred tax asset on the Statement of Financial Position only where it is probable that the
Company will make taxable profits and pay Corporation Tax in the foreseeable future. If
taxable profits are not probable the potential deferred tax asset will be recognised as a
contingent asset and disclosed within the notes to the Accounts.

Value Added Taxation
VAT payable is included as an expense only to the extent that it is not recoverable from Her
Majesty’s Revenue and Customs. VAT receivable is excluded from income. The net amount
owed or owing to the HMRC at the Statement of Financial Position Date will be recognised
as a net creditor / debtor on the Statement of Financial Position.

Post Reporting Date Events
Events after the Statement of Financial Position date are those events, both favourable and
unfavourable, that occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when the
Financial Statements is authorised for issue. Two types of events can be identified:

• those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting
period – the Financial Statements are adjusted to reflect such events (an adjusting event).

• those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period

The Financial Statements are not adjusted to reflect such events, but where a category of

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 95
299



events would have a material effect, disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of the
events and their estimated financial effect (a non-adjusting event).
Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Financial
Statements.

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 96
300



GLOSSARY OF TERMS

GLOSSARY OF TERMS

ACCRUALS
Amounts charged to the accounts for goods or services received during the period for which payments have
not yet been made, and for income due, which has not yet been received.

BALANCE SHEET / STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
A statement of the Company’s assets and liabilities at the 31 March (Statement of Financial Position date).

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
Expenditure on the acquisition or enhancement of assets that have a significant value and a useful life
beyond one year.

CASH & CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash is represented by notes and coins held by the Company and deposits available on demand. Cash
equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value e.g. instant access accounts.

COMMUNITY INTEREST COMPANY
A Community Interest Company is a special type of Ltd Company which exists to benefit the community
rather than the private shareholders. Its primary objectives are social objectives and any surpluses are
reinvested into the organisation.

CREDITORS OR TRADE PAYABLES
Organisations and individuals to whom the Company owes money.

CURRENT ASSETS
These are assets that will become payable to us or could be called upon within the next accounting period
(i.e. less than one year). Examples are stock, cash and receivables.

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Those amounts which will become payable or could be called upon in the next accounting period (i.e. less
than one year).

DEBTORS or TRADE RECEIVABLES
Organisations and individuals who owe money to the Company.

DEDICATED SCHOOLS GRANT
A ring-fenced, Central Government Grant paid to Councils by the Department for Education to fund
education services within the boroughs. A significant proportion is devolved to schools on a formulaic basis.

DEPRECIATION
The writing down of the value of a fixed asset in the Statement of Financial Position in line with its expected
useful life.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Salaries, wages, paid annual leave, paid sick leave, pension benefits and termination benefits.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability
or equity instrument of another.

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 97301



GLOSSARY OF TERMS

FINANCE LEASE
Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of the property, plant or equipment from the lessor to the lessee.

NON CURRENT ASSETS
These are assets that are likely to be in use by the Company for more than one year, such as property, plant
and equipment.

IAS19
Accounting standard requiring the recognition by an authority of the attributable share of the assets and
liabilities of pension funds with which it is associated showing the employer’s commitment to increase
contributions to make up any shortfall in attributable net assets, or its ability to benefit (via reduced
contributions) from a surplus in the scheme, even though the fund retains title to the assets and the
responsibility to pay pensions.

IFRS 16
Accounting standard that introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognise
assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low
value. A lessee is required to recognise a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying
leased asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
A Core Primary Statement that provides a summary of the resources generated and consumed by the
Company in the period.

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRS)
The regulations under which the accounts are published. A set of international accounting standards stating
how particular types of transactions and other events should be reported in financial statements. IFRS
are issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
Intangible fixed assets that are likely to be in use by the Company for more than one year are recognised
where there is no ‘physical’ asset but the Company controls future economic benefits from the asset. For
example computer software.

NET BOOK VALUE
An asset or liabilities original book value net of any accounting adjustments such as depreciation.

NET REALISABLE VALUE
The value of an asset that can be realised upon the sale of the asset, less any costs associated with either
the eventual sale or the disposal of the asset in question.

NON EXECUTIVE INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS (NEID)
A member of the board of directors of a company or organisation who does not form part of
the executive management team.

OPERATING LEASE
This is a type of lease under which lease rentals are paid for the use of the asset over the period of the
lease. The asset remains the legal property of the lessor and has to be returned at the end of the lease.

OUTTURN
This is the final expenditure and income in any financial period. Outturn reports usually compare the final
net expenditure (expenditure less income) against the relevant budget.

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 98302



GLOSSARY OF TERMS

PROVISIONS
Amounts set aside for liabilities and losses which are likely to occur but where the exact amount or timing is
uncertain but can be reasonably estimated.

RIGHT OF USE ASSET
The right-of-use asset recognises a lessee's right to use an asset over the life of a lease. At the termination
of a lease, the right-of-use asset and associated lease liability are removed from the books of the lessee.

TANGIBLE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Tangible fixed assets are ‘physical’ assets that provide future economic benefit and are likely to be in use by
the Company for more than one year.

TERMINATION BENEFITS
Amounts payable to employees as a result of a decision by the Company to terminate an officer’s
employment prior to normal retirement age or an officers decision to accept voluntary redundancy.

THIRD PARTY PAYMENTS
Items reported under Third Party Payments for management accounts include contract payments made
throughout the year. Examples include payments to third parties for independent child placements, Special
Education Needs placements and other contract payments.

TRANSFER OF UNDERTAKINGS (PROTECTION OF EMPLOYMENT) REGULATIONS 2006 (TUPE)
A part of UK labour law, protecting employees whose business is being transferred to another business.
The regulations aim to protect employees' employment and most significant terms and conditions.

ACHIEVING FOR CHILDREN CIC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022/23 Page 99303

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/UK_labour_law


This page is intentionally left blank



People Overview and Scrutiny Panel 

Thursday 12th October 2023 

 

Present: Councillors Helen Taylor, Devon Davies, Mandy Brar, Suzanne Cross, Carole Da 
Costa, Jack Douglas, Julian Sharpe, George Shaw and John Story 

Also in attendance: Mark Jervis (Co-optee) 

Officers: Lin Ferguson, Kevin McDaniel, Lynne Lidster, Lucy Kourpas, Nikki Craig and Mark 
Beeley 

 

 

Achieving for Children Annual Reports 2022/23 

Lucy Kourpas, Chief Operating and Finance Officer at Achieving for Children, explained that 
the annual reports were being presented to Cabinet as the council was a joint owner of 
Achieving for Children. The annual report was made up of the impact report, the equalities 
report and the accounts. The impact report outlined the strategic priorities, values and key 
impacts on families. Good progress had been made against these priorities with independent 
inspections showing positive results. A number of case studies were included, particularly 
around supporting families in the cost of living crisis and strengthening the local offer of 
support for those with SEND. There had been an escalation in mental health need and a 
programme of support had been rolled out across schools. 

The equalities report provided information around the approach as an organisation, 
infographics about the workforce and residents who used Achieving for Children’s services. 
There had been a focus on improving training and development for staff and awareness 
around the protected characteristics. A mentoring programme had been introduced and this 
had been popular, while a virtual support hub had also been introduced. 

The accounts contained information on the financial performance and position for Achieving 
for Children and followed national reporting standards. Independent auditors had audited the 
accounts and they had concluded that it reflected a true and accurate financial performance. 
The overall value of Achieving for Children had improved by £73 million but the net worth 
was -£5.3 million. This was because the local government pension scheme was offered to all 
employees who worked for Achieving for Children. 

Councillor Story asked if it was normal for the value of the pension fund change to be 
reflected in the accounts of an organisation. 

Lucy Kourpas said that the pension fund was valued every three years and this informed 
employer contribution rates. The last valuation had come in from 1st April 2023 and there had 
been a small increase in the employer contribution rate. Achieving for Children was a 
community interest company, therefore it was likely that it always owed more than it owned 
and this explained why there was a negative net worth. There was an asset lock in place, so 
if Achieving for Children was ever wound up, the three joint owning councils would have 
access to these assets. The organisation had not been set up to deliver a profit, it had been 
set up to deliver services on behalf of the council. 

305



Councillor Story noted that the families first scheme had over 100 families being supported 
in Kingston and Richmond, but there were only 11 being supported in RBWM. 

Lin Ferguson, Executive Director of Children’s Services and Education, said that Achieving 
for Children had been running the families first scheme in Kingston and Richmond for a 
number of years. Funding had recently been secured to run this scheme in RBWM and had 
only been run since July. 

Councillor Story asked if staff had to attend all of the training sessions which were listed in 
the report. He questioned whether this was taking up too much time. 

Lin Ferguson said that there were a number of specialist staff who needed to receive regular 
and specific training on certain matters. Not all sessions were mandatory for all staff, this 
would be a discussion within the team about which training sessions were appropriate. The 
training offer was extensive, staff often joined Achieving for Children as the support package 
was good. 

Councillor Story commented on the attendance for training sessions being low, it had 
increased from 10% to 14%. 

Lucy Kourpas clarified that there was one equality, diversity and inclusion module which was 
mandatory for staff and this took about an hour to complete. Staff were asked to refresh this 
every couple of years. For mandatory sessions, the target was 100% but this was currently 
around 60%. It was difficult to determine how many staff should attend each training session 
as training needs were different. Places on the sessions were also sold to other local 
authorities. 

Councillor Story felt that this figure was portrayed negatively, he suggested to officers that 
this could be rewritten to clarify that not all staff needed to attend every training session to 
help explain and justify the low attendance figure. 

Councillor Shaw said that RPI had been assumed as being 3%, he asked if this figure was 
higher what impact it could have on Achieving for Children. 

Lucy Kourpas explained that this was a financial assumption over time on the pension fund, 
this was a long term average. 

Councillor Shaw asked if the recommendations which had been highlighted as part of Ofsted 
inspections were achievable. 

Lin Ferguson said that there was an action plan in place as a result of the inspection, this 
was monitored quarterly. There was an action plan from the last full Ofsted inspection which 
had taken place in 2020. Both action plans had been reviewed recently and the team were 
happy with the progress being made. 

Councillor C Da Costa picked up the points made on mandatory training attendance. In her 
experience, mandatory training meant that unless it was completed, staff were not able to do 
their jobs. 

Lucy Kourpas agreed that mandatory should be mandatory, this was the case for new 
starters. Managers had strongly encouraged staff to complete mandatory modules. 

Councillor C Da Costa commented on recruitment and retention, she felt that the training 
offer in place would be attractive to potential staff. She asked if there had been thought given 
to try and improve retention rates or to bring in agency staff long term to try and save costs. 

306



Lin Ferguson said that social worker recruitment was a national issue, many signed up to 
agencies where they could earn more money and were not fixed to a specific place. There 
was a recruitment and retention strategy in place which made comparisons with other 
Berkshire authorities. A good benefits package was offered. There was a good rate of 
agency staff who then joined Achieving for Children on a permanent basis. This was not just 
an issue with social workers, it was across the board. 

Councillor C Da Costa said that she in her previous job there had been a bank trust, this 
meant that the worker got paid a little bit more and could attract staff from agencies. She 
asked if this had been explored in Achieving for Children. 

Lin Ferguson said it had been considered but it was tricky to do, particularly as it was 
important that staff built up a relationship with the children and families that they worked 
with. She hoped for national support to help with retention. 

Mark Jervis, Co-optee, said that there had been an increase in children’s mental health 
issues. He asked for any comment on waiting times for mental health issue appointments 
and key strategies for tackling mental health. 

Lin Ferguson agreed that there had been a spike in the number of mental health issues 
reported amongst young people and children. There was a waiting list for core Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) but not all children needed this. The team had 
been working on prevention activities, for example self-esteem groups, a youth counselling 
contract, a getting help team and a wellbeing team. The waiting list had remained relatively 
static, Lin Ferguson was happy to confirm this information. 

ACTION – Lin Ferguson to confirm the waiting list time for CAMHS referrals and share 
this with the Panel. 

Councillor Sharpe asked what Achieving for Children had done in the Ascot area. He asked 
if there was one thing that could be changed to help children achieve more, what would it be. 

Lin Ferguson said that she would need to clarify examples in Ascot with the family hub team. 
The holiday activity fund had been put on for children with free school meals and there had 
been activities taking place in the Ascot area. 

ACTION – Lin Ferguson to speak to Danny Gomm about the activities which had taken 
place in Ascot from Achieving for Children. 

Lucy Kourpas said that life circumstances should not determine life outcomes and that all 
children should be able to achieve what they wanted to achieve in life. 

Kevin McDaniel, Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Health, said that for many 
children days at school were being taken away due to personal circumstances. He wanted to 
see more done to ensure that school days were not lost. 

Lin Ferguson agreed, education was key for all young people. Children just starting school 
were often not school ready because of the impact from the pandemic, school needed to be 
a good experience. Work was also done with those who refused to attend school due to 
emotional wellbeing and anxiety. 

Councillor Sharpe asked how many children were currently not attending school due to 
anxiety. 

307



Lin Ferguson said that the borough was not in a bad position but she wanted to improve the 
numbers. It was important to understand why the child did not want to attend school and 
each child had slightly different circumstances. 

ACTION – Lin Ferguson to share report on the number of children not attending 
school across the borough with the Panel. 

Councillor Brar asked how many children in the borough were educated at home. 

Lin Ferguson said it was around 180 children. 

AGREED UNANIMOUSLY: That the People Overview and Scrutiny Panel noted the 
report and submitted the discussion and comments on the item to be considered by 
Cabinet as part of the agenda pack. 

308



 

 
Report Title: Children’s Services Contract with Achieving 

for Children (AfC) 

Contains 
Confidential or 
Exempt Information 

No – Part I 

Cabinet Member: Cllr Amy Tisi, Cabinet Member for Children’s 
Services, Education and Windsor 

Meeting and Date: Cabinet - 25 October 2023 

Responsible 
Officer(s): 

Lin Ferguson, Executive Director of Children’s 
Services and Education 

Wards affected:   All 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 

 The current seven year contract with Achieving for Children (AfC)  for the delivery of 
Children's Services, comes to an end on 31 July 2024.  There is an option to extend 
the contract for a further five years.  

 
 Council officers have undertaken an options analysis to evaluate what the 

recommended delivery model should be after July 2024.  The team has looked at 
the current performance of AfC in terms of quality and value for money as well as 
how well it is meeting local priorities.   

 
 Three future delivery models have been considered including extending the contract 

with AfC for a further five years, bringing the services back inhouse or undertaking 
an open market tender to identify a new third party provider. 

 
 Council officers are recommending that the existing arrangement with AfC is 

extended for a further five years.  The arrangement is delivering a good standard of 
service and offers value for money.  On balance, an alternative model is unlikely to 
achieve better quality or value at this time.  Extending the existing arrangement will 
also support stability in the service at a time when there is rising complexity and 
levels of need for children, young people and families. 

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 

RECOMMENDATION:  
 
That Cabinet approves the extension of the contract with Achieving for 
Children (AfC) Community Interest Company (CIC) for five years from 1 
August 2024 to 31 July 2029 
 

2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
2.1 The current contract with Achieving for Children for the delivery of Children's 

Services in the borough comes to an end on 31 July 2024.  There is an option to 
extend the contract for a further five years.   

309

Agenda Item 10



 

 
2.2 Council officers have considered three options for the future delivery of Children's 

Services as follows: 
 

1. Extend the existing contract with AfC for a further five years, 
2. Bring Children's Services back inhouse,  
3. Undertake an open tender to identify a new third party to deliver 

Children's Services. 
 

2.3 Officers have concluded that the best option for Windsor and Maidenhead at this 
time would be to extend the existing contract with AfC for the following reasons: 

 
● The AfC delivery model is working well.  There is clear evidence that shows it 

is supporting quality Children's Services and is value for money.  Alternative 
models are unlikely to lead to improvements in either quality or value for 
money.   

● The AfC model is well embedded with good working relationships that support 
a service that can flex to the needs of Windsor and Maidenhead residents and 
emerging strategic priorities. 

● AfC is part owned and controlled by Windsor and Maidenhead and this means 
that the delivery model does not compromise the ability to claim back VAT on 
the cost of services.  An outsource model may not support this material 
financial advantage. 

● Under the AfC model, Windsor and Maidenhead is benefitting from partnership 
working with Richmond and Kingston.  This means that Children's Services 
professionals working in Windsor and Maidenhead are supported by a ‘child 
services’ focused organisation of like minded professionals.  Teams and AfC 
staff have access to specialist back office services, joint recruitment and 
promotional campaigns, joint child focused policies and procedures, a well 
developed workforce development offer and the sharing of best practice 
delivery models across multiple boroughs. 

● The context in which Children's Services is currently being delivered is hugely 
challenging with rising levels of need, complexity and costs across the country.  
Changing the delivery model would cause a huge amount of disruption, cost a 
significant amount of money and lead to staff focus being on the change rather 
than on the service delivery.  This would not be of benefit to service users, 
staff or the council at such a challenging time. 

 
Options Table 1: Options arising from this report 

 
Option Comments 

Cabinet approves the extension of the 
contract for the delivery of Children's 
Services with Achieving for Children 
CIC 

This option continues the existing 
service delivery model and will support 
continuity of existing service provision. 

Cabinet does not approve the extension There are two alternative options that 

310



 

of the contract for the delivery of 
Children's Services with Achieving for 
Children CIC and makes an alternative 
recommendation 

have been considered: 
 

- Bring Children's Service’s back 
inhouse 

- Undertake a full market tender to 
identify a new delivery partner 

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 
 

3.1  The Royal Borough entered into a seven year contract with Achieving for Children CIC for 
the delivery of Children's Services in August 2017.  The current contract term comes to an 
end on 31 July 2024.  The existing contract has provision for a five year extension from 
August 2024 to 31 July 2029. 

 
3.2 Achieving for Children is a not for profit community interest company that is jointly owned 

by Windsor and Maidenhead, Richmond and Kingston boroughs.  AfC was established with 
its main purpose to provide tailored and specialist Children's Services to its owning 
boroughs. 

 
3.3 Council officers met in July 2023 to consider whether it should recommend that the existing 

contract with AfC should be extended for a further five years.  In considering the future 
model for Children's Services the following factors were considered: 

 
● Is the current arrangement meeting the scope of provision that is needed and is it 

sufficiently flexible to meet the Windsor and Maidenhead strategic objectives? 
● Is the current arrangement delivering good quality provision? 
● Is the current arrangement delivering value for money? 
● What alternatives are there and could these alternative options better meet the above 

four criteria? 
 
Is the current arrangement meeting the scope of provision that is needed and is it 
sufficiently flexible to meet Windsor and Maidenhead strategic objectives? 
 

3.4 AfC currently delivers all Children's Services which are the responsibility of the Local 
Authority including social care, education and public health services (the latter funded 

         through the Public Health Grant). One of the benefits of the AfC model is that it offers a 
service that is specifically tailored to the needs of children, young people, families and 
partners in the Royal Borough.  It also provides the full scope of Children's Services and so 
replicates the breadth of services that an internal directorate would be expected to manage, 
rather than dividing the services up between multiple providers. 

 
3.5 The service offers flex as required, to support alignment to the changing needs of residents 

and the borough’s ambitions.  Officers within AfC work closely with the council to ensure 
there is a good understanding of emerging needs and clear strategies on how best to meet 
those needs.  There is also robust joint work on how the budget can be used flexibly to 
support local demand and emerging priorities.  Examples of services flexing to meet 
changing needs are:  

 
● The re-prioritisation of resources to support edge of care services with a view to 

supporting children, young people and families earlier so they do not need costly 
interventions later in life. 

● Expanding teams to support the higher number of Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking 

311



 

Children and Young People who the council has been supporting since April 2022. 
● Responding to the pandemic by quickly mobilising new ways of working to ensure 

that Windsor and Maidenheads most vulnerable children and young people continued 
to be protected and supported throughout the pandemic and lockdowns. 

3.6 The contract also offers the opportunity for a formal annual review and this provides 
a dedicated time each year to evaluate where changes to the scope of service 
provision may be required and how well the current scope is meeting local 
requirements.  For example, after a performance review, AfC staff and Public Health 
are currently reviewing the Public Health Nursing Service (Health Visitors and 
School Nurses) and the public health role within the Family Hubs. This gives the 
possibility to further ensure value for money and more importantly, the best support 
possible for the children, young people and families of the Royal Borough. 

3.7 The delivery model has been set up so that officers work closely with council 
employed staff and councillors in the same way that an inhouse service provision 
would.  The aim is to support a seamless experience for residents, regardless of 
which organisation is delivering services and employing the staff. Key strategic 
leaders are directly employed by the council and seconded into AfC to support 
direct strategic alignment with council priorities and input into leadership 
discussions and work.  Services are also co-located on council owned premises.    

Is the current arrangement delivering good quality provision? 

3.8   The quality of Children's Services has improved considerably since Windsor and 
Maidenhead joined the Achieving for Children model.  Services are now assessed 
as being of a good level of quality across the board and this is evidenced through 
internal self assessments, strong key performance indicators and independent 
inspections by relevant regulators.  Key independent inspection results are as 
follows: 

● Children’s Social Care and Early Help services continue to be judged by 
Ofsted as ‘Good’ and this compares to ‘requires improvement’ when services 
transferred into AfC. 

● The Independent Fostering Agency (IFA), which operates across all three boroughs, 
has been judged ‘Good’ by Ofsted. 

● We achieved a positive Joint Targeted Area Inspection (JTAI) of the multi-agency 
response to the identification of initial need and risk in Windsor and Maidenhead in 
May 2022, which focused on the ‘front door’, including the Single Point of Access. 

● At the end of 2022/23, the Department for Education and NHS England reviewed 
progress against our written statement of action in relation to SEND and have made 
the decision that there is no need for it to be formally monitored any more because 
we have ‘demonstrated clear and sustained progress’. 

● Health services received a ‘Good’ rating across all areas following the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) inspection of our Health Visiting and School Nursing Service in 
November 2022. 

● The Youth Offending Service was rated ‘Good’ in the most recent inspection. 

● 94% of schools are judged to be good or outstanding. 

312



 

3.9 There is also strong evidence of services having a very positive impact on the lives of 
our children, young people and families.  The AfC Impact Report, which is discussed 
elsewhere on this agenda, outlines key achievements and includes quotes from 
residents who have benefited from Children's Services over the past year. 

 

 Is the current arrangement delivering value for money? 

3.10 Benchmarking information continues to indicate that the services delivered by AfC 
represent good value for money.   

 

             Table 2: 

 
 

3.11 Impower, an independent consultancy company, who has a model that maps council 
performance, continues to rate the Windsor and Maidenhead services as ‘low spend 
and high outcomes’ – see table 2 above. 

3.12      National financial benchmarking information, based on published actual spend data 
by Local Authority, shows that on a per head of 0 - 25 population basis, Windsor and 
Maidenhead has the 10th lowest spend on children’s social care and early help 
services relative to 151 comparative Local Authorities (source 2021/22 Revenue 
Outturn Data benchmarking published by DHLUG. The cost of Children's Services is 
significantly below average and AfC continues to successfully maintain a good quality 
of service. 

 What alternatives are there and could these alternative options better meet the 
scope, quality and value for money criteria? 

3.13 In evaluating whether to recommend that the council extends the contract with AfC, 
officers considered three options against a list of considerations.  The options are as 
follows: 

313



 

● extend the contract with AfC for a further five years, 
● bring Children's Service back in house, 
● undertake a full tender exercise to identify an alternative delivery partner. 

The full evaluation is attached at appendix A for information. 

3.14 Officers have concluded that the best option for Windsor and Maidenhead at this time 
would be to extend the existing contract for the following reasons: 

● The AfC delivery model is working well.  There is clear evidence that shows it 
is supporting quality Children's Services and is good value for money.  
Alternative models are unlikely to lead to improvements in either quality or 
value for money.   

● The AfC model is well embedded with good working relationships that support 
a service that can flex to the needs of Windsor and Maidenhead residents and 
emerging strategic priorities. 

● AfC is part owned and controlled by Windsor and Maidenhead and this means 
that the delivery model does not compromise the ability to claim back VAT on 
the cost of services.  An outsource model may not support this material 
financial advantage. 

● Under the AfC model, Windsor and Maidenhead is benefitting from partnership 
working with Richmond and Kingston.  This means that Children's Services 
professionals working in Windsor and Maidenhead are supported by a child 
services focused organisation of like minded professionals.  Teams and AfC 
staff have access to specialist back office services, joint recruitment and 
promotional campaigns, joint child focused policies and procedures, a well 
developed workforce development offer and the sharing of best practice 
delivery models across multiple boroughs. 

● The context in which Children's Services are currently being delivered is 
hugely challenging with rising levels of need, complexity and costs across the 
country.  Changing the delivery model would cause a huge amount of 
disruption, cost a significant amount of money and lead to staff focus being on 
the change rather than on the service delivery.  This would not be of benefit to 
service users, staff or the council at such a challenging time. 

4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY / GOVERNANCE 

4.1 The council agrees the budget for Children's Services each year as part of its embedded 
budget setting processes. The council pays AfC £29 million a year to support general 
fund Children's Services and £14 million to support Dedicated Schools Grant funded 
high needs education services.  Although the funding doesn't all sit in the contract price 
with AfC, the contract also supports the administration of the Dedicated Schools Grant 
fund on behalf of the council with a value of £152 million (including the £14 million 
directly paid to AfC).  The public health services contained within the AfC contract 
(Health Visitors, School Nurses and partial funding of the Family Hubs) are funded 
through the Public Health Grant.  

 
4.2 The expected value of the five year extension is expected to be between £215 million 

and £220 million depending on the actual grant increases announced during the contract 
extension period. 

314



 

 
4.3 The contract with AfC includes detailed contract monitoring arrangements and this 

includes monthly financial reporting to feed into the council's own budget monitoring 
cycle.  AfC is fully engaged in the Windsor and Maidenhead budget setting processes 
and over the coming months this will include the upcoming Budget Star Chambers and 
other actions being taken to support the delivery of a robust Medium Term Financial 
Strategy.  Both organisations are committed to the delivery of good quality Children's 
Services at a cost that remains affordable. 

 
4.4 The Governance for overseeing the arrangements with AfC will continue to be kept 

under review to ensure that they continue to meet the oversight needs of the Local 
Authority.  Improvements have been made over the last year with the Director of 
Children's Services appointed as the contract commissioner.  Budget and performance 
information is regularly used to support discussions about areas of strength / 
improvement and to inform joint decision making.   

 
4.5 The borough also has an important role as a joint owner of AfC.  Governance processes 

are in place to support Windsor and Maidenheads oversight of AfC as a corporate entity.   
The borough exercises control through an established set of Reserved Matter Decisions.  
These decisions are made by Cabinet and include agreement of strategic direction, the 
annual budget, treasury processes and significant procurements.  Ownership Boards are 
planned every six months to bring AfCs three Local Authority owners together to ensure 
that there is agreement about AfCs strategic direction and that this remains aligned to 
each Local Authority’s ambitions.  From this year, the Chief Executives of Windsor and 
Maidenhead, Richmond and Kingston are also meeting quarterly to further strengthen 
the council's leadership oversight. 

 

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

5.1  Under clause 3.2 of the Commissioning Agreement, the parties may no later than 
12 months prior to the Expiry Date agree to extend the Agreement Period for a 
period of five years upon the terms and conditions of the agreement. 

 
5.2  Once a formal decision has been made to extend the agreement the legal team 

will work to issue contract extension documents.  There are not expected to be 
significant changes to the service specification but any changes that are mutually 
agreed by the parties to the contract can be approved using clause 36 Change 
Control Procedure as outlined in Schedule 10 of the agreement. 

 
5.3  The Change Control Procedure enables parties to mutually agree changes to the 

service specification, performance measures and funding envelope during the 
contract term.  This flexibility is important given the challenging financial context 
and the potential need to review the contract to ensure it continues to meet 
needs, remain affordable and reflects the most efficient delivery model at a micro 
as well as macro Children's Services level. 

 
5.3  If the Cabinet chose to approve an alternative delivery model then Transfer of 

Undertakings (Protection of Employment) regulations would apply to staff in 
scope. 

 

315



 

5.4  Due to the value of the contract, if Windsor and Maidenhead wanted to appoint a 
new third party provider then a full open market tender would need to be 
undertaken to ensure compliance with Public Procurement Regulations. 

6. RISK MANAGEMENT  

Table 1: Impact of risk and mitigation 

 
Risk Level of 

uncontroll
ed risk 

Controls Level of 
controlled 
risk 

Risk that the AfC 
delivery model 
does not offer 
the optimum way 
to achieve good 
quality and value 
for money 

Medium The contract with AfC is closely 
monitored by senior officers in the 
council.  The Director of Children's 
Services reports directly to the Chief 
Executive and provides information and 
advice to the Cabinet.  Windsor and 
Maidenhead has used this delivery 
model for over six years and based upon 
inspection results, benchmarking and 
feedback from service users, the 
standard of services are good and offer 
value for money.  This information will 
continue to be reviewed during the 
contract extension to ensure that 
performance remains at the required 
standard.  AfC submits regular 
information on financial and non financial 
performance. 

Low 

Risk that the 
quality of 
Children's 
Services 
deteriorates as 
levels of need 
continue to 
increase and the 
level of financial 
resources 
become tighter. 

High Experienced and qualified professionals 
oversee Children's Services for the 
borough on a day to day basis.  These 
professionals work together to advise on 
how to manage risk at a strategic and 
operational level.  Officers will provide 
advice and guidance to inform Councillor 
decision making in terms of how funding 
could be prioritised to best meet local 
young people's needs and also on what 
strategies can be adopted to support 
families and children, including on how to 
manage escalating levels of need.  

Medium 

316



 

Risk that the 
model does not 
meet the 
Councils political 
priorities 

Medium Senior officers regularly meet with 
council officers and lead councillors to 
discuss direction of travel.  Windsor and 
Maidenhead jointly approve AfCs 
strategic direction and budget each year.  
In the lead up to this approval there is 
the opportunity to request changes and 
shape the strategy for children's 
services.  AfC has separate priority 
programmes for each of its three 
boroughs to support the local ambitions 
of each council.  An Ownership Board 
meets six monthly to support alignment 
between AfCs owning boroughs. 

Low 

 
7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

7.1 The contract with AfC requires compliance with relevant Equalities Legislation.  
AfC publishes an Annual Equalities Report which outlines how it is seeking to 
support equality, diversity and inclusion as well as how it is looking to achieve 
continuous improvement.  AfC also publishes Equa\lity Impact Assessments 
for all significant changes or priority programmes.  The service within the 
scope of this contract includes children and young people who have protected 
characteristics.  AfC works actively to safeguard and promote the wellbeing of 
all children and young people in the borough.  They offer specialist support to 
those children and young people who may require additional support and 
champion their wellbeing and inclusion within the community. 

7.2  AfC and the council work together to ensure that strategic direction and 
ambition for Children's Services remains aligned.  This includes in relation to 
environmental commitments and AfC has an active Environment Action Plan 
which seeks to reduce the organisation's negative impact on the environment 
and also to work with young people to promote environmental priorities and 
programmes. 

7.3  Under the Children's Services contract AfC collects and safeguards sensitive 
information about the residents who use Children's Services.  Under the 
contract AfC is required to have robust and compliant data protection 
processes and policies.  As part of regular performance monitoring AfC 
submits a quarterly Information Governance report to the council to provide 
assurance about how the organisation meets its Information Governance 
responsibilities. 

8. TIMETABLE  

8.1 The following high level timetable will be used to re-commission AfC as the 
boroughs Children's Services provider: 

 
  

317



 

July 2023 Consideration of options appraisal by RBWM 
officers and agreement of a recommendation 

September 2023 Consideration of the recommended option and 
approval of preferred option 

October 2023 - April 2024 Review of service specification and agreement 
of new contract documentation 

August 2024 New arrangement in place 
 

9.  APPENDICES  

9.1 Appendix A - Options Appraisal 

10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

Cabinet September 2016 - Commissioning of AfC 
 https://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s9134/meetings_160929_cab_DCS
D_full_parti.pdf 

 

11. CONSULTATION 

Name of consultee Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned 

Mandatory:  Statutory Officer (or deputy)   

Andrew Vallance Head of Finance/ interim S151 
Officer 

23/8/23 
       

27/9/23 
       

Elaine Browne Deputy Director of Law & 
Governance & Monitoring 
Officer 

23/8/23 27/9/23 
 

Deputies:    

    

    

Mandatory:  Procurement Manager (or deputy) - if 
report requests approval to go to 
tender or award a contract 

  

Lyn Hitchinson Procurement Manager 
 

23/8/23 27/9/23 
 

Mandatory:  Data Protection Officer (or deputy) - if 
decision will result in processing of 
personal data; to advise on DPIA 

  

318

https://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s9134/meetings_160929_cab_DCSD_full_parti.pdf
https://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s9134/meetings_160929_cab_DCSD_full_parti.pdf


 

Samantha Wootton Data Protection Officer 23/8/23 27/9/23 

Mandatory:  Equalities Officer – to advise on EQiA, 
or agree an EQiA is not required 

  

Ellen McManus-Fry Equalities & Engagement 
Officer 

23/8/23 24/8/23 

Other consultees:    

Directors (where 
relevant) 

   

Stephen Evans Chief Executive 23/8/23 27/9/23 

Andrew Durrant Executive Director of Place 27/9/23 27/9/23 

Kevin McDaniel Executive Director of Adult 
Social Care & Health 

27/9/23 27/9/23 

Lin Ferguson Executive Director of Children’s 
Services & Education 

11/8/23 27/9/23 
 

Assistant Directors 
(where relevant)  

   

    

    

    

External (where 
relevant) 

   

N/A    

 

 
Confirmation 
relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) 
consulted  

Cabinet Member for Children’s 
Services, Education and 
Windsor 

Yes 

 

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type: Urgency item? To follow item? 

Non key decision 
 

No  No  

 

319



 

Report Author: Lin Ferguson, Executive Director Children's Services and 
Education 

 

320



Equality Impact Assessment 

For support in completing this EQIA, please consult the EQIA Guidance 
Document or contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

 

1. Background Information 

 

Title of policy/strategy/plan: 
 

AfC Contract  

Service area: 
 

Achieving for Children 

Directorate: 
 

Children’s Services 

 

Provide a brief explanation of the proposal: 
● What are its intended outcomes? 
● Who will deliver it? 
● Is it a new proposal or a change to an existing one? 

This report recommends the extension of the Achieving for Children (AfC) Contract for a further 
five years.   
 
Council officers have undertaken an options analysis to evaluate what the recommended delivery 
model should be after July 2024. The team has looked at the current performance of AfC in terms 
of quality and value for money as well as how well it is meeting local priorities. 
 
Council officers are recommending that the existing arrangement with AfC is extended for a 
further five years. The arrangement is delivering a good standard of service and offers value for 
money. On balance, an alternative model is unlikely to achieve better quality or value at this time. 
Extending the existing arrangement will also support stability in the service at a time when there is 
rising complexity and levels of need for children, young people and families. 
 
This is not a new proposal or a change to an existing one.  Alternatively this is about continuing 
with largely the same contract, and this would mean, in practice,  that AfC can continue to have a 
potentially positive impact on those children and young people with the protected characteristics 
outlined below. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

321

mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk


 

2. Relevance Check 

Is this proposal likely to directly impact people, communities or RBWM employees?  
● If Yes, state ‘Yes’ and proceed to Section 3. 
● If No, please explain why not, including how you’ve considered equality issues.  
● Will this proposal need a EQIA at a later stage? (for example, for a forthcoming action 

plan) 

Yes  and impact on equality will be managed through ongoing monitoring, review and an annual 
Equality Impact Assessment. 

 

If ‘No’, proceed to ‘Sign off’. If unsure, please contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

3. Evidence Gathering and Stakeholder Engagement 

Who will be affected by this proposal?  
For example, users of a particular service, residents of a geographical area, staff 

The contract with AfC requires compliance with relevant Equalities Legislation. AfC has an 
‘Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Policy’ which is governed by the Equality, Diversity and Inclusion 
Board.  
 
AfC publishes an Annual Equalities Report which outlines how it is seeking to support equality, 
diversity and inclusion as well as how it is looking to achieve continuous improvement. AfC also 
publishes Equality Impact Assessments for all significant changes or priority programmes.  
 
The service within the scope of this contract includes children and young people who have 
protected characteristics.  AfC works actively to safeguard and promote the wellbeing of all 
children and young people in the borough. AfC offers specialist support to those children and 
young people who may require additional support and champion their wellbeing and inclusion 
within the community. 
 
 
 
 
 
Among those affected by the proposal, are protected characteristics (age, sex, disability, race, 
religion, sexual orientation, gender reassignment, pregnancy/maternity, marriage/civil 
partnership) disproportionately represented?  
For example, compared to the general population do a higher proportion have disabilities?  
 
Yes, particularly the following: 
 
Age - Children and Young People (up to the age of 25 in particular situations) 
 
Disability - a significant number of children and young people with whom we work will have a 
learning difficulty or disability. 
 

322

mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk


Race, ethnicity and religion - we work with children and young people from a range of 
backgrounds, including Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking children and young people. 
 
Sexual orientation and gender reassignment - we embrace and work with young people of 
various sexual orientations and also some young people who are undergoing gender 
reassignment. 
 
Pregnancy and maternity - we work with a number of pregnant women and families. 
 
Armed forces  community  -we work with children and young people from our armed forces 
community. 
 
Children in Care and Care Leavers - we work with Children in Care and Care Leavers. 
 
Socio-economic considerations e.g. low income, poverty -many of the families with whom we 
work are in poverty, or experience low incomes. 
 
(Please see below for more details) 
 
What engagement/consultation has been undertaken or planned?  

● How has/will equality considerations be taken into account?   
● Where known, what were the outcomes of this engagement? 

 
Although we do not need to formally consult on the extension to the AfC Contract, staff and 
service users are consulted on issues of equality, diversity and inclusion as contained in our annual 
published equalities report. 

What sources of data and evidence have been used in this assessment?  
Please consult the EQIA Evidence Matrix for relevant data. Examples of other possible sources of 
information are in the Guidance document (Section 2.3). 
 
Please consult the Equalities Evidence Grid for relevant data. Examples of other possible sources 
of information are in the Guidance document.  
 
Please also see the Annual AfC Equalities Report. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4. Equality Analysis 

323

https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiMWZlNGI4YWYtZjk3Ni00Zjg2LTlkMTEtNmM4N2M2NTczZDU0IiwidCI6ImY1NGM5M2I3LTA4ODMtNDc4Zi1iZjNkLTU2ZTA5YjdjYTBiNyJ9&pageName=ReportSection


Please detail, using supporting evidence: 

● How the protected characteristics below might influence the needs and experiences of 
individuals, in relation to this proposal. 

● How these characteristics might affect the impact of this proposal. 

Tick positive/negative impact as appropriate. If there is no impact, or a neutral impact, state ‘Not 
Applicable’. 
More information on each protected characteristic is provided in the EQIA Guidance document 
(available on the intranet). 

 Details and supporting evidence Potential 
positive impact 

Potential 
negative impact 

Age 
 

AfC works with children and young people 
from pre birth until the age of 25, where 
applicable.  This includes our Family Hubs, 
which offer a range of preventative and 
targeted early help services to children and 
young people.  In the last year, the Family 
Hubs have provided 1:1 support to 823 
children and 3,400 children and young people 
have attended group sessions on topics such 
as digital safety, drug and alcohol awareness 
and self esteem.  92% of schools in the 
borough are good and outstanding, offering 
the majority of our children and young people 
an excellent standard of education. 
Ways2work is AfC’s approved apprenticeship 
training provider and offers high quality 
apprenticeships and traineeships, particularly 
for our more vulnerable young people. 

Extending the 
AfC Contract 
will have a 
Potential 
positive impact 
because these 
services, as well 
as others, can 
continue to be 
delivered and 
have the 
positive impact 
as noted in our 
annual 
equalities 
report. 

 

Disability 
 

AfC no longer has a written statement of 
action in relation to SEND and this means that 
our children and young people are now 
receiving a higher quality of intervention than 
previously 
 
AfC organises an annual ‘Inclusion Summit’ 
which was well attended and advocates for 
the inclusion of our SEND children and young 
people. 
 
The social emotional and mental health 
(SEMH) Intervention Project, which was 
established in 2019 to reduce the risk of 
permanent exclusion in schools has continued 
to thrive. Since it began, the 
The project has worked in 42 schools and 
supported 91 individual children. Of 
those children, just three have been 
permanently excluded and they have 
been supported in their transition to 
alternative provision. 
 
As part of the project, we trained 873 school 
staff to help them support children 

Extending the 
AfC Contract 
will have a 
Potential 
positive impact 
because these 
services, as well 
as others, can 
continue to be 
delivered and 
have the 
positive impact 
as noted in our 
annual 
equalities 
report. 

 

324



with challenging behaviours linked to SEMH 
difficulties, as well as delivering 
updated training to 140 staff and bespoke 
training to 115 staff. At the same time, 
we established 140 SEMH leads in schools 
and held three SEMH network meetings 
a year where leads can be signposted to early 
help services and share learning and 
feedback. 
 
We have also purchased a subscription to the 
Online Boxall Profile which enables 
schools to assess the needs of their children 
quickly, set targets, and monitor progress. 
Sixty one of our schools are actively using this 
assessment and tracking tool which will 
enable us to analyse data to support 
transitions and target areas of need. 
 
AfC  successfully submitted a bid for a 100 
place new special free school for children and 
young people aged seven to 16, with EHCPs 
for SEMH needs. The new school will be 
located in a new development planned on 
the western edge of Windsor and we will now 
move forward to the next stage of 
planning. 
 
 In addition, a  new SEND provision is opening 
at South Ascot Village School, for 10 pupils 
with autistic spectrum conditions. 
We are also opening an early years readiness 
hub  which will provide interventions to 
support children who are unable to self-
regulate and so are not yet ready to learn in a 
mainstream school setting. 
 
The emotionally related school avoidance 
(ERSA) project has been established to 
support those children who experience 
difficulties attending school, due to a range of 
factors. Through the project, 28 schools 
have received training, support and 
consultation on ERSA, have been given access 
to a newly created toolkit, and have been 
provided with additional strategies to help 
them to effectively support these children. A 
further 16 schools have been trained 
during Spring 2023. A multi-agency steering 
group oversees the project, including 
the development, dissemination, training and 
implementation of the ERSA toolkit and 
further refining the ERSA multi-agency 
graduated pathway. Feedback from pupils, 
parents and the schools has been extremely 
good. 
 

325



.   

Sex 
 

AfC facilitates a Girls Policy Forum in the 
borough so that young women can be actively 
involved in local democracy. 
 
A ‘peer on peer abuse’ toolkit has been 
developed for schools, in order to support 
enhanced identification, prevention and early 
intervention, particularly in relation to abuse 
against girls and young women. 
 

Extending the 
AfC Contract 
will have a 
Potential 
positive impact 
because these 
services, as well 
as others, can 
continue to be 
delivered and 
have the 
positive impact 
as noted in our 
annual 
equalities 
report. 

 

Race, ethnicity and 
religion 
 

The Educational Psychology Service has 
hosted three workshops for Hong Kongers 
and met with Hong Kong community leaders 
for a 
community building project. The workshops 
explored how the local authority could 
support Hong Kong families better in their 
transitions to life, work, local community, 
leisure, English language and education in 
Windsor and Maidenhead. Through funding 
by the South East Strategic Partnership for 
Migration, we also developed a web page 
specifically to welcome Hong Kongers, 
alongside a welcome for Ukrainian refugees. 
 
AfC  produced and disseminated guidance for 
schools and colleagues on supporting young 
people who experience war, conflict and 
crisis. The guidance sets out how to notice 
signs of trauma and signposts to available 
support as well as providing hints for 
strengthening the cohesion within schools. 
 
The SEND Service and Educational Psychology 
and Wellbeing Service  have established 
English as an Additional Language cluster peer 
group meetings twice every term to bring SEN 
coordinators and school staff together to 
share learning and discuss inclusive practice. 
 
AfC staff have supported the 2 hotels in the 
borough who have asylum seeking residents, 
offering drop-ins and 1:1 support, as well as 
supporting our Ukrainian children and young 
people. 
 

Extending the 
AfC Contract 
will have a 
Potential 
positive impact 
because these 
services, as well 
as others, can 
continue to be 
delivered and 
have the 
positive impact 
as noted in our 
annual 
equalities 
report. 

 

326



Our Family Hubs offer a range of groups for 
our local Muslim community. 
 
 
 
To celebrate cultural diversity at AfC, we 
created an annual EDI calendar of events 
that includes key religious festivals and 
celebrations. Communications go out on our 
intranet from our directors, associate 
directors and staff who want to speak about 
their religion. 
 

Sexual orientation and 
gender reassignment 
 

During the past 12 months, the  Educational 
Psychology and Wellbeing service provided 
ongoing assistance to secondary schools in 
terms of evidence-based good practice about 
how best to support and include pupils who 
are LGBTQIA+. 
 
We have developed guidance for managers 
supporting staff who identify as trans 
that includes practical advice and resources. 
Although this guidance is to support 
AfC staff, it reinforces a culture of inclusion at 
AfC for people choosing gender 
reassignment, which will also benefit the 
children, young people and families we 
work with. Work is currently underway to 
finalise guidance on supporting service 
users who identify as trans. 
 

Extending the 
AfC Contract 
will have a 
Potential 
positive impact 
because these 
services, as well 
as others, can 
continue to be 
delivered and 
have the 
positive impact 
as noted in our 
annual 
equalities 
report. 

 

Pregnancy and maternity Our Health Visiting Service, which offers all 
families with a new baby a health assessment 
within two weeks of birth, received a ‘good’ 
Ofsted rating when inspected this year. Our 
universal offer to all families with a new 
baby includes an invitation to a nurture group 
which are held weekly in three venues 
across the borough. The sessions are an 
opportunity for parents to access health 
and parenting advice. Average monthly 
attendance at these sessions is 136 and 
feedback from parents is overwhelmingly 
positive. 
 
Support is also given to our Care Leavers who 
become young parents. 
 

Extending the 
AfC Contract 
will have a 
Potential 
positive impact 
because these 
services, as well 
as others, can 
continue to be 
delivered and 
have the 
positive impact 
as noted in our 
annual 
equalities 
report. 

 

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

We provide training to raise awareness on 
forced marriage through the Forced Marriage 
Unit (FMU), run by the Foreign, 
Commonwealth and Development Office 
(FCDO) and Home Office, for our  staff. 
The course is designed to enable participants 
to recognise and know how to respond 

Extending the 
AfC Contract 
will have a 
Potential 
positive impact 
because these 
services, as well 

 

327



to children and adults who are at risk of, or 
experiencing harmful practices. Staff have 
access to the Forced Marriage Unit’s public 
helpline that provides advice and support 
to victims and potential victims of forced 
marriage, and to professionals dealing with 
cases. 
 

as others, can 
continue to be 
delivered and 
have the 
positive impact 
as noted in our 
annual 
equalities 
report. 

Armed forces community AfC Continues to offer support to children 
and young people from the armed forces 
community. 

Extending the 
AfC Contract 
will have a 
Potential 
positive impact 
because these 
services, as well 
as others, can 
continue to be 
delivered and 
have the 
positive impact 
as noted in our 
annual 
equalities 
report. 

 

Socio-economic 
considerations e.g. low 
income, poverty 

AfC continues to signpost families to relevant 
support and runs the FUEL Programme in the 
school holidays, whereby children and young 
people, particularly those in receipt of free 
school meals receive free food and activities. 
 
 

Extending the 
AfC Contract 
will have a 
Potential 
positive impact 
because these 
services, as well 
as others, can 
continue to be 
delivered and 
have the 
positive impact 
as noted in our 
annual 
equalities 
report. 

 

Children in care/Care 
leavers 

AfC’s Virtual School and Virtual College 
has provided invaluable support to the 
educational attainment of our looked after 
children. In the most recent 2022 
examinations, results for key stage 4 
improved 
again. They are now significantly above 
national averages for looked after children, 
and our looked after young people with SEND 
outperformed their national peers at 
the same level. 
 
At the request of our looked after children, 
we have been focusing on educational 

Extending the 
AfC Contract 
will have a 
Potential 
positive impact 
because these 
services, as well 
as others, can 
continue to be 
delivered and 
have the 
positive impact 
as noted in our 
annual 

 

328



stability, and held a well-received multi-
agency ‘Stability Symposium’ to bring 
together a range of stakeholders, including 
keynote speakers from the Department 
for Education and Oxford University. 
As a result of the event, our children and 
young people have launched their education 
stability charter which sets out clearly what 
they expect from the organisations that 
support them. Similarly, during the year, we 
were delighted that a number of local 
businesses signed up to our Care Leavers’ 
Covenant and our Attachment Aware 
Community Charter at our Better Futures 
Business Event, which was organised in 
collaboration with John Lewis. 
 
With the expansion of virtual schools 
nationally to support all children with a social 
worker, we have grown our Attachment 
Aware Schools Award. This involves a year- 
long programme of training and support for 
schools so they are better able to meet 
the specific needs of these children and 
young people. We are now working with 69 
schools as part of the award and as a result of 
this work, we have seen a reduction in 
the number of exclusions. 
To further strengthen our support for 
children with a social worker, we have 
extended 
the work of the AfC Virtual School Transition 
Hub which provides direct support for 
the children, their families and their school. 
 
AfC now has a dedicated specialist team for 
Children in Care and Care Leavers. 
 

equalities 
report. 

5. Impact Assessment and Monitoring  

If you have not identified any disproportionate impacts and the questions below are not applicable, 
leave them blank and proceed to Sign Off. 

What measures have been taken to ensure that groups with protected characteristics are able to 
benefit from this change, or are not disadvantaged by it?  
For example, adjustments needed to accommodate the needs of a particular group 
Will be a continuation of what is currently in place. 

Where a potential negative impact cannot be avoided, what measures have been put in place to 
mitigate or minimise this? 

● For planned future actions, provide the name of the responsible individual and the target 
date for implementation. 

329



N/A 

How will the equality impacts identified here be monitored and reviewed in the future? 

Via the AfC Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Board 

 

 

6. Sign Off 

 

Completed by: Lin Ferguson 
 

Date:28 September 2023 

Approved by: 
 

Date: 

 

 

If this version of the EQIA has been reviewed and/or updated: 

Reviewed by: 
 

Date: 

 

330



Appendix A - Summary Options Appraisal 
 
 

 Extend AfC contract for 5 years Bring services inhouse Open market tender for new third 
party provider 

Does the option enable RBWM to 
meet statutory duties? 

Yes - the contract includes a detailed 
service specification outlining the 
requirements.  The statutory 
Director of Children's Service who is 
responsible for overseeing statutory 
duty is employed by RBWM and 
seconded to AfC. 

Yes - the service would be overseen 
by the statutory Director of 
Children's Service who is responsible 
for overseeing statutory duty. 

Yes - The service specification would 
need to make clear the 
requirements and as part of the 
tender process RBWM would need 
to assure themselves that the new 
organisation has the capability to 
deliver.  RBWM would still need to 
employ a statutory DCS to oversee 
the contract.  The market for 
children's services providers that 
could deliver to the scale of the 
current contract is limited and so 
bidders are likely to be organisations 
that are looking to expand their 
remits. 

How does the option support quality 
of service including good outcomes 
for children and young people? 

The current services are rated highly 
by independent inspectors and KPIs 
indicate solid performance.   
 
As part of the AfC model RBWM 
benefits from a mature intelligence 
and quality assurance services  as 
well as a tailored children's services 
workforce development offer.  The 
support has been developed over 

The existing front line staff are likely 
to tupe in to the Local Authority and 
so much of the expertise will be 
retained.   
 
It is unlikely that an inhouse 
children's services would have 
access to the same level of 
children's specific expertise in terms 
of data analysis, quality assurance, 

The contract would need to outline 
the quality requirements including 
KPIs.  The existing front line staff are 
likely to tupe in to the Local 
Authority and so much of the 
expertise will be retained.   
 
The level of access to services that 
support quality will depend on the 
chosen provider.  It may be difficult 

331



the past nine years and is based on 
best practice.  The service is 
delivered jointly over three 
boroughs which means that the 
service can access a broader range 
of expertise and resources.  The 
service is also supported by a policy, 
programmes and strategy team that 
is expert in supporting children's 
services. 

inspection preparedness, workforce 
development, policy, strategy etc.  
and this could lead to more 
vulnerability in terms of quality over 
time.  This is because an in-house 
provision would lose the benefits 
associated with the economies of 
scale currently in place due to 3 
Children’s Services working 
together. 

to find a provider that offers the 
same level of support to services but 
until this is tested in the market it is 
difficult to assess whether there are 
other providers that can offer the 
same level of support. 

How does the option support 
flexible and tailored children's 
services that fit the changing needs 
of children and families? 

The AfC model enables significant 
integration between council and AfC 
services including co-location and 
joint working.  The governance 
mechanisms supports a flexible 
service specification that adapts to 
emerging needs. The leadership 
team has mechanisms to monitor 
what is needed in the community 
and delegated authority to adapt 
services to best meet that need.  AfC 
reports regularly to the lead 
member via the DCS, the DCS is part 
of the RBWM Leadership Team and 
children's services reports are 
presented to Cabinet. 
 
The DCS is heavily involved in 
developing the Children and Young 
People's Plan and the themes from 
the plan are echoed in the AfC 

An inhouse model would support 
integration with other council 
directorates and the service would 
have delegated authority to adapt 
to emerging needs.  The leadership 
team would have mechanisms to 
monitor what is needed in the 
community and delegated authority 
to adapt services to best meet that 
need.  The DCS would continue to  
report regularly to the lead 
member, the DCS would remain part 
of the RBWM Leadership Team and 
children's services reports would 
continue to be presented to 
Cabinet. 

A third party that is not owned by 
RBWM is likely to be less flexible in 
terms of the agreed service 
specification including how to use 
financial resources and change 
services during the year.  The 
process for adapting services is likely 
to need to be more formalised and 
less organic and that could lead to 
less tailored / flexible services.  
RBWM is likely to need a more 
resourced client side as the Local 
Authority will need to be more 
proactive outside the contract in 
defining what the services should 
look like and the needs of children 
and families.   

332



Strategic Objectives. 

How does the option support some 
of the key challenges being faced by 
children's services - sufficiency of 
placements, sufficiency of 
experienced staff, increasing 
complexity and financial 
sustainability 

The context in which children's 
services are being delivered will be 
challenging regardless of delivery 
model. 
 
The AfC model does support joint 
working across multiple Local 
Authorities and economies of scale 
in tackling some of the challenges.  
Examples include joint recruitment 
campaigns, joint strategic thinking in 
terms of Workforce Strategies and 
Placements Sufficiency Strategy, 
cross borough learning with a 
particular emphasis on lessons 
learned within provider services 
(fostering, children's homes etc), 
shared contracts and brokerage 
approaches.  The model also means 
that all three boroughs have access 
to a broader range of expertise as 
staff can be recruited once for all 
three local authorities. 
 
RBWM also continues to work in 
partnership with other Berkshire 
authorities and the South East. 

The context in which children's 
services are being delivered will be 
challenging regardless of delivery 
model. 
 
If RBWM brought services back in 
house they would continue to work 
in partnership with other Berkshire 
and South Eastern Local Authorities 
to support regional solutions.  It is 
likely that this activity may increase 
as the services would cease to be 
delivered jointly with two other 
boroughs.  This is because the focus 
would be on Berkshire and South 
Eastern partnerships, rather than 
with the other two council’s in AfC - 
Richmond and Kingston. 

The context in which children's 
services are being delivered will be 
challenging regardless of delivery 
model. 
 
The contract would need to make 
clear the expectations regarding 
service development and response 
to industry challenges. 

How does the option support value 
for money? 

AfC works very closely with RBWM 
in setting and monitoring the 
budget.  RBWM jointly agrees the 

An internal directorate would likely 
deliver services within a similar 
financial envelope.  Some of the 

There is a risk that if a smaller 
organisation were to deliver 
children's services that they would 

333



overall budget each year as part of 
the ownership governance.  AfC also 
engages with the borough specific 
budget setting process in the same 
way that an internal directorate 
would.   
 
Benchmarking shows that services 
are high impact and low cost.  The 
cost of children services per head of 
population is in the lowest 10% 
across the country. 
 
AfC is able to claim back VAT on 
services in the same way that the 
Local Authority does because of the 
ownership model. 

economies of scale for specialist 
children's back office functions may 
be diluted (as it would be one 
council as opposed to three) but the 
internal directorate would have 
access to the RBWM back office 
services which would likely yield 
similar economies of scale.  
 
The budget setting and monitoring 
process would be very similar to 
current arrangements. 

not be able to achieve the same 
economies of scale in terms of 
contracts, placements and access to 
expert staffing etc.  A third party 
provider may also be less flexible in 
terms of meeting Local Authority 
savings targets, engaging with the 
budget setting process and using 
financial resources flexibly.  The 
level of risk would very much 
depend on the actual provider and 
the terms of the contract. 
 
It is unlikely that a third party could 
claim back VAT in the delivery of 
services and this could lead to 
significant additional cost each year.  
Thai would need to be a criteria in 
the tender and could limit the 
number of potential bidders to Local 
AUthorities or organisations with 
special VAT status including some 
charities. 

How does the option minimise 
disruption to services? 

Services would continue as now and 
so there would be no disruption 
other than where RBWM wants to 
change the service specification. 

The tupe of staff, novation of 
contracts, implementation of new 
systems and re-branding of services 
etc is likely to cause disruption and 
staff being unsettled.  This is 
because it would be a significant 
change from what they are currently 
used to.  It would need to be 

The move of services to a third party 
provider is likely to cause a 
significant amount of disruption and 
there would be a significant risk of a 
negative impact for staff of 
uncertainty about job roles at a time 
when recruitment is very 
challenging.  The scale of disruption 

334



undertaken efficiently so that staff 
do not become unsettled and leave 
RBWM Children’s Services.  There 
would also need to be significant 
restructuring of back office services, 
contractual work and planning to 
ensure systems and processes 
continue to work during the 
transition. 

will depend on how well set up the 
new provider is, whether they are 
already operating in the borough 
and the arrangements for tupe, 
contract novation, service locations 
etc 

How does the option support 
RBWMs strategic objectives? 

RBWM approves AfC strategic 
objectives on an annual basis to 
support continued alignment. 
 
The priorities outlined in the RBWM 
Children and Young People Plan are 
echoed in AfCs strategic Priorities - 
Be healthy, Be safe, Be skilled, Be 
financially secure, Be heard - and 
services are shepherd to deliver 
them. 
 

RBWM has recently reviewed its 
Children and young People's PLan 
and an inhouse children's 
directorate would shape services 
around those strategic priorities. 

The priorities could be written into 
the contract although there may be 
less flexibility and joint working on 
how they are delivered. 

What would the cost of change be? The RBWM internal legal services 
would need to spend time preparing 
contract renewal documentation.  
The DCS will need to review the 
service specification to ensure it 
remains up to date. 

This option would require significant 
resources to ensure it is undertaken 
appropriately.  Likely resources will 
be legal advice, procurement advice, 
HR advice, senior leadership advice, 
actuarial advice.  The legal advice 
would be needed in terms of both 
transferring services inhouse as well 
as dissolving the Borough’s 
partnership with Richmond and 

This option would require an open 
market tender which would require 
significant senior leadership, legal 
and procurement resources.  In 
addition all the resources that are 
detailed for transferring the services 
inhouse are also likely to apply. 
 
Under this model there is likely to 
be increased duplication as the 

335



Kingston.  Previous experience 
shows that the process will take 
between 12 and 18 months and is 
likely to cost up to £600k.  Given 
workloads it is unlikely that the DCS 
would have the capacity to lead the 
change over and above the business 
as usual and so an interim senior 
leader may also be required. 
 
Withdrawal from the AFC 
Ownership model may mean that 
the cost of historic pension deficits 
crystallise which could lead to cash 
contributions to the pension fund 
being required.  Actuarial advice 
would be needed. 

organisation would not be owned by 
RBWM. 

Does the option support equality, 
diversity and inclusion? 

Yes - AfC has an EDI Policy that 
follows best practice. Ongoing EDI 
development is led by the Senior 
Leadership and supported by a 
dedicated EDI Board.  The EDI 
commitment is echoed through the 
strategic priorities that are 
approved by the Local Authority in 
February each year. 

Yes - RBWM has an established EDI 
Policy and is committed to 
championing and supporting EDI at 
all levels and all services across the 
organisation. 

Yes - this would be written in to the 
contract 

Does the option support RBWMs 
environmental ambitions? 

Yes - AfC has a Sustainability  Policy 
that follows best practice. The 
commitment is echoed through the 
strategic priorities that are 
approved by the Local Authority in 

Yes - RBWM has an established 
Sustainability Policy and is 
committed to improving its 
environmental impact over time. 

Yes - this would be written in to the 
contract 

336



February each year. 

 

337



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
Report Title: Leasing of Sports Pavilion in Braywick 

Park, Maidenhead 
Contains 
Confidential or 
Exempt Information 

No - Part I  

Cabinet Member: Councillor Bermange, Cabinet Member for 
Planning, Legal and Asset Management 

Meeting and Date: Cabinet – 25 October 2023 
Responsible 
Officer(s): 

Andrew Durrant, Executive Director of 
Place Services 

Wards affected:   Oldfield 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
The Council owns the former Sportsable Building in Braywick Park. The building was 
returned by the Trustees of Sportsable in summer 2021 as the charity was wound up. 
The building was built in phases by Sportsable since the early 1980s and is of basic 
construction and is in a poor condition and requires significant investment to bring 
back into use. 
 
Terms have been agreed with Padel Berkshire to take a new 20 year lease whereby 
the tenant invests significant capital into refurbishing and improving the building and 
constructing internal and external padel tennis courts and to deliver a new sporting 
facility within Braywick Park. After an initial rent free period the tenant will pay the 
Council an annual rental income of £60,000 pa which will be subject to review at the 
end of each 5 year period. 
 
The letting is conditional on the tenant obtaining planning permission for the works 
proposed and for the approval of a Public Open Space disposal for a small external 
that will used for the external courts. 
 
  
RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet notes the report and: 
 

i. Approves the leasing of the former Sportsable Pavillion, Braywick 
Park to Padel Berkshire 

 
ii. Delegates authority to the Executive Director of Place Services in 

consultation with the Cabinet Member for Planning, Legal and Asset 
Management, to conclude the negotiation of a new agreement for lease 
and lease to Padel Berkshire  

 

iii. Approve the Executive Director of Place or their nominee, to consult 
with the Braywick Park Users Group for their views on the re-use of 
the building and external areas for a new sporting facility 

 

iv. Approve the use of the Public Open Space Application and 
Consultation process and delegates the decision to the nominated 
officer. 

 
 

339

Agenda Item 11



 

1. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Options  
 

Table 1: Options arising from this report 

Option Comments 
Lease the building to Padel Berkshire 
This is the recommended option 

The leasing will deliver a new 
sporting facility in Braywick Park, 
generate substantial rental income 
stream fr the Council  

Refurbish the Building the Building to 
provide a community building 
This is not the recommended option 

The building requires a substantial 
refurbishment that would require a 
budget of c£xxxx in order to provide 
a modern and efficient building for 
community use. 
 

Do Nothing The Council does nothing and the 
building remains vacant with the 
Council incurring vacant property 
costs and repairs caused by anti-
social behaviour 
 

  
1.1 The building is currently vacant following the surrender of the lease by the 

Trustees of Sportsable in 2021 as the charity was wound up. The Council is 
liable for all the outgoings for the property including no-domestic rates, security, 
repairs and insurance costs. 

1.2 The property is located in Braywick Park opposite the running track. A site plan 
is attached in Appendix 2. 

1.3 The existing building was built in several phases since the first opening in 1982 
but is built to a basic specification and is in a poor condition. 

1.4 The building comprises c 7,800 sq ft and to make the necessary improvements 
to bring the building into use will require a significant capital budget.  

1.5 Terms have been agreed with Padel Berkshire to lease the building and 
external areas to enable the development of a new Centre of Excellence for the 
rapidly growing sport of Padel tennis.  

1.6 The agreed Heads of Terms are attached in Appendix 3. The key terms are as 
follows 

• Lease term – 20 years subject to a Landlord’s break option after 15 years 
if the property is to be redeveloped by the Council 

• Rent - £60,000 pa subject to an 18 month rent free and upwards only 
rent review at the end of the 5th, 10th and 15th years 

• All refurbishment costs are the responsibility of the Padel Berkshire 

340



• All property outgoings and maintenance are the responsibility of Padel 
Berkshire 

1.7 Padel Berkshire are working closely with the Lawn Tennis Association to 
expand this sport. The centre as envisioned will be capable of hosting national 
and international tournaments. Outline plans and drawings are attached in 
Appendix 4 

1.8 Planning permission will be required for the changes and improvements to the 
building and for the construction of the external courts 

1.9 The inclusion of external land in the lease will require Public Open Space (POS) 
consultation given the use and nature of Braywick Park. 

1.10 The Council and Berkshire Padel will enter into an agreement for lease that is 
constional on the successful outcome of the planning application and POS 
process. 

 

2. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

2.1 The lease to Padel Berkshire will generate a strong rental income to support 
Council budgets 
 

2.2 The new sports facility follows the Council’s classification of Braywick Park as 
a key sports and activity hub 

 
2.3 A currently unused property will be brought back into use and the Council’s 

financial liabilities for the vacant building will cease. 
 
 
Table 2: Key Implications 
Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly 

Exceeded 
Date of 
delivery 

New 
Lease 
Agreed 

No 
rental 
income 
secured 
and the 
Council 
will 
continue 
to incur 
vacant 
property 
costs 

Agreement 
for lease 
exchanged 
by 31st 
January 
2024 

Agreement 
for Lease 
exchanged 
by 31st 
December 
2023 

Agreement 
for lease 
exchanged 
by 30th 
November 
2023 

Completion 
of lease in 
31st March 
2024 
subject to 
receiving 
planning 
consent 

      

 

341



3. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY  

3.1 The letting will secure an annual rent of £60,000 pa on the expiry of the rent 
free period of 18 months whilst the refurbishment works are undertaken and the 
club established. 
 

3.2 The Council is not responsible for any of the refurbishment costs 
 
3.3 The building was returned to the Council in 2021 via the surrender of the lease 

by the Trustees of Sportsable.  
 
3.4 The Council is currently liable for all of the building’s outgoing. 

 

3.5 Remove tables below if there are no financial implications 
 
Table 3: Financial impact of report’s recommendations 

 

4. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

4.1 The terms of the agreements have been negotiated by the asset management 
surveyors in the property services team and the new lease and option 
agreement will be drafted by the property solicitor in the legal services team, 
 

4.2 The Part 8 Section D – Property Procedures of the Councils’ Constitution 
confirms Cabinet authority to approve lease agreements where the aggregate 
income exceeds £500,000 and the lease terms exceeds 10 years. 

5. RISK MANAGEMENT  

5.1 The risk to the Council is low. Entering the lease reduces the risk of the rental 
income ceasing and secures an increase. 
 

5.2 The transaction has been negotiated by the asset management surveyors in 
the property services team and the lease documentation will be drafted and 
finalised by the solicitors in the legal services team. 

 
5.3 The tenant is to pay a 3 months rent deposit (£15,000) on completion of the 

lease 
 
5.4 The tenant will have to prove funding for the refurbishment works before 

completing the lease 
 

REVENUE COSTS 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27
Additional total £0 £0 £0 £0
Reduction £0 £10,000 £15,000 £60,000
Net Impact £0 £10,000 £15,000 £60,000

CAPITAL COSTS 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2025/26
Additional total £0 £0 £0 £0
Reduction £0 £0 £0 £0
Net Impact £0 £0 £0 £0

342



Table 4: Impact of risk and mitigation 
Threat or risk Impact 

with no 
mitigations 
in place or 
if all 
mitigations 
fail  

Likelihood 
of risk 
occurring 
with no 
mitigations 
in place. 
 
 

Mitigations 
currently in 
place  
 
 

Mitigations 
proposed 
 
 

Impact of 
risk 
once all 
mitigations 
in place 
and 
working 

Likelihood 
of risk 
occurring 
with all 
mitigations 
in place. 
 
 

There is a 
risk that the 
tenant 
decides not 
to complete 
the lease 

Minor 1  Medium  
 
 
 

Detailed 
Heads of 
Term have 
been agreed 

Professionally 
qualified 
chartered 
surveyors and 
solicitors are 
managing 
negotiations 
and 
documentation 
process 

Minor 1 
 
 

Low  

Risk of 
increased 
construction 
costs 

Medium Medium The works 
are the 
responsibility 
of the tenant 

The tenant will 
have to 
provide details 
of its 
construction 
contract and 
proof of 
funding to 
meet these 
costs before 
ethe lease is 
completed 

Minor Low 

 

6. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

6.1 Equalities. An Equality Impact Assessment is available as Appendix A. The 
property already provides step free access as the building was built by 
Sportsable and has suitable blue badge parking in the car park. 
 
The refurbishment works will be required to meet the latest DDA standards as 
set out in the current building regulations and DDA legislation. 
 
In addition Padel Berkshire and the LTA have a clear focus and commitment 
for the sport and its facilities to be inclusive and available to all groups 

 
6.2 Climate change/sustainability. The lease renewal has no impact on climate 

change or bio-diversity 
 
6.3 Data Protection/GDPR. No personal data is being stored or utilised in this 

matter 
 

7. CONSULTATION 

7.1 Internal officer and Cabinet Member consultation only 
 

343



8. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

8.1 Implementation date if not called in: The draft lease will be issued to the tenant’s 
solicitor on 1st November. The full implementation stages are set out in table 5. 
 
Table 5: Implementation timetable 
Date Details 
1st November 
2023 

Draft lease and Agreement for Lease issued to tenant 

1st December 
2023 

Public Open Space Notice Issued for Consultation 
Process 

31st June 2024 Lease Completed 
30th December 
2025 

Rent Commences 

9. APPENDICES  

9.1 This report is supported by 3 appendices: 
 
• Appendix A – Equality Impact Assessment  
• Appendix B – Title Plan 
• Appendix C – Agreed Heads of Terms – persona; details redacted 
• Appendix D – Images and Plans for the new Facility 
 
  

10. CONSULTATION 

 Name of 
consultee 

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned 

Mandatory:  Statutory Officer (or deputy)   
Elizabeth Griffiths Executive Director of Resources 

& S151 Officer 
28th 
Sept 
2023 

 

Elaine Browne Deputy Director of Law & 
Governance & Monitoring 
Officer 

28th 
Sept 
2023 

2nd Oct 
2023 

Deputies:    
Andrew Vallance Deputy Director of Finance & 

Deputy S151 Officer 
28th 
Sept 
2023 

4th Oct 
2023 

Jane Cryer 
 

Principal Lawyer & Deputy 
Monitoring Officer 

28th 
Sept 
2023 

 

Mandatory:  Procurement Manager (or deputy) - if 
report requests approval to go to 
tender or award a contract 

  

Lyn Hitchinson Procurement Manager 
 

n/a  

Mandatory:  Data Protection Officer (or deputy) - if 
decision will result in processing of 
personal data; to advise on DPIA 

  

344



Samantha 
Wootton 

Data Protection Officer 28th 
Sept 
2023 

 

Mandatory:  Equalities Officer – to advise on EQiA, 
or agree an EQiA is not required 

  

Ellen McManus-
Fry 

Equalities & Engagement Officer 28th 
Sept 
2023 

29th Sept 
2023 
 

Other consultees:    
Directors (where 
relevant) 

   

Stephen Evans Chief Executive 28th 
Sept 
2023 

 

Andrew Durrant Executive Director of Place 28th 
Sept 
2023 

 

Kevin McDaniel Executive Director of Adult 
Social Care & Health 

n/a  

Lin Ferguson Executive Director of Children’s 
Services & Education 

n/a  

Assistant Directors 
(where relevant)  

   

N/A    
    
    
External (where 
relevant) 

   

N/A    

 
Confirmation 
relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) 
consulted  

Cabinet Member for Planning, 
Legal and Asset Management 

Yes 

 

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type: Urgency item? To follow item? 
Non-key decision  
  
 
 
 
 

No  
 

No  

 
Report Author: Chris Pearse, Senior Asset Manager, Property Services 

 
 

  

345



 

 

 

Equality Impact Assessment 

For support in completing this EQIA, please consult the EQIA Guidance 
Document or contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

 

1. Background Information 
 

Title of policy/strategy/plan: 
 

Leasing of Sports Pavilion in Braywick Park, 
Maidenhead 

Service area: 
 

Property Services 

Directorate: 
 

Place 

 

Provide a brief explanation of the proposal: 
 

 
• What are its intended outcomes? Completion of the lease to a new tenant to 

enable the delivery of a new sports facility 
• The existing building was developed by Sportable and designed for disabled users 

and is a single storey building with step free access and onsite disabled car 
parking. 

• The redeveloped building will enhance the accessible features of the existing 
building and will have to meet the DDA requirements as set out in building 
regulations and in the various obligations set out in legislation to ensure complaine. 

• Padel Tennis and the LTA are committed to making the sport and this facility a fully 
inclusive one that all group can use and enjoy. 

• Who will deliver it? Property Services and Legal Services will deliver the project on 
behalf of the Borough with Padel Berkshire delivering the investment and 
development works 

• Is it a new proposal or a change to an existing one? New Proposal 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

346

mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk


2. Relevance Check 
Is this proposal likely to directly impact people, communities or RBWM employees?  

 
• No – No third parties are impacted by the transaction  

 

If ‘No’, proceed to ‘Sign off’. If unsure, please contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

 

 

 

  

347

mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk


3. Evidence Gathering and Stakeholder Engagement 
Who will be affected by this proposal?  
For example, users of a particular service, residents of a geographical area, staff 

 
 
 
 
 
Among those affected by the proposal, are protected characteristics (age, sex, 
disability, race, religion, sexual orientation, gender reassignment, pregnancy/maternity, 
marriage/civil partnership) disproportionately represented?  
For example, compared to the general population do a higher proportion have disabilities?  
 
 

What engagement/consultation has been undertaken or planned?  
• How has/will equality considerations be taken into account?   
• Where known, what were the outcomes of this engagement? 

 
 

What sources of data and evidence have been used in this assessment?  
Please consult the Equalities Evidence Grid for relevant data. Examples of other possible 
sources of information are in the Guidance document. 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

348



4. Equality Analysis 
Please detail, using supporting evidence: 

• How the protected characteristics below might influence the needs and experiences 
of individuals, in relation to this proposal. 

• How these characteristics might affect the impact of this proposal. 

Tick positive/negative impact as appropriate. If there is no impact, or a neutral impact, state 
‘Not Applicable’ 

More information on each protected characteristic is provided in the Guidance document. 

 Details and supporting evidence Potential 
positive impact 

Potential 
negative 
impact 

Age 
 

   

Disability 
 

   

Sex 
 

   

Race, ethnicity and 
religion 
 

   

Sexual orientation and 
gender reassignment 
 

   

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

   

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

   

Armed forces 
community 

   

Socio-economic 
considerations e.g. low 
income, poverty 

   

Children in care/Care 
leavers 

   

 

 

349



5. Impact Assessment and Monitoring  
If you have not identified any disproportionate impacts and the questions below are not 
applicable, leave them blank and proceed to Sign Off. 

What measures have been taken to ensure that groups with protected characteristics 
are able to benefit from this change, or are not disadvantaged by it?  
For example, adjustments needed to accommodate the needs of a particular group 
 

Where a potential negative impact cannot be avoided, what measures have been put in 
place to mitigate or minimise this? 

• For planned future actions, provide the name of the responsible individual and the 
target date for implementation. 

 

How will the equality impacts identified here be monitored and reviewed in the future? 
See guidance document for examples of appropriate stages to review an EQIA. 
 

 

 

6. Sign Off 

 
Completed by: Chris Pearse – Senior Asset Manager 
 

Date:25th September 2023 

Approved by: Ian Brazier-Dubber, Managing Director, 
RBWM Property Company 
 

Date: 25th September 
2023 

 

 

If this version of the EQIA has been reviewed and/or updated: 

Reviewed by: 
 

Date: 

 

350



© Crown copyright and database right 2023. Ordnance Survey 100018817

OS Ref:  SU8980 SW Scale 1:1250 @A4 PortraitDate: 14/08/2023

Royal Borough Of Windsor and

Maidenhead

Drawing No:

EO3013 rev a

Former SportsAble
Building
Braywick Park

Lease Plan
351



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Heads of Terms 

 
Property 
Former Sports Pavilions, Braywick Park, Braywick Road, Maidenhead, SL6 1BN and 
adjoining external space and car parking as shown edged red on the attached plan  
 
Landlord 
The Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead 
Town Hall 
St Ives Road 
Maidenhead 
SL6 1RF 
Contact Name: Chris Pearse 
E-mail: chris.pearse@RBWM.gov.uk 
Telephone: 07825 430969 
 
Landlord’s Solicitors 
RBWM Legal Services 
Contact Name: Katherine Lamprell 
E-mail: Katherine.lamprell@RBWM.gov.uk  
Telephone: 07583 342535 
 
Tenant 
Berkshire Padel 
Company No: TBC 
The Berkshire Padel Tennis Clubs Limited 
23-24 The Arches 
Alma Road 
Windsor 
SL4 1QZ 
Contact Name: Philip Basford 
E-mail: phil@berkshirepadel.com 
Telephone : 07917 797790 
 
 
Tenant’s Solicitors 
TBC 
 
Rent 
£60,000 per annum (sixty thousand pounds only) exclusive of VAT to be paid in equal 
monthly payments by direct debit/standing order 
 
 

353

mailto:chris.pearse@rbwm.gov.uk
mailto:Katherine.lamprell@rbwm.gov.uk
mailto:phil@berkshirepadel.com


Rent Free Period 
18 months from completion of the lease  
 
Lease Term 
20 years from completion of the lease  
 
Break Clause 
The lease is subject to a Landlord’s break option at the end of the 15th year for 
redevelopment purposes of the entire premises only. The landlord must give a minimum of 
12 months prior notice. 
 
The Lease will have a Landlord’s break clause in the event that the Construction Contract 
hasn’t been entered into within 12 months of the commencement of the lease. The Landlord 
may serve notice at any time after the expiry of the 12 month period giving the Tenant a 
minimum of 28 working days notice. The tenant will have the ability to enter into a 
Construction Contract during that 28 day period 
 
Rent Reviews 
The rent is subject to upwards only rent reviews at the end of each 5 year period to open 
market value, disregarding the Tent’s fixtures and improvements. Where agreement cannot 
be reached the rent review is to be determined by an Independent Expert appointed by the 
President of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors 
 
1954 Landlord and Tenant Act 
The lease is to be outside the security of tenure provisions of the 1954 Landlord and Tenant 
Act 
 
Rent Deposit 
A rent deposit of £15,000 is to be paid on completion of the lease, to be returned to the 
tenant at the later of either the end of the third year of the lease or on the receipt of a 
certificate of Practical Completion at the completion of the tenant’s improvement works 
 
User 
The property is to be used for racquet sports and other ancillary uses including food and 
beverage. 
 
Outgoing and Taxes 
The tenant is responsible for all property outgoings including taxes, utility supplies and 
maintenance costs 
 
Building Condition 
The building is to be leased as seen 
 
Assignment and subletting 
Assignment of the entire property is permitted subject to Landlord consent which is not to be 
unreasonably withheld. Sub letting of part is permitted with Landlord’ consent which (not to 
be unreasonably withheld or delayed) subject to all agreements being outside the security of 
tenure provisions of the 1954 Landlord and Tenant Act. This doesn’t apply to bookings, short 
term hires, etc 
 
Repairing Obligations 
The tenant is to be responsible for all building repairs and meeting all statutory legislation 
obligations including but not limited to: 

• Water/Legionella Testing and Management 
• Fire Risk Assessments 

354



• Electrical Testing 
• Maintaining an asbestos register if required 
• DDA Compliance 
• Gas Safety inspections and certification 
• Electrical Fixed Wiring and Electrical Safety Certificates 

 
 
Dilapidations 
The property is to be left clean and tidy at the expiry of the lease and the tenant is to provide 
the O&M manuals and maintenance registers that it has in it possession and will not be 
required to remove its fixtures and fittings 
 
Insurance 

• The Landlord will insure the building and recover the cost from the tenant. 
• The tenant will provide a full building insurance valuation on completion of its 

improvement works. 
• The tenant is responsible for the insurance of the building contents and public liability 

insurance. 
 
Alterations 
The tenant is permitted to undertake non structural alterations without Landlord’s consent 
subject to providing details on completion of works within 28 working days of completion of 
the works 
The tenant must not make structural alterations to the property without Landlord’s prior 
consent. 
 
Tenant’s Initial Works 
The tenants is carryout a comprehensive refurbishment and improvement works to the 
property. These works are subject to Landlord’s prior approval. All costs and consents are 
the responsibility of the Landlord. 
The landlord is to benefit to collateral warranties 
 
Conditions 

• Council Approval 
• Approval of a Public Open Space Application to allow the inclusion of the external 

area required for the external  
• Agreeable Planning Consent 
• Agreement of alterations plans and specification including proof of funding for the 

works 
• Each party is responsible for its legal and other fees in concluding the transaction 

 
Documentation 
The Landlord and Tenant will enter into an agreement for lease as soon as possible after 
Cabinet Approval is granted. The completion of the lease will be conditional on 

• Planning Consent 
• Agreement of Plans 
• POS notice approval 
• Confirmation of funding for the works 

 
There will be a longstop date of 24 months from entering into the Agreement for Lease to the 
Completion of the Lease. 
. 
 
 

355



 
 
 
 
Council acting as Freehold owner 
The Council is acting as the freehold owner and nothing in this agreement can limit the 
Council’s other activity or approvals in other areas such as determining the planning 
application, POS determination, etc. 
 
 
I confirm agreement to these Heads of Terms 
 
On Behalf of The Berkshire Padel Tennis Clubs Limited 
 
 
 
 
Signature……………………………………………… 
 
 
On Behalf of The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 
 
 
 
 
Signature……………………………………………. 
 

356



Appendix D – Images and Plans 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

357



 

358



 

 

359



 

 

360



 
D 

361



 

 

362



 

363



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
Report Title: York Road Phase I, Maidenhead 

Contains Confidential 
or Exempt 
Information 

No – Part 1 Main Cabinet Report 
Yes - Part II – Appendices B and D (not for 
publication by virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 1 
of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 
1972). 

Cabinet Member: Cllr Bermange Cabinet Member for Planning, 
Legal and Asset Management 
Cllr Jones Cabinet Member for Finance  

Meeting and Date: Cabinet Meeting – 25 October 2023 

Responsible 
Officer(s): 

Andrew Durrant, Executive Director of Place 

Wards affected:   St Mary’s  

 
REPORT SUMMARY 

 
1. The report provides information for Cabinet to note in relation to the potential ‘windfall’ 

from the reversion sale of Countryside’s commercial occupational leases and the 
contractual obligation to provide a 4,000 sq.ft of commercial floorspace, now not being 
provided, under the Site Proposal of the Development Agreement with Countryside. 
However, there is no legal or contractual mechanism within the Development 
Agreement to capture the resulting capital value.  
 

2. Countryside has the benefit of the headlease for Phase I comprising Trinity and 
Coopers Court  (see Site Plan - Appendix A) and are marketing and selling the 
residential and commercial plots by way of granting leases or sale of the whole 
portfolio, Countryside was tasked with enabling RBWM to realise the capital value of 
the alternative reversionary interest in the headlease for the commercial floorspace 
(i.e. now as a notional  4,000 sq.ft of commercial floorspace) given the obligation to 
provide the physical space and as a result of the commercial floorspace not being 
taken up by the Council. 

 

3. Cabinet is to note that the land sale for York Road Phase 1 has been fully realised. 
At this stage, Countryside has been able to let the majority of the commercial 
floorspaces save for two remaining vacant commercial floorspaces being Units 1.2 
and 2.3a. The commercial floorspaces have been let as follows (see Floor Plans -  
Appendix A): 

 
Unit 1.1 – Knead Pizza (opened in December 2022) 
Unit 1.3 – Hoppy Place (opened in June 2022) 
Unit 2.1 – Masters (opened in November 2022) 
Units 2.2 to 2.3 – Anytime Fitness (opened in May 2022) 

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 

RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet notes the report and: 
 

i) Approves RBWM entering into a formal contract with Countryside 
outside of the Development Agreement to capture the capital value 
from the reversion sale of the notional 4,000 sq. ft commercial 
floorspace. 

 

ii) Delegate authority to the Executive Director of Place in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for Planning, Legal and Asset 

 

365

Agenda Item 12



Management and Managing Director of the Property Company to 
complete the contract with Countryside. 
 

2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Options  
 

Table 1: Options arising from this report 

Option 1 Comments 

Note terms and approve the entering 
into a formal contract with Countryside 
for the Council’s receipt of the reversion 
sale of Countryside’s occupational 
leases and the contractual obligation to 
provide a 4,000 sq.ft of commercial 
floorspace. 
 
 
This is the recommended option 

Approving the formal contract will 
enable and provide a welcomed 
capital receipt to RBWM which it 
may otherwise not have realised. 
The receipt will enable the 
delivery of part of the Council’s 
strategic objectives.  
It forms part of the Property 
Company’s Business Plan, as 
well as a strategic delivery 
objective for RBWM.  
 

Option 2 
 
Do nothing. 
 
This is not recommended  

RBWM will not have the benefit of 
the capital receipt from the 
reversionary sale by Countryside. 
 

 
2.1 The structure of the proposed contract is based on Countryside carrying out the 

marketing and sale of the commercial units within an agreed target date of 24 
months from the date of the contract with three main routes for RBWM to realise 
the capital receipt.  

A form of sequential disposal strategy with Countryside is proposed, as they are 
taking the sales and marketing risk. These include Route A – via a Commercial 
Portfolio Disposal, Route B – via a Series of Commercial Leases Disposal or Route 
C – via Settlement Payment or Target Date Extension 

If by the target date, Countryside has not been able to dispose of the commercial 
units as a portfolio or individually in accordance with either Route A or B above, 
RBWM could require Countryside to make a settlement payment in accordance 
with Appendix B or agree with Countryside to extend the target date to 30 months 
from the date of the contract (i.e. an extension of 6 months from the original target 
date of 24 months) to realise the sale. Alternatively, the Council could propose to 
extend the original target date to a date of its choosing. The rationale for the 
extension of the target date is to afford flexibility to enable completion of the sale of 
the commercial units if the sales process has already commenced by Countryside. 

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 The main implication is that of capital receipt by RBWM from the sale of 
Countryside’s reversion interest, as relates to the notional 4,000 sq.ft of commercial 
floorspace now not being provided to Maidenhead Heritage Centre. 

366



3.2 There will be some time lag, in this case 24 months after the date of the contract or 
a defined period in agreement with RBWM, before the capital receipt for the 
reversion is realised. This is simply because of the marketing period required to 
promote and sell the commercial units as a portfolio asset or the grant of individual 
leases.  

Table 2: Key Implications 

Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly 
Exceeded 

Date of 
delivery 

Route A – 
Reversionary 
Lease 
Disposal – 
Disposal 
portfolio of all 
commercial 
units by way 
of a 
Reversionary 
Lease prior to 
24 months 
from the 
contract date. 

Nov 2025 
(Subject to 
RBWM not 
extending the 
target date) 

Oct 2025 Dec 2025 
(Subject to 
RBWM not 
extending 
the target 
date) 

n/a Oct 2025 

Route B –

Reversionary 

Leases 

Disposal – 

Disposal of 

series of 

Reversionary 

Leases prior 

to 24 months 

Aug 2025 
(Subject to 
RBWM not 
extending the 
target date) 

July 2025 Sept 2025 
(Subject to 
RBWM not 
extending 
the target 
date) 

n/a July 2025 

Route C – 

Settlement 

Payment or 

Target Date 

Extension - 

No disposals 

via Route A or 

B, RBWM to 

receive a 

settlement 

payment or 

agree with 

Countryside 

to extend the 

target date to 

30 months 

from the 

contract date. 

Nov 2025 
(Subject to 
RBWM not 
extending the 
target date) 

Oct 2025 Dec 2025 
(Subject to 
RBWM not 
extending 
the target 
date) 

n/a Oct 2025 

367



4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY  

4.1 This report provides information for Cabinet to note in relation to the potential capital 
receipt from the sale of Countryside’s reversion interest and the contractual 
obligation to provide RBWM with a 4,000 sq.ft of commercial floorspace which was 
not taken up in return for a minimum capital receipt in accordance with the Site 
Proposal under the Development Agreement with Countryside.  
 

4.2 The minimum capital value has been assessed (see Appendix B) based on the 
capitalisation of the average rents achieved for the letting of the commercial units 
2.1 to 2.3 within the area which otherwise would have been the space to be 
occupied by RBWM or a third-party occupier. The total commercial floorspace 
footage for units 2.1 to 2.3 is 9,259 sq.ft of which 4,000 sq.ft (i.e. 43.2% of the total) 
relates to the contractual obligation Countryside has towards RBWM and the basis 
of this cabinet report. 

 
4.3  The net capital receipt to RBWM will have considered the deductions in terms of 

lettings fees and costs based on actual expenditure incurred by Countryside and 
evidenced by invoices and payments made. These include the following, Lettings 
Agents fees, Letting Solicitor’s fees, Marketing, Professional and Planning (non-
material amendment) fees, Capital Contributions towards Mezzanine Staircase and 
Level Access Platform Lift. The deductions for the investment sale fees and costs 
are assumed based on Legal, Sale Agent and Marketing to enable the proposed 
sale.  

 

4.4  There are no revenue and capital expenditure costs assumed for RBWM, as 
Countryside are carrying and taking on the lettings and sales risks associated with 
the commercial units. Ultimately, it is assumed Countryside will sell off the 
commercial units as they are developers which typically do not hold assets long 
term.  

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

5.1 The legal implication on RBWM of the proposed freehold reversion sale as relate 
to the notional 4,000 sq. ft commercial floorspace is limited. The Council maintains 
its freehold interest in land. 

5.2  Countryside are taking the sales and marketing risks under the Development 
Agreement and by RBWM approving the entry into contract with Countryside 
outside of the prevailing Development Agreement enables the Council a legal 
mechanism to capture the capital value and provides the legal safeguard in so 
doing. 

5.3 The Framework and Development Agreements with Countryside for the delivery of 
York Road means this proposal remains within the scope of the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015 (“PCR 2015”) given the procurement process to selecting 
Countryside as RBWM’s contractual joint venture partner.  

5.4 There is a draft contract in place which has been extensively negotiated with 
Countryside subject to the approval of RBWM. 

6. RISK MANAGEMENT  

6.1 Table 3: Impact of risk and mitigation 

368



Risk Level of 
uncontrolled 
risk 

Controls Level of 
controlled 
risk 

Planning –Non 
material amendments 
were previously 
approved by the LPA 
in relation to the 
commercial units 
which enabled 
Countryside to let the 
units. 

Low Planning consultation 
with the LPA. Approval in 
place. 

Low 

Contractual –
Contractual dispute 

Medium Contractual safeguards 
including expert 
determination, Interest 
accrual on sum not paid 
and clearly defined 
obligations on 
Countryside. 
There is restriction on 
registration at Land 
Registry until RBWM is in 
full receipt of all payment. 
There is also restriction 
on permitted disposal on 
Countryside as relates to 
its headlease. 

Medium 

Financial - 
Countryside going 
insolvent.  

Medium There is Parent Company 
Guarantee. 

Medium 

Income Reduction 
or Lack of Sale – 
Weakened demand 
for rental or sale of 
commercial 
properties against the 
backdrop of a 
weakened economy. 

Medium A minimum capital receipt 
as payment settlement is 
provided for in the event 
Countryside is not able to 
realise the sale by the 
target date or a defined 
period to be agreed. 

Medium 

7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

7.1 Equalities. The receipted funds could be used to contribute towards future 
affordable housing provision for those who are on low incomes or unable to access 
such housing in the private sector. An Equality Impact Assessment is included at 
Appendix C. 

7.2 Sustainability – The York Road development is sustainable given its location within 
the Town Centre with the development designed and constructed in accordance 
with the Approved Documents to meet the prevailing Building Regulations 
requirements and comply with RBWM’s Corporate objectives. 

7.3 Data Protection/GDPR. Screening form completed. GDPR is not relevant for this 
proposal and project, but a Data Protection/GDPR Assessment is included at 
Appendix D. 

369



8. CONSULTATION 

8.1 A Council Members briefing was provided on the 6th September 2023 to Cllrs 
Bermange and Jones. 

8.2  This proposal has been considered by the Executive Leadership Team for RBWM 
prior to Cabinet approval. 

8.3  There are no LPA consultation requirements given the nature of the proposal. 

9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

9.1 Implementation date if not called is 3rd November 2023.  
 
Table 4: Implementation timetable 
 

Date Details 

11 October 2023 RBWM Executive Leadership Team Briefing 

25 October 2023 RBWM Cabinet Meeting 

3 November 2023 Expiry of Call In Period 

10 November 2023 Completion of Contracts with Countryside 

10. APPENDICES  

10.1 This report is supported by 3 appendices: 
 

• Appendix A – Block Elevations and Commercial Units Floor Plans 
Appendix B – Minimum Capital Value Calculation Not for publication by 
virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 

• Appendix C – Equality Impact Assessment  

• Appendix D - Data Protection Impact Assessment 
Not for publication by virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A 
of the Local Government Act 1972. 

11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

11.1 This report is supported by no background documents.  

12. CONSULTATION 

 Name of 
consultee 

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned 

Mandatory:  Statutory Officers (or deputies)   

Elizabeth Griffiths Executive Director of 
Resources/S151 Officer 

02/10/23 11/10/23 
At ELT Briefing 

Deputies:    

Andrew Vallance Deputy Director of Resources 
(Deputy S151 Officer) 

02/10/23  

Elaine Browne Deputy Director of Law and 
Governance 

02/10/23 12/10/23 
Via email 

370



Kirsty Hunt Service Lead (Electoral and 
Democratic Services) 

 
02/10/23 

 
 

Mandatory:  Procurement Manager (or 
deputy) - if report requests 
approval to award, vary or 
extend a contract 

  

Lyn Hitchinson Procurement Manager 
 

  

Other consultees:    

Directors (where 
relevant) 

   

Stephen Evans Chief Executive 02/10/23 11/10/23 
At ELT Briefing 

Andrew Durrant Executive Director of Place 02/10/23 11/10/23 
At ELT Briefing 

Kevin McDaniel Executive Director of Children’s 
Services 

02/10/23 11/10/23 
At ELT Briefing 

    

Heads of Service 
(where relevant)  

   

    

External (where 
relevant) 

   

N/A N/A   

 

Confirmation 
relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) 
consulted  

Cllr Adam Bermange - Cabinet 
Member for Planning, Legal and 
Asset Management. 
 
Cllr Lynne Jones – Deputy 
Leader of Council and  
Cabinet Member for Finance 

Yes (06/09/23) 

 

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type: Urgency item? To follow item? 

Key decision  
First entered the 
Cabinet Forward 
Plan: Sept 2023 
 

No  No  

 

Report Author: Emmanuel Ogedengbe, Head of Development, 07827 880171 

 
 

371



APPENDIX A 

YORK ROAD PHASE 1 SITE PLAN 

 

 

372



APPENDIX A 

 
BLOCK D – TRINITY PLACE, YORK ROAD 

 

 

BLOCK B – WATERMARK - COOPER COURT, YORK ROAD 

 

 

 

 

373



APPENDIX A 

BLOCK D 

 

 

 

BLOCK B 

 

 

Unit 1.3 – A Hoppy Place 

Opened 24th June 2022 

Unit 1.2 

Currently Vacant 

Unit 1.1 – Knead Pizza 

Opened December 2022 

Unit 2.3a 

Currently Vacant 

374



APPENDIX A 

BLOCK B 

  

 

Unit 2.1 - Masters (Wine 

Merchant / Food Outlet) 

Opened November 2022 

Units 2.2/2.3 - Anytime Fitness 

Opened May 2022 

375



APPENDIX C 

ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR AND MAIDENHEAD 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

EqIA: York Road Phase I – Reversion Sale Receipt 

1 

Essential information 
 

Items to be assessed: (please mark ‘x’)  

 

Strategy 
 

X Policy  Plan X Project X Service/Procedure  

 

Responsible officer Emmanuel Ogedengbe  Service area X Directorate 
 

RBWM Property 
Company Limited 

 

Stage 1: EqIA Screening (mandatory) 
 

02/10/2023 Stage 2 : Full assessment (if applicable) N/A 

 

Approved by Head of Service / Overseeing group/body / Project Sponsor:  

“I am satisfied that an equality impact has been undertaken adequately.” 

 

Signed by (print): Emmanuel (signed electronically) 

 

Dated: 02/10/2023 

 

 
 

376



APPENDIX C 

ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR AND MAIDENHEAD 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

EqIA: York Road Phase I – Reversion Sale Receipt 

2 

Guidance notes 
What is an EqIA and why do we need to do it? 

The Equality Act 2010 places a ‘General Duty’ on all public bodies to have ‘due regard’ to: 

• Eliminating discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct prohibited under the Act. 

• Advancing equality of opportunity between those with ‘protected characteristics’ and those without them. 

• Fostering good relations between those with ‘protected characteristics’ and those without them. 

EqIAs are a systematic way of taking equal opportunities into consideration when making a decision, and should be conducted when there is a new or 

reviewed strategy, policy, plan, project, service or procedure in order to determine whether there will likely be a detrimental and/or disproportionate impact on 

particular groups, including those within the workforce and customer/public groups. All completed EqIA Screenings are required to be publicly available on the 

council’s website once they have been signed off by the relevant Head of Service or Strategic/Policy/Operational Group or Project Sponsor. 

What are the “protected characteristics” under the law? 

The following are protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010: age; disability (including physical, learning and mental health conditions); gender 

reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; sexual orientation. 

What’s the process for conducting an EqIA? 

The process for conducting an EqIA is set out at the end of this document. In brief, a Screening Assessment should be conducted for every new or reviewed 

strategy, policy, plan, project, service or procedure and the outcome of the Screening Assessment will indicate whether a Full Assessment should be 

undertaken. 

Openness and transparency 
RBWM has a ‘Specific Duty’ to publish information about people affected by our policies and practices. Your completed assessment should be sent to the 

Strategy & Performance Team for publication to the RBWM website once it has been signed off by the relevant manager, and/or Strategic, Policy, or 

Operational Group. If your proposals are being made to Cabinet or any other Committee, please append a copy of your completed Screening or Full 

Assessment to your report. 

377



APPENDIX C 

ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR AND MAIDENHEAD 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

EqIA: York Road Phase I – Reversion Sale Receipt 

3 

Enforcement 
Judicial review of an authority can be taken by any person, including the Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) or a group of people, with an 

interest, in respect of alleged failure to comply with the general equality duty. Only the EHRC can enforce the specific duties. A failure to comply with the 

specific duties may however be used as evidence of a failure to comply with the general duty. 

 

Stage 1 : Screening (Mandatory) 
 

1.1 What is the overall aim of your proposed strategy/policy/project etc and what are its key objectives? 
 

 
The proposal is for the potential ‘windfall’ from Countryside’s reversion sale as capital receipt in lieu of the 4,000 sq.ft of commercial floorspace now not 
being provided due to the lack of take up under the Development Agreement with Countryside.  
 
The overall aim of this proposal is to enter into a formal contract with Countryside for the Council’s apportionment from the reversion sale by Countryside. 
 
 

 

1.2 What evidence is available to suggest that your proposal could have an impact on people (including staff and customers) with 

protected characteristics? Consider each of the protected characteristics in turn and identify whether your proposal is Relevant or 

Not Relevant to that characteristic. If Relevant, please assess the level of impact as either High / Medium / Low and whether the 

impact is Positive (i.e. contributes to promoting equality or improving relations within an equality group) or Negative (i.e. could 

disadvantage them). Please document your evidence for each assessment you make, including a justification of why you may have 

identified the proposal as “Not Relevant”. 
 

 

378



APPENDIX C 

ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR AND MAIDENHEAD 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

EqIA: York Road Phase I – Reversion Sale Receipt 

4 

 

379



APPENDIX C 

ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR AND MAIDENHEAD 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

EqIA: York Road Phase I – Reversion Sale Receipt 

5 

Protected 
characteristics 

Relevance Level Positive/negative Evidence 

Age  
N/A 

0 N/A Key data: The estimated median age of the local population is 
42.6yrs [Source: ONS mid-year estimates 2020]. 
An estimated 20.2% of the local population are aged 0-15, and 
estimated 61% of the local population are aged 16-64yrs and an 
estimated 18.9% of the local population are aged 65+yrs. [Source: 
ONS mid-year estimates 2020, taken from Berkshire Observatory] 

Disability  
N/A 

0 N/A  

Gender re-
assignment 

N/A 0 N/A  

Marriage/civil 
partnership 

N/A 0 N/A  

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

N/A 0 N/A  

Race  
N/A 

0 N/A Key data: The 2011 Census indicates that 86.1% of the local 
population is White and 13.9% of the local population is BAME. The 
borough has a higher Asian/Asian British population (9.6%) than 
the South East (5.2%) and England (7.8%). The forthcoming 2021 
Census data is expected to show a rise in the BAME population. 
[Source: 2011 Census, taken from Berkshire Observatory] 

Religion and belief  
N/A 

0 N/A Key data: The 2011 Census indicates that 62.3% of the local 
population is Christian, 21.7% no religion, 3.9% Muslim, 2% Sikh, 
1.8% Hindu, 0.5% Buddhist, 0.4% other religion, and 0.3% 
Jewish. [Source: 2011 Census, taken from Berkshire 
Observatory] 

Sex  
N/A 

0 N/A Key data: In 2020 an estimated 49.6% of the local population is 
male and 50.4% female. [Source: ONS mid-year estimates 2020, 
taken from Berkshire Observatory] 

380

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
https://rbwm.berkshireobservatory.co.uk/population/
https://rbwm.berkshireobservatory.co.uk/population/
https://rbwm.berkshireobservatory.co.uk/population/
https://rbwm.berkshireobservatory.co.uk/population/
https://rbwm.berkshireobservatory.co.uk/population/


APPENDIX C 

ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR AND MAIDENHEAD 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

EqIA: York Road Phase I – Reversion Sale Receipt 

6 

Sexual orientation  
N/A 

0 N/A  

 
 

 

 

Outcome, action and public reporting 
 

Screening Assessment 
Outcome 

Yes / No / Not at this stage Further Action Required / 
Action to be taken 

Responsible Officer and / 
or Lead Strategic Group 

Timescale for Resolution 
of negative impact / 

Delivery of positive impact 
 

Was a significant level of 
negative impact 
identified? 

No No further action required N/A N/A 

Does the strategy, policy, 
plan etc require 
amendment to have a 
positive impact? 

No No further required N/A N/A 

 

If you answered yes to either / both of the questions above a Full Assessment is advisable and so please proceed to Stage 2. If you answered “No” or “Not at 

this Stage” to either / both of the questions above please consider any next steps that may be taken (e.g. monitor future impacts as part of implementation, re-

screen the project at its next delivery milestone etc). 

 

 

381



APPENDIX C 

ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR AND MAIDENHEAD 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

EqIA: York Road Phase I – Reversion Sale Receipt 

7 

 

 

 

Stage 2 : Full assessment 

 

2.1 : Scope and define 
 

2.1.1    Who are the main beneficiaries of the proposed strategy / policy / plan / project / service / procedure? List the groups who the work is 
targeting/aimed at. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

2.1.2    Who has been involved in the creation of the proposed strategy / policy / plan / project / service / procedure? List those groups who the 
work is targeting/aimed at.  
 

 
 
 
 

382



APPENDIX C 

ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR AND MAIDENHEAD 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

EqIA: York Road Phase I – Reversion Sale Receipt 

8 

2.1.2    Who has been involved in the creation of the proposed strategy / policy / plan / project / service / procedure? List those groups who the 
work is targeting/aimed at.  
 

 
 
 
 

 

2.2 : Information gathering/evidence 
 

2.2.1  What secondary data have you used in this assessment? Common sources of secondary data include: censuses, organisational records. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

2.2.2   What primary data have you used to inform this assessment? Common sources of primary data include: consultation through interviews, focus 
groups, questionnaires. 
 

 

383



APPENDIX C 

ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR AND MAIDENHEAD 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

EqIA: York Road Phase I – Reversion Sale Receipt 

9 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation 
 

384



APPENDIX C 

ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR AND MAIDENHEAD 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

EqIA: York Road Phase I – Reversion Sale Receipt 

10 

Protected 
Characteristic 

Advancing the Equality 
Duty :  
Does the proposal advance 
the Equality Duty Statement 
in relation to the protected 
characteristic (Yes/No) 

If yes, to what 
level? (High / 
Medium / 
Low) 

Negative impact :  
Does the proposal 
disadvantage them 
(Yes / No) 

If yes, to what 
level? (High / 
Medium / Low) 

Please provide explanatory 
detail relating to your 
assessment and outline any key 
actions to (a) advance the 
Equality Duty and (b) reduce 
negative impact on each 
protected characteristic. 
 

Age 
 

     

Disability 
 

     

Gender reassignment 
 

     

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

     

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

     

Race 
 

     

Religion and belief 
 

     

Sex 
 

     

Sexual orientation 
 

     

 

 

Advance equality of opportunity 
 

385



APPENDIX C 

ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR AND MAIDENHEAD 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

EqIA: York Road Phase I – Reversion Sale Receipt 

11 

Protected 
Characteristic 

Advancing the Equality 
Duty :  
Does the proposal advance 
the Equality Duty Statement 
in relation to the protected 
characteristic (Yes/No) 

If yes, to what 
level? (High / 
Medium / 
Low) 

Negative impact :  
Does the proposal 
disadvantage them 
(Yes / No) 

If yes, to what 
level? (High / 
Medium / Low) 

Please provide explanatory 
detail relating to your 
assessment and outline any key 
actions to (a) advance the 
Equality Duty and (b) reduce 
negative impact on each 
protected characteristic. 
 

Age 
 

     

Disability 
 

     

Gender reassignment 
 

     

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

     

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

     

Race 
 

     

Religion and belief 
 

     

Sex 
 

     

Sexual orientation 
 

     

386



APPENDIX C 

ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR AND MAIDENHEAD 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

EqIA: York Road Phase I – Reversion Sale Receipt 

12 

Foster good relations 

Protected 
Characteristic 

Advancing the Equality 
Duty :  
Does the proposal advance 
the Equality Duty Statement 
in relation to the protected 
characteristic (Yes/No) 

If yes, to what 
level? (High / 
Medium / 
Low) 

Negative impact :  
Does the proposal 
disadvantage them 
(Yes / No) 

If yes, to what 
level? (High / 
Medium / Low) 

Please provide explanatory 
detail relating to your 
assessment and outline any key 
actions to (a) advance the 
Equality Duty and (b) reduce 
negative impact on each 
protected characteristic. 

Age 
 

     

Disability 
 

     

Gender reassignment 
 

     

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

     

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

     

Race 
 

     

Religion and belief 
 

     

Sex 
 

     

Sexual orientation 
 

     

 

2.4     Has your delivery plan been updated to incorporate the activities identified in this assessment to mitigate any identified negative impacts? 
If so please summarise any updates. 

387



APPENDIX C 

ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR AND MAIDENHEAD 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

EqIA: York Road Phase I – Reversion Sale Receipt 

13 

These could be service, equality, project or other delivery plans. If you did not have sufficient data to complete a thorough impact assessment, then an 
action should be incorporated to collect this information in the future. 

 

 

388



Document is Restricted

389

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

393

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interest
	3 Minutes
	5 Forward Plan
	Printed plan November 2023 - February 2024 Cabinet

	6 Quarterly Assurance Report
	1.	DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S)
	2.	REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED
	2.1	The Quarterly Assurance Report (Appendix A) is a new combined assurance report, bringing together the latest available performance insights and risk information. Audit and Workforce insights are also included. As a mechanism to support good governance, there are no options associated with this report.

	3.	KEY IMPLICATIONS
	3.1	The council is developing a new Corporate Plan which will set out a vision for the borough over the coming years and describe the most important aims and priorities that the council will focus on delivering. The new Corporate Plan will therefore provide a framework for decision-making and resource allocation and will be presented to full council in February 2024.
	3.2	Ahead of a new Corporate Plan and related performance indicators being developed, and in the interests of good governance, an interim performance management framework (PMF) has been developed for reporting in 2023/24 as part of new Quarterly Assurance reporting arrangements. Performance reporting for indicators is based on a traffic-light concept where green is on/above target, amber provides an early warning for possible intervention, and red suggests intervention may be necessary. The intention is to bring the new QAR to Cabinet on a quarterly basis to support good governance.

	4.	FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY
	4.1	This report combines the council’s performance and risk. Robust information on performance and risk helps to inform future resource allocation decisions, including the current budgeting process.
	4.2	The current predicted overspend, coupled with a potential budget gap in 2024/25 are significant risks. An update was provided to Cabinet on 27 September 2023, summarising further, urgent action to address the financial risk.

	5.	LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
	5.1	In considering its financial and non-financial performance, the Cabinet is supporting the Council to fulfil its duties under s.151 of the Local Government Act 1972 to ensure that there are arrangements in place for the proper administration of its financial affairs. Further, under s.3 of the Local Government Act 1999 to make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way its functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness.

	6.	RISK MANAGEMENT
	6.1	Specific risk management activities and consideration of the corporate risk register is included within the relevant sections of Appendix A. Failure to manage risks appropriately could have financial, reputational or other consequences. Risk owners are required to implement controls to mitigate risks and update these regularly.

	7.	POTENTIAL IMPACTS
	7.1	Equalities. This report does not have direct implications for equality and diversity.
	7.2	Climate change/sustainability. This report does not have direct environmental impacts.
	7.3	Data Protection/GDPR. There are no data protection impacts as a result of this report.

	8.	CONSULTATION
	8.1	No consultation was required in creating this report.

	9.	TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
	9.1	The Quarterly Assurance Report set out at Appendix A provides an update on latest position in relation to performance and risk. There are no implementation items associated with this report.

	10.	APPENDICES
	This report is supported by 1 appendix.

	11.	BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
	11.1	There are no background documents.

	12.	CONSULTATION
	Quarterly Assurance Report Oct 23 Appendix A
	1.	Executive Summary
	2.	RBWM Council
	3.	Adult Social Care & Health Directorate
	4.	Chief Executive Directorate
	5.	Children’s Services & Education Directorate
	6.	Place Directorate
	7.	Resources Directorate
	ANNEXE A: Oflog



	7 2023/24 Month 5 Revenue Monitoring Report
	1.	DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S)
	2.	REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED
	Options

	3.	SUMMARY
	3.0	RBWM faces significant financial challenges.  In the Cabinet meeting of 27th of September, the Chief Executive and S151 Officer gave an update to Cabinet on the M5 position reported below, stating that the Council’s reserves would be so significantly depleted by the current forecast in year overspend and projected gap in next year’s budget that the Council would no longer be able to finance its budget and is therefore at risk of issuing a S114 notice.
	3.1	This briefing has since been repeated in three separate sessions attended by members of all parties with the opportunity to ask questions, and then discussed at an extraordinary Council session held on the 10th of October.
	3.2	The key variances in each directorate are outlined below.  The main pressures being an increase in both costs and usage in demand led services.  These increases are being offset where possible by the use of external grants. The remainder is largely higher than expected inflationary increases in contracts.  All of these increases have been negotiated down as much as possible but, as they stand, have been unavoidably incurred, are ongoing, and are therefore expected to flow into next year’s budget requirement meaning that large offsetting savings must be found to compensate for them.
	3.3	Every service area has been working to generate proposals for additional income, cost reduction, service efficiencies and transformation programmes in order to reduce the current year overspend and the corresponding gap in next year’s budget.  These have been reviewed and challenged in a series of meetings initially with Directors, Exec Directors, the Chief Exec, the S151 Officer and subsequently, Cabinet members.
	3.4	A Spending Control Panel has been established which reviews and challenges all internally funded spending requests over £500 for revenue, capital or recruitment (temporary and permanent), unless they relate to a previously agreed contract, a clearly referenceable statutory obligation or an urgent need to safeguard vulnerable people.  This review process is also being implemented by both Adult Services and Children’s Services.
	3.5	The cost of servicing debt remains a key concern and the forecast increase in interest costs is a large contributor to next year’s budget gap. In order to address this, all current and proposed capital expenditure is under review in order to reduce any new borrowing requirements and all assets are being evaluated to identify any potential disposals which would generate capital receipts which could be used to repay some of the existing debt.
	3.6	Monthly reviews of the financial position are given to the Executive Leadership Team and Cabinet.  Improvements to the Governance of our Property Company and all outsourced partners are underway and new boards have either been set up, or are in the process of being set up, to monitor and drive performance, transformation and cross departmental projects.
	3.7	The organisation as a whole is responding to the challenge with regular communications, staff Q&A sessions and member involvement.  Both Cabinet and Council have voiced and agreed their support to resolving the situation.

	4.	KEY IMPLICATIONS
	4.1	The Council faces considerable financial risks that could have a significant and immediate impact on its finances. However, whilst reserves are currently above the minimum level that the S151 Officer has deemed are required to protect against financial and service risks, they remain low compared to the optimum level that should be held. The Medium-Term Financial Plan agreed in February 23 assumed that the Council would deliver sustainable savings over the medium term and therefore remain above the minimum level of reserves identified by the S151 Officer (£7.900m).
	Table 2: Key Implications

	5.	2023/24 MONTH 5 REVENUE FORECAST OUTTURN
	5.1	The month 5 forecast is an overspend on service budgets of £7.312m. Assuming the contingency budget is not used and the budgeted contribution to general reserves not made, this reduces to an overspend of £3.589m.
	5.2	This would lead to the general reserve falling below the minimum required level of £7.9 million.
	5.3	Appendix C details budget virements requiring Cabinet approval. The Council constitution states that any virements over £0.100m (or £0.025m where budget is moved between departments) require Cabinet approval.

	6.	Strengthening in-year budget monitoring and management
	6.1	Steps are being taken to strengthen the Council’s approach to in-year budget monitoring and management. The following changes are being implemented:
		All directorates have been asked to draw up action plans as to how they can reduce the overspend.
		A spending review panel has been introduced scrutinising all non-essential spend above £500 and approving all recruitment.
		Earmarked reserves are being actively reviewed to determine where these can be released.

	7.	ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH
	7.1	The Adult Social Care & Health directorate forecast outturn at M5 is an overspend of £4.880m.
	7.2	The overspend is primarily due to residential care costs for older people. With continuing staffing challenges, previously planned savings in respect of staff costs are unlikely to be met.  There are currently £1.27m (31%) of targeted revenue budget savings which remain RAG rated red, meaning that there is a significant risk that they won’t be achieved.
	7.3	Actions in progress to address the overspend include establishing a rigorous panel process to review potential new care placements, the Homefirst project that seeks to support people as they leave hospital which reduces the need for care home placements, and a targeted review of care packages between August and November. There are early indications that the panel review and Homefirst are having positive impacts, but demand led services such as these can fluctuate unpredictably.
	7.4	There is significant inflationary pressure from all providers, especially those not bound by long term contracts. This is particularly noticeable in residential and nursing home places where we are seeing requests for 8-16% uplifts on existing placements, having budgeted 5%.

	8.	CHILDREN’S SERVICES
	8.1	The Children’s directorate forecast outturn at M5 is an overspend of £0.215m.
	8.2	There are continuing pressures on SEN (special educational needs)Transport costs and Legal support costs. For the current year, this has been mostly mitigated by using appropriate government grants to offset costs.
	8.3	Since month 3 there has been a high cost placement costing £14k per week. Cost outliers such as this cause disproportionate pressures on the budget and can quickly consume additional budget allowance for growth in demand, meaning that this expected growth then becomes an overspend.
	8.4	There are currently £0.550m (18%) of targeted revenue budget savings which remain RAG rated RED, meaning there is a significant risk they will not be achieved.
	8.5	Actions in progress to address the areas of budget pressure include increased scrutiny by the service around SEN appeals to ensure only eligible young people are offered transport.

	9.	PLACE
	9.1	The Place directorate forecast outturn at M5 is an overspend of £2.976m.
	Table 6: Place
	9.2	The overspend includes the following significant factors:
		Contract costs, including £0.600m on the SERCO contract and £0.400m on the Volker highways contract, have risen sharply due to inflation staying higher than expected for longer than expected.
		Daily parking income has improved significantly but there remains an underachievement of parking income targets partly due to the continued lower levels of season ticket sales (1.020m).  The service believe this to be due to the change in working habits post pandemic with more and more people working from home.
		There has been an increase in costs for waste recycling (£0.430m) with rates that are higher than anticipated, mainly due to the stockpiling of material in overseas markets and paper mills in Europe being shut due to the energy crisis.
		The leisure centre contract renewal is still in progress but the service is reporting a shortfall against budget of £0.560m.
	9.3	There are currently, £0.220m (9%) of targeted revenue budget savings which remain RAG rated red, meaning that there is a significant risk they will not be achieved.
	9.4	The Place Directorate Leadership Team have developed a range of in-year actions to address the overspend, these include:
		Increased contract Management – working within existing contract frameworks, officers are identifying potential cost saving opportunities, which are also informing future procurements.
		Improvement of parking income – Development of a parking strategy and communications campaign to increase parking use in key locations such as Maidenhead. There is also a review of additional on-street parking provision that will support ongoing service costs.
		Enforcement - consideration of options on moving traffic enforcement in relation to the award of a new Parking and Enforcement contract.

	10.	RESOURCES
	10.1	The Resources directorate forecast at M5 is an underspend of £0.792m.
	10.2	The underspends in the table above are mainly related to staff vacancies and government grant funding, although some of the grant income forecast in this latter category this latter has not yet been received as it is typically notified by central government on an ad hoc basis throughout the year. There are no planned savings in this directorate which are RAG rated red.

	11.	SUNDRY DEBT
	11.1	The current level of overdue sundry debt is £7.909m. On subsidiary systems there is also debt of £3.917m and £0.217m in relation to Housing Overpayments and Housing Rents respectively.  This is an area of high focus with additional resource recently agreed.
	11.2	Some of the efficiency savings in this year’s budget relate to reductions in debt. As such, work is currently ongoing to establish a more holistic, corporate led approach to debt. This includes:
		clearer and more frequent reporting of debt to encourage directorates to engage in the debt recovery process.
		data cleansing, including write off of historic uncollectable debts, to allow efforts to be focused on collectable debts.  Debts are only ever approved to be written off where they are truly uncollectable.  This step is important as debt recovery is inevitably a time consuming process so available resource must be focused on debts which are actually recoverable.
		ensuring processes are in place for debt on subsidiary systems that do not automatically follow corporate procedures (e.g. Housing Rents)
		adopting tailored approached where relevant, such as Adult Social Care where Optalis has recently recruited a dedicated income collection officer.
		Review of billing processes and collection of current debtors.  While increased effort has been put into the reduction of aged debt, it’s important to improve early collection so the problem does not reoccur.

	12.	CAPITAL
	12.1	The 2023/24 budget of £87.695m includes the original capital programme budget of £34.766m approved by Council in February 2023 and an expenditure slippage of budget of £52.929m carried-forward from 2022/23.
	12.2	In light of RBWM’s current financial situation and the urgent need to reduce borrowing costs, all capital schemes are currently under review with the intention of removing the financial burden of additional borrowing costs where possible.  Good progress is being made on this.
	12.3	The capital budget for the current financial year is summarised in Table 9 below.  At current PWLB rates, £20m borrowed and repaid over 20 years would incur an additional revenue cost of circa £1.5m per year.
	12.4	Table 9: Capital programme outturn
	12.5	Table 10 below summarises how the capital programme for 2023/24 is financed:
	12.6	Table 10: Financing of the capital programme

	13.	LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
	13.1	In producing and reviewing this report the Council is meeting its legal obligations to monitor its financial position.

	14.	RISK MANAGEMENT
	14.1	Projected variances require mitigation to reduce them during the financial year.

	15.	POTENTIAL IMPACTS
	15.1	Equalities. There are no direct impacts.
	15.2	Climate change/sustainability. There are no direct impacts.
	15.3	Data Protection/GDPR. There are no direct impacts.

	16.	CONSULTATION
	16.1	None.

	17.	TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
	Implementation date if not called in: ‘Immediately’.

	18.	APPENDICES
	18.1	This report is supported by nine appendices:

	19.	BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
	19.1	This report is supported by one background document, the budget report to Council February 2023.

	20.	CONSULTATION
	Appendix A Revenue Monitoring Statement mth5
	Appendix B - Budget Virements mth5

	8 A308/Holyport Road junction improvements
	1.	DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S)
	2.	REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED
	Options
	Location
	2.1	The location under consideration is the junction of A308 Windsor Road with Holyport Road, located between Maidenhead and Windsor on the A308 at the turning off for Holyport village, adjacent to the M4 overbridge. The location is highlighted by a red ring on the map that follows.
	Figure 1: Location diagram of the junction © OpenStreetMap contributors
	Safety
	2.2	The borough has a very good safety record regarding the number of injury collisions reported on the roads. There are locations where accidents and injuries are more prevalent, however, and this is one of those sites. There have been 12 injury collisions recorded at, or on the approach to, this junction over the last 10 years, resulting in injuries to 14 people.
	2.3	A camera study of the junction has been undertaken, with the principal issues regarding safety observed to be:
		a lack of deflection on travelling eastbound (from Maidenhead towards Windsor) on the A308 with vehicles often entering the junction too fast and without giving way;
		queuing traffic on the A308 eastbound (from Maidenhead) waiting to turn right into Holyport Road can obscure views of the junction and approaching traffic for vehicles continuing straight ahead to Windsor;
		at certain times of day flows from individual roundabout arms become very dominant, leading to a lack of gaps in traffic and drivers taking risks to make progress.
	2.4	The proposed compact roundabout will change the angle of approach to the junction, calming traffic on approach, improving sight lines and creating more natural gaps that keep all arms flowing.
	Capacity
	2.5	The A308 is an important artery for our own borough, and also a key traffic route for the wider region linking the M3, M25, M4 and M40 (via A404). As the population and economy of neighbouring boroughs and the wider south east region continue to grow, points of traffic stress along the A308 will be further strained.
	2.6	The Borough Local Plan identified 10 junction around Maidenhead that would need to be improved to support local growth, including this junction. The junction upgrade is also listed within the infrastructural requirements of the South West Maidenhead Supplementary Planning Document.
	2.7	Without intervention, background traffic growth will mean that within the next 10 years queuing on the approach to the roundabout at peak times will become commonplace adding substantially to journey times.
	2.8	Traffic models show that by 2033, without a junction redesign, motor traffic entering the junction from Windsor on the A308 will be severely held up each afternoon peak, and at risk of being held up in the morning peak. Similarly, motor traffic entering the junction from Holyport Road will be severely held up each morning peak, and at risk of being held up in the afternoon peaks.
	2.9	The same modelling shows that the proposed compact roundabout would substantially increase overall capacity and the junction would be able to handle the growth in traffic to 2033 and beyond. In contrast, the alternative traffic signal option significantly improved overall capacity, but not to the same extent as the compact roundabout option.
	2.10	Improvements to overall junction safety has capacity benefits too. Non-injury collisions can create delays as damaged vehicles block lanes to assess damage, resolve insurance queries and await recovery.
	Modernisation
	2.11	The objectives of this proposed initiative are to improve safety and motor vehicle capacity.
	2.12	Remodelling roads comes with costs and disruption. A number of large costs are relatively fixed, such as design costs and the costs of establishing a construction site. A major improvement project is the optimum time to develop a holistic design that meets the needs of people in all the different ways they travel through the junction, including people when they are walking, cycling or getting the bus.
	2.13	The revised junction will feature improved and accessible footways and cycle facilities, and new and improved informal (i.e. not signal controlled) crossing points for improved and safer access to residences, the village and bus stops. This will represent an upgrade to existing provision, whilst ensuring the junction improvement delivers on its core objectives of improving safety and motor vehicle capacity.


	3.	KEY IMPLICATIONS
	Table 2: Key Implications

	4.	FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY
	4.1	The estimated cost of construction is £1,300,000 (split £1m LEP and £300k Integrated Transport Block grant), which includes a 44% allowance for contingency and optimism bias over the feasibility stage cost estimate, to protect against the costs of encountering unrecorded buried utilities once construction commences which would then have to be addressed. Our current highways partner, Volker Highways, would be used to ensure a straightforward procurement process.
	4.2	The project would be funded through a combination of Thames Valley Berkshire Local Enterprise Partnership’s Housing Sites Enabling Works funding and Community Infrastructure Levy. The LEP funding requires investment in the current financial year or will need to be returned to government.
	4.3	The project is included within the Council’s agreed budget for this year, as part of the borough’s Capital Programme.

	5.	LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
	5.1	The recommendations of this paper do not have direct legal implications.

	6.	RISK MANAGEMENT
	7.	POTENTIAL IMPACTS
	7.1	Equalities. An Equality Impact Assessment is available as Appendix A.
	7.2	Climate change/sustainability. We are seeking to integrate improved facilities for walking, cycling and accessing bus stops, which would help more people to travel in ways that are more sustainable more often.
	7.3	Data Protection/GDPR. No impact.

	8.	CONSULTATION
	8.1	A public consultation was undertaken between 22 February 2023 and 22 March 2023. The consultation asked for feedback on a design option for a traffic signal controlled junction.
	8.2	In total, 336 responses were received. 74% of responses opposed the proposals, 25% supported, and 1% were ‘don’t know’ or left blank.
	8.3	Of the total responses, a very high proportion (295 out of 336) included expanded written comments. The most common theme amongst comments was that traffic lights are frustrating to wait at, with some comments observing that traffic lights may resolve peak time congestion but would not be needed at quieter times of the day.
	8.4	The second most common theme amongst responses was that a roundabout generally works well at this location, with many people noting that a larger or relocated roundabout could solve issues of congestion and safety.
	8.5	As a result of the consultation, a new option for a compact roundabout was investigated for this location. This has been confirmed to be feasible to deliver and to deliver safety and capacity benefits, and will address the key concerns and suggestions raised during the public consultation.
	8.6	This report recommends proceeding with the detailed design and construction of the new compact roundabout option.

	9.	TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
	9.1	Implementation date if not called in: Immediately. The full implementation stages are set out in table 4.
	Table 4: Implementation timetable

	10.	APPENDICES
	10.1	This report is supported by 1 appendix:

	11.	CONSULTATION
	Summary of consultation responses to the A308 Holyport Road junction
	Consultation responses: A308-Holyport Road Junction Improvement
	Overview
	Written comments



	9 Achieving for Children (AfC) Annual Reports 2022/23
	1.	DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S)
	4.	FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY
	5.	LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
	6.	RISK MANAGEMENT
	○	7.	POTENTIAL IMPACTS
	○	7.1	AfC undertakes an Equality Impact Assessments for all significant programmes of work.  Assessments are published on the AfC website to support transparency.  The principles of equality, diversity and inclusion are echoed through AfCs priorities, delivery models and policies.  No EQIa is needed for this report as there are no decisions being requested.
	8.	CONSULTATION


	9.	TIMETATABLE
	10.	APPENDICES
	11.	BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
	11.1	This report is supported by two background documents:
	○
	○

	12.	CONSULTATION
	EQIA AFC ANNUAL REPORTS
	App A Impact-Report-2022-23 (1) (2)
	App B Equalities report 22-23 (2)
	App C FINAL Achieving for Children AR & SOA 22_23 (1) (1) (2)
	Appendix D PEPOS

	10 Achieving for Children (AfC) Contract
	1.	DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S)
	4.	FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY / GOVERNANCE
	5.	LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
	6.	RISK MANAGEMENT
	7.	POTENTIAL IMPACTS
	7.1	The contract with AfC requires compliance with relevant Equalities Legislation.  AfC publishes an Annual Equalities Report which outlines how it is seeking to support equality, diversity and inclusion as well as how it is looking to achieve continuous improvement.  AfC also publishes Equa\lity Impact Assessments for all significant changes or priority programmes.  The service within the scope of this contract includes children and young people who have protected characteristics.  AfC works actively to safeguard and promote the wellbeing of all children and young people in the borough.  They offer specialist support to those children and young people who may require additional support and champion their wellbeing and inclusion within the community.
	7.2 	AfC and the council work together to ensure that strategic direction and ambition for Children's Services remains aligned.  This includes in relation to environmental commitments and AfC has an active Environment Action Plan which seeks to reduce the organisation's negative impact on the environment and also to work with young people to promote environmental priorities and programmes.
	7.3 	Under the Children's Services contract AfC collects and safeguards sensitive information about the residents who use Children's Services.  Under the contract AfC is required to have robust and compliant data protection processes and policies.  As part of regular performance monitoring AfC submits a quarterly Information Governance report to the council to provide assurance about how the organisation meets its Information Governance responsibilities.

	8.	TIMETABLE
	9.	APPENDICES
	10.	BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
	Cabinet September 2016 - Commissioning of AfC

	11.	CONSULTATION
	AfC Contract EQIA
	Childrens Services Contract Renewal - Appendix A

	11 Leasing of Sport Pavilion in Braywick Park, Maidenhead
	1.	REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED
	Options
	1.1	The building is currently vacant following the surrender of the lease by the Trustees of Sportsable in 2021 as the charity was wound up. The Council is liable for all the outgoings for the property including no-domestic rates, security, repairs and insurance costs.
	1.2	The property is located in Braywick Park opposite the running track. A site plan is attached in Appendix 2.
	1.3	The existing building was built in several phases since the first opening in 1982 but is built to a basic specification and is in a poor condition.
	1.4	The building comprises c 7,800 sq ft and to make the necessary improvements to bring the building into use will require a significant capital budget.
	1.5	Terms have been agreed with Padel Berkshire to lease the building and external areas to enable the development of a new Centre of Excellence for the rapidly growing sport of Padel tennis.
	1.6	The agreed Heads of Terms are attached in Appendix 3. The key terms are as follows
		Lease term – 20 years subject to a Landlord’s break option after 15 years if the property is to be redeveloped by the Council
		Rent - £60,000 pa subject to an 18 month rent free and upwards only rent review at the end of the 5th, 10th and 15th years
		All refurbishment costs are the responsibility of the Padel Berkshire
		All property outgoings and maintenance are the responsibility of Padel Berkshire
	1.7	Padel Berkshire are working closely with the Lawn Tennis Association to expand this sport. The centre as envisioned will be capable of hosting national and international tournaments. Outline plans and drawings are attached in Appendix 4
	1.8	Planning permission will be required for the changes and improvements to the building and for the construction of the external courts
	1.9	The inclusion of external land in the lease will require Public Open Space (POS) consultation given the use and nature of Braywick Park.
	1.10	The Council and Berkshire Padel will enter into an agreement for lease that is constional on the successful outcome of the planning application and POS process.


	2.	KEY IMPLICATIONS
	2.1	The lease to Padel Berkshire will generate a strong rental income to support Council budgets
	2.2	The new sports facility follows the Council’s classification of Braywick Park as a key sports and activity hub
	2.3	A currently unused property will be brought back into use and the Council’s financial liabilities for the vacant building will cease.
	Table 2: Key Implications

	3.	FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY
	3.1	The letting will secure an annual rent of £60,000 pa on the expiry of the rent free period of 18 months whilst the refurbishment works are undertaken and the club established.
	3.2	The Council is not responsible for any of the refurbishment costs
	3.3	The building was returned to the Council in 2021 via the surrender of the lease by the Trustees of Sportsable.
	3.4	The Council is currently liable for all of the building’s outgoing.
	3.5	Remove tables below if there are no financial implications

	4.	LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
	4.1	The terms of the agreements have been negotiated by the asset management surveyors in the property services team and the new lease and option agreement will be drafted by the property solicitor in the legal services team,
	4.2	The Part 8 Section D – Property Procedures of the Councils’ Constitution confirms Cabinet authority to approve lease agreements where the aggregate income exceeds £500,000 and the lease terms exceeds 10 years.

	5.	RISK MANAGEMENT
	5.1	The risk to the Council is low. Entering the lease reduces the risk of the rental income ceasing and secures an increase.
	5.2	The transaction has been negotiated by the asset management surveyors in the property services team and the lease documentation will be drafted and finalised by the solicitors in the legal services team.
	5.3	The tenant is to pay a 3 months rent deposit (£15,000) on completion of the lease
	5.4	The tenant will have to prove funding for the refurbishment works before completing the lease

	6.	POTENTIAL IMPACTS
	6.1	Equalities. An Equality Impact Assessment is available as Appendix A. The property already provides step free access as the building was built by Sportsable and has suitable blue badge parking in the car park.
	The refurbishment works will be required to meet the latest DDA standards as set out in the current building regulations and DDA legislation.
	In addition Padel Berkshire and the LTA have a clear focus and commitment for the sport and its facilities to be inclusive and available to all groups
	6.2	Climate change/sustainability. The lease renewal has no impact on climate change or bio-diversity
	6.3	Data Protection/GDPR. No personal data is being stored or utilised in this matter

	7.	CONSULTATION
	7.1	Internal officer and Cabinet Member consultation only

	8.	TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
	8.1	Implementation date if not called in: The draft lease will be issued to the tenant’s solicitor on 1st November. The full implementation stages are set out in table 5.
	Table 5: Implementation timetable

	9.	APPENDICES
	9.1	This report is supported by 3 appendices:

	10.	CONSULTATION
	Appendix B Title Plan
	Appendix C Padel Berkshire HOT redacted
	Appendix D

	12 York Road Phase I, Maidenhead
	14 York Road Phase I, Maidenhead
	Part II Appendix D




